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Introduction 

The subject of the gas chambers of Auschwitz, after a very troubled genesis 

and development, which in the years 1942-1944 saw the creation and propaga-

tion of the most-absurd stories by the various resistance groups inside the 

Auschwitz Camp, was revised by the Soviets in February-March 1945, and re-

ceived its first official sanction of historical “truth” in their “Communiqué of 

the Extraordinary State Commission for the Investigation and Research of the 

Crimes of the German-Fascist Invaders and their Accomplices,” which was 

published by Pravda on May 7, 1945. Later accepted by the Nuremberg Inter-

national Military Tribunal (IMT) as Document 008-USSR, it constituted the 

archetype of all subsequent historiography.1 The story of the alleged extermi-

nation by gassing was based on the interrogations of two self-styled members 

of the Sonderkommando, Henryk Tauber and Szlama Dragon, whose state-

ments were also summarized in this presentation: 

“Two former prisoners who were interrogated as witnesses, SHYLOMA 

DRAGON (a resident of the small town of Zitovnin of Warsaw Province) and 

GENRICH TAUBER (from the town of Krzanow in Poland), who worked in a 

Sonderkommando operating the gas chambers and crematoria, testified as fol-

lows:” (IMT, Vol. 39, pp. 241-261, here p. 245) 

Dragon had been interrogated on February 26, 1945, Tauber the next day. 

With regard to the alleged exterminations these two witnesses – and to a lesser 

degree also Henryk Mandelbaum and Stanisław Jankowski, whom I have dealt 

with (together with other witnesses of the Sonderkommando) in another study 

(Mattogno 2021a) – were the two most important witnesses at the trial held in 

Warsaw by the Polish authorities from 11 to 19 March 1947 against Rudolf 

Höss, the former commandant of the Auschwitz Camp. However, for un-

known reasons, neither of them participated directly in the trial, nor did they 

 
1 See Mattogno 2021, Part 2 and Chapter 1 of Part 3, pp. 105-305. 
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appear at the subsequent trial against the Auschwitz camp garrison, which 

took place in Krakow from 25 November to 16 December 1947. Tauber’s tes-

timony, which was attached to the records of the Höss Trial, was the protocol 

of a deposition he had given to the Polish investigating judge Jan Sehn during 

the interrogation of 24 May 1945. Dragon had been interviewed by the same 

judge even earlier, on 10-11 May 1945. 

These two testimonies constituted the essential basis of the judicial recon-

struction of the alleged extermination process carried out by the IMT, were al-

so used by the emerging Polish historiography for its historical reconstruction: 

Tauber thus became the most-important guarantor of the claimed homicidal 

gassings in the Auschwitz crematoria, while Dragon assumed the same role 

for the imaginary “bunkers” of Birkenau. 

After his extradition to Poland on 25 May 1946, Höss began to be extreme-

ly “cooperative” with the local authorities, reworking most of the ramblings 

he had previously uttered to the British and American investigators, and 

adapting them to the “historical” perspective of his new jail masters (see Mat-

togno 2020a for details). But while Höss’s testimony became accessible to 

Western historiography as early as 1958 (Broszat 1958; English: Höss 1959), 

Tauber’s was ignored for another three decades, until Jean-Claude Pressac re-

discovered it in the proceedings of the Höss Trial and published it in 1989. In 

his ponderous work on Auschwitz, the French historian presented a complete 

English translation, accompanied by an accurate commentary (Pressac 1989, 

pp. 481-502). The translation, while not perfect, came from Pressac’s adapta-

tion of two French translations made for him, one by Dorota Ryszka, the other 

by Adam Rutkowski (ibid., p. 481). 

Dragon’s testimony became known in its entirety only in 1993, when it ap-

peared in German translation in a book by the Auschwitz Museum’s chief his-

torian Franciszek Piper (Piper 1993, pp. 203-225). 

Also in 1993, Szlama Dragon, who then called himself Shlomo, and his 

brother Abraham were interviewed by Israeli historian Gideon Greif (Greif 

2005, 122-180). Abraham claimed that he, too, had been assigned to the Son-

derkommando of the “bunkers.” But with regard to Auschwitz, Szlama men-

tioned him only twice in passing in his Polish testimony (pp. 2, 13). Greif ex-

pressed his admiration for the prodigious memory of the two brothers, whom 

he interviewed 48 years after the claimed events (ibid., p. 124): 

“Both brothers have amazing powers of recall.” 

But twenty-one years earlier, on 2 March 1972 during the 26th Session of the 

Austrian trial against the architects Walter Dejaco and Fritz Ertl in Vienna, 

Szlama Dragon, after having confused Crematorium I with “Bunker 2” (!) the 

day before, was forced to confess (Pressac 1989, p. 172): 

“I can’t remember today after 30 years…” 
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Therefore, in 1993, Szlama miraculously remembered perfectly what he could 

no longer remember in 1972! This is a specific reason for not considering 

these testimonies in detail, in addition to the general reason that very late tes-

timonies (in this case dating back forty years after the alleged events) are nec-

essarily influenced by too many external factors, which alter the genuine 

memories, if they exist in the first place. 

Pressac’s assessment influenced all subsequent orthodox historiography, 

which hastened to dust off Tauber’s testimony. In 1995, Franciszek Piper, at 

that time director of the Auschwitz Museum’s historical department, repro-

duced it in the original language in the Museum’s five-volume history of the 

camp (Długoborski/Piper 1995, Vol. III, pp. 189-208), which was later trans-

lated into German and English (idem 1999, 2000). 

Robert Jan van Pelt took it in 1999 as the historical-technical basis of the 

alleged homicidal gassings and cremations in his expert report on Auschwitz 

for the libel trial of British historian David Irving against US-American schol-

ar of Jewish religion Deborah Lipstadt (11 January to 11 April 2000). This re-

port, which is known as “The Pelt Report,” was later released as a book in a 

revised and expanded edition. When assessing Tauber’s testimony, van Pelt 

went far beyond the limits Pressac had set for himself, writing in that book in 

open contradiction to revisionist historians (van Pelt 2002, p. 193): 

“All of Tauber’s testimony up to this point can be confirmed in the blueprints 

or by means of other documents in the archive of the Auschwitz Central Con-

struction Office. Only the division of the gas chamber of Crematorium 2 into 

two spaces cannot be traced in the archives. Negationists use this to refute the 

validity of the whole of Tauber’s testimony.” 

There is no need to point out that no revisionist researcher has ever dreamed 

of refuting the entire testimony in question on the basis of this detail alone. 

This is therefore a pathetic lie. Van Pelt continues (ibid., p. 205): 

“Given [Enrique Aynat] Eknes’s difficulty in discrediting Tauber’s testimony, 

it is not surprising that negationists preferred to bury it in silence. Yet we do 

well to attach the highest evidentiary value to it, not only because of its inter-

nal consistency. Tauber’s statements were largely corroborated by the con-

temporary testimonies of Jankowski and Dragon and by the later memoirs of 

Filip Müller.” (Emphasis added) 

And finally, here is how van Pelt summarizes his assessment of the testimony 

in question (ibid., p. 204): 

“Tauber’s statement was extremely specific, it did not contain contradictions, 

and it did not contain improbable allegations. In fact, negationists have not 

been able to discredit him as a witness.” (Emphasis added) 

Regarding Dragon, he wrote (ibid., p. 188): 
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“Dragon was precise and reliable when he talked about what he had wit-

nessed in person, and none of the details he told were part of the Soviet re-

port.” (Emphasis added) 

The last part of this statement is clearly wrong, since the Soviets summarized 

“Shyloma Dragon’s” statements in the report in question (the Communiqué 

mentioned above). 

These utterances of van Pelt perfectly characterize their author, who is 

completely devoid of any critical sense and hopelessly afflicted by a stagger-

ing credulity, as I have amply demonstrated in a separate study (Mattogno 

2020). The fact that van Pelt, who posed as an “expert” on Auschwitz during 

the Irving vs. Lipstadt Trial, completely ignored the Soviet interrogations of 

Tauber and Dragon is undermining his credibility even more. 

The present study constitutes the revisionist response to van Pelt’s claims. 

It is so little “negationistic” of truth and facts that it brings into the historio-

graphical debate two important documents hitherto not only unpublished, but 

– because of their very content – actually completely unknown even to 

Auschwitz specialists: The first statements ever made by Tauber and Dragon. 

Although Tauber and Dragon are universally considered by orthodox Hol-

ocaust historians to be witnesses of extraordinary importance, none of them, 

starting with Jean-Claude Pressac, Robert Jan van Pelt and Franciszek Piper, 

ever bothered to obtain their first testimonies, whose existence was known 

since 1945, since they were explicitly mentioned in the report of the Soviet 

Commission of Inquiry on Auschwitz, as I mentioned earlier. After the open-

ing of the Soviet archives, the retrieval of these testimonies (and of others, 

such as Mandelbaum’s) was within the reach of any willing researcher and, in 

fact, Jürgen Graf and I found them in Moscow about 25 years ago without too 

much difficulty.2 These testimonies are therefore presented here for the first 

time in a Western language. 

There is also another brief, practically unknown testimony by Tauber, 

which he gave in 1945 to the Jewish Historical Commission of Krakow, the 

precise date of which is not indicated (Tauber 1945). 

This study is devoted to an examination of the testimonies of Henryk 

Tauber and Szlama Dragon mentioned above. In Part One I, present the Eng-

lish translation; in Part Two, I present a critical historical-technical analysis of 

the testimonies in order to establish whether they really have a “very high 

probative value,” and how we are to assess the judgments expressed in this re-

gard by Pressac and van Pelt. 

 
2 The only exception, but always too late, is Russian historian Pavel Polyan, who recently published 

a transcript of the two statements’ original texts (Dragon: Polyan. pp. 590-600; Tauber: ibid., pp. 
605-613). Polyan’s merits in this context are purely editorial in nature, because he insists on the 
veracity of these witness accounts with obtuse credulity. 
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Striving for completeness, I pick up what I already stated in my “Critical 

Analysis of Henryk Tauber’s Testimonies” published in another study (Mat-

togno 2019, pp. 331-375), and I will elaborate on this in more detail here. 

There is also an Italian translation of Tauber’s testimony of 24 May 1945 

(Saletti, pp. 59-82), which, besides being second-hand in nature, is also rid-

dled with so many errors and inaccuracies as to be historiographically unusa-

ble. 

In the translations I have tried to maintain, as far as possible, the rough and 

repetitive style of the original texts, even if the resulting prose is anything but 

polished. This way the reader can get a more-precise idea of Tauber’s and 

Dragon’s way of expressing themselves than other translations, which are 

more elegant, but at the same time less adherent to the original. 

I have added in the text, between square brackets, everything that serves to 

better clarify the meaning of certain terms, and the correct spelling where they 

are misspelled. In footnotes, I have provided necessary contextual explana-

tions and the translations of the words or expressions mentioned in German. 

With this book I add another study to my cycle of critical analysis of the 

“eyewitness accounts” of the self-styled members of the Sonderkommando 

that I have undertaken over the years and have collected mainly in the works 

listed below: 

– “La verità sulle camere a gas”? Anatomia della “testimonianza unica” di 

Shlomo Venezia. Effepi, Genoa, 2017;3 

– An Auschwitz Doctor’s Eyewitness Account: The Tall Tales of Dr. 

Mengele’s Assistant Analyzed. 2nd ed., Castle Hill Publishers, Uckfield, 

2020; 

– The Making of the Auschwitz Myth: Auschwitz in British Intercepts, Polish 

Underground Reports and Postwar Testimonies (1941-1947). 2nd ed., Cas-

tle Hill Publishers, Uckfield, 2021; 

– Sonderkommando Auschwitz I: Nine Eyewitness Testimonies Analyzed. 

Castle Hill Publishers, Uckfield, 2021 

In these works, I have critically examined five general categories of witnesses, 

which I enumerate in order of importance: 

1) Self-proclaimed eyewitnesses of the Sonderkommando: 

André Lettich, Shlomo Venezia, the authors of the clandestine manuscripts 

(“Author Unknown,” Chaim Herman, Salmen Gradowski, Leib Langfus, Sal-

men Lewental, Marcel Nadsari [Nadjari]), Szaja Gertner, Polish Anonymous 

Witness of 1945, Roman Sompolinski, Charles Sigismund Bendel, Milton 

(Meilech) Buki, Miklós Nyiszli, Polish Anonymous Witness of 1946, Arnošt 

 
3 The contents of this book will be included in another study on self-proclaimed members of the 

Auschwitz Sonderkommando which is currently evolving and will be Volume 46 of the series 
Holocaust Handbooks; editor’s note. 
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(Ernst, Arnold) Rosin, Filip Müller, Dov Paisikovic, Stanisław Jankowski, 

Henryk Mandelbaum, Ludwik Nagraba, Joshuah Rosenblum, Aaron Pilo, Da-

vid Fliamenbaum, and Samij Karolonsij. 

2) Witnesses who worked in the crematoria without being part of the Sonder-

kommando: 

Four Hungarian anonymous authors: Protocol No. 90 (23 June 1945); Protocol 

No. 151 (27 June 1945); Protocol No. 182 (30 June 1945); Protocol No. 2114 

(26 August 1945), and Lieberman (1945). 

3) Testimonies of detainees who allegedly escaped gassings: 

Abraham Cykert (1945), Regina Bialek (1945), Sofia Litwinska (1945), Bruno 

Piazza (1956). 

4) Casual witnesses to the gas chambers: 

Ada Bimko (1945), Jeannette Kaufmann (1945), Regina Plucer (1945), Her-

mine Kranz (1945), Fritz Putzker (1945), Isaac Egon Ochshorn (1945), Anon-

ymous French Jewish Witness (1946), Helena Bard-Nomberg (1946) 

5) Witnesses who received information directly from members of the Sonder-

kommando: 

Alfred Wetzler and Rudolf Vrba, Sofia Kaufmann Schafranov (1945), Marie 

Claude Vaillant-Couturier (1945), Marc Nahon (1945), Chaim Frosch (1945). 
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Part One: 

The Testimonies 
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1. The Witness Henryk Tauber 

1.1. Statement to the Soviet Commission of Inquiry (27-28 

February 1945) 

[p. 1] Witness Interrogation Protocol4 

27 February 1945 Operating Army 

The deputy military prosecutor of the First Ukrainian Front, Major of [Mili-

tary] Justice Pakhomov, questioned the person named below as a witness un-

der Sections 162-168 of the Code of Criminal Procedure of the Russian So-

cialist Federative Soviet Republic5 through the Polish-to-Russian interpreter 

Ekaterina Maksimovna Samsonova, a former prisoner. 

1. Last name, first name, father’s name – Tauber Genrik [Henryk] Abrakham 

[Abraham]. 

2. Citizenship – Polish 

3. Ethnicity – Jew 

4. Year and place of birth – 8 July 1917, Kshanov [Кшанов, in Polish: 

Chrzanów], from this same district 

5. Social background – lower middle class 

6. Degree of Education – 7 grades. 

7. Party affiliation – non-partisan 

8. Family status, family members, and their place of residence – single. 

9. Place of work and office held – 

10. Military rank and from what year in the Red Army – 

11. Decorations and honors – 

12. Participation in combat, when, where and with what rank – 

13. Criminal record – no criminal record 

14. Permanent residence and exact address – Kshanov, Trunwaldskaja [Grund-

waldzka] Street 1 

The witness, informed of the criminal nature of giving false testimony or re-

fusing to testify under Section 95 of the Code of Criminal Procedure of the 

Russian Socialist Federative Soviet Republic, stated: 

 
4 We have found the original manuscript of this interrogation, with Henryk Tauber’s signature at 

the end of each page (GARF, 7021-108-13, pp. 13-21), a typewritten transcript with a photograph 
of Tauber attached to the first page (GARF, 7021-108-13, pp. 1-12), and another typewritten tran-
script without photograph (GARF, 7021-108-13, pp. 28-39; see Documents 1, 1a, 2 and 3). Except 
for this detail, the two transcripts, which I quote here, are identical, so I give only the page num-
ber of the typescript. 

5 The Russian abbreviation is RSFSR. 
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[p. 2] I speak Polish well and will give my testimony in Polish. 

I was arrested by the Gestapo on 14 October 1942 in the City of Krakow, 

where I was in the ghetto. I was arrested because I was Jewish. I was held un-

der arrest by the Gestapo for two months, and I was interned in the Auschwitz 

Prisoner Camp on 19 January 1943. 

At first, I was housed in a section of the Birkenau Camp, but after three 

days I was transferred to a section of the Monowitz Camp. 

In Monowitz, one of our transport fell ill with typhus, after which all of us, 

1,200 people, were sent back to Birkenau. 

On the third day after our return to Birkenau, a German named Groll, Un-

terscharführer, Arbeitsdienst – labor service manager – came to us in Block 

No. 27 and asked us who could work as painters, carpenters and locksmiths. I 

and 19 others declared our profession – I am a locksmith by trade – and all 20 

of us were taken to Block 11 of the Auschwitz Camp, the camp prison. 

We spent one night in the prison, and in the morning we were all taken to 

work in the crematorium. We did not know that we were going to work in the 

crematorium. The crematorium was located at the Political Department. The 

20 men were all of Jewish nationality. At the crematorium, a total of 33 peo-

ple worked with us, of whom 26 were Jews and 7 were Poles. 

At the crematorium there was a Kapo who supervised the cremation work, 

a Pole named Metik Morawo [Mieczysław, aka Mietek Morawa], from Kra-

kow, who was also a prisoner. The highest-ranking German was the head of 

the crematorium, Obersturmführer Grabner. 

I worked for a month at the crematorium. At the crematorium we cremated 

corpses that were brought to us by truck.6 

[p. 3] In my presence, live people were neither gassed nor cremated at the 

Auschwitz crematorium, but only corpses were cremated. These corpses came 

from the camp area; these people had died of natural causes or had been shot 

and killed by the Germans. 

In the crematorium there were three furnaces with two openings each. Five 

bodies were placed in each opening at a time. The process of cremating one 

load7 took an hour and a half. 

The 20 of us worked at the crematorium as apprentices 12 hours, from 6 

a.m. to 6 p.m., and the crematorium generally was in operation almost all day 

long. During this period, that is, during operation, 250-300 corpses were cre-

mated per day in the crematorium. 

In the crematorium there was a gas chamber, which measured 7 x 15 x 2 m 

in height, perhaps even a little larger.8 That it was a gas chamber, I learned 

from the conversations of the comrades, and [I apprehended it] also because 

 
6 “на автомашинах, na avtomashinakh”. In the text, the term “avtomashina” – “automobile,” al-

ways appears, which I translate as “truck” (Russian “gruzovik”). 
7  “операции, operatsii,” operation. 
8 The room actually measured 17 m × 4.60 m × 2.86 m. 
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on the ceiling there were openings [ljuki] with lids through which the gas was 

thrown into the chamber, and [because] the doors were hermetic, with peep 

holes. 

Similar gas chambers I later saw in other crematoria in the camp. There 

were cases in which 30-40 people were brought to the crematorium 2-3 times 

a week alive; there they were shot by Gestapo members, and we cremated 

them. The furnaces of the crematorium had two muffles /retorts/, they were 

heated with dry generator gas. The gas generator was located behind the fur-

nace. Each furnace had two gas generators, – one muffle, one gas generator. 

Coke was burned in the gas generator. The temperature in the retort reached 

1,200-1,500°C. 

This crematorium was in operation from the beginning of 1940 to February 

1943. 

The ashes from the furnaces were taken away by trucks, but I do not know 

where. At the crematorium, the corpses were cremated without clothes. I don’t 

know where they were stripped. The corpses were lean – mere skin and bones. 

These people had all been tormented by the Germans, at work, at roll call, dur-

ing inspections, etc. 

[p. 4] During the work, we were severely tormented; in March [1943], only 

9 were left of us 20 people, the rest had been exterminated – slain, shot and 

cremated. Also in March, we were all assigned to work in the Birkenau Camp 

crematorium. This crematorium was numbered No. 2, and at that time had just 

been completed. This crematorium was located on the left side of the railway. 

From 15 March 1943 on, transports of people began to arrive, whole groups of 

people, they began to be taken to the crematorium, gassed and cremated. Until 

15 March, we heated the furnaces, or rather we dried them. From 15 March 

1943 onward, transports of people – entire convoys – began to appear [and the 

Germans] began to take them for the most part to the crematorium, to gas 

them and to cremate them. The first transport that arrived at the crematorium 

contained 4,000 people, sent from the Krakow City Ghetto. They were all 

gassed at the same time and cremated. There were mothers with children, old 

men and women. In the crematorium, there were two large underground 

rooms, one of which, larger, served as an undressing room, the other, smaller, 

for poisoning with gas. At the entrance of the crematorium, it was written at 

the top in all languages “Disinfection room and bathroom”. In the gassing 

hall, 4,000 people were gassed at a time. People arrived at the crematorium 

dressed and carrying small bundles of their belongings. All other things were 

taken away from them on the ramp, where the human transports were unload-

ed. 

In the changing room, there were numbers, people undressed, hung up their 

clothes, and went through a door along a corridor into the gas chamber. There 

were installations there like in shower rooms, i.e., there were shower heads 

overhead. When the gas chamber was full of people, the door was sealed, and 
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all the people were gassed. The gas was thrown in through four openings that 

were in the ceiling. People would die in 20-30 minutes, and we would cremate 

them. 

[p. 5] In the gas chamber there were two fans, one suction, the other pres-

sure. We took people away for cremation after the ventilation of the gas 

chamber. We entered the gas chamber wearing gas masks. After the gassing, 

people appeared in various ways, i.e., in various distorted poses, with distorted 

faces, clinging to one other, mothers to children, etc. 

Zyklon gas was diffused into the gas chamber through wire-mesh columns 

that formed a square channel with double mesh layers. There were five triple-

muffle furnaces in this crematorium. Four to five corpses were introduced into 

each muffle. The corpses burned within 20-25 minutes. This crematorium was 

in operation from March 1943 until October 1944, that is, one year and eight 

months. After the gassing, people were taken by elevator to a special room, a 

room on the second floor [sic]; gold earrings, watches and rings were removed 

from the people and golden teeth pulled. All this was put in separate boxes, 

and the people were transported on carts to the furnaces, where they were in-

troduced and cremated. 

Before being put on the elevator, the women had their hair cut, which was 

taken to a special warehouse. When people entered the room that was the un-

dressing room, they found many SS men with dogs and truncheons; if some-

one resisted or did not want to enter the gas chamber, they forced them to en-

ter with the dogs, beat them with sticks, sprayed them with jets of water. 

A total of 70 inmates worked in the crematorium, in the so-called Sonder-

kommando. There were up to 7 SS men guarding us and keeping order. In the 

crematorium there were 4 doctors, who were also inmates. They dissected the 

bodies of the dead, etc., but [p. 6] not the gassed people, and kept a kind of 

accounting. All Sonderkommando personnel lived at the camp, in Block 2. If 

there were transports, the crematoria operated twenty-four hours a day. People 

were mercilessly exterminated by the thousands. On average, 3,000 people a 

day were exterminated. 

In the spring of 1943, three more crematoria were built, which also began 

to exterminate people by gassing and cremation. Next to Crematorium No. 2, 

Crematorium No. 3, of exactly the same type and capacity as Crematorium 

No. 2, began to operate. Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5 followed; they were of a dif-

ferent type. In each crematorium, there was an 8-muffle furnace. 4-5 persons 

were introduced into each muffle. The duration of cremation was 35 minutes. 

One furnace cremated 1,200-1,500 people per day. In the summer of 1944, 

many people were exterminated; 4 crematoria and 4 big pyres [костра, kostra] 

were in operation for the extermination; French resistance fighters and Hun-

garians were exterminated. I worked all the time in the Sonderkommando, and 

had to work in all crematoria and at the pyres, so I know everything in detail. 

In all crematoria, there were gas generators which operated with coke. 
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Question: How were the gas chambers set up in Crematoria 4 and 5, and 

how did the Germans poison people there? 

Answer: Crematoria 4 and 5 had an annex about 20 meters long. Inside, the 

construction was divided into three parts, each of which was a gas chamber. In 

order to pour the “Zyklon” into the chamber, there were hatches with grates9 

in the walls at a height of approximately two meters, which could be closed 

hermetically with shutters. In each gas chamber, there were two hermetically 

closable doors. The rooms of the gas chambers were connected by a corridor 

to the dressing room, which had an area equal to that of the [p. 7] three gas 

chambers together. 

Depending on the number of people arriving, the Germans poisoned them 

concurrently in one, two or three chambers. 

The process of poisoning people took place in a similar way to that which 

the fascists used in the gas chambers of Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3. The differ-

ence was that “Zyklon” was poured by the SS through the aforementioned 

openings, which were made in the walls, not in the roof, as in Crematoria Nos. 

2 and 3. Furthermore, in the gas chambers of Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5, there 

was no ventilation [system], so the ventilation of the chambers was carried out 

by opening doors and small windows. After poisoning, the corpses were taken 

away in two directions: either they were deposited in the undressing room, or 

– as was done for some time in Crematorium 5 – they were taken through the 

outer door into the crematorium courtyard, where they were cremated on 

pyres. 

If a new group of people arrived when the undressing room was full of 

corpses, and if at that time another group of people arrived at the crematorium, 

they were undressed in the courtyard, and were then poisoned according to the 

usual procedure in the gas chambers. 

Question: Tell us when Crematorium 1 ceased its activity. 

Answer: The Germans closed Crematorium 1 in March 1943 and stopped 

cremating people there. 

Question: How long did each of the Crematoria 3, 4 and 5 operate? 

Answer: Crematorium 3 started operating in April 1943 and remained in 

operation until October 1944. In November, the Germans started to demolish 

it, I do not know for what reason. Crematorium 4 was put into operation at the 

end of March 1943 and remained active until and including August 1944; part 

of it burned down at the beginning of October, and in October it began to be 

demolished. 

[p. 8] Crematorium 5 went into operation in May 1943 and operated until 

20 January 1945. 

The questioning was suspended until the following day. 

 
9 “люки с реше[ё]тками,” “lyuki s reshyotkami,” grated/barred hatches. 
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The testimony was transcribed correctly, it was read to me and in confir-

mation of this I signed it – Signature. 

The interrogation was conducted by: 

The Deputy Military Prosecutor of the First Ukrainian Front, Major of 

[Military] Justice Pakhomov. 

Continuation of the interrogation of Tauber Genrik Abrakham (Henryk 

Abraham). 

28 February 1945. 

The witness, who had been informed of the criminal nature of false testimony, 

testified: 

Question: Say when the Germans stopped poisoning people with gas in the 

gas chambers at Birkenau. 

Answer: At the end of October 1944. In Crematorium 5, they cremated 

people until 20 January 1945. People who had been tormented and shot by the 

Germans were cremated there. 

Question: How many workers were there in the crematoria, how were they 

divided according to tasks, and what shifts did they work in the crematoria? 

Answer: In each of Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3, 60 camp inmates who had be-

come part of the so-called Sonderkommando – special squad – normally 

worked in one shift. One shift worked 12 hours. Two shifts were in operation 

over a 24-hour period. These 60 persons in Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3 were dis-

tributed according to specialization as follows: 

[p. 9] 1. Collection of items left in the undressing room, loading 

on trucks, cleaning the premises 

15 men 

2. Removing bodies from the chamber and transport to elevator 15 men 

3. Placement of the bodies in the elevator 2 men 

4. Barbers – shearing of female corpses 4 men 

5. Dentists – extraction of gold teeth from corpses 2 men 

6. Operating the gas generators 2 men 

7. Operating the corpse elevator  2 men 

8. Removing corpses from the elevator 2 men 

9. Transport of the corpses to the furnaces retorts [muffles]  2 men 

10. Introducing corpses into retorts (2 groups of 5 men) 10 men 

11. Assistants of the supervisor 4 men 

 60 men 

In Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5, 30 men worked in one shift. In all four cremato-

ria, there were also three goldsmiths who melted down the gold teeth extracted 

from the corpses. 

Question: How many men were in the Sonderkommando in all crematoria 

at different times in 1943? 

Answer: In March-April 1943, there were 400 men in the Sonderkomman-

do; they were distributed among the crematoria as follows: 240 men worked 
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in Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3. 120 men in Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5;10 in addi-

tion, there were 40 men who were sick or were assigned to various tasks. The 

numerical strength of the Sonderkommando changed all the time, because the 

Germans systematically killed a part of the workers, mainly by burning [sic], 

and replaced them with others. 

[p. 10] In May 1944, the number of Sonderkommando workers was in-

creased by the Germans to 1,000, because then they began to cremate the 

corpses on pyres at Crematorium 5. The Separate Gas Chamber No. 211 was 

restored and put into operation, and the chambers12 next to it. 

The above-mentioned 1,000 men of the Sonderkommando were assigned to 

work from May onwards as follows: 

Crematorium 2: 120 men, 60 men each shift 

Crematorium 3: 120 men 

Crematorium 4: 60 men 

Crematorium 5: 300 men 

Separate Gas Chamber No. 213 and pyres next to it: 300 men. 

Question: Apart from the above-mentioned crematoria and pyres, did the 

Germans exterminate people in any other way? 

Answer: In addition to the crematoria, the Germans built separate gas 

chambers Nos. 1 and 2 in Birkenau and pyres next to them,14 where they ex-

terminated people. I do not know when they began to operate, but I do know 

that the Germans stopped exterminating people there in April 1943. 

From May to October 1944 inclusive, Gas Chamber No. 2 and the pyres 

next to it worked intensively, and also the pyres next to Crematorium 5. 

Question: How many hours per day did the crematoria and the pyres oper-

ate? 

Answer: Crematoria Nos. 2, 3, 4 and 5 and the cremation pyres and gas 

chambers operated twenty-four hours a day. In Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3, the 

cremation of corpses in the furnaces was carried out during the entire day, ex-

cept for a break to remove the slag, but for at least 21 hours. 

Question: Tell how the Germans exterminated the Sonderkommandos, or if 

they did not exterminate them. 

Answer: The Germans exterminated a large part of the Sonderkommandos 

by cremation in the crematoria, by [p. 11] beating them and by setting the 

dogs on them. But sometimes they suddenly withdrew several hundred men 

and sent them away. In August 1944, the Germans exterminated 200 men in 

 
10 In the text erroneously “4”. 
11 “газовая камера N° 2,” “gazovaya kamera n. 2,” the so-called “Bunker 2”. 
12 “Kameri”: transcription error for “kostri,” “pyres”. 
13 “отдельная газовая камера N° 2,” “otdel’naya gazovaya kamera N. 2,” “separate gas chamber No. 2”. 
14 “отдельные газовые камеры N° 1 и N° 2 и костры при них,” “otdel’nye gazovye kamery n. 1 i 

n. 2 i kostry pri nikh,” “separate gas chambers Nos. 1 and No. 2 and their pyres”. 
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one fell swoop. They were all killed in the Auschwitz 1 Camp, in a disinfec-

tion chamber. In place of those exterminated, the Germans put others. 

I know of one case where 200 men of the Sonderkommando were separated 

out and burned in Lublin-Majdanek. I was able to safe myself because I es-

caped from the transport during the evacuation. I cannot say anything more in 

this regard. 

My statements were transcribed accurately and read to me. 

* * * 

The Deputy Military Prosecutor of the First Ukrainian Front, Major of 

[Military] Justice Pakhomov. 

* * * 

I, Tauber Genryk Abrakhom [sic] declare moreover: 

The pyres for cremating corpses were arranged in pits, at the bottom of 

which a channel for air supply had been dug along the entire length of the ex-

cavation. From this channel, there was a branch to a pit 2 x 2 x 4 meters deep. 

During the cremation of the corpses on the pyres, the fat dripped into this pit: 

with this fat the corpses on the pyres were sprayed so that they burned better. 

At first, wood was put in the pit, then 400 corpses, alternated with branches, 

were sprinkled with gasoline, and the fire was started. Then the remaining 

corpses from the gas chambers were thrown in, and from time to time the fat 

from the corpses was poured in. 

They were cremated on a pyre for about 48 hours. If the Germans had [p. 

12] poisoned a larger number of people, and it was impossible to cremate 

them on one pyre, they had subsequent pyres set up. 

Accurately transcribed. It has been read to me – Signature 

The military deputy prosecutor of the First Ukrainian Front, Major of [Mil-

itary] Justice Pakhomov 

In witness: The military deputy prosecutor of the First Ukrainian Front, 

Major of [Military] Justice Pakhomov. 

1.2. Statement to Investigating Judge Jan Sehn (24 May 1945)15 

[p. 1/122] Auschwitz, 24 May 1945. Krakow Investigating Judge Jan Sehn, a 

member of the Commission of Inquiry into German-Hitlerite Crimes at 

Auschwitz, questioned on the initiative, in the presence and with the participa-

tion of Deputy Prosecutor of the Krakow District Court Edward Pęchalski, 

pursuant to Section 254 in connection with Sections 107, 115 of the [Polish] 

Code of Criminal Procedure, the former inmate of the Auschwitz Concentra-

tion Camp No. 90124, who stated the following: 

 
15 AGK, NTN 93 (Höss Trial), Vol. 11, pp. 122-150. In the translation I indicate both the type-

script’s page number and the page number of the court document, See Document 4. 
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My name is Henryk Tauber, born on 8 July 1917 in Chrzanów, son of 

Abraham Tauber and Minda née Szajnowic, unmarried, of Jewish religion, 

Polish citizenship and nationality, shoemaker by profession,16 domiciled in 

Chrzanów, 1 Grunwaldzka Street, no criminal record. 

Until the outbreak of war in 1939, I lived in Chrzanów with my immediate 

family of 12 people. From this family, I and one of my brothers-in-law sur-

vived. So far, I have no news about the fate of one of my brothers who emi-

grated to Russia. As a result of massive relocation and deportation actions, our 

family was separated, and I found myself in the Krakow Ghetto. There, I was 

arrested in November 1942 and imprisoned in the prison of the Jewish Public 

Order Service at 31 Józefińska Street. On 19 January 1943, I was transferred 

to Auschwitz with a transport of 400 Jews from the Krakow Ghetto and 800 

Aryans from Montelupi.17 There were about 800 men and 400 women in this 

transport. The women were already separated at Auschwitz Station and quar-

tered in the women’s camp at Birkenau; I, on the other hand, went to Block 

27, Sector Bib, together with a group of 250 Jewish prisoners and about 550 

Aryans. This block was not yet finished; it had no windows, no doors and no 

cots. I then went, in that order, to Block 22 [and then to Block] 20 of this same 

camp sector; I was for a couple of days in Buna,18 from where I was trans-

ferred back to Birkenau, because typhus had been discovered among the in-

mates of the group to which I belonged, and I was assigned to Block 21 of 

Sector BIb. 

[p. 2/123] The registration was carried out in the meantime, during which I 

presented myself as a qualified locksmith and mechanic. At the beginning of 

February 1943, Unterscharführer Groll, Arbeitsdienst19 and Arbeitseinsatz,20 

[and] the inmate Mikusz came to [our] block, and they chose qualified inmates 

[workers] from among those staying in our block, ostensibly to work in the 

workshops of Auschwitz. Twenty young Jews were chosen. We were taken to 

Block IV,21 where we underwent a medical examination, and were all found to 

be in good health. On the same day, we were taken by truck, escorted by the 

SS, to Auschwitz and housed in Bunker [w bunkrze] No. 7 of Block XI.22 The 

next day, accompanied by a large number of SS men, we were taken to the 

bunker, which, as it turned out later, was Crematorium No. 1.23 There we 

 
16 “Cholewkarz”: properly a craftsman who makes the uppers for shoes. 
17 Krakow Prison located on the street of the same name. 
18 The Monowitz Camp. 
19 Labor Service. 
20 Labor deployment. 
21 The blocks were numbered with Arabic numerals, not with Roman numerals. 
22 Basement Cell No. 7 of the bunker (basement prison) of Block 11. 
23 The term “Bunker” designated the entire building of Crematorium I in the official language of the 

SS. E.g., in the “Construction Report on the Status of the Construction Work for the Auschwitz 
Concentration Camp Project” of 31 May 1942, the Crematorium (Building 11) is described as fol-
lows: “installed in the [pre]existing Bunker”. RGVA, 502-1-24, p. 320. For Tauber, the term 
“bunker” meant the basement of Block 11 and the morgue of the crematorium. 
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found seven Jews, including Jankowski, and three Poles. The Kapo was 

Mietek Morawa from Krakow. He was a tall, blond, slender man, judging by 

his appearance about 24 years old. One of his brothers was a boxer in Krakow. 

I heard that Morawa’s family lived in Dębniki.24 At first, while working there 

in the first Auschwitz crematorium, he was a very strict Kapo, carrying out to 

perfection the work ordered by the Germans. He later moved on to Crematoria 

II and III at Birkenau as Oberkapo. There he tried to live in harmony with us, 

because there were about 400 of us, we had already worked for a very long 

time at the crematoria, we were disillusioned and ready for anything, and 

therefore we did not let anyone step on our toes. 

On the first day after our arrival at the crematorium, an SS Unterscharfüh-

rer whose name I do not remember gave us a speech. He told us that we 

would perform an unpleasant job, but we would nevertheless have to get used 

to it, and after a while it would [no longer] present any difficulties for us. He 

spoke in Polish. During the whole speech, he did not make a single mention of 

the fact that we would be assigned to the cremation of human corpses. He 

concluded this speech with the order “Los an die Arbeit,”25 and by hitting us 

on the head with a whip. In the company of Mietek Morawa, we were pushed 

into the bunker [morgue] of Crematorium I, where we saw several hundred 

corpses. They were piled one on top of [p. 3/124] the other, dirty, frozen; 

many corpses were bloody, with their skulls smashed, others with their stom-

achs open, evidently as a result of an autopsy. These corpses were frozen; we 

had to separate them from each other with axes. Pushed and prodded by this 

Unterscharführer and by Kapo Morawa, we dragged these corpses to the 

hajcownia,26 where there were three furnaces, each of which had two muf-

fles.27 I call muffles, according to the terminology accepted by the Soviet 

Commission, the retorts28 for the cremation of corpses. In the “heating [fur-

nace] room” we placed the corpses on a cart on rails that ran between the fur-

naces.29 From the door leading to the bunker where the corpses were kept [the 

morgue], this cart went on a disk30 that rotated in all directions, and moved 

across to the “heating room” on wider tracks. From these wide tracks, narrow 

tracks led to each muffle, on which the cart ran towards the muffle. This cart 

moved on four metal wheels. It had a sturdy supporting surface in the shape of 

a box. Into this [sort of] box we put stones and iron to weigh it down. The up-

per part of this [sort of] box was a metal stretcher about 2 meters long.31 On 

 
24 A Krakow neighborhood. 
25 “Come on, get to work!”. 
26 A term based on the German “Heizraum” – heating room, furnace room. 
27 “Mufle,” from German “Muffel”. 
28 “Retorty,” plural of “retorta”: Tauber uses this misnomer, which I will henceforth translate by the 

technical term “muffle” (Muffel). 
29 This “cart” was called “Sargeinführungswagen” – coffin-introduction cart. 
30 “Szajba,” term based on the German “Drehscheibe” – rotating disk/platform. 
31 This device was actual the “Sargeinführungsvorrichtung” – coffin-introduction device. 
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this stretcher, we placed five corpses: the first two corpses with their legs fac-

ing the furnace and their bellies up, then two more corpses in the opposite di-

rection, and these corpses also had their bellies up. The fifth corpse was 

placed with its legs towards the furnace and its back up. The arms of this fifth 

corpse would hang down as if embracing all the corpses lying beneath it. 

Since sometimes such a load had a weight greater than that of the cart’s sup-

port surface, we supported the stretcher beam from underneath so that the cart 

would not tilt and the corpses would not fall. Once the stretcher was loaded, 

we pushed it into the muffle. When the corpses were in the furnace, we would 

hold them [inside] by means of a sheet metal box that moved along the 

stretcher, and other inmates would pull the cart out from under the corpses.32 

A special handle at the end of the stretcher allowed this moving box to be 

dragged [back].33 Then we would close the [muffle] doors. In Crematorium I, 

as I mentioned earlier, there were three two-muffle furnaces. Each muffle 

could cremate five human corpses [at once]. 

[p. 4/125] So in this crematorium, 30 human corpses could be cremated at 

the same time. During the period in which I was serving in this crematorium, 

the cremation of such a load lasted one and a half hours. They were in fact 

emaciated corpses of people, real skeletons, which burned very slowly. From 

subsequent practice and observation of cremations in Crematoria II and III, I 

know that corpses of fat people burn considerably faster. The cremation pro-

cess is accelerated by the burning of human fat, which produces additional 

heat [które wytwarza dodatkowy żar]. All of the furnaces in Crematorium I 

were located in a room that was called the “furnace room”. Near the entrance 

to this room was a furnace with the gasifier facing the entrance door and with 

the muffles facing the room. The [other] two that were further away were ar-

ranged exactly the opposite way, i.e., with the muffles facing the entrance 

door and the gasifiers toward the room, and were located at the back of the 

room. These furnaces were heated with coke. They were built by the company 

“Topf und Söhne” of Erfurt, as indicated by the inscription on the furnace 

doors and other metal parts. The cart for transporting the corpses was also 

manufactured by this company. Behind the “heating room” was a small coke-

storage room,34 next to it a small office,35 and further to the right the urn stor-

 
32 The “box” (“pudło”) was a hollow half-cylinder made of sheet metal (Verschiebewagen, transfer 

cart), with the front part open, which slid over the stretcher; when the latter was introduced into 
the muffle, the half-cylinder was pushed forward until it enveloped the corpse; Then, using a pok-
er, pressure was applied to the half-cylinder to hold it in place and at the same time the coffin-
introduction cart (Sargeinführungswagen) was pulled back, so that the stretcher slid out under the 
corpse, which was placed on the grid of the muffle. 

33 Here Tauber is confusingly referring to the large handle that the coffin-introduction cart had at its 
rear to maneuver it; as I have already explained, in order to pull the stretcher out of the muffle, 
one had to pull back the entire coffin-introduction cart and not just the transfer cart. 

34 “Koksraum” – coke room 
35 “Szreibsztuba,” term based on the German “Schreibstube,” the scribe’s office. 
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age room36 for the human ashes. The entrance door that currently leads to the 

room that I called the “furnace room” was not built until later. During the pe-

riod in which I worked at Crematorium I, this door did not exist. At that time, 

one entered the furnace room from the corridor to the left of the entrance. 

There were two such doors. The first door, on the right side of the corridor, 

led to an auxiliary storeroom where the spare grills were located. This is 

where the people undressed who arrived in small truck transports and who 

were shot in the bunker37 of Crematorium I during the period in which I 

worked there. I call the bunker the part of the building in which people were 

gassed. Such transports arrived once or twice a week, and consisted of 30-40 

people. These people were of all nationalities. During the shootings, we work-

ers of the Sonderkommando were pushed into the coke-storage room. Then we 

would find the bodies of the people who had been shot in the bunker. On all 

the corpses we saw a [p. 5/126] gunshot wound in the skull /Genickschuss38/. 

The shootings were always carried out by the same SS-Mann of the Political 

Department in company with another SS-Mann of the same department who 

recorded the deaths of those shot. Kapo Morawa was not with us in the coke-

storage room during the shootings. I do not know what he was doing in the 

meantime. We used to carry the corpses of those shot from the bunker to the 

heating room when the bodies were still warm and dripping with fresh blood. 

The second door to the right in the corridor led to a small room in which the 

ashes of the corpses were collected. Through this small room, one entered the 

bunker proper, which was used during my stay to shoot the victims and previ-

ously to gas people. In December 1942, 400 inmates of the Sonderkommando 

were gassed in this bunker. I was told about this by the inmates I found work-

ing in Crematorium No. I when I was assigned to this work. I worked in 

Crematorium I from the beginning of February until 4 March 1943, i.e., for 

one month. All this time we were kept in the bunker of Block XI. We were 22 

Jews, because two Czech dentists from Birkenau were added to our group that 

had arrived at the beginning of February. The seven Jewish inmates I found 

working in Crematorium No. I were similarly housed in Block XI, but in a dif-

ferent cell. Kapo Morawa and the Poles Józek and Wacek, who were already 

working with him in Crematorium No. I, were housed in Block XV, thus in an 

open block. In addition to these two Czech Jews, four Poles were assigned to 

our group during this month: Staszek and Władek, whose surnames I do not 

remember, as well as Władysław Biskup from Krakow and Jan Agrestowski 

from the parish of Pas, near Warsaw. I remember their surnames well because 

I wrote letters for them in German for their families. These four Poles men-

tioned above were also staying in Block XV. When they left for work, the old 

 
36 “Urnenraum” – urn room. 
37 “Leichenhalle” – morgue. 
38 “Shot in the nape of the neck”. 
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commando39 which was employed in Crematorium I was called “Kommando 

Krematorium I”. Our group, i.e., the 22 Jews from Block XI and the four 

Poles assigned to our group, was called “Kommando Krematorium II”. We did 

not understand the meaning of this at the time. 

[p. 6/127] Only later did we convince ourselves that we had been sent to 

practice for a month at Crematorium I in order to prepare us for work at 

Crematorium II. 

I emphasize that the crematoria and the commandos assigned to their ser-

vice were subordinate to the Political Department. The files of the inmates 

who worked in these commandos were located at the Political Department. 

The sick were not sent to the hospital, but to a closed block [where] an isolat-

ed hospital room had been set up for them. The block in which we were stay-

ing was isolated, and in Auschwitz we were kept in Block XI, which was 

closed. Release from one commando and transfer to another did not depend on 

the Arbeitsdienst, but could only take place by order of the Political Depart-

ment. Our doctor was the French Jew Pach. He was a very good specialist, he 

treated [also] the SS, and with their protection, he managed to get himself out 

of the Sonderkommando block [and to go] to another block. When the Politi-

cal Department learned of this fact, Pach was reassigned to work in our sick 

room, although he had been in a free block for a few months. During my work 

at Crematorium I, the supervision of our activity was carried out on behalf of 

the Political Department by, among others, Untersturmführer Grabner and 

Oberscharführer Kwakernak.40 I remember that Kapo Mietek asked Grabner 

to assign him a prisoner for work, because one of our group had died. Grabner 

replied that he could not give him a “Zugang,” but if he killed four other Jews, 

he would give him five “Zugang”41 [Zugänge]. He also asked Mietek what he 

beat the inmates with. Mietek showed him a stick. Grabner then grabbed an 

iron grate [sic] and told Mietek that he had to hit the inmates with this. After 

the first day of work at Crematorium I, five [inmates] from my group called in 

sick and stayed in the block. The next day, as we were pulling the bodies out 

of the bunker of Crematorium I, we found their naked bodies with no traces of 

gunshot wounds. I suppose they had been killed by an injection. After a month 

of work at Crematorium I, only 12 of 22 Jews remained. On 4 March 1943, 

my group, together with Władysław Tomiczek from Cieszyn and the four 

aforementioned Poles (Biskup and the others), was transferred to [p. 7/128] 

Birkenau, where they were housed in Block No. II, Sector BIb. It was an iso-

lated block. As I later learned, Tomiczek had already worked at the crematori-

um in 1941. He was an old inmate [with a serial number] around 1400. Before 

being assigned to our group, which took place in March 1943, he had worked 

 
39 This term is always spelled “komando,” (“Sonderkommando”), plural “komanda”. 
40 Walter Konrad Quakernack. 
41 “Arrival,” i.e., new inmate. 
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for some time at the mill and at the slaughterhouse, where he had been arrest-

ed with a group of 49 other prisoners on charges of conspiratorial activity. The 

whole group was imprisoned in Block XI of Auschwitz, and sentenced to 

death by the SS Tribunal. Untersturmführer Grabner recognized Tomiczek 

shortly before the execution, and assigned him to our group. Tomiczek 

worked in Birkenau as Kapo of the Kommando employed in Crematorium II, 

and then in Crematorium IV. In August 1943, I believe, Tomiczek was sum-

moned to the Political Department, from where Oberscharführer Kwakernak 

brought back his corpse on the same day, which we cremated in Crematorium 

V. Tomiczek’s head was enclosed in a sack, but we recognized him anyway, 

because his robust build stood out. Kwakernak watched over us until 

Tomiczek’s body was placed in the furnace, then he left immediately. We 

[then] opened the door of the furnace, took out the corpse, opened the sack, 

and from the face we recognized Tomiczek without any uncertainty. He was a 

very good man; he behaved decently with us; we had informed him about our 

conspiratorial activity. 

On 4 March 1943, we were taken under SS escort to the area of Crematori-

um II. There, Kapo August, who had come at this time from Buchenwald 

where he had worked in that crematorium,42 explained the structure of the 

crematorium to us. Crematorium No. II had below ground an undressing room 

/Auskleideraum/ and a bunker, i.e., a gas chamber /Leichenkeller/ [=morgue]. 

To pass between these two basements, there was a corridor to which a set of 

stairs and a sloping trough [slide]43 led from the outside to throw down the 

corpses brought from the camp to be cremated in the crematorium. From the 

undressing room, a door led into this corridor, and from there, through a door 

on the right, into the gas chamber. On the side of the entrance [p. 8/129] in the 

area of this crematorium, a second staircase led to the corridor. To the left of 

this staircase, in the corner, was a small room for hair, glasses and other 

things, to the right was a small room in which spare “Zyklon” cans were kept. 

In the right corner of the corridor, in the wall opposite the entrance from the 

undressing room, there was an elevator to bring up the corpses. From the 

courtyard of the crematorium, the entrance to the undressing room was via a 

staircase. This staircase was surrounded by an iron barrier [railing]. Above the 

door hung a sign with the inscription “Zum Baden und Desinfektion”.44 This 

inscription was written in several languages. In the undressing room, wooden 

benches and numbered wooden clothes hooks were placed along the walls. 

There was no window, and the light was always on. The undressing room also 

had a water sypply and was equipped with a drain. From the undressing room, 

 
42 August Brück was transferred to Auschwitz from Buchenwald on 5 March 1943. Czech 1990, p. 

345. 
43 “Koryto,” the same term used by Tauber to refer to the stretcher of the corpse-introduction cart. 

The German term was “Rutsche.” 
44 “To the bathroom and disinfection.” 
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one went into the hallway through a door above which hung the words “Zum 

Bade” repeated in various languages. I remember there was also the word 

“Bania”.45 From this corridor, you went through a door on the right into the 

gas chamber. It was a wooden door, made of two layers of short pieces of 

boards, similar to the arrangement of a parquet floor; between these [two] lay-

ers there was a mass [of a material] that hermetically sealed the edges of the 

door, and the joints of the frame were similarly covered with felt seals. In this 

door, at the head height of a man of average stature, was a round glazed little 

window. On the other side of the door, i.e., on the side of the gas chamber, 

this window was protected by a hemispherical grating. This grating was in-

stalled because it had happened that the people who were in the gas chamber, 

before dying, had broken the glass window. Since even the grating did not 

prevent this, and similar incidents occurred despite its installation, this win-

dow was then closed with sheet metal or a board. In this connection I would 

like to point out that the persons to be gassed who were in the gas chamber of-

ten damaged the electrical cables, tore them out, and damaged the ventilation 

system. This door was closed from the corridor side with an iron latch which, 

after the door was closed, was tightened for airtight closure by means of spe-

cial keys. The ceiling of the gas chamber rested on [p. 9/130] concrete pillars 

in the center of its length. To the left and right of these pillars were four col-

umns. The outer layer of these columns was made of a thick wire mesh46 that 

went up to the ceiling and outside. Behind this layer was a smaller mesh net-

ting, and within it, a third fine[r]-meshed [net]. In this third netting, there was 

a box, by which the powder [proszek],47 from which the gas had already evap-

orated, was extracted with the help of a wire. There was also an electrical sys-

tem in the gas chamber which ran along both walls of the supporting beam 

which rested on the concrete pillars. The ventilation system was installed in 

the walls of the gas chamber. From it [the ventilation duct] opened towards 

the inside of the [gas] chamber small openings equipped with nets [grates] of 

white sheet metal that were placed in the upper part of the side walls and [oth-

er] lower openings protected by a kind of iron muzzle [semi-spherical iron 

grate]. The ventilation of the gas chamber was connected to a system of venti-

lation pipes that were located in the undressing room. This ventilation, which 

also served the dissection room, was operated by electric motors located in the 

attic of the crematorium building. The gas chamber did not possess a water 

system. The water tap was located in the corridor, and a rubber hose was used 

to rinse the floor of the chamber. At the end of 1943, the gas chamber was di-

vided in two by a masonry wall, so that it was suitable for gassing smaller 

transports. In this wall, there was a door similar to the one [that led] from the 

 
45 “Bath,” in Russian. 
46 The term used is “krata” – grate, which, however, has the meaning of the later “siatka” – net. 
47 The inert carrier material of Zyklon B consisted of gypsum cubes (Erco). 



32 C. MATTOGNO ∙ SONDERKOMMANDO AUSCHWITZ II 

corridor to the entire chamber. The smaller transports were gassed in the rear 

chamber farther away from the entrance to the corridor. Above, both the un-

dressing room and the gas chamber were covered by a concrete slab and were 

covered with earth seeded with grass. Above the gas chamber rose four open-

ings like small chimneys, into which the gas was poured. These openings were 

closed by concrete lids with two-handed wooden handles.48 Above the un-

dressing room the ground was a little higher than the level of the yard and 

completely level. Ventilation pipes fed into the ducts and chimneys that were 

located in the part of the building that was above the corridor and undressing 

room. I emphasize that at first there were no benches or coat hangers in the 

undressing room, and in the gas chamber [there were] no showers. They were 

[p. 10/131] installed only in the fall of 1943 in order to disguise the undress-

ing room and the gas chamber by presenting them as a bath and disinfection 

[room]. These showers were attached to pieces of wood that had been inserted 

into the concrete ceiling of the gas chamber for this purpose. No water supply 

was connected to these showers, so no water ever came out of them. 

As I have already mentioned, an elevator, properly a freight elevator, car-

ried the corpses to the ground-floor level. There, a door led from the elevator 

to the heating [furnace] room, where the cremation furnaces were located; an-

other door led in the opposite direction to an auxiliary room for the corpses. 

There was also a corridor which was accessed by an entrance on the side of 

the entrance gate into the crematorium area. From this corridor, through a 

door to the right, one entered the dissection room. Between the dissection 

room and the auxiliary storage room for cadavers there was a toilet, which 

was accessed through a door from the dissection room. From the corridor, 

through a door on the left, one entered the heating room from the side of the 

cremation furnaces’ gas generators. These furnaces were lined up next to each 

other at equal intervals; there were five of them, each fueled by two gas gen-

erators. On the other side, that is, the side where the elevator exit was located, 

these furnaces had three muffles. Each muffle could hold five human corpses. 

Each muffle could be closed by an iron door marked “Topf”. Underneath each 

muffle was the ash box, which could also be closed with an iron door manu-

factured by the same company. Behind the furnaces, on the left side of the ac-

cess to the crematorium courtyard, was the coke-storage room. Going to the 

end of the courtyard,49 behind the coke-storage room, one came to a small and 

narrow corridor from which a door led to a small room for the SS; from it, a 

window opened onto the heating room, on the side of the muffles. Another 

window opened onto the rear courtyard of the crematorium. Next to this 

[small room] was the Kommandoführer’s50 room with a window facing the 

 
48 That is, with two wooden handles. 
49 Recte: of the furnace room. 
50 Kapo of the Kommando. 
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rear courtyard. Behind this room was a toilet and a small washbasin, and then 

the doctors’ room, with a window facing the women’s camp. From this small 

corridor, a staircase led to the attic, where there was a room for the people 

employed in the [p. 11/132] Sonderkommando. Also in the attic were the elec-

tric motors that ran the elevator and the ventilation. They were serviced by an 

inmate mechanic. On the side of the access to the crematorium courtyard, in 

the middle [of the wing] of the building that protruded from it at the front, 

there was an annex in which the furnace for burning garbage was located. It 

was the so-called “Müllverbrennung”.51 It was a separate furnace [and] one 

descended to it via a set of stairs; it was surrounded by an iron railing and 

heated with coal. The entrance to the annex of the “Müllverbrennung” was on 

the side of the entrance to the crematorium area. This annex, in addition to the 

door, had a window on the front side and a window on the right and left of the 

entrance. At the corner to the left of the entrance, there was an opening 

through which, from an ash box in front of it on the outside of the annex, 

things to be burned were thrown into the annex. The furnace for burning these 

things was on the left of the entrance to the annex, the hearth for heating the 

furnace on the right. I would like to point out that it was in this furnace that 

the documents of the Political Department were burned all the time. From 

time to time, SS men would bring in whole trucks [loaded] with papers, doc-

uments and files, and these papers would be burned under their supervision. 

While burning these papers, I noticed that among them were whole piles of 

cards of dead people or “Totenmeldungi”.52 We could not take any of these 

papers, because we were burning them under direct and careful supervision of 

the SS. Behind the annex of the “Müllverbrennung,” at the back of the crema-

torium, there was a chimney which served all the cremation furnaces and the 

“Müllverbrennung” furnace. At first, there were three electric motors around 

this chimney to strengthen its draft. Because of the heat next to and in the vi-

cinity of the furnace, these motors broke down, and once a fire even broke out, 

so they were later dismantled, and the ducts carrying the combustion gases 

from the cremation furnaces were connected directly to the chimney. From the 

annex of the “Müllverbrennung,” a door led to the part of the building where 

the chimney was located. This part was located higher up, and was accessed 

via a set of stairs. After the motors had been dismantled, a washbasin was in-

stalled in this part next to the chimney for the [inmates] employed in the Son-

derkommando [p. 12/133], and in the opposite part, the one closest to the un-

dressing room, a room in which Oberkapo August sometimes slept. He stayed 

permanently in the Reichsdeutsche block, at first in Sector BIb, then in Sector 

BIId. In the attic, above the “Müllverbrennung” annex, the victims’ hair clip-

 
51 “Müllverbrennungsofen” – garbage incineration furnace. 
52 “Totenmeldungen” – death notification 
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pings were dried, disentangled and packed in sacks. These bags were then tak-

en away by truck. 

As I mentioned above, Crematorium No. II had five furnaces. Each crema-

torium had three muffles for cremating corpses, and was heated by two coke-

gas generators. The outlets of the fire ducts of these gas generators were locat-

ed above the ash boxes of the two side muffles, so that the flame53 first passed 

through the two side muffles, then entered the central muffle, from where the 

combustion gases went to the chimney through a duct running below.54 The 

flue-gas channel started from under the cremation furnaces on the side of the 

muffle between the two gas generators. By virtue of this system, the process 

of cremation of the corpses in the side muffles and in the central one was dif-

ferent. Muslim corpses, i.e., emaciated and fatless corpses, burned faster in the 

lateral muffles and worse in the central one. On the contrary, the corpses of 

gassed people who were sent to the gas directly from the transport and there-

fore were not emaciated, burned better in the central muffle. During the cre-

mation of these corpses, we used coke only for the ignition of the furnace. Fat 

corpses burned by themselves thanks to the burning of the fat present in the 

body. It also happened that, when there was no coke to heat the gas genera-

tors, we placed straw and wood in the ash boxes, which were located under 

the muffles, and as soon as the fat of the corpses ignited, the entire load55 al-

ready burned with its own fire. The muffle inside did not have any iron parts; 

the grate was made of fireclay. [Any] iron parts would have melted in the 

heat, which reached 1,000-1,200°C. The fireclay grates in the muffle were ar-

ranged crosswise. The doors were smaller than the entrance openings of the 

muffle; the muffle itself was about 2 meters long, 80 centimeters wide and 

about 1 meter high. As a rule, 4-5 corpses burned in such a muffle. 

[p. 13/134] But there were also cases in which we loaded more corpses in-

to the muffle. As many as eight muslims could be accommodated [introduced] 

in there. We burned these larger loads during air raids without the knowledge 

of the crematorium chief, so that a larger fire came out of the chimney, and the 

airmen became aware of it. We thought that in this way we could change our 

fate in our favor. The iron parts and especially the iron grate that are currently 

in the camp area are components of the gas generators. Crematorium II had 

grids of thick iron bars. In Crematoria 4 and 5 there were pointed grates in the 

shape of a sword with a handle. 

On 4 March [1943], we were in charge of firing up the gas generators. We 

kept them going from morning until 4 o’clock in the afternoon. In the mean-

time, a commission from the Political Department and senior SS officers from 

Berlin arrived at the crematorium. In addition to them, there were also civil-

 
53 “Płomień” – “flame,” singular. 
54 Under the furnace and under the floor of the furnace room. 
55 All bodies loaded into the furnace. 
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ians and engineers from the “Topf” Company. Of the members of this com-

mittee I remember Hauptsturmführer Schwarz, Lagerkommandant Aumeyer 

[Aumeier] and Oberscharführer Kwakernak. After the arrival of the commis-

sion, we were ordered to bring out corpses from the auxiliary room56 and to 

throw them [!]57 into the muffles. In the auxiliary room, we then found about 

45 corpses of only men, very well fed and fat. At that time, I did not know 

when these corpses had been deposited in the auxiliary room, and from where 

they had been taken. But then I learned that they had been selected from the 

people gassed at Bunker No. II, located in the woods. In fact, an officer from 

the Political Department had gone there [and] had ordered to select from the 

corpses of the gassed persons the corpses of well-developed and fat people, 

[then] had commanded to take these corpses away from the bunker area on a 

truck. The Sonderkommando inmates who were employed there did not know 

where these corpses had been taken. It turned out that they were used to test 

the efficiency of Crematorium No. II, which was to be put into operation at 

that time, and to demonstrate it to the many-member commission. We brought 

[up] these corpses through the elevator and the door leading to the heating 

room [p. 14/135], and placed them two or three at a time on a cart similar to 

the one I described when speaking of Crematorium No. 1, and loaded them in-

to the individual muffles. After the introduction of the entire batch of corpses 

into all the muffles of all the furnaces, the members of the commission, 

watches in hand, observed the process of cremation of the corpses, opened the 

doors, looked at the watches, discussed among themselves, and marveled that 

the cremation lasted [so] long. Since the furnaces, because they were com-

pletely new, had not yet warmed up properly, although they had been operat-

ing since the morning, the cremation of this load lasted 40 minutes. With con-

tinuous operation, the crematorium cremated two loads per hour. According to 

regulations, we had to load new bodies into the muffles every half hour. Ober-

kapo August explained to us that, according to the calculations and plans of 

the crematorium, the cremation of a corpse in a muffle took 5-7 minutes. At 

the beginning, he did not allow us to load more than three corpses. With such 

a pace, we had to work non-stop, because after loading the last muffle [the 

load of] the first one was already burned. In order to have a break in the work, 

we loaded 4-5 corpses into each muffle. The cremation of such a load took 

longer, so after loading the last muffle, we had a few minutes of rest while the 

load of the first muffle burned [out]. We would use this time to wash the floor 

of the heating room, so the air would cool down a bit. 

The commission departed after the cremation of this first test load; we ti-

died up the crematorium, washed it, and were taken to Block 2 of the BIb 

Camp. For the next 10 days, we went every day under SS escort to the crema-

 
56 Auxiliary corpse storage. 
57 “Wrzucić” – thrown in. 
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torium and fired up the gas generators. During these 10 days, no transports ar-

rived; we did not cremate any corpses, but only kept the gas generators run-

ning to heat the furnaces. Towards the middle of March 1943, after we had 

finished our work, the then [head] of the crematoria, Hauptscharführer 

Hirsch, arrived and ordered us to stay in the crematorium, because we had to 

carry out a job. As night fell, the first trucks arrived on which people of vari-

ous ages and of both sexes were brought in. Among them were old men, 

women and many, many children. These trucks came there and [returned] 

back [p. 15/136] in the direction of the train station in about an hour, bringing 

more and more people. When the trucks started to arrive, we of the Sonder-

kommando were locked in the room where – as I explained in the description 

of the crematorium – the physicians assigned to the autopsies were staying. 

From this room, we could hear the crying and screaming of the people who 

had been unloaded from the trucks into the crematorium courtyard. These 

people were pushed into a barracks which was then situated perpendicular to 

the crematorium building, on the side of the entrance to the yard of Cremato-

rium No. II. The persons entered this barracks through a door that was on the 

entrance side, and went down the staircase that was to the right of the “Müll-

verbrennung.” At the time, this barracks served as an undressing room. How-

ever, it was only used for about a week, and then it was dismantled. After the 

barracks had been dismantled, the people were pushed into the underground 

part of the crematorium by way of a staircase leading to the underground un-

dressing room which I described earlier. After about two hours in the doctors’ 

autopsy room, we were taken out and ordered to go to the gas chamber. In this 

chamber, we found piles of naked corpses, in a position similar to sitting. The 

corpses were pink in color, in some parts redder, in others they were covered 

with greenish spots with drooling at the mouth, some had blood coming out of 

their noses, in most cases we could see excrement. I remember that many had 

their eyes open; many corpses were clinging to each other; the greatest num-

ber of crowded corpses were lying near the door. Near the wire-mesh col-

umns, they were less crowded. From the arrangement of the bodies, it could 

be seen that people had moved away from these columns and had wanted to 

reach the door. It was very hot in the chamber, and there was such a stench 

that it was impossible to bear. Later we became convinced that many of the 

bodies in the gas chamber died of asphyxiation, of lack of air, even before the 

gassing. These people lay on the floor, and others walked over them. They 

were not sitting down, like the majority, but were lying on the floor. From this 

it could be seen that they had died before the others, who must have stepped 

on their corpses. After the people had been pushed into the gas chamber and 

had been locked in, [p. 16/137] and before pouring the “Cyklon,” air was ex-

tracted from the chamber, in fact the ventilation of the chamber lent itself to 

this purpose. It was a suction-pressure system. The undressing room had only 

suction ventilation. Although the ventilation was turned on after the door to 
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the [gas] chamber was opened, in the first moments after entering the cham-

ber, when there were gassed persons in the chamber, we worked on extracting 

the corpses while wearing gas masks. However, we did not remove the corps-

es from this first transport in mid-March 1943, because we had to return to 

servicing the furnaces. At that time, 70 inmates who were part of the Sonder-

kommando and in charge of cremating the corpses in the bunker pits were 

brought in from Block II. This group took the corpses out of the gas chamber 

into the corridor near the elevator, where a barber cut the women’s hair, and 

then the corpses were taken up the elevator to the level of the heating room. 

There they were either deposited in the auxiliary room for corpses or were 

taken to the heating room and placed in front of the furnaces. There, two den-

tists under SS control extracted [the corpses’ precious] metal teeth and den-

tures. They also removed rings from the corpses and tore earrings from their 

ears. The teeth were thrown into a crate that bore the inscription “Zahnarztsta-

tion,”58 the jewelry into another crate. This crate had no inscription but was 

only marked with a number. Dentists who had been recruited from among the 

inmates looked into the mouths of every corpse except the children. When the 

mouths were pressed together [=clenched], they opened the jaws with pincers, 

which they used also to extract the teeth. As I have already mentioned, the 

work of the dentists was minutely controlled by the SS who assisted in this 

operation. Every so often, they would stop a load of corpses already treated by 

the dentists [headed] to the furnaces, look into [their] mouths, and in some 

cases note the presence of a gold tooth not extracted by the dentists. Such an 

oversight was considered sabotage, and the offending dentist was burned alive 

in a furnace. I personally witnessed a French Jewish dentist being burned in 

this way in Crematorium V. He defended himself and shouted, but the SS, 

there were a few of them, threw themselves on him, rendered him harmless, 

and put him alive in a furnace. The punishment of being burned alive was 

used quite often for the men of the Sonderkommando, but it was not the only 

one, because in addition to it, other punishments were inflicted, such as shoot-

ing on the spot, being thrown into a tub [full] of water, [p. 17/138] physical 

torment, beatings, rolling with the naked body on gravel, and other tortures. 

These punishments were inflicted before the eyes of the entire Sonderkom-

mando staff in order to frighten them. I also remember another case that took 

place in Crematorium No. V in August of 1944. At that time a golden wed-

ding ring and a watch were found on one of the ordinary workers, a Jew from 

Walbrom named Lejb, about 20 years old, dark-haired and wearing the num-

ber one hundred and eight thousand and more, during the change of shifts. All 

the Sonderkommando personnel employed in the crematorium were then as-

sembled, and before their eyes, he was hung with his hands tied behind [his 

back] from an iron bar above the gas generators. He hung in this position for 
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about an hour; then, after his arms and legs had been untied, he was led into 

an unheated furnace in the crematorium, where the ash box underneath was 

doused with gasoline and set alight, so that the flames reached the muffle in 

which this Lejb was located. 

After a couple of minutes, the furnace was opened, and the doomed man 

escaped from it completely burned and was ordered to run around the court-

yard of the crematorium and shout that he was a thief, then he was ordered to 

climb the barbed wires of the crematorium fence, which at that time, since it 

was daytime, was not electrified. When he was on top of the wires, the crema-

torium chief Moll shot him. Moll’s first name was Otto. 

Another time the SS chased an inmate who was dawdling at work at the 

crematorium into a pit in which there was boiling human fat. At that time, 

corpses were cremated in open-air pits, from which the fat flowed into a sepa-

rate tank dug into the earth.59 This fat was used to sprinkle on the corpses to 

speed up the burning process. This unfortunate man was pulled out of that 

grease tank still alive and was shot. To complete the formalities, the corpse 

was taken to the block, where the “Totenschein,”60 was issued, and the corpse 

was taken to the crematorium area only the next day and cremated in a pit. 

During the cremation of the corpses from that first transport in mid-March 

1943, we worked non-stop for 48 hours, but we were not able to cremate [p. 

18/139] all the corpses, because in the meantime a Greek transport arrived, 

which was also gassed. But since we were tired and completely exhausted, we 

were taken to the block, and the work was taken over by another shift of the 

Sonderkommando, which at that time also operated the two bunkers [and] 

numbered about 400 inmates. I worked in Crematorium II until the middle of 

April. During this time, Greek, French and Dutch transports arrived. Also dur-

ing this time, we cremated the corpses of the people who had been gassed as a 

result of the selection made at the camp. We worked in two shifts, day and 

night. I am not in a position to give a figure for the number of people gassed 

and cremated during this period. 

On average, 2,500 bodies were cremated per day. During this time, I did 

not have the opportunity to observe the procedure by which the victims were 

pushed into the undressing room, and then from the undressing room into the 

gas chambers. When the transports arrived, we of the Sonderkommando were 

locked up in the coke-storage room. However, two [inmates] remained in the 

heating room to operate the gas generators. It happened that I also took part in 

this service. From a window in the heating room, I observed how the 

“Cyklon” was poured into the gas chamber. Each transport was followed by a 

car bearing the insignia of the Red Cross. The camp doctor Mengele and Rot-

tenführer Scheimetz arrived in this car at the crematorium. They took out of 

 
59 “Ziemnego,” literally “of the earth”. 
60 Death certificate. 
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this car with the insignia of the Red Cross in which they had arrived some 

cans of “Cyklon” [and] took them to the small chimneys for pouring the 

“Cyklon” into the chamber; there, Scheimetz opened them with a special chis-

el and hammer, poured the contents of the can into the chamber, and covered 

the opening with a concrete lid. As I have already mentioned, there were four 

such small chimneys. Into each of them, Scheimetz poured the contents of a 

smaller can61 of “Cyklon”. They were cans with a yellow label glued around 

them. Before opening a can, Scheimetz would don a gas mask. He opened the 

can of “Cyklon” with the mask on, and with the mask on, he poured the con-

tents of the can into the opening that led into the gas chamber. This operation 

was carried out not only by Scheimetz, but also by other SS men designated 

specifically for this purpose who belonged to the “Gesundheitswesen,”62 

whose names I do not remember. At each gassing, [p. 19/140] a camp physi-

cian was present. I mentioned Mengele because I met him very often during 

my work. In addition to him, the camp physicians König, Tilo [Thilo] and a 

tall, slender young man, whose name I do not remember at this time, also at-

tended the gassing. During the selection, this one sent everyone to the gas. I 

remember that once Mengele appealed to Scheim[e]tz to feed the victims who 

were in the gas chamber more quickly, so that they [Mengele and Scheimetz] 

could then go to Katowice. He then told him verbatim: “Scheimetz, gib ihnen 

das Fressen, sie sollen direckt [sic] nach Kattowitz fahren.”63 This meant that 

Scheimetz had to hurry up64 and pour the “Cyklon” into the chamber. While 

working at Crematorium No. II, I also noticed that the SS men who escorted 

the transports arriving at the crematorium area were leading dogs and were 

holding whips. 

In Crematorium II, the cart for loading the corpses was used only for a 

short time, and was then replaced by iron stretchers /in German they were 

called Leichenbrett[er]/ which were inserted [all the way] to the bottom of the 

muffle on iron rollers65 mounted on the lower edge of the muffle door. This 

was done because the use of the cart delayed the loading of the bodies into the 

furnace. This new device was invented, I believe, by Obercapo August. It was 

then used in all the other crematoria. In the furnaces of Crematoria II and III, 

there was only one pair of rollers for all three muffles of a furnace; they 

moved on an iron bar66 in front of the muffle doors. In Crematoria IV and V, 

each muffle had its own fixed rollers installed in front of its door. Each crema-

torium had two iron stretchers67 for loading the corpses into the furnaces. 

 
61 Referring to the size of the Zyklon-b cans, which came in various sizes. 
62 Healthcare system. 
63 “Scheimetz, give them the food; they should go directly to Kattowitz”. 
64 Literally, “he hurried.” 
65 These devices were called Laufrollen, guide rollers/wheels, or Einführrollen, introduction rollers. 
66 This is the holding steel bar (Befestigungs-Eisen) on which the tilting frame was pivoted to which 

the rollers were attached. 
67 “Nozy,” which should be “noszy”. 
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These planks [stretchers] were placed in front of the muffle. Two inmates 

would place the corpses on them. The corpses were arranged in such a way 

that the first corpse lay with its legs in the direction of the muffle with its back 

down and its face up. On top of this corpse, another one was placed, also with 

the face up, [but] with the head turned towards the muffle. This was done so 

that the upper corpse would clasp the legs of the corpse lying below, so that it 

was not necessary to push the legs of the upper corpse into the furnace, but 

they would glide in by themselves. [p. 20/141] Two inmates would load the 

corpses onto the stretcher. Two others stood by the ends of a pole placed un-

der the stretcher near the muffle. While loading the corpses onto the stretcher, 

one of them would open the muffle door, the other would set up the rollers. A 

fifth inmate would lift the stretcher by the handles and, after also being lifted 

by the other two and being placed on the rollers, the stretcher would enter the 

muffle. When the corpses were now inside the muffle, a sixth inmate with an 

iron scraper would hold them inside the muffle, and the fifth would pull the 

stretcher out from under them. This sixth inmate’s duties included washing the 

stretcher with water after it had been pulled out of the furnace. He would do 

this to cool the stretcher, which became hot in the furnace. It was also [to 

make sure that] the bodies that had just been placed on the stretcher did not 

stick to it. Soap was dissolved in this water so that the corpses would slide 

well on the sheet of the stretcher. The second load to be cremated in the same 

muffle was loaded in the same manner as this [first load], but with this second 

pair of corpses we had to hurry, because the corpses loaded earlier were al-

ready burning in the meantime, their arms and legs were rising, so that in case 

of a delay, we found it difficult to load the second pair of corpses into the fur-

nace. During the loading of this second pair of corpses into the furnace, I had 

the opportunity to observe the process of burning of the corpses. It seemed as 

if the corpses straightened the trunk of the body, that [their] hands rose up and 

contracted, the same thing happened with the legs. Blisters formed on the 

body, and with older corpses, which sometimes lay up to two days in the aux-

iliary room after the gassing and were bloated and swollen, the abdominal di-

aphragms burst, and the entrails came out. I could also observe the burning 

process when a scraper was operated in the furnace to accelerate the burning 

of the corpses. By the way, after each loading, the SS Kommandoführer 

checked whether the furnaces were loaded properly. We had to open the doors 

of each muffle for him, and at that time we saw what was going on inside. We 

cremated the corpses of children along with those of older, adult people. First, 

we loaded the corpses of two adults into the furnace, then as many children as 

would fit into the muffle. Most of the [p. 21/142] times the corpses of 5-6 

children. We did this so that the children’s corpses would not lie directly on 

the grates, which were placed wide apart,68 because the children’s corpses 

 
68 Tauber refers to the distance between the grid bars from each other. In the triple-muffle furnace, 
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could fall through them into the ash pit. Women’s corpses burned much better 

and faster than men’s corpses. Therefore, if a load was burning badly, we 

would look for a woman’s corpse [and] load it into the furnace to speed up the 

burning process. In the early loads, when the furnaces were heated only by the 

gasifiers, cremation took place more slowly. But then, as more loads were 

cremated, they [the muffle walls] were brought to red heat by the embers that 

were produced by the cremation of the corpses, so that during the cremation of 

fat corpses, generally the gasifiers were shut down. From the corpses placed in 

the furnace thus brought to red heat, the fat immediately dripped into the ash 

box; in the ash box, it ignited and burned the corpse. During the cremation of 

muslims, it was necessary to constantly feed the gasifiers. The Vorarbeiter69 

wrote down in a notebook the number of corpses cremated with each load, and 

an SS Kommandoführer checked these notes, and took the notebook to him-

self after the cremation of an entire transport. With each shift of our Sonder-

kommando came more SS guards and more Kommandoführer. Among the 

Kommandoführers I remember Gorgies, Knaus, Kurschuss, Schultz, Köln and 

Keller. Scheimetz, whom I have already mentioned, was also Kommandofüh-

rer in Crematorium IV for some time. All Kommandoführers ruthlessly mis-

treated the inmates of the Sonderkommando working in the crematorium. 

Sometimes this took on such a form that, for example, the crematorium chief 

Voss, who was transferred from this post to another one after a short time, re-

proached Kommandoführer Gorgies, who mistreated us in a beastly manner 

for the sole reason that there was no work at the crematorium, because no 

transports had arrived. Then he said to him: “Wenn du hast nicht was zu umle-

gen, dann bist du wild. Ich habe dass schon genug” [sic].70 In addition to the 

aforementioned Voss, at various times the heads of the crematorium were Un-

terscharführer Steinberg, Hauptscharführer Hirsch and Moll, Scharführer 

Puch and Oberscharführer Musfeld [Muhsfeldt] who came from Lublin after 

the liquidation of the local crematorium. 

[p. 22/144]71 The most-depraved of them all was Hauptscharführer Otto 

Moll. Even before my arrival at the camp, he was the director of works in the 

bunkers, where those gassed were cremated in pits. Sometime later, he was 

transferred to another sector. In view of the preparations for the arrival of 

Hungarian mass transports in 1944, he was entrusted with the direction of all 

the crematoria. He organized the entire extermination of the people who ar-

rived with these transports. Even before the arrival of the Hungarian trans-

ports, he ordered the digging of pits next to Crematorium V, and put Bunker 

No. 2, which was then inactive, and its pits back into operation. In the court-

 
this distance was 21 cm. See Mattogno/Deana, Vol. 1, p. 271. 

69 Foreman. 
70 Bad German, translates to bad English: “If you have not something to kill, then you are wild. I 

have that already enough” (I have had enough of it already). 
71 The page numbering incorrectly jumps from 142 to 144. 
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yard of the crematorium, he hung signs on poles with inscriptions; according 

to their content, people who had arrived by transport were to go to the camp, 

where work awaited them, but first they had to bathe and undergo disinfec-

tion. For this purpose, they had to undress [and] deposit all valuables in bas-

kets placed in the courtyard for this very purpose. He also repeated these in-

structions72 personally in speeches he gave to the people who arrived with the 

transports. These transports were very numerous, and it happened that the 

rooms of Crematorium V could not contain all the [people in the] transports 

that arrived. 

The remaining people, who did not fit in the gas chambers, were most-

often shot by him personally. In many cases, he threw people alive into the 

burning pits. He [also] practiced shooting people from a distance. He mistreat-

ed and beat the Sonderkommando inmates, and treated them like animals. The 

female inmates who were assigned to him73 for his personal service recounted 

that he used an iron wire to take gold valuables74 out of the crate in which he 

stashed the valuables stolen from the people who had arrived by transport, and 

put them in a bag. From among the objects left by the gassed people, he took 

for himself furs and a lot of foodstuffs, especially fat. On these occasions, he 

would turn to the SS men around him with a smile and tell [them] that it was 

necessary to stock up on foodstuffs because lean days would also come. On 

his orders, the Sonderkommando was enlarged to about 1,000 inmates. At 

first, when I was assigned to work [p. 23/145] in the Sonderkommando, it 

numbered about 400 inmates, and maintained this strength until January or 

February 1944. In one of these months, a transport of about 300 inmates was 

sent to Lublin. In the meantime, about 50 prisoners per week were assigned to 

the Sonderkommando, however, we were dying in such numbers that, in the 

initial period of my work, despite these weekly arrivals, the Sonderkommando 

did not have more than 400 prisoners. After this transport was sent to Lublin, 

there remained approximately 100 of us. From Lublin, 20 Russians and the 

German Karol as Kapo were sent to our group. In addition, a few dozen in-

mates were also assigned to the Sonderkommando, among them75 gold smel-

ters76 and stokers from Crematorium I in Auschwitz. In April 1944, therefore, 

the Sonderkommando numbered about 160 inmates. At the end of the month, 

in anticipation of the Hungarian transports, it was increased to 1,000 inmates. 

By their behavior, their treatment of us and the type of work during the mass 

cremation of the Hungarian transports, Moll and the SS men around him re-

duced us to despair. After contact was established with the camp [resistance] 

and the outside world, we decided to organize an uprising and win our free-

 
72 Literally: “content.” 
73 “przedzielone,” which should be “przydzielone”. 
74 “przemioty,” which should be “przymioty”. 
75 “mimi,” which should be “nimi”. 
76 “goldgiesserów,” from German “Goldgießer” – gold founder. 
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dom or die. We set a deadline of June 1944 for the uprising. I do not remem-

ber the exact date. However, the uprising did not take place, although every-

thing was already prepared for its launch, and even people from whom we had 

kept the preparation of the uprising a secret participated in the secret action. 

This affair caused us a lot of damage, and after it was discovered, it claimed 

many victims. The first to be shot shortly after the deadline for the uprising 

was set was our Kapo Kamiński. After that, we were transferred to Crematori-

um IV in order to make any contact with the [outside] world impossible. Of 

the personnel housed there, about 200 inmates were selected and sent to be 

gassed. They were gassed in the delousing [chamber]77 of “Kanada” in 

Auschwitz, and cremated in Crematorium II; this cremation was carried out by 

the SS men in charge of the crematorium themselves. The situation became 

more and more serious for us, and although we were watched and monitored 

with doubled vigilance, [p. 24/146] we decided to escape from the camp at 

any cost. After the preparations, the uprising in Crematorium IV took place in 

September 1944; it also involved [the staff of] Crematorium II. During the up-

rising in Crematorium IV, we killed 20-30 SS men, and fled in all directions. 

First, we set Crematorium IV on fire and blew it up. An alarm was sounded at 

the camp, the SS surrounded all the crematoria, and almost all the escaped in-

mates were captured. As a result of the uprising, only about 190 of 1,000 [in-

mates] remained alive. We were all housed in Crematorium III, then trans-

ferred to Block 11 of Sector BIId. From here, 100 inmates left by transport, 30 

were assigned to cremation [work] in Crematorium V, and 60 were housed in 

Block 11 and worked in the Abbruchkommando.78 This Kommando was in-

volved in the demolition of Crematoria II and III, [the reusable parts of] which 

were to be transferred to Gross Rosen. After some time, the 30 stokers from 

Crematorium V were also housed in Block 11, so that, when the camp was 

liquidated, there were approximately 90 inmates of the Sonderkommando in 

Block 11. On 18 January 1945, we were taken to Auschwitz together with in-

mates from other blocks, and driven in the direction of the Reich. After about 

20 km, I escaped, and in this way saved my life. 

As I mentioned earlier, four forensic physicians were also part of the Son-

derkommando. Initially, they stayed with us in the block, but later they were 

placed in the room next to the coke-storage room in Crematorium II. These 

doctors performed autopsies on corpses in a room on the first floor of Crema-

toria II and III. In these rooms, there were two large solid-stone tables on 

which the doctors performed the autopsy. They dissected the corpses of in-

mates who had died in the hospital [and] some corpses of people who had 

been shot in the corridor between the undressing room and the gas chamber. 

Most of the time, these shootings were carried out by Moll personally. In-

 
77 The “Entlausungskammer” – delousing chamber. 
78 Demolition Squad. 



44 C. MATTOGNO ∙ SONDERKOMMANDO AUSCHWITZ II 

mates who came from the bunkers of Block 11 or from outside Auschwitz 

were shot. Very often, when the inmates were brought in to be shot, an Unter-

scharführer, whose name I do not know, arrived at the crematorium, and cut 

the fat meat off the corpses of those shot. [p. 25/147] He put the severed 

thighs and buttocks into boxes or a bucket, and took them away from the 

crematorium in a car. I do not know for what purpose he did this. The medical 

detainees, after performing the autopsy, drew up an autopsy report; this report 

was then taken away by an SS doctor. 

In April 1943, in the middle of the month, I was assigned to work in Crem-

atorium No. IV, which at that time was the second to come into operation. 

Later, also in the first half of 1943, Crematorium No. V and finally Cremato-

rium No. III came into operation. Crematorium III was built in the same way 

as Crematorium II, with the difference that in this crematorium the cart for 

loading the corpses into the furnace was not used right from the start. In the 

room next to the coke-storage room where the doctors were housed in Crema-

torium No. II, in Crematorium No. III the goldworkers79 worked, who melted 

the artificial teeth into gold bars. 

Crematoria IV and V were also built according to the same plans and were 

located symmetrically on both sides of the road between Camp BII and “Mex-

ico,”80 in the direction of the new sauna.81 These crematoria each had two fur-

naces with four muffles. The muffles of each furnace were arranged two by 

two [= in pairs] on each side. In these furnaces, each gasifier heated the two 

muffles located in the middle of each furnace. Each furnace had its own chim-

ney. Both the dressing room and the gas chambers in Crematoria IV and V 

were on the first floor [ground level]. The building in which they were located 

was much lower than the heating room, so that it looked like an annex to the 

crematorium. From the heating room, in the direction of the undressing room, 

there was a narrow corridor with four internal doors. They led from each end 

of the corridor to the heating room and the undressing room. The undressing 

room had four small windows protected from the outside by iron grates.82 An-

other door led from the undressing room to a corridor in which there was a 

door leading in from the crematorium courtyard. In this same wall, next to the 

entrance door, there were two windows. Opposite the entrance door to the cor-

ridor, a second door led into a room with a window in which the kitchen for 

the SS [p. 26/148] crematorium attendants was located. The food in this kitch-

en was prepared by Sonderkommando inmates. The Sonderkommando in-

mates’ room was adjacent to this room. In Crematorium V, the Sonderkom-

mando shoemakers, tailors and carpenters worked in this room, while in 

Crematorium II [IV], the hair cut from the corpses of the gassed persons was 

 
79 “Goldarbeiterzy,” from German “Goldarbeiter” – goldworker. 
80 Construction Sector III. 
81 The Zentralsauna. 
82 “małe okienka zakratowane od strony zewnętrznej kratami żelaznymi”. 
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stored in this room. The third door in this corridor led to a smaller corridor, 

which in turn had a door to the crematorium courtyard and a window with a 

grating. From this corridor, the door to the right of the entrance led into the 

first chamber, through the door opposite into the smaller chamber, from which 

a door led into the last chamber, the largest. This second corridor, like the oth-

er three rooms mentioned above, was used as a gas chamber for gassing peo-

ple. All [the rooms] had gas-tight doors, windows fitted with gratings on the 

outside83 that could be closed from the outside by gas-tight shutters. These 

small windows,84 which a standing man could reach with his hand raised, were 

used to pour the contents of the “Cyklon” cans into the gas chambers filled 

with people. The gas chambers were about 2 meters high, had electric lighting 

that ran along the walls, but no ventilation system. The Sonderkommando em-

ployed in removing the corpses from the gas chambers worked with gas 

masks. The corpses were dragged along the floor through the entrance corri-

dor, where the barbers cut [their] hair, then through the undressing room, 

which in these crematoria served as an auxiliary room for [storing] the corps-

es. It was a large hall in which the corpses were put to clear the gas chambers. 

From the undressing room, the corpses were dragged through the narrow cor-

ridor between the heating room and the undressing room. At each end of this 

corridor was a dentist who would tear the corpses’ gold teeth out. The loading 

of the corpses from the heating room into the muffles was done by means of 

iron stretchers, which I described earlier. Behind the heating room was the 

Kommandoführer’s room, next to it a smaller room for the remaining SS men, 

a small corridor, a bathroom and toilet for the SS men, and the coke-storage 

room. The entire building was made of masonry and had a wooden frame roof 

covered with asbestos panels and tarred cardboard. The courtyards of all the 

crematoria were separated [p. 27/149] from the outside world by a thick wick-

er and live hedge, over which straw mats were also spread. In the courtyard, 

there were watchtowers, from which SS men with machine guns kept vigil; 

the entire grounds were also surrounded by barbed wire charged with electrici-

ty; the courtyards were illuminated by powerful floodlights. 

In May 1944, the SS ordered us to dig five pits in the courtyard of Crema-

torium V, in the part between the drainage ditch and the crematorium build-

ing, in which the corpses of the gassed people from the Hungarian mass trans-

ports were cremated. Indeed, a railway track was built between these pits, but 

we did not use these carts, [because] the SS considered them inconvenient, 

and the inmates of the Sonderkommando dragged the corpses of the gassed 

persons from the gas chambers directly to the pits. During this same period, 

the old Bunker No. 2 and its pits for cremating corpses were put back into op-

 
83 “okna zakratowane od strony zewnętrznej”. 
84 The sentence begins with the preposition “przez,” “through,” irreconcilable with the subsequent 

verb “służyły,” “served.” 
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eration. I did not personally work in Bunker No. 2. Since it was felt that the 

pits were better suited for cremating corpses, the crematoria were closed down 

one by one when cremations in the pits began. First, Crematorium IV was shut 

down, I think in June 1944, then in October 1944, I think, Crematoria II and 

III. Crematorium V remained in operation until the retreat of the Germans. 

Eventually, it was used to cremate the bodies of dead or murdered inmates. 

The gassing of people ceased in October 1944. 

Today, I am unable to give an exact figure of all the people who were 

gassed and cremated in the crematoria and pits. Individuals from the cremato-

rium staff secretly wrote down the most dramatic figures and events concern-

ing the gassed persons. These notes were buried in various locations near the 

crematoria. Some of these notes were dug up during the stay of the Soviet 

Commission, which took them away. However, the vast majority must still be 

hidden in the ground, and this material could be recovered. Among other 

things, there are buried photographs of people gassed in the gas chamber, as 

well as of a transport that arrived at the crematorium for gassing. According to 

my assumptions, the total number of persons gassed in the Auschwitz crema-

toria during the period in which I served in these crematoria as a member of 

the Sonderkommando, [p. 28/150] is approximately 2 million. During my stay 

in Auschwitz, I had the opportunity to talk to various inmates who had worked 

in the crematoria and bunkers of Auschwitz before my arrival there. From 

them, I learned that by the time I started to work in the crematoria, approxi-

mately two million people had already been gassed in Bunkers Nos. I and II or 

in Crematorium No. I. In total, therefore, I calculate the total number of peo-

ple gassed at Auschwitz at about 4 million. This figure includes various trans-

ports from the most diverse group of European countries, both Jews and Ary-

ans, as well as persons who were assigned from the camp force to be gassed in 

the course of selections. 

Demolition of the Auschwitz crematoria began in the fall of 1944. The 

dismantled parts were taken to the siding,85 where they were loaded onto 

trains. Part of the disassembled crematorium material remained at Auschwitz, 

and is currently still located in the construction area of the so-called “Bauhof” 

at Auschwitz I. The Germans did not have time to ship this material. There are 

the carts I mentioned earlier, also a part of the ventilation system, the frames 

of the cremation furnaces of Crematoria IV and V, the iron doors of these 

crematoria [furnaces], the ash boxes, the grates, the iron window grates, the 

furnace grates, a gas-tight door of a gas chamber, clothes hangers and benches 

of the undressing room and other metal or wooden parts. 

 
85 The Birkenau railway ramp. 
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This concludes the [interrogation] procedure and protocol. Read. 
 The witness 

Henryk Tauber 

 

The Prosecutor 
Edward Pęchalski 

 The Judge 
Jan Sehn 

  The Registrar 
Setmajer Stefania 

1.3. Statement to the Jewish Historical Commission of Krakow 
(1945) 

This is the typewritten statement, registered under No. 26, which is titled  
“Tauber Hirsch, born in 1917 in Chrzanów” (“Tauber Hirsch ur. w roku 1917 
w Chrzanowie”), and consists of four typewritten pages.86 The account is writ-
ten in the third person. The text is very short and sparse. For this reason, it is 
preferable to follow the text, written in the first person and more articulate, 
which appeared in a publication of the just-mentioned Commission in 1945.87 
I omit the first page and a half, which narrates earlier personal events of 
Tauber’s life that do not have a close connection with the vicissitudes of his 
deportation to Auschwitz, and I add the final lines of the typewritten state-
ment. 

“Revolt in the Crematorium 

From the prison in Montelupi, the train took us to Auschwitz. In our transport, 
there were women and men. Any attempt to escape on our part generally 
failed. We entered the Auschwitz area surrounded by SS men. We were 
brought down [from the railway cars] with sticks and dogs. Some corpses were 
already lying on the ground as a result of the blows and beatings. Some people 
took their own lives. The men were separated from the women. I was led to the 
camp, into a block that was not [yet] completed, which could hold 1,000 peo-
ple. A drunken chief [Kapo] joined us. We waited there until midnight. At that 
time, we were taken to Block Aufnahme [admission block]. We were registered 
and tattooed. The Jews, from whom 20 [young] men and 150 older men were 
chosen, were taken separately to the Strafkommando [penal squad], where they 
were hanged in turn, meaning that one hanged the other [mianowicie jeden 
wieszał drugiego]. All were recorded in books. 

The rest of the transport was transferred to Buna, to the chemical plants I.G. 
[Farben]. There, we were to spend a three-week quarantine and then go to 
work. However, during the first week, there were two cases of typhus. We were 

 
86 YVA, O.62-24. 
87 “Bunt in krematorium” (“Revolt in the crematorium”), in Borwicz et al., pp. 89-91. 
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sent back to Birkenau as contagious elements. We stayed there for one day. 
The Arbeitsdienst [labor service] requested 25 specialists, blacksmiths, brick-
layers, etc., to work there. I introduced myself as a blacksmith. We were taken 
to the camp, first to Block 11, then to the prison. There, we spent the night in 
the basement.88 The next day at roll call, we were called, the 25 of us, and tak-
en to the crematorium, where others were also working. We were met with a 
beating. We had to cremate corpses. 

We worked for four weeks. We stank to high heaven. Of the 25, only 3 re-
mained. [The others] died of beatings and disease. Those who reported sick 
were already dead the next day. They were poisoned at the hospital. For fear 
of torture and death, the [sick] men worked with a temperature [fever] of 40 
degrees [centigrade = 104°F]. 

After four weeks, we were sent back to Birkenau. We were assigned to the Son-
derkommando. There, we had to burn the corpses of the gassed people. We 
worked [there] for 20 months. The transports, exclusively Jewish, arrived con-
tinuously. The columns of those condemned to be gassed, they pretended to 
send to the bath. People were undressed, beaten and pushed into the cremato-
rium with dogs. During the gassing, they were locked up. One could hear 
[their] screams. After half an hour, they were corpses. Two thousand people 
perished at a time. Then we would be called to cremate the corpses. There 
were five crematoria available, and two sites designated for pyres. Between 
400 and 1,000 men were assigned to this work. This Kommando[89] was liqui-
dated after a few months, and the men who were in it were gassed. At the most, 
a few remained. 

After some time, mass transports arrived from Hungary. These people rebelled 
and threw themselves on the SS. Then, 40 SS men died. A crematorium was 
blown up, the fences of the women’s camp and other [camp sectors] were cut. 
The insurgents intended to liberate the entire camp. However, soldiers sur-
rounded the escapees, and 800 people fell. This happened in September 1944. 
The remaining 190 [men] of this Kommando, who had come out of hiding, 
were taken to the camp; 100 were rounded up in a transport to be shot. I was 
among the remaining 90. We were employed in the demolition of the cremato-
rium. From then on, no more cremations took place there. The Kommando for 
the cremation of corpses had connections with the secret organization of the 
camp, which in turn had contacts with the outside world. From this organiza-
tion, we were given information on what to do. 

In this organization, there were also Russians who were in charge of loading 
broken aircraft. They supplied us with weapons. This Kommando worked in 
the Union [gunpowder] factory, from where girls procured the powder. Pow-
der was used to make grenades that were used during the uprising. As a result 

 
88 The basement (“Bunker”) of Block 11 at Auschwitz Main Camp, used by the SS as the camp pris-

on. 
89 Also in this document, “Kommando” is spelled “komando.” 
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of the uprising, four girls were arrested and hanged. The demolition of the 

crematorium lasted until 19 January 1945. 

The typewritten statement ends as follows: 

“During the general evacuation [Tauber] escaped from the road [from the 

marching column]. Before the evacuation, the boss [szef] arrived and ordered 

to prepare a separate transport. There was confusion, they did not succeed, 

the camp [lager] from Birkenau to Auschwitz [sic]. There he mingled with the 

crowd, donned other clothes, and fled.” 
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2. The Witness Szlama Dragon 

2.1. Statement to the Soviet Commission of Inquiry (26 February 

1945)90 

[p. 1/14] Witness Interrogation Protocol 

26 February 1945 Operating Army 

The military examining magistrate of the military prosecutor’s office of the 

First Ukrainian Front, Captain of [Military] Justice Levin, questioned the be-

low-named as a witness in accordance with Sections 162-168 of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure of the Russian Socialist Federative Soviet Republic. 

1. Last name, first name, father’s name – Dragon, Szlama 

2. Citizenship – Polish 

3. Ethnicity – Polish Jew 

4. Year and place of birth – 1922, place of birth Żeromin, Warsaw voivode-

ship 

5. Social background – from craftsmen, my father worked as a tailor. 

6. Degree of education – 4th grade 

7. Party affiliation – / 

8. Family status, family members, and their place of residence – single 

9. Place of work and office held – former inmate of Auschwitz Camp 

10. Military rank and from what year in the Red Army – / 

11. Decorations and honors – / 

12. Participation in combat, when, where and with what rank: 

13. Criminal record – no record 

14. Permanent residence and exact address – Town of Żerominie, 16 Biezuńs-

ka Street / Auschwitz Camp, 

The witness, informed of the criminal nature of giving false testimony, or re-

fusing to testify under Section 95 of the Code of Criminal Procedure of the 

Russian Socialist Federative Soviet Republic, stated: 

[p. 2/15] On 7 December 1942 I was taken to the Auschwitz Camp in the 

Birkenau Sector with a transport of 2,500 persons. Upon arrival in the Birke-

nau sector, 400 persons, young and healthy men, of [these] 2,500 persons 

were selected and sent to the camp, and all remaining women of this number 

 
90 GARF, 7021-108-19, pp. 180-193 [typewritten copy]; pp. 194-203 [original handwritten text, 

signed by Sz. Dragon]; 7021-108-8, pp. 14-27 [typewritten copy]. Documents 5-7. 
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[transport] were sent to be burned in ditches [для сожжения во рвах, dlya 

sozhzheniya vo rvakh]. 

The selection of people for cremation was the responsibility of the SS fas-

cist Mengele, a doctor, and SS [man] Mol [Moll], who directed the mass cre-

mation of people arriving from various countries and of various nationalities, 

regardless of gender and age. 

The SS-Pljage [Plagge], who had the German rank of Rapportführer, di-

rected the people to the camp who had been selected for work. Mol had the 

rank of Hauptscharführer. 

On 8 December 1942 I, together with other inmates of the camp, were tat-

tooed – [I received] the number 80359 on my left arm – and were housed in 

Barracks No. 14. 

On 10 December 1942, the SS men Plage and Mol selected 200 people 

from among the healthiest men, and told them that those selected would be 

sent to work in a rubber factory; at the same time all 200 people were given 

watery cabbage soup as a supplementary ration at night, so as not to arouse 

suspicion in them in any way about being sent to the rubber factory. 

On 11 December 1942, after all [the others] had been taken from Barracks 

14 to work, the Barracks Elder [Blockälteste], a Pole named Jup, announced 

that all those selected for the rubber factory were to remain in the barracks. 

Then Mol arrived and, addressing the 200 selected inmates, said that they 

should all line up to go to work [p. 3/16] at the rubber factory. At the same 

time, Mol divided those selected into two groups. Each group was escorted by 

30 armed SS men and 8 SS men with dogs. It turned out that they had all been 

deceived: they were not escorted to a rubber factory but taken to two gas 

chambers [к 2-м газокамерам, k 2-m gazokameram]. 

I, who was part of one of the two groups, was taken to the gas chamber 

which was called Gas Chamber No. 2 [в газокамеру, которая именовалась 

газокамера N 2, v gazokameru, kotoraya imenovalas’ gazokamera No. 2], the 

second group was taken to Gas Chamber No. 1. 

At first, none of the 200 people knew that we were going to work at the gas 

chambers. I and all the others learned about it when we were taken there. 

From Barracks No. 14, all those selected for the Sonderkommando /Special 

Kommando/ were transferred to Barracks No. 2, which was located approxi-

mately one kilometer away from the gas chamber. Barracks No. 2 was fenced 

off with 1.5-2-meter-high iron wires. SS guards armed with submachine guns 

escorted the Sonderkommando from the barracks to work and back to the bar-

racks. No member of the Sonderkommando had the right or means to com-

municate with other camp inmates who were not working in the Sonderkom-

mando; however, some found a way and, risking their lives, made contact with 

the camp inmates. 

The group that had been brought to work in Gas Chamber No. 2 was divid-

ed up by Mol into various jobs: 12 persons were to remove the corpses from 
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the gas chamber itself, among them myself; 30 persons to load the corpses on-

to the carts, 10 persons to carry the corpses to the carts, 20 persons to throw 

the corpses into the pits, 28 persons to carry wood to the pits to cremate the 

corpses, 2 persons to remove the corpses’ gold teeth, rings, earrings, etc., 

which was done in the presence [p. 4/17] of two SS men, and 2 to cut the 

women’s hair in the presence of an SS man. Mol personally set the pyres on 

fire. 

After working one day in Gas Chamber No. 2, I became ill, so I was as-

signed to cleaning and other work in Barracks No. 2. I worked in the barracks 

until May 1943, and then I was assigned to the job of collecting bricks from 

the brick basements and brick half-basements that had been blown up by the 

Germans. I worked there until February 1944; at the same time, I worked in 

Gas Chamber No. 2 for about two months; a few days in Gas Chamber No. 1. 

Gas Chambers No. 1 and No. 2 were about 3 kilometers apart in the area of 

the former settlement of Brzezinka [Birkenau], which had been burned down 

by the Germans.91 The gas chambers had been converted from two houses, 

whose windows had been made airtight. In the gas chamber named Gas 

Chamber No. 1 [в газокамере, именуемой газокамерой N° 1: v gazokamere, 

imienuemoy gazokameroy No. 1], there were two rooms, in Gas Chamber No. 

2, there were 4. About 500 meters away from Gas Chamber No. 1 were two 

standard wooden barracks, and at a distance of 150 meters from Gas Chamber 

No. 2 were two more similar barracks. In these barracks, the men, women and 

children undressed, and then they were pushed naked into the gas chambers; 

they were forced in there all together, and with the help of dogs. 

In each of the rooms of Gas Chamber No. 1, there were two doors: through 

one door, the naked people were brought in, and through the other, the corpses 

were brought out. On the outside of the entrance door was the inscription “To 

disinfection,” and on the inside of the exit door was the inscription “Entrance 

to the bathroom.” Next to the door through which people entered was a square 

opening measuring 40 x 40 cm, through which Zyklon, which contained hy-

drogen cyanide, was poured into the chamber from a box [sic]. Meanwhile, 

the SS man donned a gas mask. One can contained 1 kg. The empty cans were 

taken away by the SS. 

[p. 5/18] In the gas chamber – there were two of them – up to 1,500-1,700 

people were pushed. The duration of the gassing was 15-20 minutes. Gas 

Chamber No. 1 had [an area of] 80 square meters. Zyklon was poured into the 

chamber through the opening by several SS men, one of whom was named 

Scheimetz. The removal of the corpses from the chamber, as I have already 

explained, was carried out in turn by 12 persons, every 15 minutes [they] re-

moved them in [sets of] 6 persons. It was difficult to remain in the gas cham-

 
91 In fact, some houses had been demolished, others renovated and assigned as housing for officers 

and non-commissioned officers or designated for other uses. 
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ber for more than 15-20 minutes, because the smell of Zyklon, despite the 

open doors, did not disappear immediately. The clearing of the chamber lasted 

2-3 hours. [Then] gold teeth were extracted from the corpses, and rings, ear-

rings, brooches, etc. were also removed, and the women’s hair was cut off. 

In the pockets of the corpses’ clothes, they searched for valuables, espe-

cially gold. At the haircut, there was an SS man. 500 meters away from Gas 

Chamber No. 1, there were four pits where the people were burned, each 30-

35 meters long, 7-8 meters wide and 2 meters deep. The corpses were trans-

ported to the pit by five carts on a narrow-gauge railway. Each cart was loaded 

with 25-30 corpses. The duration of the transit of one cart in both directions 

[round trip] was about 20 minutes. At all the pits, 110 people worked in shifts 

day and night. In 24 hours, 7,000-8,000 people were burned in the pits. 

Gas Chamber No. 2 had [an area of] about 100 square meters, each room – 

there were four – had two doors. Gas Chamber No. 2 could hold 2,000 people. 

The gassing lasted 15-20 minutes. Zyklon was introduced into each room of 

Gas Chamber No. 2 in the same manner as in Gas Chamber No. 1. The clear-

ing of the chamber took no more than two hours, because it was carried out 

through each door; in addition, the narrow-gauge railway ran on both sides of 

Gas Chamber No. 2, next to the doors; with this railway, the corpses were 

transported to the pits in 7-8 [p. 6/19] cars. At a distance of 150 meters from 

Chamber No. 2, there were 6 pits of the exact same size as those [located] at 

Chamber No. 1. 110-120 people were working at the clearing of Chamber No. 

2 and the burning of the corpses. In 24 hours, in all the pits of Gas Chamber 

No. 2, at least 10,000 people were burned. In 24 hours, in all 10 pits, an aver-

age of no [less than] 17,000-18,000 persons were burned, but on certain occa-

sions the number of persons cremated in 24 hours amounted to 27,000-28,000 

persons, arriving by transport from various countries and belonging to various 

nationalities, especially Jews. 

To support the combustion of the pyres, the wood, when lit, was soaked in 

a liquid – low-quality gasoline – but also human fat. The human fat came from 

the pits in which people were burned through special channels that went to 

another small pit, where the fat dripped, which was collected by the SS them-

selves [сами СС: sami SS]. 

In February 1944 I was sent to work in Crematorium No. 4. I have to say 

that everyone in the Sonderkommando worked in constant fear of death, be-

cause the SS men burning the corpses were very perfidious toward those of 

this Sonderkommando who performed any work regarding gassing and crema-

tion of people. I, and together with me 4 other persons, carried /introduced/ 

the corpses into the cremation furnaces. The corpses were brought into the 

furnace on iron stretchers which were placed on frames. On a stretcher, we put 

3 and 2 corpses at a time. In each furnace [=muffle], 5 corpses were intro-

duced. The corpses were put into the furnace [=muffle] from the iron stretch-

ers by means of special hooks, after which the stretchers were pulled out. On 
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the territory of the Birkenau sector, there were and operated four crematoria – 

Nos. 2, 3, 4 and 5. Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3 were [p. 7/20] built in the same 

manner and had 15 furnaces, Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5 were also built in the 

same manner, but were less capacious in size and technical refinements, and 

each had 8 furnaces. There were gas chambers in each crematorium, and at the 

same time, Gas Chamber No. 2 operated, from which the corpses were trans-

ported to the pits for cremation. Gas Chamber No. 2 operated mainly when 6-

7 transports of people arrived, then the corpses were cremated also on the 

pyres, and not just in the crematoria. 

Crematorium No. 1 was located on the territory of the Auschwitz-Osviet-

sim [Oświęcim] Camp. As in Gas Chambers No. 1 and 2, in the gas chambers 

of the crematoria, the corpses had their gold teeth extracted, earrings and 

brooches removed, [which were] placed in a special case. 

In the Birkenau Sector, transports of people arrived who were then cremat-

ed; they also arrived from other camps, in particular from the “Majdanek” 

Camp in Lublin. Almost all the Russians were burned, and in the last period, 

before the arrival of the Red Army and the liberation of the inmates of the 

Auschwitz Camp, mainly only Russian children were burned, who had been 

torn away from their parents; the adults instead were used for work in the 

camp. In particular, many children who had arrived with their parents from 

Lithuania were burned. Men, women and children were gassed together in the 

gas chambers. In 24 hours, 10,000-12,000 people were cremated in all the 

crematoria. At first, the ashes of the cremated corpses were poured into spe-

cial pits which were then filled with earth, but after some time – after some 

months, I do not remember [exactly] – the pits were reopened, the ashes were 

taken out of them and thrown into the river. In the area of the pits that had 

been filled with ashes, roads were built; however, two pits remained intact, 

along which the country road runs. 

Around July or August 1944, Crematorium [p. 8/21] No. 4 did not work 

[anymore], due to a failure of the chimneys. 

In the Birkenau Sector, within the Sonderkommando, there was a group 

preparing a revolt and the burning of the crematorium. The group was led by a 

Red-Army colonel, a prisoner of war, who was in contact with a major and a 

lieutenant belonging to the Sonderkommando. I do not know the surnames of 

the colonel, the major and the lieutenant; the given name of the PoW lieuten-

ant was Viktor. The group preparing the uprising had procured some [gun] 

powder and made primitive grenades. The powder had been supplied by pris-

oners working in war factories that were located near the camp. 

In September or August [sic] 1944 – I do not remember exactly – the man-

agement of the crematorium – I do not know how – learned about the prepara-

tion of the uprising, and transferred the entire Sonderkommando to Crematori-

um No. 4, where they stayed for one month. In the first days of October 1944, 

the group that had prepared the uprising set fire to Crematorium No. 4, killed 
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some SS men, and organized the escape. Among the SS killed was a guard 

standing on a watchtower, at which the major threw a grenade. At that time, 

the Sonderkommando counted about 700 people. The camp headquarters or-

ganized the capture of those Sonderkommando men who had managed to es-

cape a short distance, and captured them all in a camp [sector] not far from the 

crematorium, and 500 Sonderkommando men were shot. Approximately two 

weeks after the uprising and after Crematorium No. 4 had been put out of ac-

tion, another 100 people from the Sonderkommando were shot, and the re-

mainder were distributed among Crematoria No. 2, No. 3 and No. 5. 

I was transferred to Crematorium No. 2, where I worked at one of the fur-

naces for about 5-10 days. 

In May, June, July and August 1944, the cremation of corpses was carried 

out simultaneously in all crematoria and on the pyres in the pits, because 

[p. 9/22] every day there was a great influx of people – 5-7 transports. In these 

months, all transports arrived from Hungary. The furnaces of the crematoria 

alone could not cremate all the people gassed in the gas chambers. At each 

crematorium, there were storerooms where bodies were put that could not be 

cremated on the gassing day. In the second half or at the end of October 1944, 

I do not remember exactly, all gas chambers ceased to operate, and of the op-

erating furnaces of Crematoria Nos. 2, 3 and 5, only Crematorium No. 5 

worked. The dead, but especially those who had been shot at the camp, were 

cremated. The crematoria were heated with coke, the pits with wood. 

I note that the strength of the Sonderkommando was continually replen-

ished with new arrivals, replacing those who had been shot or killed in the gas 

chambers and then cremated. 

Approximately in August or September 1944, I do not remember exactly, 

200 persons of the Sonderkommando were led on foot to the “Osvietsim” 

Main Camp and gassed during the night. The same night, all the remaining 

Sonderkommando were sent to a barracks, and the 200 gassed persons were 

cremated by the SS themselves. I was informed of it two or three weeks after 

the cremations. In November 1944, the demolition of all crematoria began. 

Particularly from the furnaces, the structures of the muffles were dismantled 

and taken somewhere else. Then, notches were broken [holes were drilled] 

through the walls of the crematoria, into which explosive charges were placed, 

but in this way, they did not succeed in blowing up the crematoria, so other 

methods began to be used, and Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3 were blown up; No. 5 

was blown up a day or two after the retreat. 

[p. 10/23] On 18 January 1945, I was evacuated from the camp with 100 

men of the Sonderkommando in the direction of Germany, but I escaped on 20 

January 1945. 

I note that, after the uprising organized by the Sonderkommando group, the 

SS hanged four girls, inmates of the camp, for providing them with explosive 

materials – the powder for those who had organized the uprising. 
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Among the 500 Sonderkommando men shot was a Jew from the town of 

Luna, Gradowski, who unbeknownst to the SS kept [a notebook with] a record 

of the transports with the people who arrived and were burned. 

In the last months before the Sonderkommando set fire to Crematorium No. 

4, Gradowski, fearing that someone from the Sonderkommando would discov-

er the writings [he had] always with him, began to hide the writings in the 

ground so that they would be preserved. To me personally, Gradowski handed 

over some of his writings, which he put inside a German canteen, to hide 

them, which I buried in the ground; I can point to this place. This was in Oc-

tober or September 1944. I also know where the grenades were buried that 

were made by the Sonderkommando groups that had prepared the uprising and 

the escape. I can point to this place. 

Question: How were the gas chambers of Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3 set up, 

and how did the poisoning of persons take place there? 

Answer: In each of Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3, there was one gas chamber 

which was located in one of the underground rooms of the crematorium, and 

was about 30 meters long. The second underground room, 50 meters long, was 

used as an undressing room for the people, before the Germans took them to 

the [p. 11/24] gas chamber. 

In order to pour Zyklon into the chamber, four square openings were ar-

ranged on the roof of the chamber in the manner of a chessboard, above which 

stood a low square chimney, about 30 cm high, which was covered by a layer 

of felt and a heavy removable concrete lid. Beneath these openings,92 in the 

gas chamber, false columns were installed resembling the real ones present 

there. These false columns were internally empty, and their walls were made 

of iron plate [нз листового железа: iz listovogo zheleza] with perforations, 

like the common grates that covered the ventilation openings. In the gas 

chamber, there were also false showers – shower devices [showerheads] – 

which were used to deceive people entering the gas chamber, so that it would 

appear to the people that they were really going to bathe there. Ventilation 

was provided in the gas chamber. The entrance door could be closed hermeti-

cally. If necessary, the gas chambers were heated with transportable coke 

burners [выносными коксовы жаровнями, vynosnymi koksovy zharov-

nyami]. 

The poisoning of the people who had arrived at the crematorium took place 

in the following way: from the undressing room, the naked people were 

crowded very tightly into the chamber, because dogs were set upon them. 

When the entire gas chamber was tightly packed with people, the door was 

closed hermetically, and for a few minutes the ventilators sucked the air out of 

the chamber. Then the fans were turned off, and an SS man opened the box 

 
92 Singular in the original text. 
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with Zyklon, climbed onto the roof, moved the lid of the opening described 

above, and poured Zyklon into the chamber through the opening. 

After about 15 minutes, the aeration-deaeration93 ventilators were started, 

the poisoned air was sucked out, and the door was opened. 

Since there were so many people in the gas chamber [p. 12/25], their bod-

ies remained upright after the poisoning, because there was no place to fall, 

i.e., the bodies were tightly packed together. 

Question: Tell how the gas chambers of Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5 were set 

up, and how the process of poisoning people took place there. 

Answer: In Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5, there was an annex construction about 

20 meters long. Inside, this construction was divided by walls into three parts, 

each of which was a gas chamber. In order to pour the Zyklon, on the outer 

walls of the gas chambers, at a height of about 2 meters, were arranged hatch-

es with grilles [люки с решотками, lyuki s reshyotkami], which could be 

closed hermetically with covers. In each gas chamber, there were two doors 

that could be closed hermetically. Adjacent to the gas chambers, through a 

corridor, was the undressing room, the size of which was equal to the area94 of 

all three gas chambers [together], i.e., 12 x 20 meters. Depending on the num-

ber of those who entered, they were poisoned simultaneously in two, three 

chambers. The process of poisoning people was carried out in a similar way as 

in the gas chambers of Crematoria Nos. 2-3. The difference was only that the 

SS poured Zyklon through the aforementioned hatches in the wall, not through 

the roof as in Crematoria 2-3. Furthermore, in the gas chambers of Crematoria 

Nos. 4-5, there was no ventilation [system], so the ventilation of the chambers 

was done by opening the doors and [window] openings. After poisoning, the 

corpses could be taken away in two directions: they were either deposited in 

the undressing room or, as was done for some time in Crematorium No. 5, 

they were taken through the outer doors into the crematorium courtyard, 

where they were burned on pyres. When the undressing room was full of 

corpses and another [p. 13/26] group of people arrived at that time, they were 

undressed [sic] in the courtyard of the crematorium, and then poisoned in the 

gas chambers in the usual manner. 

Question: Do you know when Crematorium No. 1 stopped working? 

Answer: Crematorium No. 1 was closed down, and cremation stopped in 

March 1943. 

Question: For how long was each of Crematoria Nos. 2, 3, 4 and 5 used? 

Answer: Crematorium No. 2 was put into operation in March 1943, on the 

very day of the arrival of the first transport of people from Krakow /Poland/, 

and was used up to and including October 1944; in November 1944, the Ger-

mans started demolishing the crematorium. 

 
93 Literally, “of influx-suction.” 
94 Literally: room, locality. 
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Crematorium No. 3 was put into operation in April 1943, and was used up 

to and including October 1944; its demolition began in November 1944. 

Crematorium No. 4 was put into operation at the end of March 1943, and 

was used up to and including August 1944; a part of it burned down at the be-

ginning of October 1944, [and] in October 1944 – but it may have been No-

vember 1944 – I do not remember exactly, its demolition began. 

Question: How many Sonderkommando workers were employed in the 

crematorium, how was the work distributed among them, and how many shifts 

were there? 

Answer: In each of Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3, 60 camp inmates, who had 

been assigned to the Sonderkommando, normally worked in each shift. A shift 

worked for 12 hours. In 24 hours, there were two shifts. These 60 workers in 

Crematoria Nos. 2-3 were assigned to perform certain work as follows: 

1. Collecting the stuff left in the undressing room, loading it onto cars 

[trucks] and [p. 14/27] tidying up the room: 15 men. 

2. Removing the bodies from the room and transporting them to the freight 

elevator: 15 men. 

3. Placing [the bodies] on the freight elevator: 2 men. 

4. Barbers / cutting the hair of the women’s corpses: 4 men. 

5. Dentists / extraction gold teeth from corpses: 2 men. 

6. Operating the gasifiers: 2 men. 

7. Operating the freight elevator for the corpses: 2 men. 

8. Picking up the corpses from the freight elevator: 2 men. 

9. Moving the corpses to the muffles: 2 men. 

10. Loading the muffles, two groups of 5 men: 10 men. 

11. Helpers of the overseer: 4 men. 

In Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5, 20 persons worked in one shift. For all four crem-

atoria, there were also three goldsmiths who melted down the gold teeth from 

the corpses. 

I cannot state anything else; the report in my own words was transcribed 

exactly, was read to me, and I signed it. Signature. 

The interrogation was carried out in the presence of the interpreter, former 

Auschwitz camp inmate Dr. Steinberg, who was advised of the responsibility 

for false translations. The translation was performed from Polish to Russian. 

The translator: signature 

Interrogated by: the Military Investigative Judge of the Guard, Captain of 

[Military] Justice Levin. 

In good faith, Military Investigative Judge of the Guard, Captain of [Mili-

tary] Justice Levin. 
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2.2. Statement to the Investigating Judge Jan Sehn (10-11 May 

1945)95 

[p. 1/102] Protocol 

Auschwitz, 10 and 11 May 1945. The investigating judge of the Krakow Dis-

trict, Jan Sehn, member of the Commission of Inquiry into German-Hitlerite 

Crimes in Oświęcim, at the initiative and in the presence of the Member of 

this Commission Deputy Prosecutor of the Krakow District Court Edward 

Pęchalski, and with the participation of the expert Dr. Jan Zygmunt Robel, in 

accordance with Section 254 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, questioned 

as a witness the former inmate no. 80359 of the German concentration camp 

in Auschwitz, who stated the following: 

My name is Szlama Dragon, born on 19 March 1920 in Żeromin, Sierpc 

District, son of Daniel and Małka Beckerman, both deceased, unmarried, tai-

lor, of Mosaic religion, Polish nationality and Polish citizenship, residing be-

fore arrest in Żeromin, Biezuńska Street No. 16, now I will probably settle in 

Żeromin, Mławska 10. 

I arrived in Oświęcim on 7 December 1942 by train, in a transport of 2,500 

Jews of different genders and ages from the Mława Ghetto. At the station, this 

transport was received by Lagerführer Plage [Ludwig Plagge, SS Oberschar-

führer], Raportführer Palitsch [Rapportführer Palitzsch] and Camp Physician 

Mengele. Already at the station, they carried out the selection, separating the 

women and children into one group, the men into another. From the group of 

men, 400 persons were selected. I was also in this group. The 400 of us were 

taken on foot to Brzezinka [Birkenau]. The rest, i.e., all the women and chil-

dren and the men who were not part of our group, were taken by cars [autami] 

in an unknown direction, however, outside the camp. Our group was housed in 

Block 3 of that camp section, which was later turned into a women’s camp. 

Then, I was transferred in succession to Block 22, to the old “Sauna,” and to 

Block 14 of this same camp sector. On 9 December 1942, in the evening, 

Moll, Plage, Palitsch and Siwy,96 as well as Arbeitseinsatz[führer] Mikus97 

came to Block 14. Moll declared that he was going to make a selection of 

workers [p. 2/103] for a rubber factory. Each of us approached him, Moll 

asked him his profession, observed him carefully; if he was healthy and 

strong, he assigned him to this group who, according to his statements, were 

to go to work in the rubber factory. My brother and I declared that we were 

 
95 AGK, NTN 93, Höss Trial, Vol. 1, pp. 102-114. See Document 8. The deposition is accompanied 

by 4 drawings: 1) Sketch of “Bunker 1”; 2) Sketch of “Bunker 2”; 3) Sketch of the position of 
“Bunker 2”; 4) Sketch of Crematorium 4. See Documents 9-12. 

96 Probably SS Unterscharführer Friedrich Stiewitz. 
97 Józef Mikusz, Inmate No. 7794, who testified at the 151st Session of the Frankfurt Auschwitz 

Trial on 26 April 1965, where he confirmed having worked in the camp’s labor-deployment de-
partment. 
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tailors by profession, and [we] were also assigned to this group established 

then by Moll and his comrades. 

On the morning of the next day, i.e., 10 December 1942, immediately after 

all of the Kommandos [komando] had left for work, Moll came to Block 14 

and ordered: “Sonderkommando raus [outside].” From this we learned that we 

were part of a certain “Sonderkommando,” and not of the Kommando assigned 

to the rubber factory. We did not realize what that Sonderkommando was, be-

cause no one had explained it to us. On Moll’s orders, we presented ourselves 

in front of the block, where SS men surrounded us and led us out of the camp 

in two groups of 100 people. We were taken to a forest, where there was a 

masonry cottage [chałupa], covered by a thatched roof. The windows were 

bricked up. On the door leading into this house was fixed a sheet-metal plate 

with the inscription “Hochspannung – Lebensgefahr” [High Voltage – Danger 

of Death]. Two wooden shacks were located at a distance of about 30-40 me-

ters from that little house. On the other side there were 4 pits, with dimensions 

of 30 meters long, 7 meters wide and 3 meters deep. The edges of these pits 

were sooty and burned. We were lined up in front of the house; Moll came 

over and told us that we would work there cremating old and lice-infested 

people; as for us, we would be fed; at night we would be taken back to the 

camp, and we would have to work, because otherwise those who did not want 

to work would be beaten and would be left to the [= mistreated with] sticks 

and dogs. The SS men who were escorting us actually had dogs. Then we 

were divided into various groups. I, along with 11 others, was assigned to the 

group that, as it turned out later, had to extract the corpses from that little 

house. All 12 of us were fitted with [gas] masks and led to the door of the cot-

tage. Moll opened this door, and only then did we see that in this small house 

lay naked corpses of people of various ages and both genders. Moll ordered us 

to transport these corpses from inside the house to the courtyard in front of the 

door. We began to work in this manner, four of us carrying one corpse. This 

irritated Moll, [who] rolled up his sleeves and threw a corpse in front of the 

door into the courtyard. When we declared in spite of this lesson that we could 

not manage to work like this, he divided us up into groups of two. As the 

corpses were lying in the courtyard, a dentist, assisted by an SS man, pulled 

out the [gold] teeth, a barber – supervised by an SS man – cut the hair, 

[p. 3/104] then another group loaded the corpses onto carts [na wózki /rollwa-

gen/[sic]. These carts were placed on narrow rails [a narrow-gauge track] that 

went all the way to the edge of the pits. These rails ran between two pits. An-

other group was engaged in preparing the pits to burn the corpses. At the bot-

tom of the pits, they first placed large [pieces of] wood, then smaller and 

smaller wood [pieces] in a crisscross pattern, and finally dry branches. Anoth-

er group picked up the corpses brought in on carts at the edge of the pits, and 

threw them into the pits. When all the corpses had been transported from the 

cottage to the pits, Moll sprayed these corpses with petroleum at the four cor-
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ners of the pit, set fire to a rubber comb and threw it into an oil-soaked spot. 

The fire flared up and the corpses burned. While Moll lit [the pyre], we stood 

in front of the house and watched carefully. After all the corpses had been re-

moved from the house, we had to clean it thoroughly, wash the floor with wa-

ter, then sprinkle it with sawdust and whitewash the walls. This house inside 

was divided by cross walls into four rooms. One [the first], which could hold 

1,200 undressed people, in the second one 700 people entered, in the third 

400, and in the fourth 200-250. In the first room, the largest one, there were 

two small windows in the wall. The other three had one small window each. 

These windows were closed by wooden shutters. Each room had a separate 

entrance. On the entrance door was posted a sign, which I mentioned earlier, 

with the inscription “Hochspannung – Lebensgefahr”. This inscription was 

only visible when the entrance door was closed. When the door was open, this 

inscription could not be seen, but one could see the second inscription “Zum 

baden [sic]” [To the bathroom]. Those gassed [sic] who were inside the 

chamber could see another inscription placed on the exit door of the chamber. 

This sign read “Zur Desinfektion” [To Disinfection]. Behind the door on 

which this last inscription could be seen, there was of course no disinfection, 

because it was the exit door of the chamber through which we carried the 

corpses to the yard. Each chamber had a separate exit door. The chamber I de-

scribed was accurately drawn on the basis of my statements by Engineer 

Nosal, from Oświęcim. This chamber was called Bunker No. 2 [Komorę tę 

nazywano Bunkrem nr. 2]. 

Apart from it, at a distance of about half a kilometer, there was another 

chamber that was called Bunker No. 1 [druga komora, oznaczona jako bunker 

nr. 1]. It was also a brick house, but it consisted of only two chambers, which 

together could hold less than 2,000 undressed people. These rooms had only 

an entrance door and a small window each [po jednym okienku]. In the vicini-

ty of Bunker 1 was a small barn and 2 barracks. The pits were located far 

away, and tracks for carts led to them. 

In the evening of the first day, after the end of work, we were brought back 

to the camp. We were not placed in Block 14, from [p. 4/105] which we had 

been sent to work, but in Block 2. This block also included the other group, 

which, as it turned out, had been working that day in Bunker No. 1. This block 

was enclosed and surrounded by a wall to isolate it from the other blocks. We 

were not allowed to communicate with the inmates in another block. 

Not the entire Kommando was used for gassing the people. The gassing 

took place mainly at night. At that time, about 20 people from our Kommando 

were chosen to help with this work. As a rule, in fact, the gassing was carried 

out by the SS themselves. This was done in the following way: people were 

brought to the barracks by truck [samochodami, vehicles]. We, who had been 

assigned to assist, helped the sick to get off the vehicles and undress in the 

barracks. In fact, everyone who had been brought [there] undressed in the bar-
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racks. The barracks and the space between the barracks and the chamber were 

surrounded by SS men with dogs. The people, after undressing, went naked 

from the barracks to the chamber. The SS men standing by the front door 

pushed them in with clubs. When the chamber was full of people, the SS 

closed the door, and Mengele ordered his aide, Rottenführer Scheinmetz, to 

begin the gassing. He said, “Scheinmetz mach das fertig” [Scheinmetz, finish 

the job]. Then Scheinmetz took a gas can, a hammer and a special knife out of 

the Red-Cross car, which followed every transport of inmates destined for 

gassing, put on the [gas] mask, opened the can with the help of the knife and 

the hammer, poured its contents into the chamber through the small window. 

Then he closed the window and took the can, hammer, knife and mask back to 

the car. The Germans among themselves called this car “Sanker.”98 I myself 

heard Mengele several times ask his aide: “Ist der Sanker da?” [Is the Sanker 

here?]. After this, Mengele and the adjutant left in the medical car, and we 

were driven back to the block. 

I do not know how it was at first, but later, after such a night-time gassing 

had been carried out, SS guards remained at the bunker and especially at the 

barracks. In fact, it happened that, when such a bunker was left unguarded un-

til the morning, the crates with the gold teeth, which were kept in the barracks 

together with other things, had been stolen. The corpses of the gassed persons 

lay in the bunker until morning, when the Kommando arrived and burned 

them. The course of the cremation was like the one I described in [connection 

with] my first day of work in Bunker No. 2. The next day, a special Komman-

do took away the things left in the barracks from those gassed, sorted them, 

and transported them to the Effektenkammer [personal-effects warehouse] in 

Oświęcim. We emptied the ash pits generally about 48 hours after cremation. 

In the ashes, there were remnants of bones; you could see [p. 5/106] skulls, 

knees, and long bones. We threw the ashes with shovels over the edge of the 

pit; cars [trucks] arrived on which the ashes were loaded and taken to the Riv-

er Soła [River]. We were also employed to unload the ashes from the cars at 

the River Soła. Of course, this was done under the supervision of the SS. We 

had to cover the ground between the car and the water with tarpaulins so that 

no ashes would fall on the ground. The SS ordered us to throw the ashes into 

the water so that they were swept away by the current and did not settle to the 

bottom. After unloading the vehicle, we shook the dust off the tarpaulin into 

the water, and carefully swept the entire unloading site with brooms. 

When the chamber was opened, the corpses of those gassed lay mostly 

sprawled out. When they were crowded together, they were lying on top of 

each other, leaning against one other, some of them standing upright with their 

trunks inclined. In very many cases, I saw white drool on the mouths of the 

gassed people. In the chamber, after the opening, it was very hot, and you 

 
98 Sanka, Sanitäts-Kastenwagen. 
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could feel the gas; it was suffocating, and it was sweet in the mouth, pleasant. 

The gas cans were made of metal, with a yellow label. They were the same as 

those used later in the crematorium. In the two bunkers, first of all, people 

who arrived with transports from Poland were gassed as well as Lithuanians, 

Frenchmen and Jews from Berlin. Bunker No. 1 was already completely de-

molished in 1943. After the construction of the crematorium called No. 2 in 

Brzezinka, the barracks at Bunker No. 2 were dismantled, and the pits were 

filled in. The bunker itself was maintained until the end, and after a very long 

pause, it was used again for the gassing of the Hungarian Jews. Then new bar-

racks were built and [more] pits were dug. At that time, they worked in two 

shifts in this bunker, meaning day and night. I myself worked there two days, I 

think. During this period, we pulled the corpses out of the bunker chambers 

shortly after the gassing had ended, so that it also happened that, when we en-

tered the chambers, we could still hear moans, especially when we grabbed a 

corpse by the hands and pulled it out of the chambers. Once we found a living 

child in the chamber. The child’s head was also wrapped in a pillow. When 

we moved the pillow away, it turned out that the child had its eyes open and 

gave the impression of being alive. We took this child along with the pillow to 

Moll, telling him that the child was alive. Moll snatched it from us [grabbing 

it] by the arm, took it to the edge of a pit, laid it on the ground, put his heel on 

its neck, and then threw it into the fire. I saw this whole scene with my own 

eyes and noticed that, at the moment when Moll put [the boot] on the child’s 

neck, the child moved its arms. The whole time, this child did not cry out; I 

cannot say whether it was breathing, because I did not examine it, however 

[p. 6/107] it struck us that it looked different from the lifeless corpses. 

The capacity of Bunkers Nos. 1 and 2 was about 4,000 people. Bunker No. 

2 could hold over 2,000 people in all of its gas chambers at the same time, 

Bunker No. 1 less than 2,000. 

In 1943, we were transferred from the Women’s Camp to the BIId Camp, 

and housed there first in Block 13, then in Block 11. In the fall of the same 

year, I was again employed in the Sonderkommando. In between my work at 

the bunkers [and his reassignment to the Sonderkommando] I was employed in 

the Abbruchkommando [Demolition Squad]. 

I worked at Crematorium No. V. until May 1944, [when] we were assigned 

to work in the gardens, to split wood, to transport coke, because at that time 

the furnaces of Crematorium No. V were not yet in operation [piece kremato-

rium nr. V, nie były jeszcze wówczas czynne]. This crematorium was not put 

into operation until May 1944, when transports of Hungarian Jews began to 

arrive. The work in the crematorium was directed by Moll; Kommandoführer 

Gorger99 carried out his orders; another Kommandoführer was Eckhardt;100 the 

 
99 SS Unterscharführer Johann Gorges. 
100 SS Unterscharführer Josef Eckhardt. 
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SS [men] Kurzschluss101 and Gutas102 stood guard. This crematorium was 

built identically to Crematorium IV. These two crematoria had 4 furnaces on 

two sides. Three corpses were placed in each furnace. Undressing rooms and 

gassing chambers /bunkry [bunker]/ were located at ground level. In these 

crematoria, the gassing itself took place as in Bunkers No. 1 and 2. The per-

sons were brought to these crematoria by automobiles [trucks], and later, after 

the activation of the railway branch line to Brzezinka, they were also taken on 

foot from the railway ramp to Crematoria IV and V. They arrived, entered the 

undressing room, Gorger pushed them forward telling them, “Do it faster, be-

cause food and coffee will get cold.” People were in fact asking for water. 

Gorger replied to them that the water was cold, they could not drink it, so that 

they would hurry, and, when they came out of the bathroom, they would re-

ceive tea, which was ready for them. When everyone was now in the undress-

ing room, Moll stood on a bench and gave a speech to the people assembled. 

He told them that they would go to the camp, where the strong would be sent 

to work, the sick and the women would remain in the blocks. At the same 

time, he pointed to the buildings in Brzezinka and said that, before entering 

the camp, everyone had to bathe, because otherwise the camp authorities 

would not let them in. When everyone had undressed, they were pushed naked 

into the gas chamber. At first, there were 3 gas chambers, but later a fourth 

was installed. The first could hold 1,500, the second 800, the third 600, and 

the fourth 150 people. From the undressing room, people passed into the 

rooms through a narrow corridor. The rooms were marked “Zur Desinfektion” 

[To Disinfection]. When the room was full, the door was closed. This was 

done by the SS guards, very often Moll personally. Then, Mengele gave the 

order to Scheinmetz, who, as in the bunkers, went to the Red-Cross vehicle, 

took out the gas [p. 7/108] can, opened it and poured its contents into the 

chamber through a small window in the side wall. This little window was 

quite high, so that he reached it [by climbing] up a [step] ladder. And here, 

too, as at the bunkers, he did it with a mask. After a while, Mengele an-

nounced that the people were no longer alive, saying: “Es ist schon fertig” [It 

is already done], and he left in the Red-Cross car together with Scheinmetz. 

Then Moll opened the door to the gas chamber, we put on our masks, and 

dragged the corpses from the individual chambers through a small corridor in-

to the undressing room, and through the undressing room and the next small 

corridor to the furnaces. In the first corridor, which was next to the entrance 

door, the barbers cut the hair, in the second corridor the dentists pulled out the 

[gold] teeth. In front of the furnaces, we put the corpses on metal stretchers, 

which we then introduced into the furnace on rollers installed at the furnace 

 
101 Documentally unknown individual; Tauber called him “Kurschuss” (statement of 24 May 1945, p. 

21/142; see earlier). 
102 Individual mentioned only by Dragon (and, belatedly, by Filip Müller). 
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doors. We placed the corpses on the stretchers in this way: when the first one 

lay with its head forward, we placed the second one with its head back. In 

each furnace we loaded three corpses. When we loaded the third corpse, those 

[the two corpses] introduced earlier were already burning. I saw that the arms 

of these corpses rose, then the legs rose. Besides, we were proceeding very 

quickly, and I could not accurately observe the entire burning process. We had 

to hurry, because if the extremities of these already burning corpses rose 

strongly, we had difficulties getting the third corpse into the furnace 

[=muffle]. We used the stretchers in this way: two inmates lifted the stretcher, 

one by the end farther from the furnace, the other by the end that entered the 

furnace first. After the stretcher was introduced, one of the inmates held the 

corpse in place with a long poker, we called it a hoe [gracą], forked at the end, 

and two other [inmates] pulled the stretcher out from underneath the corpse. 

After loading the furnace, we closed the door and loaded the next furnace. The 

cremation took 15-20 minutes. After that time, we opened the doors of the 

furnaces and introduced more corpses. 

During the period when the Hungarian transports arrived, we worked at 

Crematorium V in two shifts. The day shift from 6:30 am to 6:30 pm, the 

night shift from 6:30 pm to 6:30 am the next day. This work lasted 3 months. 

However, as the crematoria were not very productive, pits were dug next to 

Crematorium V for the cremation of the gassed Hungarians. There were 3 

larger and 2 smaller pits. The burning process in the pits at Crematorium V 

was the same as at Bunkers 1 and 2. Also here, Moll was the one who set fire 

to the corpses. The ashes were extracted from the pits in the same way as at 

the bunkers, crushed into powder with special tampers, and brought to the 

River Soła. The ashes from the crematorium were at first buried in pits dug for 

this purpose. Then, however, at the beginning of the Russian offensive, Hoss 

[Höss] ordered the cremation ashes to be extracted from these pits and 

[p. 8/109] to be taken to the Sola as well. 

Due to scheduling conflicts, the questioning of the witness was interrupted 

on 11 May 1945 at 5 p.m. 
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The chambers of Crematorium No. 5 used for gassing were about 2.5 me-

ters high. Anyway, with my arm raised high, I could not touch the ceiling. 

From the top of the door to the ceiling, there was still 70 cm. An adult man of 

average height could reach with his arm raised to the lower edge of the open-

ing of the small window through which the contents of a Cyklon can were 

poured into the chamber. Scheinmetz, however, had a special ladder on which 

he stood when pouring the Cyklon into the chamber. Other SS men, whose 

surnames I do not know, also performed this operation at various times. I 

know Scheinmetz’s surname from the fact that he had initially been Komman-

doführer of our Sonderkommando. I do not know his first name. He was a 

man of medium height, shorter than me, blond, I think he was about 26 years 

old. He always had at [his] service girls from Slovakia. I don’t know whether 

he spoke to them in Slovak or in German. The head of Crematoria IV and V 

and Bunker No. 2 was Hauptscharführer Moll. He was a man of medium 

height, with a strong body build, blond, combed with a part. I believe he was 

about 37 years old. His wife and two children /a son about 10 years old and a 

younger daughter about 7 years old/ lived in Oświęcim. Lagerarzt Mengele 

very often witnessed the gassing. He was a man of my height, I think he was 

about 40 years old, with brown hair. He always arrived in the medical car car-

rying the Cyklon and, like the other inmates employed in the Sonderkomman-

do, I saw that during the gassing of the people he stood by the door [p. 9/110] 

leading to the gas chamber. This door was equipped with a peephole. When 

the gassing was over, the door was opened on Mengele’s order. When the 

bodies were removed from the chamber, Mengele was already gone, because 

he left immediately after ascertaining that the victims had been gassed, and 

giving the order to open the gas-chamber door. He drove away in this same 

medical car. I never saw Mengele examine the people who were going to the 

gas chamber or observe or examine the bodies of the gassed victims. 

At the beginning of May 1944, the gassing and cremation of Hungarian 

Jewish transports began in Crematorium V. The gassed bodies of some of the 

first transports were cremated in the furnaces of Crematorium IV, because the 

chimneys of Crematorium V were damaged at the time. Eventually, the Hun-

garian Jews were burned in pits dug for this purpose near the building of 

Crematorium No. V. Five pits were dug there, 25 meters long, 6 meters wide 

and 3 meters deep. About 5,000 people were burned in the pits every day. 

However, since [more and] more Hungarian Jews were arriving by transport, 

Bunker No. 2 was put back into operation, and people were gassed and burned 

there. I do not know how many people were burned every day at this bunker, 

because during the period in which the Hungarian Jews were cremated there, I 

was not working at Bunker No. 2. Both the Sonderkommando working in 

Crematorium V and the Sonderkommando working in Bunker No. 2 worked in 

two shifts: day and night. This work lasted for the months of May and June. 

Based on my observations, I calculate that approximately 300,000 Hungarian 
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Jews were cremated in Crematorium No. V during these two months. These 

people were driven to Crematorium V on foot, directly from the Brzezinka un-

loading ramp. Among them were men, women and children of all ages. When 

these transports arrived in the crematorium area, we were locked up in two 

small rooms specifically designated for this. It was a matter of not letting us 

talk to these people, and not revealing to them what fate awaited them. It did 

happen, however, that someone in the transport felt weak along the way. Un-

der an SS escort, we had to take him to the crematorium area. In such situa-

tions, we spoke more than once with the sick people we were accompanying. 

Most of them did not know that they were going to [their] death, and when we 

told them that they were going to the crematorium, they did not believe us. I 

remember that in 1943, 70,000 Greek Jews were cremated in Crematoria II-V. 

I remember this figure because the Kommandoführer of Crematoria II and III, 

Keler [Keller], threatened us before the arrival of these transports, saying that 

for us the good times were over, because within a short time, a transport [sic] 

would arrive from Greece numbering 70,000 people. He told us [p. 10/111] 

this because just before the gassing of these people from the Greek transports, 

there had been a pause in the work of the crematoria, and we had not worked 

hard. As for the other nationalities, I do not have any figures and cannot state 

how many of the victims gassed and cremated at the Oświęcim Camp pertain 

to individual countries and nations. I calculate the number of those gassed in 

the two bunkers and four crematoria at over 4 million. This was also the opin-

ion of the other prisoners employed in the Sonderkommando. The Schreiber 

[scribe] of our commando, Sauman [Salmen] Gradowski, a native of Grodno, 

wrote some notes, in which, based on the information provided by the inmates 

working in all the crematoria, he wrote down the number of persons gassed 

and burned in the individual crematoria and described what the prisoners of 

the Sonderkommando had gone through. Gradowski was shot in October 1944 

during the uprising. Back then, 500 inmates of the Sonderkommando, which at 

that time numbered 700 inmates, were shot. 100 of them slept in Crematorium 

No. II, another 100 in Crematorium No. III, and 500 in Crematorium No. IV. 

The diaries of this Gradowski, which were buried in the barbed-wire-fenced 

area of Crematorium II, I dug up [myself] and handed them over to the Soviet 

commission. They were a notebook and a letter addressed to the unknown 

finder. By order of the Soviet Commission, all the writings found, which had 

been written in Hebrew, were translated into Russian by the inmate physician 

Dr. Gordon. The Soviet commission took these materials with them. I know 

that other documents and records were buried in the area belonging to Crema-

torium No. II, and that the pits with the ashes of the corpses of the persons 

cremated in this crematorium were covered with earth. One must look for 

these things in front of the cremation furnaces. I cannot point to the exact 

place, because after the destruction of the crematorium, the situation there 

changed, the ground was leveled already during the time of the Germans, so I 
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lost my orientation. I did not participate in the gassing and cremation of peo-

ple in Crematoria Nos. II and III. Zisner and Mandelbaum were employed 

there. Tauber worked with me, and prior to his transfer to Brzezinka, [he had 

worked] also at Crematorium No. I in Oświęcim. 

In the Sonderkommando that served in the two bunkers before my assign-

ment to the new Sonderkommando established in December 1942, there were 

mostly Slovaks working. As I stated earlier, the Sonderkommando to which I 

was assigned consisted of 200 prisoners. Within a short period of time, it grew 

to 400. Later, 200 inmates of this Sonderkommando [p. 11/112] were trans-

ferred to Lublin, from where 20 Russians arrived at the Sonderkommando. 

From these Russians, we learned that the 200 men transferred to Lublin had 

been shot there. In 1943, 200 Greeks, and in 1944, 500 Hungarians were as-

signed to our Sonderkommando. In October 1944, 500 inmates were shot, spe-

cifically 400 in the courtyard of Crematorium No. IV, and 100 in the field 

next to Crematorium No. II. This same month, Moll selected about 200 in-

mates of the Sonderkommando, who were taken to Oświęcim and, as we were 

later informed by the inmates employed in Kanada [warehouse], were gassed 

in the chamber used for fumigating items in the “Kanada” warehouse. In No-

vember 1944, 100 Sonderkommando prisoners were transferred to Gross 

Rosen. At least so we were told. However, they left on a punitive transport. 

After all these losses, there remained little more than 100 of us in the Sonder-

kommando. Crematorium No. V was in operation until the last days of the 

Germans’ stay at the camp, and was blown up with dynamite by them shortly 

before their withdrawal. This took place on 20 January 1945. During the last 

days, only those who died or were killed at the camp were cremated in this 

crematorium. Gassings of people were no longer carried out. At this time, the 

crematorium was run by 30 inmates of the Sonderkommando; the rest were 

engaged in the demolition of Crematoria II and III. I [also] worked on the 

demolition. 

At the end of May 1944, I was transferred together with the entire Sonder-

kommando from Block 11 of Sector BIId to Crematorium No. IV, where I 

stayed until October 1944. As I stated earlier, in October 1944, approximately 

700 inmates of the Sonderkommando were housed in this crematorium. As the 

crematoria no longer needed so many people for service at this time, we 

feared that we would all be gassed, so we decided to organize an uprising. We 

had been planning it for a long time; we had contacts and liaison men with the 

[outside] world; we had manufactured grenades; we had weapons and a cam-

era, and we were waiting for the beginning of the third Soviet offensive. In 

fact, we thought that our action would have a chance of success only in case 

of an offensive. In October, our situation seemed dangerous, so we decided 

not to hesitate; we just went into action. I do not remember the exact date, it 

was a Saturday, when we threw ourselves on the SS guards; 12 SS [men] were 

wounded. It seems that there were deaths among them as well. At the same 
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time, the inmates of the Sonderkommando quartered in Crematorium II went 

into action. In Crematorium No. III, the Sonderkommando was unable to start 

the action. In the area [p. 12/113] of our crematorium, SS reinforcements im-

mediately arrived; a couple of companies surrounded the entire area; approx-

imately 500 inmates were shot, and the others managed to save themselves by 

hiding. I hid under a pile of wood, and Tauber in the chimney ducts [w 

ciągach komina] of Crematorium No. V. All of us who remained alive were 

transferred and quartered in Crematorium No. III. We were kept alive because 

at that time an investigation was carried out to uncover our entire organiza-

tion. However, they did not succeed, in spite of frequent searches of people’s 

personal belongings and lodgings, because after the failure of the uprising we 

buried all our materials, especially the grenades, and abandoned our conspira-

torial activities. I stayed in Crematorium III until November 1944. Later, the 

entire Sonderkommando was transferred to Camp BIId. I was in Block 13. 

From October 1944 onwards, i.e., after the uprising I described, I worked on 

the demolition of the crematoria, in particular the dismantling of Crematorium 

IV. This crematorium had been burnt down during the uprising, so we only 

demolished the walls. The metal parts of this crematorium were transported to 

Oświęcim, where they are still in the Bauhof. The other inmates of the Sonder-

kommando were employed at this time in the demolition of Crematoria Nos. II 

and III. Demolition of these crematoria began in November 1944 and, as we 

were told, [reusable parts] were to be transported to Gross Rosen. The metal 

parts of these crematoria, the doors, ventilation systems, benches, stairs and 

other parts are still at the Bauhof. 

I note that in Bunkers Nos. 1 and 2 as well as in Crematoria No. IV and V, 

doors and window shutters of the same type were installed. They were made 

of thick, heavy wood, [with boards] interlocked, with the joints lined with felt 

that sealed tightly. The doors were closed with two large iron handles, which 

were clamped with screws for airtightness. The doors of the bunkers did not 

have peepholes for inspection. The doors leading to the gas chambers in all 

crematoria /II-V/ were equipped with such peepholes. Crematoria II and III 

had no wooden shutters, because in the gas chambers of these crematoria, the 

Cyklon was poured through openings in the ceiling. These openings were 

closed by concrete plates [płytami betonowymi]. 

I submit schematic sketches of Bunkers Nos. 1 and 2 as well as of Crema-

torium No. IV. Crematorium No. IV was built identically and located symmet-

rically to Crematorium No. V. Please attach the submitted sketches to the pre-

sent protocol for [p. 13/114] adequate clarification and understanding of the 

contents of my statements. 

I remained in Block 13 of Camp BIId until the beginning of January 1945. 

Then I was transferred with the entire Sonderkommando to Block 16, from 

where we were sent by transport on 18 January in the direction of the Reich. 

We went on foot, and in the vicinity of Pszczyna, I managed to escape from 
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the transport together with Tauber. Together with me, the entire Sonderkom-

mando, i.e., over 100 people, had left Oświęcim. I do not know who of them 

remained alive. In the last few days, Mosiek van Kleib, a Dutchman, returned 

and left for his homeland without stopping. Among the inmates of the Sonder-

kommando who left Oświęcim were, among others, Zawek Chrzan from 

Gostynin, Samuel – French, Leibel from Grodno, Lemko from Czernowy Bór, 

Dawid Nencel from Rypin, Moszek and Jankel Weingarten from Poland, 

Sender from Berlin, Moryc from Greece, Abraham Dragon from Żeromin, 

Serge – French /Blockältester/, Abo from Grodno, Becker Berek from Łuna, 

Kuzyn from Radom, and others whose names I don’t remember. 

Currently I plan to settle in Żeromin and begin work in my profession. I as-

sume that my brother will also return [there], and we will work together. I am 

waiting to be called for military service. After the vicissitudes at the camp, I 

am completely exhausted nervously, and wish to finally return to a normal 

life, get out of the camp atmosphere, and forget everything I went through in 

Oświęcim. 

Read. – The protocol is hereby closed. 

The Prosecutor 

Edward Pęchalski 

The Witness 

Szlama Dragon 

The Judge 

Jan Sehn 

The Registrar 

Krystyna Szymańska 

  

2.3. Statement of 22 February 1957 

On 22 February 1957, Shlomo Dragon appeared before Dr. E. Cerf, presuma-

bly a notary, to make a declaration in order to benefit from the German pro-

gram of compensations for former deportees. He wrote in the document in 

question:103 
“I was completely healthy before the war. 

Until my transfer to the Auschwitz Concentration Camp in 1942, I was still 

completely healthy. In the Auschwitz Concentration Camp, I was forced to 

work in the Demolition Squad outside the camp. 

One day in early 1944, while I was doing forced labor, Oberscharführer Moll 

hit me so hard over the head with a thick stick that I fell to the ground uncon-

scious with my head bleeding. Jewish fellow prisoners then brought me back to 

the camp, where I received a head bandage from a Jewish fellow inmate phy-

sician; after applying the bandage, I remained sick in the barracks for 2-3 

days. Since I was afraid of being gassed, I reported back to work again despite 

severe pain. Since then, I have been suffering from headaches and dizziness as 

well as nausea and frequent attacks of unconsciousness. I was able to perform 

 
103 YVA, O.33-9397. 
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my forced labor only with the help of fellow inmates. This condition lasted un-

til my liberation in 1945. 

After my liberation, I went to Warsaw to look for relatives. I received private 

medical treatment there”. 

As we can see, in this statement he did not mention the “bunkers” and the 

Sonderkommando at all, and his reference to Moll does not fill that gap either, 

since Moll cannot have been in charge of the “bunkers” or the Demolition 

Squad “in early 1944,” because even according to the orthodox narrative, 

Bunker 1 no longer existed at that time, Bunker 2 is said to have been reac-

tivated only in mid-May 1944, and the Demolition Squad for the crematoria 

was not assembled until the end of 1944. 
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Part Two: 

Critical Analysis 

of the Testimonies 
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3. Henryk Tauber 

As Pressac has shown (1989, p. 481), there is no doubt that, as far as the de-

scription of architectural features of Crematorium II is concerned, Tauber’s 

statements are indeed fairly accurate, so that he is really a “95% reliable” wit-

ness in this regard. 

This is also true for the description of the crematorium furnaces, which is 

precise and detailed, but in which there is no mention of the triple-muffle fur-

naces’ fresh-air blowers104 – which is strange, because they were regularly op-

erated during the cremations, and these blowers were quite noisy, so they 

could not go unnoticed – and the deaeration system of the furnace room of 

Crematorium II (and III). 

However, in principle, this accuracy cannot be a positive criterion of the 

truthfulness of Tauber’s other claims, because any novelist can set fantastic ta-

les in the 95% accurately described urban context of any city, but this certain-

ly does not make the tales truthful. Therefore, this architectural accuracy is 

only one element of a witness’s reliability and thus trustworthiness. In order to 

assess them properly, we must in fact examine two other, even-more-

important aspects: the technical and the historical accuracy of his statements. 

In the following discussion, I refer to each of Tauber’s and Dragon’s depo-

sitions by a letter followed by the original document’s page number, where P 

stands for the Polish deposition and S for the Soviet deposition. Tauber’s 

statement to the Jewish Historical Commission of Krakow and Dragon’s 

statement in his application for compensation are brief and therefore not re-

ferred to by a page number. 

3.1. Cremation Furnaces and the Cremation Process105 

3.1.1. Muffle Dimensions 

“The doors were smaller than the entrance openings of the muffle; the muffle 

itself was about 2 meters long, 80 centimeters wide and about 1 meter high.” 

(P12) 

This refers to the triple-muffle furnace, in which the muffles were 70 cm wide, 

80 cm high and 210 cm long. The muffles were closed at the front by metal 

frames to which were hinged introduction doors (Einführungstüren) measur-

 
104 Each furnace was equipped with its own blower No. 275 (diameter of the outlet pipe in mm); for 

two furnaces it was placed on their right side, for the other three on the left side. 
105 For this subchapter, I refer as general reference texts to my studies Mattogno/Deana; Mattogno 

2020; Mattogno 2021a. 
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ing 60 cm × 60 cm. The size of this introduction opening, as I will explain in 

Point 3.1.3., was of decisive importance for the loading of the furnace. 

3.1.2. Muffle Temperature 

In his Soviet deposition, Tauber states that the temperature of the muffles of 

the double-muffle furnaces in Crematorium I ranged between 1,200 and 

1,500°C (S3). This is technical nonsense. According to the relevant Topf op-

erating instructions, the temperature was not to exceed 1,100°C in the double-

muffle furnaces, and 1,000° in the triple-muffle furnaces. These limits were 

related to the thermal load of the furnaces, and depended on the weight and 

quality of the refractories used. At temperatures above 1,100-1,200°C, the 

phenomenon of sintering also occurred, i.e., the melting and fusing of refrac-

tory material with the bones of corpses. 

With reference to the triple-muffle furnaces of Crematorium II, Tauber 

stated in the Polish deposition that the muffles reached temperatures of 1,000-

1,200°C. This is not only exaggerated, but also contradictory. In fact, Tauber 

says that the furnaces, after several cremations, “were brought to red heat” 

(P21) and then praises the admirable capabilities of a “furnace thus brought to 

red heat” (P21) But in Topf’s service instructions for the double- and triple-

muffle furnaces, it states in this regard (see Mattogno/Deana, Vol. 1, p. 265): 

“Once the incineration chamber shows a satisfactory red glow (about 800°C), 

the corpses can be introduced successively into the two chambers.” 

The red color (called incipient cherry red) corresponds therefore to 800°C, 

which therefore represented the maximum temperature of the muffles also for 

Tauber. At higher temperatures, the color of the refractory masonry is very 

different; John D. DeHaan presents the following correspondences between 

color and temperature (DeHaan, p. 2): 

bright cherry red: 800-1,000°C 

orange: 1,000-1,200°C 

bright yellow: 1,200-1,400°C 

white: 1,400-1,600°C 

3.1.3. Muffle-Loading System 

At this point I will only address the procedure of introducing bodies into the 

muffles. This requires some preliminary explanations. 

Welded under the introduction doors of the triple-muffle furnaces was a 

round fastening rod (Befestigungs-Eisen) on which a frame pivoted to which 

the guide rollers106 for the coffin-introduction cart (Sargeinführungswagen) 

were secured. The frame could slide horizontally on the fastening rod, so it 

served all three furnace muffles; it could also be tilted, i.e., lowered and 

 
106 These wheels are called “Führungsrollen,” guide rollers, “Laufrollen,” sheaves, or “Einführrol-

len,” introduction rollers. 
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raised. When it was raised, the two rollers came to rest on the height of the 

muffle-door base, 9 cm above the plane of the muffle grate. The double-muf-

fle furnaces also had such a frame, except that each muffle had its own frame 

with a pair of rollers. 

The loading system described by Tauber is basically correct (P3). The 

corpse-introduction device (Leicheneinführungs-Vorrichtung) consisted of a 

coffin-introduction cart (Sargeinführungswagen) that moved on a set of rails 

(Laufschienen). At its top, it had a movable cart of semi-cylindrical shape  

(Verschiebewagen) that slid along the top of the introduction cart. The front 

part of the coffin-introduction cart was equipped with a metal stretcher about 

270 mm long, on which the corpse was placed and which was introduced into 

the muffle. The stretcher consisted of a horizontal wrought-iron slab, about 40 

cm wide, and two vertical iron bands welded to it laterally, so the assembly 

formed this shape in cross section:├─┤. The two upper edges of these 

side rails prevented the corpse from falling off the side of the stretcher when 

the cart moved, while the lower ones ran on a pair of guide rollers. Due to the 

height of the rollers and the side rails, the surface of the stretcher on which the 

corpse was placed was about 12 cm above the surface of the muffle grates. 

Because of the narrow width of the stretcher, only one corpse could be loaded 

on it; any other corpses would have had to be stacked on top of it. 

In another study, I examined this issue in great detail with the help of pho-

tographs of the Topf double- and triple-muffle cremation furnaces (as still pre-

sent in the former Mauthausen and Buchenwald Camps), and I demonstrated 

visually that a maximum of two emaciated bodies (thickness: 18 cm each) 

could be loaded onto the stretcher.107 

3.1.4. Muffle Loads and Duration of a Cremation 

The actual capacity of the Auschwitz-Birkenau crematoria was one corpse in 

one hour in one muffle (Mattogno/Deana, Vol. 1, pp. 314-353), thus within 21 

hours of operation: 

– Crematorium I: 21 hours × 6 muffles = 126 corpses per day 

– Crematorium II: 21 hours × 15 muffles = 315 corpses per day 

– Crematorium III: 21 hours × 15 muffles = 315 corpses per day 

– Crematorium IV: 21 hours × 8 muffles = 168 corpses per day 

– Crematorium V: 21 hours × 8 muffles = 168 corpses per day 

Total capacity: 1,092 per day; capacity of Birkenau: 966 per day. 

The possible simultaneous cremation of several corpses together would on-

ly have prolonged the cremation correspondingly, and the possible presence of 

children’s bodies might have increased the cremation capacity by a factor of 

 
107 Mattogno 2020, Chapter 12, “Le cremazioni multiple: il sistema di caricamento delle muffole,” 

pp. 101-106, and Docs. 25-29 & 36, pp. 255-259, 263. 



C. MATTOGNO ∙ SONDERKOMMANDO AUSCHWITZ II 77 

1.16, which would result in an adjusted capacity to 365 corpses for each of 

Crematoria II and III, and 195 for each of Crematoria IV and V, in total 1,120. 

Tauber stated in his Soviet testimony that the cremation capacity of the 

various types of furnaces was as follows: 

– double-muffle furnace: 5 corpses per muffle in 90 minutes (S3) 

– triple-muffle furnace: 4-5 corpses per muffle in 20-25 minutes (S5) 

– 8-muffle furnace: 4-5 corpses per muffle in 35 minutes (S6) 

This data results in the following average cremation capacities over 21 hours 

per day of actual furnace operation: 

– double-muffle furnace: 126 corpses per day, hence: 

– Crematorium I: 378 corpses per day 

– triple-muffle furnace: 756 corpses per day, hence: 

– Crematorium II/III: 3,780 corpses per day each; total 7,560 corpses per day 

– 8-muffle furnace: 1,296 corpses per day, hence: 

– Crematorium IV/V: 1,296 corpses per day each; total 2,592 corpses per day 

Therefore, the total cremation capacity claimed by Tauber for all Auschwitz 

and Birkenau crematoria was 10,152 corpses per day, which is nine times 

greater than the actual capacity. 

In his Polish testimony, Tauber confirmed that, as a rule, in the furnaces of 

Crematorium II, 4-5 corpses were cremated at a time per muffle, but he ex-

plained (P14): 

“With continuous operation, the crematorium cremated two loads per hour. 

According to regulations, we had to load new bodies into the muffles every 

half hour. Oberkapo August explained to us that, according to the calculations 

and plans of the crematorium, the cremation of a corpse in a muffle took 5-7 

minutes. At the beginning, he did not allow us to load more than three corpses. 

With such a pace, we had to work non-stop, because after loading the last muf-

fle [the load of] the first one was already burned. In order to have a break in 

the work, we loaded 4-5 corpses into each muffle. The cremation of such a 

load took longer, so after loading the last muffle, we had a few minutes of rest 

while the load of the first muffle burned [out].” 

Tauber also states that on average 2,500 corpses were cremated per day in 

Crematorium II (P18). The load of 4-5 corpses per muffle referred to adult 

bodies, because when there were children’s bodies, the load was different: 2 

adults and 5-6 children (P20f.). 

I note first of all that these data are contradictory. Since on average 2,500 

corpses are said to have been cremated per day (21 hours) in Crematorium II, 

the cremation duration of a load of 4-5 corpses would have been on average 

[2,500/day ÷ (4.5 corpses × 15 muffles) =] about 37 minutes, not 20-25 min-

utes. 

The presence of only two stretchers and two groups of inmates is further-

more irrational, because in order to speed up the loading process, five stretch-
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ers and five groups of inmates would have been needed, one for each furnace. 

This would have allowed all five furnaces to be loaded simultaneously. 

The “new” loading system consisted in introducing first two corpses into a 

muffle, then two more. From what Tauber says, the second loading immedi-

ately followed the previous one, and it had to be carried out before the arms 

and legs of the corpses of the first pair rose from the heat (P20), i.e., when the 

corpses were more or less still intact. But loading two more corpses into a 

muffle already containing two other corpses would have been practically im-

possible for lack of space inside the muffle. 

Finally, the loading system described by Tauber clashes with another mate-

rial impossibility. The basement (Kellergeschoss) of Crematorium II, where 

the alleged homicidal gas chamber was located, was connected to the first 

floor (Erdgeschoss), where the furnace room was located, by a temporary 

freight elevator. Pressac published the design of the freight elevator for Crem-

atorium III made by the Gustav Lenz Company of Erfurt.108 This freight eleva-

tor measured 1.25 m × 2.1 m and had a capacity of 750 kg, i.e., at most, 12-13 

corpses weighing 60 kg each.109 In Crematorium II, however, merely a tempo-

rary freight elevator was installed between 26 January and 13 March 1943, 

built by the Central Construction Office’s metalworking shop (Schlosserei) 

with a capacity of only 300 kg,110 i.e., a maximum of just five corpses. The 

device, as shown in a photograph published by Pressac, was very rudimentary 

(Pressac 1989, p. 488; see Document 13). 

I have dealt with this issue extensively in another study (Mattogno 2019, 

pp. 47-51), where I assumed an average duration of five minutes for each 

body transport (loading, ascent trip, unloading, and descent trip). According to 

Tauber, there were four inmates assigned to the freight elevator, two for load-

ing and two for unloading, who worked in a 12-hour shift (S8f.). If we assume 

that each transport lasted five minutes, hence 12 trips per hour, these inmates 

would have lifted and moved within six hours, hence in the middle of their 

work shift, ([6 hrs × 12 trips/hr × 300 kg/trip] =) 21,600 kg, or 10,800 kg per 

person, and the increasing fatigue would have steadily slowed down their 

work pace. The duration of five minutes per elevator load is therefore proba-

bly much too optimistic. It corresponds in fact to one minute each for the ele-

vator’s up and down trip, and to four minutes for the loading and unloading of 

the five bodies, that is on average just ([4 min × 60 sec/min] ÷ 10 =) 24 sec-

onds for every act of (un)loading a body. 

The average number of 2,500 cremations per day stated by Tauber implies 

(2,500 bodies/day ÷ 5 bodies/trip =) 500 round trips of the freight elevator per 

 
108 Drawing 5037 of 25 January 1943; Pressac 1994, Doc. 25, on unpaginated page. 
109 Pressac 1989, p. 475; van Pelt, pp. 470, 472. 
110 Höss Trial, Vol. 11a, pp. 82f. 
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day, which would have taken (500 trips × 5 min =) 2,500 minutes, over 41 

hours, hence almost two days. 

The loading of the furnaces described by Tauber is therefore impossible, as 

are the operations to transport the corpses to the furnaces. 

Second, his claims are also technically nonsensical with regard to the dura-

tion of cremation. The duration of the cremation process of a single corpse in 

the furnaces of Auschwitz-Birkenau was about one hour. The cremation ex-

periments carried out on 5 January 1927 by engineer Richard Kessler in the 

coke-fired Beck-Brothers furnaces at the Dessau crematorium, allow us to fol-

low the cremation process in all its phases thanks to the technical diagrams 

Kessler published. 

On average, the initial cremation temperature was about 800°C, the maxi-

mum temperature at the end of the coffin’s combustion about 1000°C, the ini-

tial corpse combustion temperature about 780°C, the maximum corpse com-

bustion temperature about 900°C. As far as times are concerned, the average 

duration of the coffin combustion up to the maximum heat development was 

12 minutes, the average duration of the evaporation of the corpse water was 

27 minutes, and finally the average duration of the combustion of the corpse 

itself up to the maximum heat development was 28 minutes, while the dura-

tion of the whole process was 55 minutes. 

This duration refers to the peak of the main combustion in the muffle, after 

which the combustion gradually decreased in intensity until it ceased after an-

other 31 minutes: the average duration of a cremation was in fact 86 minutes. 

Therefore, the duration of 5-7 minutes supposedly foreseen for a cremation 

“according to the calculations and plans of the crematorium,” as Tauber put it 

in his Polish deposition (P14), is simply absurd: it was not even sufficient for 

the complete combustion of an ordinary coffin of seasoned wood. Only a de-

mented person or a pathetic impostor could have conceived “calculations” and 

“plans” for the cremation of a corpse within 5-7 minutes. 

The cremation duration that Tauber attributes to the cremation of a load of 

4-5 corpses was barely enough for the evaporation of the water contained in a 

single corpse. During Ing. Kessler’s experiments, this process lasted 27 

minutes, but the corpse was cremated with an ordinary coffin, whose combus-

tion raised the muffle temperature to about 1000°C, thus hastening the water-

evaporation process. In the naphtha-heated Ignis-Hüttenbau furnaces of the 

Theresienstadt Crematorium, the vaporization of the corpse water took about 

35 minutes. 

In civilian crematoria, multiple cremations in the same muffle were prohib-

ited by law and were never carried out. From an experimental point of view, 

what technically comes closest to the simultaneous cremation of several 

corpses in one muffle is the operation of incinerators for slaughterhouses. The 

most-important company in this field during the WWII era was Hans Kori of 

Berlin, which produced several furnaces of this type. In the furnace with the 
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highest output, the incineration of 900 kg of organic matter, equivalent to the 

simultaneous cremation of 15 corpses of 60 kg in a muffle, required 13 and a 

half hours, with a consumption of 300 kg of hard coal; in practice, the simul-

taneous cremation of 15 corpses of 60 kg in this furnace would have required 

– in relation to one corpse – about 54 minutes and about 20 kg of hard coal. In 

other words, the duration of the cremation would have been practically multi-

plied by the number of corpses loaded in the furnace, and that only if an ac-

cordingly large furnace with a larger gasifier was used for it. 

This already shows in principle the double absurdity of the claim of crema-

tions of 4-5 corpses in one single-corpse muffle within 20-25 minutes, half an 

hour or a little more than half an hour: first of all, let it be repeated, the crema-

tion of a single corpse lasted about an hour; secondly, a potential load of 4-5 

corpses would have multiplied the duration of a single cremation by at least a 

factor of 4 or 5. 

The conditional is obligatory, because in reality the Topf furnaces of 

Auschwitz-Birkenau were designed for the cremation of one single corpse at a 

time, so that their design was incompatible with multiple cremations at once, 

in this case, of 4-5 corpses in one muffle. In fact, such a procedure would have 

led to two serious thermo-technical problems: 

1) These corpses would have obstructed the three inter-muffle openings 

that connected the side muffles to the central muffle in the triple-muffle fur-

nace or those that joined the inner muffles to the outer muffles in the 8-muffle 

furnace, obstructing the passage of combustion products from the gas genera-

tor. The bodies placed on the refractory clay grate of the central muffle in the 

triple-muffle furnace or the side muffles in the 8-muffle furnace would also 

have obstructed the existing spaces between the grate bars, further obstructing 

the passage of generator gases to enter the smoke duct. This would have de-

creased the chimney draft and the hearth draft, with a corresponding decrease 

in heat availability in the muffles. 

2) When cremating a corpse placed inside a coffin, the temperature of the 

muffle initially rose due to the combustion of the coffin’s wood. When cre-

mating a corpse without a coffin, as was the case at Auschwitz, the tempera-

ture dropped instantly due to the evaporation of the corpse water. The im-

portance of this phenomenon can be seen from the observations of Hans Kel-

ler during his cremation experiments of a single corpse at a time with a coffin 

in a Ruppmann Furnace in 1929 (Keller 1929, p. 2): 

“After the introduction of the corpse, the coffin catches fire immediately and 

the temperature goes up by 100-150°C. Five minutes later, it again goes down 

by 100-200°C, even though the lid of the coffin has not yet burned and the 

temperature of the combusted gases [coming from the gasifier] is 1,000°C and 

higher. The heat provided by the combustion of the coffin and the heat sup-

plied by the combusted gases therefore do not suffice to maintain the tempera-
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ture at a high level. From this we can see how intense the evaporation [of the 

corpse water] is.” 

Returning to the Topf furnaces, in the initial phase of the cremation process, 

the vaporization of water from several corpses in a single muffle would have 

led to a drastic drop of the furnace temperature – much more than the 100-

200°C mentioned by Engineer Keller – which would have caused the tempera-

ture of the fumes to drop, with a subsequent decrease in the chimney draft. 

This would have led to a decrease in the draft of the gas generator, resulting in 

much less air (=oxygen) sucked through the burning coal, causing much less 

heat and combustible coke gas being made available to maintain the cremation 

process. The inevitable lowering of the muffle temperature to below 700-

600°C would no longer have resulted in cremation, but in a mere carboniza-

tion (charring) of the corpses. 

The photograph of a corpse in a muffle after 30 minutes of cremation pub-

lished by Bohnert et al.111 shows that in practice only the limbs are burnt, 

while the skull, rib cage and thoracic-abdominal cavity are still visible. The 

authors describe the progress of cremation at this point as follows (tempera-

ture of 670-810°C; Bohnert et al., p. 18): 

– Thorax/abdomen: thoracic and abdominal cavity exposed, organs black-

ened and shrunken 

– arms: hands and distal forearms burned away 

– legs: tibia and distal femur free of soft tissue. 

These experimental data demonstrate that Tauber’s claim that 4-5 corpses had 

already been incinerated in a muffle after 30 minutes is an absurd fairy tale.112 

3.1.5. The Cremation Process 

Tauber and Dragon provide an almost identical description of the initial stage 

of the cremation process: 

Tauber: 

“The second load to be cremated in the same muffle was loaded in the same 

manner as this [first load], but with this second pair of corpses we had to hur-

ry, because the corpses loaded earlier were already burning in the meantime, 

their arms and legs were rising, so that in case of a delay, we found it difficult 

to load the second pair of corpses into the furnace. During the loading of this 

second pair of corpses into the furnace, I had the opportunity to observe the 

process of burning of the corpses. It seemed as if the corpses straightened the 

 
111 Bohnert et al., Figure 1, p. 15. The photo is reproduced in Mattogno 2019, p. 657; reproduced to-

gether with the photo of a corpse after 40 minutes of cremation as published by Bohnert et al.: 
Mattogno/Deana, Vol. 3, p. 233. 

112 For an in-depth study of this issue, I refer to my study Mattogno 2020, Chapter 11, “Le cremazio-
ni multiple: durata and consumo di coke,” pp. 82-100. 
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trunk of the body, that [their] hands rose up and contracted, the same thing 

happened with the legs.” (P20) 

Dragon: 

“When we loaded the third corpse, those [the two corpses] introduced earlier 

were already burning. I saw that the arms of these corpses rose, then the legs 

rose. Besides, we were proceeding very quickly, and I could not accurately ob-

serve the entire burning process. We had to hurry, because if the extremities of 

these already burning corpses rose strongly, we had difficulties getting the 

third corpse into the furnace [=muffle].” (P7) 

None of this appears in the accurate description of the various stages of cre-

mation by Bohnert et al.; they observed only a kind of contraction of the body 

after about 10 minutes which they called a “pugilistic attitude” (Bohnert et al., 

p. 13). The story of the rising extremities was therefore not the result of a real 

observation, but a simple fable. Apart from that, this leg-raising activity is also 

physically impossible, because lifting a leg from a supine body requires quite 

some strength and the coordinated use of many muscle groups in both legs and 

abdomen. Many living people have great difficulty raising both legs while ly-

ing down. How, then, is a corpse supposed to do it? 

3.1.6. Opening the Muffle Doors for Inspections 

According to Tauber, two loads were carried out per hour in a furnace, and the 

corpses were introduced in two stages into each muffle, so that within one 

hour the door of each muffle was opened four times. He asserted moreover 

that, “after each loading, the SS Kommandoführer checked whether the fur-

naces were loaded properly. We had to open the doors of each muffle for him, 

and at that time we saw what was going on inside” (P20) This means that the 

door was opened four more times. 

The witness adds that the corpses in the muffle were stoked with a scraper 

“to accelerate the burning of the corpses” (P20), so each door was opened at 

least one more time with each loading, a total of ten times in an hour. 

In terms of time, if one assumes the loading duration adduced by the Soviet 

experts (2-3 minutes),113 just to introduce the claimed number of corpses into a 

muffle, the door of the triple-muffle furnace would have been open for (2 to 3 

× 4 × 3 =) 24-36 minutes every hour. And if for the remaining six openings 

(four for combustion control and two for stoking the burning corpses) a mini-

mum duration of one minute is considered, the opening duration increases by 

another five minutes, and the total duration rises to 29-41 minutes! And this 

would apply to each of the three muffles: altogether, 30 openings per hour! 

 
113 “The Technical Principles of Operation of the Crematoria.” Expertise of the Polish-Soviet Com-

mission of Inquiry on the Lublin-Majdanek Concentration Camp. GARF, 7021-107-9, pp. 246. 
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This is thermo-technically senseless, because the cold air coming through 

the opened doors would have cooled the furnace enormously. As Hans Keller 

pointed out, air “has only a low heat content, and the temperature drops signif-

icantly with even minor heat losses” (Keller 1928, p. 25). 

How important this phenomenon was, is apparent from the following ob-

servation by engineer Richard Kessler (Kessler, p. 136): 

“We have ascertained experimentally that the cracks in the brickwork which 

form to a greater or lesser extent in the cremation furnaces themselves be-

cause of the continuous stress to which they are exposed, allow a certain 

quantity of air, more precisely of cold air, to enter the cremation chamber dur-

ing the final phase of the cremation; this amount of air is far greater than 

what is needed at this stage for the combustion of the remnants of the corpse. 

The consequence of this is, of course, a deleterious cooling of the furnace 

(heat loss).” 

If the air flowing into the muffle from simple cracks could cool the muffle, it 

is easy to imagine what would happen if the furnace doors were opened so 

many times and for so long. 

Precisely to avoid this inconvenience, the muffle doors of the Topf triple-

muffle furnace had, in the lower part, an inlet opening for the combustion air, 

which was closed by a liftable cast-iron door measuring 10.8 cm × 12.6 cm 

with a round inspection port, 45 mm in diameter, in the center that was 

equipped with a round cast-iron closing plate fixed to the door with a pin. To 

observe the cremation process, one could simply move the plate to the side 

and look through the small round opening or lift the door and look through the 

rectangular opening. Claiming that the muffle doors were opened in order to 

observe the cremation process is therefore simply nonsense. 

3.1.7. The Combustibility of Corpses 

“Women’s corpses burned much better and faster than men’s corpses. There-

fore, if a load was burning badly, we would look for a woman’s corpse [and] 

load it into the furnace to speed up the burning process.” (P21) 

It is generally accepted that, on average, women have a higher body-fat con-

tent than men, so, at least in theory, they should be more combustible. But 

what Tauber says is nonsense anyway, because women’s bodies are also made 

up of approximately 65% water, so “if a load burned badly,” introducing an-

other body would make the whole batch burn even worse, because the evapo-

ration of the doubled amount of water in the muffle would further lower its 

temperature, hence slow down the cremation process. 

3.1.8. Corpse “Self-Combustion” 

In his Polish testimony, Tauber stated that fat bodies burned by self-combus-

tion. I divide his statements into numbered paragraphs (P12): 
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1) “During the cremation of these corpses, we used coke only for the ignition 

of the furnace. Fat corpses burned by themselves thanks to the burning of the 

fat present in the body.” (P12) 

2) “It also happened that, when there was no coke to heat the gas generators, 

we placed straw and wood in the ash boxes, which were located under the 

muffles, and as soon as the fat of the corpses ignited, the entire load[114] al-

ready burned with its own fire.” (P12) 

3) “In the early loads, when the furnaces were heated only by the gasifiers, 

cremation took place more slowly. But then, as more loads were cremated, 

they [the muffle walls] were brought to red heat by the embers that were pro-

duced by the cremation of the corpses, so that during the cremation of fat 

corpses, generally the gasifiers were shut down.” (P21) 

4) “From the corpses placed in the furnace thus brought to red heat, the fat 

immediately dripped into the ash box; in the ash box, it ignited and burned the 

corpse.” (P21) 

First Claim: 

I repeat what I established in another study (Mattogno 2020, pp. 178f.). Cases 

of “spontaneous human combustion” (SHC) have been scientifically ascer-

tained, and the most-convincing explanation is considered to be the combus-

tion of body fat by virtue of the “wick effect” or “candle effect.” 

Experiments have shown that human fat ignites only at a temperature of 

250°C, but the “wick effect” also occurs if the liquid fat drops to a tempera-

ture of 24°C. Other experiments have shown that combustion proceeds at a 

rate of 3.6-10.8 kg/hr. A case of self-combustion was discovered in the woods 

of Medford, Oregon: the body of a woman was partially burned in this way in 

no less than five hours. The burning is concentrated on the parts of the body 

that are richest in fat (Christensen, pp. 13-18). A specialist called into question 

in the study cited above, John D. DeHaan, clarified in this regard (DeHaan, p. 

10): 

“The rates measured range from ∼3 to 14 kg/h, so over a period of many 

hours a substantial portion of a normal human body can be destroyed by this 

mechanism (fluids drain out or evaporate and muscle burns reluctantly with a 

very low effective heat of combustion).” 

The result is therefore not a burning of the whole body, much less an incinera-

tion down to mere ashes. 

Kurt Prüfer, Topf’s chief engineer who designed the triple-muffle furnace, 

critiqued the operating results of the gas-fired Volckmann-Ludwig Furnace in 

Hamburg as claimed by Engineer Volckmann, writing (Prüfer, p. 6): 

“If the claims of cremation without any gas [= fuel, energy] added were true, 

the exhaust-gas temperature would have to be room temperature, which a 

 
114 All bodies loaded into the furnace. 



C. MATTOGNO ∙ SONDERKOMMANDO AUSCHWITZ II 85 

combustion engineer will probably not seriously claim, because the unavoida-

ble exhaust-gas losses and the cold air flowing in when the coffin is introduced 

are certain passive items in the heat balance that cannot be avoided.” 

These statements referred to the cremation of 2,500 corpses in seven months 

with a consumption of 100 m³ of gas. Obviously, in the thermal balance of 

these cremations, it was necessary to consider the heat produced by the com-

bustion of the coffin, which corresponds to a contribution of about 120,000 

kcal, equal to about 27 m³ of city gas per cremation. 

Therefore, the “self-combustion” of corpses was unfeasible even in the best 

German civilian crematorium of the 1930s and 1940s, which was far superior 

to the stripped-down Topf furnaces set up at Auschwitz and Birkenau. 

Second Claim: 

Tauber presents the case of a cold furnace (“when there was no coke to heat 

the gas generators”) in which corpses were introduced into the muffle, and 

straw and wood were placed in the ash chamber below. 

I should point out that the ash chamber was a space about 35 cm wide and 

45 cm high, closed by a door measuring 28 cm × 35 cm. In this space, there-

fore, wood (evidently kindling wood in bundles) and straw were placed, the 

straw was set on fire and, as soon as the wood bundles caught fire, the fat of 

the corpses (i.e., the usual 4-5 corpses per muffle) dripped into the ash cham-

ber, where it caught fire, so the 4-5 corpses of each muffle burned with their 

“own fire”. 

This statement is even more absurd than the previous one: if it is impossi-

ble for 4-5 corpses to self-combust in a furnace heated to 800°C, self-com-

bustion in a cold furnace is even more impossible, if there is such a thing. In 

Tauber’s description, the wood placed in the ash chamber (a few tens of kilo-

grams115) was not used to perform the cremation, as on a pyre, but simply to 

melt the fat of the corpses, after which the cremation took place by self-com-

bustion. 

Even if one were to accept purely hypothetically that there were bodies of 

fat inmates at Auschwitz, the straw and wood placed in the ash chamber 

would have acted as a wick for the body fat that hypothetically dripped from 

the grate.116 In that case, however, this “cremation,” for a “fat” body of 80 kg, 

would have lasted at least (80 kg ÷ 14 kg/hr =) just under six hours! 

And above all, such a combustion would not have heated the muffles, 

which would have remained practically cold. 

 
115 Seasoned small wood in bundles weighs 100-120 kg per cubic meter (Colombo, p. 63). Therefore, 

in the approximately 0.3 cubic meters of an ash chamber, one could place at most (120 kg/m³ × 
0.3 m³ =) 36 kg of this wood. 

116 It is obvious that in a “cremation pit,” in which the temperature by definition is much higher than 
250°C, human fat would burn immediately, and both the “wick effect” and the collection of lique-
fied fat as fantasized by delusional witnesses would be utterly impossible. 



86 C. MATTOGNO ∙ SONDERKOMMANDO AUSCHWITZ II 

Third Claim: 

Tauber stated that “during the cremation of fat corpses, generally the gasifiers 

were shut down.” In addition to the absurdities mentioned earlier, this state-

ment is thermo-technically nonsensical and contrary to the practice of operat-

ing coke-fired cremation furnaces. In no furnace was the coke in the gas gen-

erator allowed to burn out (except when it needed occasional cleaning from 

slag), not even at times when no cremation at all was actually underway. 

Kessler pointed out in this regard (Kessler, p. 159): 

“Whereas for gas heating the heat required can be precisely controlled, in the 

case of coke or briquettes, heat is produced even at times when it is not need-

ed, because even though it is possible to reduce the combustion in the genera-

tor, it cannot be stopped altogether; otherwise the fire would go out.” 

And it is clear that the extinguishing of the burning embers in the hearth of the 

gas generator, in addition to the thermo-technical problems exposed earlier, 

would also have entailed a dead loss of the time needed to eventually re-ignite 

the coke for the cremation of lean corpses, a loss of time irreconcilable with 

the frenzied cremation paces claimed by Tauber. 

Fourth Claim: 

Tauber explains how the alleged self-combustion of corpses in a heated fur-

naces took place. This is therefore the absurdity already noted about Para-

graph 1. It is certainly true that the fat melting from any corpse ignited and 

burned, but it certainly could not cremate the corpse. What is important to 

note here is that the technical and empirical fact of the immediate burning of 

the fat (the “wick effect”) radically contradicts and demolishes his description 

of the recovery of liquefied human fat in “cremation pits” (see below, Section 

3.1.13). 

3.1.9. Corpse Embers 

In the text quoted in the previous section, paragraph 3, Tauber stated: 

“But then, as more loads were cremated, they [the muffle walls] were brought 

to red heat by the embers that were produced by the cremation of the corpses, 

[…].” (P21) 

In this regard, the witness also stated earlier (P4): 

“The cremation process is accelerated by the burning of human fat, which 

produces additional heat.” 

In reality, the muffles were heated by the combustion products of the gas gen-

erators and the gases and flames that developed from the corpses. The embers 

were not only very slight, but they were consumed in the ash chamber, below 

the muffle, so that their heat contribution to the muffle was insignificant. That 

fat – which melts, evaporates and burns – produces embers is an absurdity: it 

is like saying that the combustion of gasoline produces embers. 
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3.1.10. Flaming Chimneys 

“But there were also cases in which we loaded more corpses into the muffle. 

As many as eight muslims could be accommodated [introduced] in there. We 

burned these larger loads during air raids without the knowledge of the crem-

atorium chief, so that a larger fire came out of the chimney, and the airmen 

became aware of it.” (P13) 

This story is doubly absurd. First, because flames shooting from the chimneys 

of the Birkenau crematoria as a result of cremations was technically impossi-

ble, as I have documented elsewhere.117 Second, because, at least in theory, 

the phenomenon of flaming chimneys would have been closely linked to the 

fat content of the corpses, but, as is obvious and as Tauber himself states, the 

corpses of the “muslims” were “emaciated and fatless” (P12); they were “real 

skeletons, which burned very slowly,” meaning that cremating a load of five 

such corpses took an hour and a half according to Tauber (P4). A load of eight 

skeletal corpses could not, a fortiori, produce the phenomenon of flaming 

chimneys. 

3.1.11. The Test Cremation 

In his Polish deposition, Tauber described in detail the test cremations in 

Crematorium II: 

“On 4 March [1943], we were in charge of firing up the gas generators. We 

kept them going from morning until 4 o’clock in the afternoon.” (P13) 

“We brought [up] these corpses through the elevator and the door leading to 

the heating room, and placed them two or three at a time on a cart similar to 

the one I described when speaking of Crematorium No. 1, and loaded them in-

to the individual muffles. After the introduction of the entire batch of corpses 

into all the muffles of all the furnaces, the members of the commission, watch-

es in hand, observed the process of cremation of the corpses, opened the 

doors, looked at the watches, discussed among themselves, and marveled that 

the cremation lasted [so] long. Since the furnaces, because they were com-

pletely new, had not yet warmed up properly, although they had been operat-

ing since the morning, the cremation of this load lasted 40 minutes.” (P13f.) 

“For the next 10 days, we went every day under SS escort to the crematorium 

and fired up the gas generators. During these 10 days, no transports arrived; 

we did not cremate any corpses, but only kept the gas generators running to 

heat the furnaces.” (P14) 

This description is a sequence of technical absurdities. First of all, as I have 

already explained, the simultaneous cremation of two or three corpses in a 

muffle, if it could be done at all, would not have lasted 40 minutes but more 

than two to three hours. Tauber’s explanation of this “long” duration, the fact 

 
117 Mattogno 2004a; Mattogno/Deana, Vol. 1, pp. 382-387. 
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that the furnaces “had not yet warmed up properly” because they were “com-

pletely new,” is technically nonsensical and historically false. Heating up the 

furnaces took at least 8 hours. The grate throughput capacity of the two 

hearths of the triple-muffle furnace was 35 kg of coke per hour, a total of 70 

kg/hr. The weight of the refractory masonry of this furnace (including the gas 

generators and ash chambers) was about 11,500 kg (Mattogno 2020, p, 62). 

Assuming a caloric value of the coke of 6,470 kcal/kg, a furnace efficiency of 

50%, and an air temperature in the furnace room of 20°C, heating the entire 

refractory masonry of the furnace to 800°C would have required:118 

0.21 kcal/kg/°C119 ∙ 11‚500 kg ∙ (800°C – 20°C)

 6‚470 kcal/kg ∙ 0.5
 ≈ 580 kg of coke. 

Since the gas generators could consume only 70 kg of coke per hour, this 

means that heating this furnace took some (580 kg coke ÷ 70 kg coke/hr ≈) 

eight and a half hours. In practice, the entire refractory masonry of the furnace 

(average thickness: 12 cm) would have been heated to red heat by then 

(800°C). 

Obviously, cremations were performed as soon as the muffle temperature 

reached 800°C, as also prescribed by the operating instructions of the triple-

muffle furnace (Mattogno/Deana, p. 265): 

“Once the incineration chamber shows a satisfactory red glow (about 800°C), 

the corpses can be introduced successively into the two chambers.” 

In the triple-muffle furnace, which was equipped with two lateral gas genera-

tors, it took about one hour to reach this temperature of the surface of the cre-

mation chamber. Civilian crematoria, which had refractory masonry that 

weighed the same as that of a 3-muffle Topf furnace but were equipped with 

only one gas generator, took about two hours. In the cremation experiment 

carried out by Richard Kessler on 5 January 1927 in the Gebrüder Beck Fur-

nace at the Dessau Crematorium, preheating the furnace up to the introduction 

of the first corpse (785°C) took 2 hours and 12 minutes. 

In conclusion, to claim that, after eight hours of reheating, the triple-muffle 

furnaces of Birkenau Crematorium II had not been adequately heated is tech-

nical nonsense. Logically linked to this absurdity is the other absurdity of 

heating the furnaces for ten consecutive days without cremating any corpses: 

by doing so, assuming a 12-hour shift, the SS would have needlessly wasted 

(12 hrs/day × 70 kg/hr × 5 furnaces × 10 days =)120 42,000 kg of coke! 

In his Soviet testimony, Tauber specified that during these ten days the 

furnaces were dried: 

“Until 15 March, we heated the furnaces, or rather we dried them.” (S4) 

 
118 Mattogno/Deana, Vol. 1, Unit 1, Chapter VII, pp. 109-127. 
119 Specific heat of the refractory masonry. 
120 12 hours × 70 kg × 5 furnaces × 10 days. 
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And this in turn correlates with the fact that the furnaces were “completely 

new,” i.e., allegedly still in need of being dried. 

In fact, the furnaces of Crematorium II had already been dried at that point 

in time. On 29 January, Topf’s chief engineer Kurt Prüfer inspected the crem-

atorium construction sites, and prepared a progress report. He wrote that the 

five triple-muffle furnaces of Crematorium II were being dried (“werden z. Zt. 

trockengeheizt”).121 According to the report by SS Obersturmführer Hans 

Kirschnek of 29 March 1943, Crematorium II was put into operation on 20 

February 1943 (“zum 20.2.43 in Betrieb genommen”),122 so that the drying 

process had been completed by that date. 

On the other hand, the drying process in a crematorium was carried out 

gradually, by lighting the gasifier’s hearth first with a very gentle fire of wood 

shavings, then with thin wood, increasingly thicker wood and wood mixed 

with coke. In case of rapid and intense heating of the furnace, large quantities 

of water vapor would have been formed inside the masonry, whose pressure 

would have produced fractures and cracks inside it, seriously damaging it. 

Obviously, the Topf engineers, who – according to Tauber – were said to 

have been present during the test, would never have allowed the full-on heat-

ing of undried furnaces. Moreover, as I have already explained earlier, they 

would not have ever opened the “doors” of the muffles to see how the com-

bustion was proceeding. 

The story of the commission from Berlin and the Topf engineers who were 

allegedly present at the testing of the cremation furnaces is not supported by 

the slightest documentary evidence; it is in fact a simple fable that was quite 

common among the witnesses at the time. They spiced up with rhetorical em-

phasis and solemnity a minor event (the start-up of the crematorium) that went 

practically unnoticed even by the SS in the camp. 

3.1.12. The Fireproof Sack 

“Tomiczek’s head was enclosed in a sack, but we recognized him anyway, be-

cause his robust build stood out. Kwakernak watched over us until Tomiczek’s 

body was placed in the furnace, then he left immediately. We [then] opened the 

door of the furnace, took out the corpse, opened the sack, and from the face we 

recognized Tomiczek without any uncertainty.” (P7) 

The operating temperature of the furnaces at Auschwitz-Birkenau, as I noted 

earlier, was 800°C. At this temperature, a coffin introduced in civilian furnac-

es ignites instantly when pushed into the muffle. But Tauber’s sack remained 

 
121 “Prüfbericht des Ing. Prüfer an die Zentralbauleitung” dated 29 Jan. 1943. APMO, BW 30/34, p. 101. 
122 “Tätigkeitsbericht des SS-Ustuf. (F) Kirschnek, – Bauleiter für das Schutzhaftlager und für land-

wirtschaftliche Bauvorhaben. Zeit 1. Januar 1943 bis 31. März 1943” dated 29 March 1943. 
RGVA, 502-1-26, p. 61. 
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perfectly intact, to the point that it had to be opened, after having been re-

moved from inside the muffle, to ascertain whose head was in it! 

3.1.13. The “Cremation Pits” 

First of all, I note that Tauber provides self-contradictory data on the number 

of these alleged pits. In his Soviet deposition, he stated that “4 crematoria and 

4 big pyres were in operation for the extermination” (S6), while in his Polish 

deposition, he stated that five pits were dug in the courtyard of Crematorium 

V in May 1944, and “Bunker No. 2 and its pits [plural] for cremating corpses 

were put back into operation” (P27), hence at least two pits. 

Tauber stated in his Soviet deposition (S11; I number the individual 

claims): 

1) “The pyres for cremating corpses were arranged in pits, at the bottom of 

which a channel for air supply had been dug along the entire length of the ex-

cavation.” 

2) “From this channel, there was a branch to a pit 2 x 2 x 4 meters deep.” 

3) “During the cremation of the corpses on the pyres, the fat dripped into this 

pit:” 

4) “with this fat the corpses on the pyres were sprayed so that they burned bet-

ter.” 

5) “At first, wood was put in the pit, then 400 corpses, alternated with branch-

es, were sprinkled with gasoline, and the fire was started. Then the remaining 

corpses from the gas chambers were thrown in, and from time to time the fat 

from the corpses was poured in.” 

First Claim: 

The alleged “channel for the access of air” was not a closed duct, but a simple 

open channel dug at the bottom of the pit. Moreover, the channel for the 

collection of human fat started from it. But at the bottom of the pit was placed 

a layer of wood (with a layer of corpses on top) which, when set on fire, 

would have filled the “channel for the access of air” with its embers and ashes. 

This channel is therefore a simple literary fiction. 

Second Claim: 

The system of draining and collecting the liquid fat, assuming smooth and im-

permeable channel floor and walls, would require inclined planes towards the 

center of the pit and towards the collection pit which are not mentioned by the 

witness. Not to mention that, at that time (spring-summer 1944), the ground-

water table in the area of the Crematorium V courtyard was only about 1.2 

meters below the surface (see Mattogno 2003). Therefore, the fat-collection 

pit, and probably also the cremation pit, would have been flooded with water. 
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Third Claim: 

Tauber describes a real physical miracle. According to John H. Perry’s engi-

neering manual, the ignition temperature123 of pig fat in air (very similar to 

human fat) is 343°C, but its flash point – the point where it will burn in air af-

ter having been ignited by an external source – is only 184°C (Perry, p. 1584). 

In practice, above 355°C, fat ignites spontaneously, and it will keep burning 

continuously on its own, while liquid fat above 185-190°C but below 355°C 

still emits vapors in sufficient quantities to burn in air if ignited by an external 

source, such as glowing embers or burning wood. 

The self-ignition temperature of cured wood from a coffin ranges from 325 

to 350°C (Heepke, p. 124). Of course, the wood’s combustion temperature is 

even higher. In this case, if the purpose is to be cremation and not simply the 

charring of a corpse, the temperature in the muffle must reach at least 600°C. 

Therefore, Tauber basically claims that the fat of the corpse lying in a fire 

melts, crosses a layer of burning wood between at least 350 and 600°C hot, 

drips into the special “air-access channel” full of red-hot glowing embers, en-

ters the collection channel, also full of red-hot glowing embers, and collects in 

the special pit: and all this without igniting in the slightest during this long hot 

journey! 

As I mentioned above, this physical miracle is also in open contradiction 

with Tauber’s description of the “self-combustion” of corpses: 

“From the corpses placed in the furnace thus brought to red heat, the fat im-

mediately dripped into the ash box; in the ash box, it ignited and burned the 

corpse.” (P21) 

Therefore, in the crematorium the fat burned, while in the cremation pits it 

flowed in a liquid state to the collection pit.124 

The theoretical conclusions stated above have been fully confirmed by a 

series of experiments on the combustion of animal fat that I carried out in a 

field furnace of my own construction, including photographs, precisely to ver-

ify them experimentally (Mattogno 2004). 

Fourth Claim: 

Liquid human fat was thrown on corpses “so that they burned better.” How 

was the liquid fat scooped out of the collection pit? Certainly with a zinc 

bucket attached to a rod ending with a hook, as the witness Filip Müller tells 

us, who elaborated on this literary theme later (Müller, p. 136). But how was it 

then thrown onto the corpses? The scenario would have been this: a burning 

pyre of at least 150 square meters (see next section) burning at a temperature 

of at least 600°C; the immense radiation emanating from this fire would have 

 
123 The minimum temperature at which a fuel begins to burn spontaneously in air without external ig-

nition. 
124 It matters little that the furnace was “red hot,” because in both cases the temperature was well 

above the flash point of fat. 
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heated anything standing close to it swiftly to several hundred degrees Celsius 

(and if combustible, would have ignited it). 

If Tauber and Müller had thrown their bucket full of hot fat toward the 

burning pyre from a safe distance, hardly any of the fat would have landed on 

the pyre. If instead they had ventured to the edge of the pit, true "auto-com-

bustion" would have occurred, meaning that our witnesses would have been 

burned alive. Of course, this is also true for anyone approaching the pyre in 

order to scoop out the collected, boiling fat. Such an operation necessitated a 

close approach to the edge of the pit, and scooping out the fat using a bucket 

dangling from a long rod would have required quite some skill, and therefore 

much more time than throwing a bucket of fat onto the pyre. True self-com-

bustion would have been inevitable. 

From a thermo-technical point of view, throwing a bucket of boiling (and 

probably already burning) fat on a burning pyre of that size would not have 

brought any benefit, because the fat, due to its low flash point, would have ig-

nited already in the air while flying (if it wasn’t already burning to begin 

with), and it would have landed on top of the burning surfaces, contributing 

little to burning it. 

In a cremation pit (equipped with an efficient supply of combustion air 

from below, for example by means of pipes connected to a blower), it would 

be necessary instead to exploit the fat of the corpses inside the pit itself, so 

that the flames that develop from it hit the corpses from below upwards. 

And, if the miracle of the liquid fat flowing on the bottom of the pit could 

ever occur, it would be necessary to prevent it from flowing to the outside of 

the cremation pit into any kind of collection hole, in order to use all its calorif-

ic potential inside the pyre. 

Fifth Claim: 

How could a corpse be thrown into the aforementioned burning pit? Clearly, 

this would have been even more difficult than throwing a bucket of fat into it 

– unless precision catapults were used. But unfortunately, Tauber does not 

mention any such device. 

3.1.14. The “Cremation Pits” on Birkenau Air Photos 

According to Tauber, as I noted in the previous section, four to seven “crema-

tion pits” existed at Birkenau, five of which were in the courtyard of Cremato-

rium V; he did not indicate their dimensions, but his colleague Dragon speaks 

of five pits measuring 25 m × 6 m (= 150 m²) × 3 m (P9), in total (150 m² × 5 

=) 750 m². To complete the testimonial picture of the four main Polish wit-

nesses, I briefly mention the claims of the other two: Stanisław Jankowski 

mentioned only two pits, which he said measured 20 m × 2 m (= 40 m²) × 2 

m, while Henryk Mandelbaum indicated only their dimensions (while contra-

dicting himself): 30-35 m or 25 m × 15 m × 2 m or 1-1.5 m. Filip Müller, on 
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the other hand, mentioned five pits of 40-50 m × 8 m × 2 m or 40 m × 8 m × 

2.5 m each.125 

In a separate study, in which I analyzed and published numerous aerial 

photographs of Birkenau, I showed that from May to August 1944 there was 

only one small smoking site in the above-mentioned area with a surface of on-

ly about 50 m² (and not five large ones), and that there was no smoking site at 

all in the area of the so-called “Bunker 2” (see Mattogno 2016a). 

Therefore, Tauber’s statements, as well as those of all the other witnesses 

who spoke of huge “cremation pits,” are resoundingly refuted by the aerial 

photographs of the time. 

Tauber affirms that, in order to bring the corpses to the pits from the gas 

chambers of Crematorium V, a railway was built for some rail cars, which 

however were not used because “the SS considered them inconvenient and the 

inmates of the Sonderkommando dragged the corpses of the gassed from the 

gas chambers directly to the pits” (P27). There is no trace of this railway in 

the aerial photographs of Birkenau from 1944. Besides being false, such a 

statement is also nonsensical: the SS would have considered it “inconvenient” 

to transport a certain number of corpses quickly and effortlessly on a cart and 

instead would have considered it “comfortable” to have a single corpse 

dragged by a single inmate for at least twenty meters! 

3.2. The Gassings 

3.2.1. The First Homicidal Gassing at Crematorium II 

In his Soviet deposition, Tauber stated that the first gassing took place on 15 

March 1943, and concerned a transport of 4,000 Jews from the Krakow Ghet-

to (S4). Danuta Czech’s Auschwitz Chronicle speaks instead of 1,492 victims, 

allegedly gassed on March 13.126 

Morgue 1 of Crematorium I and II, the alleged homicidal gas chamber, 

measured 30 m × 7 m, thus it had a floor area of 210 m², ignoring the area oc-

cupied by the seven supporting columns (measuring 0.4 m × 0.4 m) and that 

of the alleged four devices for introducing Zyklon B (according to the witness 

Michał Kula, 0.7 m × 0.7 m). The density of victims in the gas chamber was 

thus roughly (4,000 ÷ 210 =) 19 persons per square meter. Despite this physi-

cal impossibility, the victims had ample space: 

“From the arrangement of the bodies, it could be seen that people had moved 

away from these columns and had wanted to reach the door. It was very hot in 

the room, and there was such a stench that it was impossible to bear. Later we 

 
125 See Mattogno 2021a, Chapters 7.3. (on Müller, pp. 119-123) and 10.4. (on Mandelbaum, pp. 184-

192). 
126 Czech 1990, p. 352. The correct arrival date at Auschwitz of deportees from the Krakow Ghetto is 

14 March 1943; see Mattogno 2022, pp. 153-155. 
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became convinced that many of the bodies in the gas chamber died of asphyxi-

ation, of lack of air, even before the gassing. These people lay on the floor, 

and others walked over them. They were not sitting down, like the majority, 

but were lying on the floor. From this it could be seen that they had died be-

fore the others, who must have stepped on their corpses.” (P15) 

In a study drawn up in collaboration with Giuseppe Poggi, I demonstrated – 

also visually – that the gassing of 1,500 persons, but also of 1,000 or less, in 

Morgue 1 (the alleged gas chamber) of Crematoria II and III at Birkenau 

would have encountered an insurmountable obstacle in the occlusion of the 

air-extraction openings by the bodies of the victims. 

Morgue 1 was equipped with 40 air-extraction openings (presumably the 

same as the air-intake openings: 7 cm × 18 cm), 20 on each of the side walls, 

arranged at floor level and protected by a metal grid. The air-intake openings 

were located on the oblique side of the two ventilation ducts behind the ma-

sonry of the room at the height of the two high corners (under the reinforced-

concrete roof); these also numbered 40, 20 on each side. The mechanical ven-

tilation worked via two identical fans, one for air intake, which pushed fresh 

air into Morgue 1 through a special duct, the other for air-extraction, which 

sucked out the stale air through the deaeration openings, which were connect-

ed to the special duct. The fans were installed in the attic of the crematorium; 

the fresh-air intake and the exhaust-air outlet ended in two chimneys located 

on the roof of the building. 

The obstruction of the air-extraction openings on the floor of Morgue 1 

would have compromised the functioning of this system, which would not 

have been able to expel the gas mixture from the room in time. Hence, when 

the door of that room was opened, air from that room would have spread 

throughout the basement of the crematorium (Morgue 2 only had an air-ex-

traction fan, so its air pressure would have been lower than that of Morgue 1 

under any circumstance), but also to the furnace room, through the elevator 

shaft, due to the lower pressure caused by the furnace-room air-extraction fan 

and by the furnaces themselves, whose ten hearths sucked in a lot of air, ex-

pelling it through the main chimney.127 

This would have had a very dangerous outcome not only for the inmates of 

the Sonderkommando, but also for the SS service personnel. 

The danger of gassing with hydrogen cyanide (the active ingredient of 

Zyklon B) had already been proven in the course of regular disinfestations of 

barracks and other buildings, as stated in the well-known “Special Order” 

(“Sonderbefehl”) of 12 August 1942:128 

“A case of indisposition with slight symptoms of poisoning by hydrogen cya-

nide which occurred today makes it necessary to warn all those participating 

 
127 Mattogno/Poggi, pp. 95-108, and Docs. 36-39, pp. 136-138. 
128 Sonderbefehl of 12 August 1942. RGVA, 502-1-32, p. 300. 
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in fumigations and all other SS members that particularly upon opening fumi-

gated rooms, SS members without mask must keep a distance of 15 meters 

from the chamber for at least five hours. In addition, particular attention 

should be paid to the wind direction.” 

In Crematoria II and III, any homicidal gassing would have put the lives of SS 

men and inmates equally at risk, and would have required a long and compli-

cated “degassing” procedure. But these unavoidable inconveniences were 

never noticed by any “eyewitnesses,” and least of all by Tauber. 

On the day of the “first gassing,” the Kommando to which Tauber belonged 

presumably was locked up in a room in the crematorium, allegedly so that 

they would not witness the gassing procedure (P15). They were taken out only 

afterwards and sent to the alleged gas chamber, but here they did not have to 

remove the corpses of the gassed persons, a task which was carried out by an-

other team of 70 inmates of the “bunker” Sonderkommando (P16). It is there-

fore clear that the SS sent Tauber and his group to the “gas chamber” to care-

fully check the state of the corpses and to testify about them after the war! 

Tauber added (P15f.): 

“After the people had been pushed into the gas chamber and had been locked 

in, and before pouring the ‘Cyklon,’ air was extracted from the chamber, in 

fact the ventilation of the chamber lent itself to this purpose.” 

This is just another technically nonsensical statement. The ventilation of the 

alleged gas chamber was based on the system of two blowers: one extracted 

the stale air from the room, while the other identical blower simultaneously 

brought in fresh air from outside. 

Tauber also stated that the ventilation system was started “after the door to 

the [gas] chamber was opened” (P16), but this is also nonsense, because the 

ventilation would have had to be carried out while the doors were closed. In 

the hypothetical world of homicidal gassing, due to the heat in this room (“It 

was very hot in the chamber”; P15) that also had a higher pressure than the 

rest of the building (all other rooms only had suction fans), when the door was 

opened, the hot gas mixture would have spread into the basement and the 

ground level of the crematorium. 

Tauber furthermore declared that “there was such a stench that it was im-

possible to bear” (P15) in the alleged gas chamber, but he immediately con-

tradicts himself, saying that the people in charge of the evacuation of the 

corpses from the gas chamber wore gas masks (P16), and that he did not even 

participate in the evacuation of the corpses of the first gassing (“However, we 

did not remove the corpses from this first transport in mid-March 1943”; P16). 

3.2.2. The Undressing Barracks 

In relation to first gassing, Tauber stated (P15): 
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“These people were pushed into the barracks which was then situated perpen-

dicular to the crematorium building, on the side of the entrance to the yard of 

Crematorium No. II. The persons entered this barracks through a door that 

was on the entrance side, and went down the staircase that was to the right of 

the ‘Müllverbrennung.’ At the time, this barracks served as an undressing 

room. However, it was only used for about a week, and then it was disman-

tled.” 

It is known that the situation map of the PoW Camp Auschwitz of 20 March 

1943 shows a barracks in the vicinity of the northwest corner of Crematorium 

II. A relevant clipping of this map was published by Jean-Claude Pressac, who 

explained the function of this barracks on the basis of the above-mentioned 

statement by Tauber (Pressac 1989, p. 462). 

As I have shown elsewhere,129 this barracks, which was installed by 15 

February 1943 as a “dressing room” (“Auskleideraum”) at the request of the 

SS garrison physician of 21 January 1943, had no relation to the alleged hom-

icidal gassings (which are said to have started there much later), but served to 

strip the bodies of registered inmates who had died at the camp. 

Tauber did not explain at all why the barracks in question was installed, 

nor why it was used on that occasion as an undressing room, nor why it was 

dismantled after a week. Not only that, but his description cannot be the result 

of direct observation. In fact, he stated that, as soon as the deportees began to 

arrive, “we of the Sonderkommando were locked up in the room where – as I 

explained in the description of the crematorium – the physicians assigned to 

the autopsies were staying” (P15, similar P18). Then he added:  

“After about two hours in the doctors’ autopsy room, we were taken out and 

ordered to go to the gas chamber.” (P15) 

Therefore, during the unloading and undressing of the alleged victims, Tauber 

remained locked up with the other inmates in this room, which was located in 

the southwest corner of the crematorium.130 But the undressing barracks was 

on the opposite side, in front of the east end of the crematorium. Therefore, 

Tauber could not have seen the scene he described, which is simply a figment 

of his imagination. 

3.2.3. Subsequent Gassings at Crematorium II 

Tauber claimed to have remained in Crematorium II only from 4 March until 

mid-April 1943. During these scant six weeks, the activity of the crematorium 

was as follows (P17f.): 

1) “During the cremation of the corpses from that first transport in mid-March 

1943, we worked non-stop for 48 hours, but we were not able to cremate all 

 
129 Mattogno/Poggi, pp. 9-37 (particularly pp. 34-37); Mattogno 2020c, pp. 104-111. 
130 Pressac 1989, p. 491, plan of Crematorium II, Room No. 23. 
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the corpses, because in the meantime a Greek transport arrived, which was al-

so gassed.” 

2) “I worked in Crematorium II until the middle of April. During this time, 

Greek, French and Dutch transports arrived. Also during this time, we cre-

mated the corpses of the people who had been gassed as a result of the selec-

tion made at the camp. We worked in two shifts, day and night. I am not in a 

position to give a figure for the number of people gassed and cremated during 

this period.” 

3) “On average, 2,500 bodies were cremated per day.” 

First Claim: 

Tauber tacitly assumed (as he explicitly stated to the Soviets; S4) that the first 

transport contained 4,000 people. According to Danuta Czech’s Auschwitz 

Chronicle, only 1,492 people were gassed during the first gassing (Czech 

1990, p. 352), although not even that figure is based on any facts.131 But even 

assuming Czech’s figure as real, since on average 2,500 corpses were cremat-

ed per day according to Tauber, the cremation of the bodies of the alleged vic-

tims would have lasted less than one day. Actually, using the different crema-

tion figures provided by Tauber, it would have taken precisely: 

– about 16½ hours with a load of 3 corpses per muffle in half an hour; 

– about 13½ hours with a load of 4-5 corpses per muffle in about 37 minutes; 

– about 8 hours with a load of 4-5 corpses per muffle in 20-25 minutes. 

Tauber claimed instead that the crematorium staff was unable to complete the 

cremation of the victims of the first gassing in 48 hours of uninterrupted 

work,132 because “in the meantime” a transport of Greek Jews had arrived, 

who were likewise gassed and cremated. But according to the Auschwitz 

Chronicle, this Greek transport only arrived on 24 March (Czech 1990, p. 

359), hence ten days later. Tauber’s statement is therefore false and contradic-

tory. 

Second Claim: 

Between mid-March and mid-April of 1943, “Greek, French and Dutch trans-

ports arrived” (P18). But according to the Auschwitz Chronicle, no transports 

from Holland and France arrived during this period at all (see further below). 

 
131 I have already pointed out earlier that this deportation took place on the 14th. Czech mentions a 

transport of 2,000 people, of which 508 were registered, hence the alleged 1,492 gassing victims. 
In reality, the number of 2,000 deportees is not found in any document, and is simply a conjecture. 
The indictment against Amon Goeth, the former commandant of the Płaszów Camp, states that he 
carried out the liquidation of the Krakow Ghetto on 13 March 1943 after having selected the Jews 
fit for work into Sector A, and those unfit for work into Sector B. The claimed extermination vic-
tims were precisely these – and they are said to have been killed right there in the ghetto, not in 
Auschwitz – and their corpses were transported to, and buried in, the Płaszów Camp. Therefore, 
no gassing would have taken place in Auschwitz. See Mattogno 2022, pp. 155-157. 

132 Even assuming the figure of 4,000 victims from Tauber’s Soviet deposition, the cremation time at 
the rates claimed by him would have been much less, about 34 hours. 
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With reference to the summer of 1944, Tauber added in his Soviet testimo-

ny the well-known propaganda lie of the mass extermination of French re-

sistance fighters (S6), which was widespread among witnesses in 1945. That 

same year, this lie was shamelessly canonized by Polish-Jewish Historian Fil-

ip Friedman. In fact, he wrote that, in the summer of 1944, 670,000 (sic!) 

“‘terrorists,’ i.e., patriots and partisans from France” were transported to 

Auschwitz and murdered (Friedman, p. 74). 

Third Claim: 

In approximately one month, from March 14-15 to mid-April 1943, an aver-

age of 2,500 Jews per day were gassed and cremated in Crematorium II alone 

(and “3,000 people a day” according to his Soviet deposition; S6). This corre-

sponds to a total of about 75,000 people (or 90,000 according to his Soviet 

deposition). 

According to Czech’s Auschwitz Chronicle, however, the 12 transports that 

arrived at Auschwitz during this period transported (according to her) only 

30,852 people. 24,021 of them were allegedly gassed, plus 1,700 Gypsies al-

legedly taken from the camp’s Gypsy section (“Gypsy Camp”), resulting in a 

total of 25,721 gassing victims (Czech 1990, pp. 352-378): 

Date 1943 # Deportees Group Origin claimed gassing victims 

13 March 2,000 Jews Krakow 1,492 

16 March 1,000 Jews Krakow 959 

20 March 2,800 Jews Greece 2,191 

23 March - Gypsies Gypsy Camp 1,700 

24 March 2,800 Jews Greece 1,986 

25 March 1,901 Jews Greece 1,206 

30 March 2,501 Jews Greece 2,048 

31 March 1,000 Jews Sieradz Ghetto 736 

31 March 3,000 Jews Ostrowiec133 3,000 

3 April 2,800 Jews Greece 2,208 

9 April 2,500 Jews Greece 2,021 

10 April 2,750 Jews Greece 1,967 

13 April 2,800 Jews Greece 1,936 

17 April 3,000 Jews Greece 2,271 

Totals 30,852   25,721 

Subtracting the 3,000 gassing victims of the imaginary transport of 31 March, 

it turns out that, according to the orthodoxy’s standard work of Auschwitz his-

toriography, 

a. there were only 22,721 alleged gassing victims, not 75,000 (or 90,000); 

 
133 The mass gassing of Gypsies on 23 March and the transport of 31 March are fictitious; see Mat-

togno 2022, pp. 157-160. 
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b. even if the presumed gassings had all taken place in Crematorium II, there 

would never have been an average daily number of 2,500 cremated per-

sons; 

c. as mentioned earlier, no Jewish transports from France and Holland arrived 

at Auschwitz during that time. 

The frenzied extermination activity indicated by Tauber, but at the same time 

any extermination activity, is also categorically refuted by an important fact 

that happened precisely in this period and to which the witness makes only a 

passing reference: At the beginning of the third decade of March 1943, Crem-

atorium II was seriously damaged. On 24 and 25 March 1943, Topf engineers 

Kurt Prüfer and Karl Schultze, called in by the Central Construction Office, 

went to Auschwitz to check the extent of the damage: the three forced-draft 

devices (Saugzuganlagen) were irreparably damaged and (as was discovered 

at the beginning of April) parts of the refractory lining of the smoke ducts and 

the chimney had collapsed. 

Schultze was to check the condition of the three forced-draft systems in 

Crematorium II, while Prüfer was to check the efficient operation of the five 

triple-muffle furnaces without these systems. It was ascertained that these in-

stallations were irreparably damaged, and the Topf Company declared itself 

ready on 16 April to take them back, crediting the  Central Construction Of-

fice with RM 3,705 as reimbursement. 

Tauber confines himself to reporting the following on this matter (P11): 

“At first, there were three electric motors around this chimney to strengthen 

its draft. Because of the heat next to and in the vicinity of the furnace, these 

motors broke down, and once a fire even broke out, so they were later disman-

tled, and the ducts carrying the combustion gases from the cremation furnaces 

were connected directly to the chimney.” 

All of this work was carried out after Tauber had left Crematorium II (mid-

April): the three forced-draft devices were dismantled by Topf’s mechanic 

Messing between 17 and 19 May. The dismantling of the damaged refractory 

lining began around 24 May; on 1 June, this were finished, but it was not pos-

sible to build the new lining because the specifications for the new chimney 

lining had not yet been submitted. The new lining was put in place between 

the last third of June and the end of August (Mattogno/Deana, Vol. 1, pp. 239-

243). 

How could Tauber have known those technical details, since he was in 

Crematorium IV at the time? 

Since the two Topf engineers went to Auschwitz urgently on 24 March fol-

lowing a telegram, it is evident that the breakdown had occurred a few days 

earlier, and that the crematorium had suspended or at least reduced its activity 

as a precaution around that date. Therefore, in practice, the theoretical number 

of gassing victims until the middle of April 1943 could not have exceeded 
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5,150 (the first three transports), compared to the 75,000 (or 90,000) resulting 

from Tauber’s ramblings. 

In order to establish responsibility for the damage done to the chimney, the 

Central Construction Office opened an investigation and summoned Robert 

Koehler, the builder of the chimney, and Kurt Prüfer, who had designed the 

project. According to the final report by SS Obersturmführer Hans Kirschnek 

dated 13 September 1943, it was determined that the main cause of the dam-

age to the chimney was closely linked to the “heating of only individual fur-

naces,” as the first design of the chimney did not take into account the differ-

ent thermal expansion of the individual ducts, a flaw that was only remedied 

in the new design. 

This is in open contrast to the mass cremation of the presumed gassing vic-

tims using the crematorium’s maximum capacity at all times as claimed by 

Tauber (meaning the simultaneous operation of all furnaces), which is there-

fore, a fortiori, historically false. 

Tauber contradicts himself also regarding the average number of victims of 

a gassing operation: 4,000 or 3,000 people according to Tauber’s Soviet testi-

mony (S4, S6), and 2,000 according to his deposition given to the Jewish His-

torical Commission. 

3.2.4. The Door of the Alleged Gas Chamber 

This is how Tauber describes the door of the alleged homicidal gas chamber of 

Crematorium II (P8): 

“In this door, at the head height of a man of average stature, was a round 

glazed little window. On the other side of the door, i.e., on the side of the gas 

chamber, this window was protected by a hemispherical grating. This grating 

was installed because it had happened that the people who were in the gas 

chamber, before dying, had broken the glass window. Since even the grating 

did not prevent this, and similar incidents occurred despite its installation, this 

window was then closed with metal sheets or a board.” 

At the end of his Polish testimony, Tauber stated that at the Bauhof there was, 

among other things, “a gas-tight door of a gas chamber” (P28). Pressac pub-

lished three photographs of this door (Pressac 1989, p. 486), which has a 

peephole protected on the inside by a hemispherical metal grid. This is there-

fore in contradiction to Tauber’s statement that the peephole had to be “closed 

with metal sheets or a board.” Pressac states that the door that appears in the 

photos reproduced by him “certainly belonged to a homicidal gas chamber in 

one of the four Birkenau Krematorien,” which he justifies as follows (ibid.): 

“The proof of its criminal use is the presence of a heavy hemispherical grid 

PROTECTING THE PEEPHOLE ON THE INSIDE.” 

The evidence adduced by Pressac is far from irreproachable, and he himself 

has provided the means to refute it. On pp. 46-49 of his 1989 book, he repro-
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duces photos showing the door of the disinfestation chamber of the so-called 

“Kanada I” Inmate-Property Warehouse (BW 28). This door had a round in-

spection opening with a metal grille attached to the inside, which evidently 

protected the glass from the inside. Therefore, the need to protect the glass of 

the inspection opening also applied to an ordinary fumigation chamber. The 

fact that the door mentioned above had a protective grille on the inside does 

not necessarily mean that it had a homicidal purpose, but it can also mean – in 

the context of a fumigation chamber – that the inside was the one most ex-

posed to the risk of the spy glass getting damaged. How? Here, too, Pressac 

provides the clue for the answer. On pp. 84f., he reproduces photos of the hot-

air disinfestation chambers of the Zentralsauna, in which the metal carts are 

clearly visible on which the clothes to be disinfested were hung. Similar carts 

were also used for the hydrogen-cyanide disinfestation chambers, and it is 

clear that they could hit the inside of the door while being pushed in or out of 

the chamber, thus potentially breaking the glass of the inspection hole.134 

I may add that there is no evidence that the door with the hemispherical 

protective grille belonged to any of the Birkenau crematoria. The “gas-

tight”135 door that was found in the ruins of Crematorium V136 and that until 

1991 was located in Crematorium I at Auschwitz137 has no inspection opening 

at all. The door of the Zyklon-B disinfestation chamber in Auschwitz Block 1 

has a very similar structure, but has a small rectangular window clovered with 

a board.138 

3.2.5. The Zyklon-B-Introduction Device 

Tauber (S4, P9) and Dragon (S11) agree on the presence of four openings in 

the ceiling of Morgue 1 (the alleged gas chamber), topped off by small chim-

neys covered by concrete lids, but not on the claimed Zyklon-B-introduction 

columns. In fact, the fables created by the various resistance groups in the 

camp had not yet crystallized in 1945, and multiple contradictory versions cir-

culated: in this case, columns of wire mesh, today ordained to be “historical 

reality,” were opposed to columns of perforated metal sheets. Tauber support-

ed the first version, but not without inconsistencies. In the Soviet deposition 

he stated (S5): 

“Zyklon gas was diffused into the gas chamber through wire-mesh columns 

that formed a square channel with double mesh layers.” 

 
134 The doors of the disinfestation chambers opened outward, so the door’s inside was exposed to the 

operators’ actions. 
135 Doors made of wooden boards cannot be “gas tight” in a technical sense. They can be “draft-

free,” but that’s as good as they can get. 
136 See Document 14. APMO, Neg. No. 12683. 
137 See Documents 15; author’s photo of 1991. 
138 See Documents 16 and 17. author’s photos of 1991. 
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As Tauber’s tales evolved, his double-layered wire-mesh columns obtained 

another layer. In his Polish deposition, Tauber described the columns as fol-

lows (P9): 

“To the left and right of these pillars were four columns. The outer layer of 

these columns was made of a thick wire mesh that went up to the ceiling and 

outside. Behind this layer was a smaller mesh netting, and within it, a third fi-

ne[r]-meshed [net]. In this third netting, there was a box, by which the powder, 

from which the gas had already evaporated, was extracted with the help of a 

wire.” 

“Above the gas chamber rose four openings like small chimneys, into which 

the gas was poured. These openings were closed by concrete lids with two-

handed wooden handles.” 

It is known that this version, with not-insignificant adjustments, later became 

the one adopted by the orthodoxy, mainly thanks to Michał Kula.139 Kula, a 

former Auschwitz inmate (Reg. No. 2718), who had worked in the inmate 

metalworking shop (Häftlings-Schlosserei) – a unit of the of the Central Con-

struction Office’s workshops – declared during an interrogation by Jan Sehn 

on 11 June 1945 that he himself had manufactured these alleged wire-mesh 

columns,140 but this is not confirmed by the register of the metalworking 

shop’s management (WL [Werkstättenleitung] Schlosserei), in which all the 

work carried out by this workshop for the crematoria was recorded, since it 

does not contain any entry for any such columns.141 

Dragon, on the other hand, leaned towards the other version (S11): 

“Beneath these openings, in the gas chamber, false columns were installed re-

sembling the real ones present there. These false columns were internally emp-

ty, and their walls were made of iron plate with perforations, like the common 

grates that covered the ventilation openings.” 

The witness did not refer to wire-mesh, but to punctured sheet metal like that 

which covered the ventilation openings of Morgue 1 of Crematoria II and 

III.142 This version had a certain testimonial notoriety, because it was taken up 

by other important former members of the Sonderkommando. For instance, 

Miklós Nyiszli summarized it as follows in 1946 (Nyiszli, p. 34. English 

translation: Mattogno 2020b, pp. 39f.): 

“In the center of the room, at a distance of thirty meters from each other 

[egymástól harminc méter távolságra], a number of columns stretch from the 

concrete floor to the ceiling. These are not support columns, but are rather 

 
139 Kula replaced the “box, by which the powder […] was extracted with the help of a wire” with a 

small wire-mesh column with a distribution cone on top, which slid in the upper inner part of the 
alleged introduction column; see Rudolf 2020, pp. 148-161. 

140 AGK, NTN, 93 (Höss Trial), Vol. 2, pp. 98-101. 
141 See my study “The Elusive Holes of Death,” in: Rudolf/Mattogno, pp. 316-319. 
142 See the photo in Pressac 1989, p. 233. See Document 18. 
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quadrangular tinplate pipes [négyszögletű vasbádog csövek], their sides 

pierced throughout with holes like a grill.” 

In the same year, Dr. Charles Sigismund Bendel, another self-proclaimed 

member of the Sonderkommando, wrote (Bendel, p. 161): 

“At the center of these chambers, two latticed tubes [grillagés] descending 

from the ceiling with an external valve [soupape] served for the emission 

[émission] of the gases.” 

This version, spiced up with some more fantasy, was incredibly exhumed by 

Filip Müller as late as 1979 (Müller, p. 60): 

“The Zyclon B gas crystals were inserted through openings into hollow pillars 

made of sheet metal. They were perforated at regular intervals and inside them 

a spiral ran from top to bottom in order to ensure as even a distribution of the 

granular crystals as possible.” 

Tauber further stated that the lids of the alleged Zyklon-B-introduction devic-

es were made of “concrete” with “wooden handles.” I will preface this by say-

ing that the use of wooden handles in a lid more or less similar to that of a 

concrete manhole cover does not exactly conform to normal construction cus-

tom, which would require iron handles. Dragon confirms that the alleged lids 

were made of “heavy removable concrete” (S11; “concrete plates,” P12). 

According to Michał Kula, the Zyklon-B-introduction devices measured 70 

cm × 70 cm (confirmed by Piper 2000, p. 166) and crossed the ceiling of the 

alleged homicidal gas chamber inside Crematorium II (and III). If it was 

topped off on the outside by a masonry chimney, this chimney must have 

measured 94 cm × 94 cm (Rudolf/Mattogno, p. 385). Concrete has a specific 

mass of 2.1-2.5 metric tons per cubic meter. I assume the average value to be 

2.3. A concrete lid, assuming a minimum thickness of 5 cm, would therefore 

have weighed (0.94 m × 0.94 m × 0.05 m × 2,300 kg/m³ =) 101.6 kg. Any 

gassing would therefore have been a Herculean feat! 

3.2.6. The “False” Showers 

Tauber stated in this regard (P9f.): 

“I emphasize that at first there were no benches or coat hangers in the un-

dressing room, and in the gas chamber [there were] no showers. They were in-

stalled only in the fall of 1943 in order to disguise the undressing room and 

the gas chamber by presenting them as a bath and disinfection [room]. These 

showers were attached to pieces of wood that had been inserted into the con-

crete ceiling of the gas chamber for this purpose. No water supply was con-

nected to these showers, so no water ever came out of them.” 

In reality, the question should be considered within the context of the “Special 

Measures for the Improvement of Hygienic Facilities” at Auschwitz as or-

dered by SS Brigadeführer Hans Kammler, head of Office Group C – Con-
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struction of the SS Economic and Administrative Main Office in early May 

1943. I reconstructed this event in a separate study, which also involved the 

crematoria of Birkenau (Mattogno/Poggi, pp. 22-33; see Mattogno 2004b). To 

summarize it very succinctly: 

On 13 May 1943, the head of the Auschwitz Central Construction Office, 

Karl Bischoff, compiled a “Report on the Division of Labor for the Instant 

Program at PoW Camp Auschwitz,” where we read: 

“Civilian employee Jährling has to carry out the installation of heaters and 

boilers in the wash barracks, as well as the showers in the undressing room of 

Crematorium III.” 

Two days later, on 15 May, Bischoff sent the Topf Company an urgent tele-

gram in which he asked: 

“Bring along Monday estimated project for hot water supply to 100 showers. 

Provide for installation of heating coils or boilers in waste incinerator under 

construction at Crem. III or flue-gas duct for exploitation of high exhaust tem-

peratures.” 

On 16 May, Bischoff sent Kammler a report in which he wrote, among other 

things: 

“Furthermore, it is planned to install heating coils in the garbage incinerator 

at Crematorium III thereby to provide water for the shower installation to be 

built in the cellar of Crematorium III.” 

The project of the shower system in the basement of Crematorium III was 

soon replicated for Crematorium II. On 5 June, the Topf Company sent a letter 

to the Auschwitz Central Construction Office with the subject line “Cremato-

rium II and III. Garbage Incineration Furnace,” to which was attached Draw-

ing D 60446 for the installation of water boilers in the incinerator. 

Finally, in a questionnaire on the crematoria dated June 1943, Bischoff an-

swered the question: “Are the exhaust gases being used?”: “planned but not 

realized,” and to the next question: “If yes, state purpose,” he wrote: “for bath-

ing facilities in Crema. II and III” (Mattogno 2004b, pp. 276-278). 

Therefore, there were showers in the basements of Crematoria II and III, 

and they were real showers, used by live people to take showers. 

Pressac endeavored to find objective corroboration for Tauber’s claim that 

the alleged fake showers “were attached to pieces of wood that had been in-

serted into the concrete ceiling of the gas chamber for this purpose.” After in-

specting the accessible ruins of the ceiling of the alleged gas chamber of 

Crematorium II, he identified and photographed several wooden pieces em-

bedded in the concrete, and held them to be wooden bases supporting false 

showers (Pressac 1989, p. 488, Photos 18f.). In reality, however, these wood-

en pieces had been inserted into the reinforced-concrete ceiling of Morgue 1 
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during the pouring of the concrete simply to support the fixtures for lighting 

the room.143 

3.2.7. The Ventilation of the Alleged Gas Chamber 

On this point Tauber stated: 

“The ventilation system was installed in the walls of the gas chamber. From it 

[the ventilation duct] opened towards the inside of the [gas] chamber small 

openings equipped with nets [grates] of white sheet metal that were placed in 

the upper part of the side walls and [other] lower openings protected by a kind 

of iron muzzle [hemi-spherical iron grate]. The ventilation of the gas chamber 

was connected to a system of ventilation pipes that were located in the un-

dressing room.” (P9) 

“In this connection I would like to point out that the persons to be gassed who 

were in the gas chamber often damaged the electrical cables, tore them out, 

and damaged the ventilation system.” (P8) 

The claim that the ventilation system was “installed in the walls of the gas 

chamber” is, to say the least, improper, since the intake and exhaust ducts 

were part of the masonry walls. These were a closed system and had no con-

nection with the ventilation system of the “undressing room,” which consisted 

of wrought-iron tubes mounted to the ceiling.144 

The witness clarified (P15f.): 

“After the people had been pushed into the gas chamber and had been locked 

in, and before pouring the ‘Cyklon,’ air was extracted from the chamber, in 

fact the ventilation of the chamber lent itself to this purpose. It was a suction-

pressure system. The undressing room had only suction ventilation. Although 

the ventilation was turned on after the door to the [gas] chamber was opened, 

in the first moments after entering the chamber, when there were gassed per-

sons in the chamber, we worked on extracting the corpses while wearing gas 

masks.” 

Dragon made fairly similar statements (S11): 

“When the entire gas chamber was tightly packed with people, the door was 

closed hermetically, and for a few minutes the ventilators sucked the air out of 

the chamber. Then the fans were turned off, and an SS man opened the box 

with Zyklon, climbed onto the roof, moved the lid of the opening described 

above, and poured Zyklon into the chamber through the opening. 

After about 15 minutes, the aeration-deaeration ventilators were started, the 

poisoned air was sucked out, and the door was opened.” 

 
143 See Rudolf/Mattogno, pp. 391f., and Ill. 9-12, pp. 405f. 
144 The letter from the Topf Company to the Central Construction Office in Auschwitz dated 8 May 

1942 explains that “wrought-iron pipes” (“schmiedeeiserne Rohrleitungen”) were planned for the 
deaeration (“Abluft”) of Morgue 2, and that the main duct (“Hauptrohrleitung”) was to be mount-
ed to the ceiling of the room. RGVA, 502-1-312, p. 67. 
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I have already explained above that the ventilation system of Morgue 1 of 

Crematoria II and III consisted of two fans, one for air intake, the other for air 

extraction, which worked together: the intake fan brought fresh air from out-

side into the room, the extraction fan sucked in the stale air and blew it to the 

outside.145 Even if the air-intake fan was turned off, the reduced pressure 

caused by the extraction fan in the morgue would have sucked in fresh air 

through the air-intake duct. Moreover, uncovering the alleged chimneys for 

the introduction of Zyklon B would have allowed a generous air flow into the 

room, rebalancing the pressure. The system of a partial vacuum described by 

the two witnesses is therefore mere puerile fantasy. 

According to Dragon, after “[a]bout 15 minutes, the aeration-deaeration 

ventilators were started, the poisoned air was sucked out, and the door was 

opened.” The sentence is ambiguous, perhaps intentionally: it is unclear 

whether the door to the room was opened at the same time when the fans were 

started, or how long the ventilation had lasted already before the door was 

opened, an element that is certainly not negligible, given the high toxicity of 

hydrogen cyanide. 

To what I have noted earlier, I should add that, given the obstruction of the 

air-extraction openings of the alleged gas chamber by the bodies of the 2,500 

gassing victims, the operation of the two ventilators would have created a 

small overpressure in the room. When the door was opened, this would have 

caused the diffusion and convection of the toxic gas mixture into the other 

basement rooms of the crematorium. 

3.2.8. The Subdivision of the Alleged Gas Chamber of Crematorium II 

Here we come to Tauber’s unverifiable statement which, according to van 

Pelt, the revisionists presumably use “to refute the validity of the whole of 

Tauber’s testimony”: 

“At the end of 1943, the gas chamber was divided in two by a masonry wall, 

so that it was suitable for gassing smaller transports. In this wall, there was a 

door similar to the one [that led] from the corridor to the entire chamber. The 

smaller transports were gassed in the rear chamber farther away from the en-

trance to the corridor.” (P9) 

Here is Pressac’s comment on this (1989, p. 484): 

“One of the very contestable points in the deposition. It would seem more log-

ical to gas in the gas chamber CLOSEST to the entrance, as this meant less 

distance to transport the corpses and the ventilation system at the far of the 

gas chamber must have been inefficient because it was poorly designed.” 

The testimony of Dr. Charles Sigismund Bendel is sometimes cited as “inde-

pendent confirmation” by the orthodoxy for this claimed division. While it is 

 
145 For a detailed description of the ventilation system of Crematoria II and III see Mattogno/Poggi, 

pp. 55-138. 
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true that both Tauber and Bendel state that there were two gas chambers in 

Crematorium II, Bendel claimed that they measured 10 m × 4 m (NMT Doc-

ument NI-11953) or 10 m × 5 m (NMT Document NI-11390), and were only 

1.60 meters high, while the room from whose division these two gas chambers 

would have arisen measured 30 m × 7 m and was 2.41 m high, dimensions 

that are absolutely incompatible with those claimed by Bendel, and that can-

not be explained by a trivial error of judgment. Moreover, Bendel mentioned 

the presence of two gas chambers in Crematorium II not because of the subdi-

vision of a chamber, but only because he believed that every crematorium was 

equipped with two gas chambers (Phillips, p. 135): 

“In each crematorium there were generally two gas chambers.” 

Henryk Mandelbaum also made a similar statement: “One such bunker 

[Morgue 1] was about 50 m long [actually 30 m], it was divided into two 

parts,” but this dates back to the trial of the Auschwitz Camp Garrison (end of 

November 1947); in his three previous statements (27 February 1945, 26 Sep-

tember 1946 and 19 March 1947), he never mentioned the alleged division of 

the claimed gas chamber into two parts (see Mattogno 2021a, pp. 179-216), 

which suggests that he was influenced by Tauber’s deposition. 

Szlama Dragon, on the other hand, spoke of a single, undivided gas cham-

ber (see Section 4.11.1.). 

From the point of view of the economy of the alleged extermination, the 

subdivision mentioned by Tauber is completely nonsensical, because accord-

ing to him there were allegedly three or even four gas chambers of various 

sizes in Crematoria IV and V, in which smaller transports could have been 

gassed if needed. In his Soviet statement, he even claimed that this is exactly 

what happened (S7): 

“Depending on the number of people arriving, the Germans poisoned them 

simultaneously [in Cremas IV & V] in one, two or three chambers.” 

But if that was so, what was the point of wasting time, material and money to 

divide the alleged gas chamber of Crematorium II into two rooms? 

It should be noted that Tauber wants to have worked in Crematorium II un-

til mid-April 1943, after which he allegedly was assigned to Crematorium IV. 

In the summer of 1944, he participated in the excavation of the five “crema-

tion pits” in the courtyard of Crematorium V, but he does not specify when he 

was assigned to this crematorium. In June 1944, after the failed uprising at-

tempt, the entire Sonderkommando was transferred to Crematorium IV and, 

after the October uprising, was housed in Crematorium III. 

Therefore, he never returned to Crematorium II, and consequently cannot 

have been present at the alleged division of the claimed gas chamber into two 

rooms (end of 1943), nor when the alleged fake showerheads were installed in 

the basements of Crematoria II and III, so that his statements cannot be “eye-
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witness” accounts in this regard. This also applies to the following statement 

(P25): 

“Crematorium III was built in the same way as Crematorium II, with the dif-

ference that in this crematorium the cart for loading the corpses into the fur-

nace was not used right from the start.” 

3.2.9. The Gassing Procedure at Crematoria IV and V 

“In order to pour the ‘Zyklon’ into the chamber, there were hatches with 

grates in the walls at a height of approximately two meters, which could be 

closed hermetically with shutters.” (S6) 

“All [the rooms] had gas-tight doors, windows fitted with gratings on the out-

side that could be closed from the outside by gas-tight shutters. These small 

windows, which a standing man could reach with his hand raised, were used 

to pour the contents of the ‘Cyklon’ cans into the gas chambers filled with 

people.” (P26) 

In another study, I documented – also visually – that such a procedure would 

have been not only irrational and ridiculous, as Pressac had already pointed 

out (1989, p. 386), but actually decidedly impossible, already due to the fact 

that the grates installed in the side windows would have prevented anyone 

from pouring into the alleged gas chambers the contents of any Zyklon-B can, 

simply because the cans were larger than the space left by the bars of these 

grates (see Mattogno 2021a, pp. 170-179). 

3.3. Strength and Events of the Sonderkommando 

3.3.1. The Sonderkommando Strength in March/April 1943 

According to Tauber’s Soviet testimony, at the time when he was transferred 

to Crematorium I with a group of 20 Jewish inmates, 33 inmates were work-

ing there in total, 26 Jews and 7 Poles (S2). Therefore, 6 Jewish and 7 Polish 

inmates had already been employed there. In his Polish testimony, Tauber 

speaks instead of 7 Jewish and 3 Polish inmates (P2). 

According to his Soviet testimony, 9 detainees of the initial 20 were left 

alive at Crematorium I (S4), yet according to his Polish testimony, 12 of 22 

(P6), and 3 of 25 according to the testimony given to the Jewish Historical 

Commission. 

In March-April 1943, the staff of the crematoria allegedly amounted to 400 

persons, distributed as follows (S9): 

– Crematoria II and III: 240 inmates 

– Crematoria IV and V: 120 inmates 

– sick and miscellaneous workers: 40 inmates 
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However, Crematorium III was still under construction at the time,146 so 120 

inmates cannot have served there in March-April 1943. 

Tauber also says that the staff of the Sonderkommando was increased in 

May 1944 to 1,000 prisoners, divided up as follows (S10): 

– Crematorium II: 120 inmates 

– Crematorium III: 120 inmates 

– Crematorium IV: 60 inmates 

– Crematorium V: 300 inmates 

– “Separate Gas Chamber”: 300 inmates 

However, adding these figures together, we get a total of 900, not 1,000. On 

the other hand, according to extant documents, the maximum staff strength of 

the crematoria in 1944 was 925 inmates (Mattogno 2016a, pp. 141-150), not 

1,000. It was moreover distributed as follows on 1 August 1944:147 

Unit Designation Guards 
Skilled 

workers 

Unskilled 

workers 
Sums 

57-B Stokers Crematorium I Day 2 1 109 112 

57-B Stokers Crematorium I Night 3 / 104 107 

58-B Stokers Crematorium II Night 3 / 110 113 

58-B Stokers Crematorium II Day 3 / 110 113 

59-B Stokers Crematorium III Day 2 1 109 112 

59-B Stokers Crematorium III Night 3 / 110 113 

60-B Stokers Crematorium IV Night 3 / 109 112 

60-B Stokers Crematorium IV Day 3 1 109 113 

61-B Wood Unloaders Crem. IV / / 30 30 

 Totals: 22 3 900 925 
Note that the original document uses the Roman numerals I through IV for the 

Birkenau crematoria, whereas today they are usually numbered II through V. 

Hence, Tauber erroneously attributes 120 inmates to each of Crematoria II and 

III, and only 60 each to Crematoria IV and V. 

These documents especially refute the alleged presence of 300 inmates in 

Crematorium V and 300 inmates in the alleged “Bunker 2”. 

3.3.2. The Sonderkommando at the “Bunkers” 

According to Danuta Czech, the 300 inmates of the Sonderkommando who 

had carried out the cremation of the 107,000 corpses allegedly interred near 

the Birkenau Camp, were gassed on 3 December 1942 to eliminate “the wit-

nesses to the corpse burning” (Czech 1990, pp. 277f.). On 6 December 1942, a 

new Sonderkommando was allegedly established, of which Szlama Dragon 

was also a member (ibid., p. 280), who worked on the gassings and pit crema-

 
146 Crematorium III was handed over to the camp administration ready for operation on 24 June 

1943. 
147 This distribution is attested from 28 July to 9 August 1944; on 10 August the helpers dropped to 

870 because there were no more wood unloaders; Mattogno 2016a, pp. 141-145. 
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tions at “Bunker 2” for three full months, hence at least until mid-March 1943. 

In fact, Tauber states that at that time this Sonderkommando numbered 400 

people (P18), 70 of whom were sent to Crematorium II to remove the corpses 

from the first gassing (P16). However, as shown in the previous section, this 

does not fit in with the Sonderkommando, also of 400 inmates, who worked in 

Crematoria II-V. Thus, two Sonderkommandos existed in mid-March 1943, 

both with 400 inmates, one working at “Bunker 2,” and the other in the crema-

toria. According to the logic followed by witnesses and Polish post-war trials, 

the Sonderkommando in charge of the “bunker” should also have been exter-

minated, but instead everyone – witnesses, judges and historians (D. Czech) – 

forgot about that squad. Since these 400 inmates could not have joined the 

Sonderkommando of the crematoria, which already numbered 400 (so that its 

total strength would have risen to 800 inmates), they were “exterminated” 

without anyone noticing, which merely confirms that it was a purely fictitious 

Sonderkommando. 

3.3.3. The Alleged Gassing of 200 Sonderkommando Members 

According to Danuta Czech, on 23 September 1944, “200 Jewish prisoners in 

the Special Squad who are deployed to incinerate corpses in open pits are re-

moved – after the trenches are covered and graded […],” and were subse-

quently gassed (ibid., p. 715). These were “carriers of secrets” who had to be 

eliminated as such. 

This is in contradiction to what Tauber reported. In fact, he mentioned the 

gassing of 200 inmates of the Sonderkommando, but in a completely different 

context: it was carried out as a result of the attempted revolt of June 1944, ev-

idently preemptively discovered by the SS, whose first victim was Kapo Ka-

minski, who was shot (P23). 

The first source cited by Danuta Czech is the manuscript of Salmen Lew-

ental, which reads (Bezwińska/Czech 1992, p. 162): 

“But the day came when our situation became very serious, the reason being 

the transferring of our entire Kommando to crematoria II-IV. And since there 

was no ‘work’ there, we expected in the immediate future the Germans to 

come and take away a group of men from among us. And so it came to pass, 

200 men were taken, killed and cremated.” 

Here is a third version: the alleged elimination took place because there was 

no “work” in Crematoria II-IV in September 1944. 

All this is in further contradiction of what Tauber reported. In fact, he stat-

ed that both the “Gas Chamber No. 2 and the pyres next to it” and the “pyres 

at Crematorium 5” from May to October 1944 “worked intensively” (S10); 

therefore, on the one hand the “cremation pits” had not been filled with earth 

and leveled before 23 September, as Danuta Czech writes, and on the other 

hand there was a lot of “work” at that time, contrary to what Lewental states. 
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According to Tauber, moreover, there were at least 540 inmates working at 

the pits,148 while Danuta Czech mentions only 200. 

Extant documents show that on 7 September the staff of the crematoria 

amounted to 874 inmates, and on October 3 to 662, a decrease of 212 inmates 

(Mattogno 2016a, p. 149), but nothing shows that they were killed. In this re-

gard, Dragon’s account that I summarized earlier is very telling. 

According to Tauber, the alleged gassing took place at the Auschwitz Main 

Camp in the disinfestation chamber of the “Kanada” Inmate-Property Ware-

house (P23), which Pressac considers “impossible,” because the men of the 

Sonderkommando, who knew the alleged gas chambers of Birkenau well, 

would never have entered a gas chamber. Therefore, Pressac concludes (1989, 

p. 498): 

“This execution by gassing still remains to be proved.” 

3.3.4. The Alleged Transfer to Lublin-Majdanek 

The same uncertainty reigns over another purported event: the transfer of 300 

inmates of the Sonderkommando to Lublin-Majdanek. Tauber stated that this 

took place in January or February 1944, but provides no explanation for it 

(P23). 

Danuta Czech writes that this transfer occurred on 24 February 1944, and 

that it involved 200 inmates, not 300. In a footnote, she cites the explanation 

given by the witness Stanisław Jankowski: it was a reprisal for the escape of 

five Sonderkommando inmates, including one Daniel Obstbaum (Czech 1990, 

p. 588). Jankowski actually mentions this fact (without naming Obstbaum), 

but vaguely attributes it to early 1944 (Bezwińska/Czech 1992, p. 58). As a 

source, however, Danuta Czech refers to the manuscript of Salmen Lewental, 

who in turn reports on this transfer, but attributes it to the period of the Son-

derkommando uprising, thus to the beginning of October 1944, an error noted 

by Danuta Czech herself, who – together with Jadwiga Bezwińska – edited the 

second edition of this publication containing Lewental’s manuscript (ibid., p. 

157, FN 63). Needless to say, there is no document that attests to this alleged 

transfer, which also seems nonsensical: 200 prisoners are said to have been 

transferred from one death camp to be killed in another death camp! Not even 

Daniel Obstbaum’s escape is confirmed by any document, but is based exclu-

sively on testimonies (Świebocki, p. 222), which therefore creates a vicious 

circle of mutually contradicting testimonies, in which Danuta Czech becomes 

entangled. Whence she got the date 24 February 1944 is one of the many mys-

teries of her Auschwitz Chronicle (see Mattogno 2021a, pp. 44-52). 

 
148 300 inmates at “Bunker 2,” near Crematorium V likewise 300 inmates (S10), of which some 60 

were probably crematorium workers, as for Crematorium IV. 
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3.3.5. The Sonderkommando Revolt 

Tauber further stated that, after the attempted uprising in June 1944 and after 

the gassing of the above-mentioned 200 inmates, the situation of the 

remaining inmates became more and more serious and they were “watched 

and monitored with doubled vigilance” (P23), which would have been quite 

likely if there had really been an attempt at rebellion. On the other hand, the 

documents show that, on 30 August 1944, the 874 inmates who made up the 

crematorium staff were guarded by only 22 SS men, hence just one guard for 

every 40 inmates. On 3 October, after the alleged gassing of 200 inmates, 

there were 12 guards for 662 inmates, hence one guard for only every 55 

inmates (see Mattogno 2016a, pp. 148f.). So the SS not only had not doubled 

the number of guards in the crematoria, but had even decreased it by 72%! 

Tauber dated the alleged Sonderkommando revolt to September 1944 

(P24), while Czech insists in her Auschwitz Chronicle that this event took 

place on October 7 (Czech 1990, pp. 724-726). In the same context, Tauber 

spoke of the killing of 20-30 SS men, while there were only three alleged SS 

victims (ibid., p. 726), and claimed that Crematorium V was blown up, a fact 

which has not been established, as Pressac points out (1989, p. 498). 

There is no documented record of a Sonderkommando uprising, but the ex-

tremely small number of SS victims shows that the prisoners’ accounts are 

probably vastly exaggerated. On 3 October, the SS guards were distributed as 

follows (Mattogno 2016a, p. 150): 

Crematoria II and III: 

– 1 guard for 84 inmates during day shift 

– 3 guards for 85 inmates during night shift 

Crematorium IV: 

– 1 guard for 85 inmates during day shift 

– 2 guards for 85 inmates during night shift 

Crematorium V: 

– 1 guard for 70 inmates during day shift 

– 2 guards for 84 inmates during night shift 

On 7 October, the staff of the crematoria was distributed in the same way. 

Since the riot presumably broke out during the day, there were 84 inmates in 

Crematoria II and III, 85 inmates in Crematorium IV, and 70 inmates in 

Crematorium V against only one SS guard in each building. Despite this, the 

rioters overpowered and killed only three guards! 

In the testimony given to the Jewish Historical Commission of Krakow, 

Tauber contradicted himself once more by stating that the revolt was not start-

ed by the Sonderkommando, but by Hungarian Jews who, also in September 

1944, “rebelled and threw themselves on the SS,” and that the victims among 

the SS were not 20-30, but as many as 40! 
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3.3.6. The Survival Mystery of 90 Sonderkommando Members, Tauber 

Included 

In his testimony to the Jewish Historical Commission of Krakow, Tauber 

stated: 

“This Kommando was liquidated after a few months, and the men who were 

part of it were gassed. At the most, a few remained.” 

At that time, in fact, the story of the periodic liquidation of the Sonderkom-

mando members in order to eliminate dangerous “carriers of secrets” began 

spreading among the ex-prisoners. This, however, is in open contrast both 

with what Dragon has narrated and with the incomprehensible survival of 90 

Sonderkommando inmates who, instead of being shot, were transferred on foot 

together with the other inmates, giving them the opportunity to escape! 

On the other hand, assuming the classic life span of a Sonderkommando 

that recurs in this fable – 3-4 months – Tauber would have survived five to six 

exterminations – from mid-March 1943 to the end of October 1944, which 

was a total of 19 and a half months – what a lucky fellow! 

3.4. Crude Atrocities Propaganda: People Burned Alive 

Tauber also repeated the crudest propaganda themes invented by the Ausch-

witz underground resistance movement, in particular the most-gruesome one: 

of people burned alive. In his Soviet deposition, he asserted that a part of the 

Sonderkommando inmates were systematically killed by the SS “mainly by 

burning” (S9), which he then repeated again (S10). In his Polish deposition, he 

recounted some decidedly nonsensical episodes. I have already commented on 

the story of the fireproof sack. 

In his Polish testimony, Tauber developed this theme with various imagi-

native examples. If “dentists” neglected to extract a gold tooth from the 

mouths of corpses, this was considered sabotage “and the offending dentist 

was burned alive in a furnace”. Next, Tauber shamelessly invented this story 

(P16): 

“I personally witnessed a French Jewish dentist being burned in this way in 

Crematorium V. He defended himself and shouted, but the SS, there were a few 

of them, threw themselves on him, rendered him harmless, and put him alive in 

a furnace. The punishment of being burned alive was used quite often for the 

men of the Sonderkommando, […].” 

Two other no-less-imaginative stories follow (P17): 

“I also remember another case that took place in Crematorium No. V in Au-

gust of 1944. At that time a golden wedding ring and a watch were found on 

one of the ordinary workers, a Jew from Walbrom named Lejb, about 20 years 

old, dark-haired and wearing the number one hundred and eight thousand and 
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more, during the change of shifts. All the Sonderkommando personnel em-

ployed in the crematorium were then assembled, and before their eyes, he was 

hung with his hands tied behind [his back] from an iron bar above the gas 

generators. He hung in this position for about an hour; then, after his arms 

and legs had been untied, he was led into an unheated furnace in the cremato-

rium, where the ash box underneath was doused with gasoline and set alight, 

so that the flames reached the muffle in which this Lejb was standing. 

After a couple of minutes, the furnace was opened, and the doomed man es-

caped from it completely burned and was ordered to run around the courtyard 

of the crematorium and shout that he was a thief, then he was ordered to climb 

the barbed wires of the crematorium fence, which at that time, since it was 

daytime, was not electrified. When he was on top of the wires, the crematorium 

chief Moll shot him. Moll’s first name was Otto. 

Another time the SS chased an inmate who was dawdling at work at the 

crematorium into a pit in which there was boiling human fat. At that time, 

corpses were cremated in open-air pits, from which the fat flowed into a sepa-

rate tank dug into the earth. This fat was used to sprinkle on the corpses to 

speed up the burning process. This unfortunate man was pulled out of that 

grease tank still alive and was shot. To complete the formalities, the corpse 

was taken to the block, where the ‘Totenschein,’ was issued, and the corpse 

was taken to the crematorium area only the next day and cremated in a pit.” 

Here, the tragicomic thing is that Tauber claimed to have been an eyewitness 

to these grotesque propaganda stories. 

He further related that “[i]n many cases, he [Moll] threw people alive into 

the burning pits” (P22). Pressac “documented” this assertion by publishing a 

painting(!) by David Olère depicting Moll threatening with a pistol two wom-

en standing at the edge of a pit from which flames are rising (Pressac 1989, p. 

497). As I explained earlier, given the temperature of the burning pit, the two 

unfortunate women would have been burned alive without the need to throw 

themselves into the pit, and Moll himself would suffer the same fate (see Mat-

togno 2021a, pp. 126-129). 

Another propaganda tale is that of an Unterscharführer who very often “ar-

rived at the crematorium, and cut the fat meat off the corpses of those shot” 

and took it away (P24; see more such lurid tales in Mattogno 2021a, pp. 54-56). 

And here is a final tall tale worth a mention (P6): 

“I remember that Kapo Mietek asked Grabner to assign him a prisoner for 

work, because one of our group had died. Grabner replied that he could not 

give him a ‘Zugang,’ but if he killed four other Jews, he would give him five 

‘Zugang.’ He also asked Mietek what he beat the inmates with. Mietek showed 

him a stick. Grabner then grabbed an iron grate [sic] and told Mietek that he 

had to hit the inmates with this.” 

Such propagandistic nonsense does not even merit comment. 
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4. Szlama Dragon 

4.1. Dr. Mengele 

As Dragon asserted during the Soviet interrogation and reiterated in his Polish 

deposition, SS Hauptsturmführer Dr. (Camp Physician) Josef Mengele was 

already in Auschwitz at the beginning of December 1942: 

“The selection of people for cremation was the responsibility of the SS fascist 

Mengele, a doctor, and SS [man] Mol [Moll], who directed the mass cremation 

of people arriving from various countries and of various nationalities, regard-

less of gender and age.” (S2) 

“I arrived in Oświęcim on 7 December 1942 by train, in a transport of 2,500 

Jews of different genders and ages from the Mława Ghetto. At the station, this 

transport was received by Lagerführer Plage, Raportführer Palitsch and Camp 

Physician Mengele. Already at the station, they carried out the selection, sepa-

rating the women and children into one group, the men into another.” (P1) 

It is an established fact, however, that Mengele was transferred to Auschwitz 

only on 30 May 1943 (Lasik 1995, p. 289), by which time the alleged activity 

of the “bunkers” had ceased a few months earlier. This cannot be a harmless 

“confusion” (as expressed by Saletti, FN 3, p. 95), because the witness 

claimed to have known Mengele personally (P8): 

“He was a man of my height, I think he was about 40 years old, with brown 

hair.” 

Therefore, he could not have mistaken him for another SS medical officer. 

Tauber also invokes Mengele’s presence at Crematorium II in his description 

of the “first gassing” in that building, and concerning the alleged events that 

took place there until mid-April 1943: 

“From a window in the heating room, I observed how the ‘Cyklon’ was 

poured into the gas chamber. Each transport was followed by a car bearing 

the insignia of the Red Cross. The Camp Doctor Mengele and Rottenführer 

Scheimetz arrived in this car at the crematorium.” (P18) 

This Scheimetz (also mentioned by Dragon) is a fictional character, of whose 

existence there is no documentary evidence. Piper mentions him in his list of 

“SS Disinfectors, SS Paramedics and Other SS Members” but merely with a 

simple reference to Tauber’s sentence quoted earlier.149 Aleksander Lasik, in 

his documented article whose title translates to “The staffing of the SS sani-

 
149 Piper, “Anhang 1, Unmittelbar bei den Gaskammern und Krematorien eingesetzte SS-

Angehörige,” in: Długoborski/Piper 1999, Vol. III, p. 269. 
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tary service in the Auschwitz-Birkenau Concentration Camp in the years 

1940-1945” lists in alphabetical order 184 names, and devotes a generous 

page to Josef Mengele (Lasik 1997, p. 314), but does not mention Scheimetz 

at all. 

Linked to this fictional character is a similarly fictional anecdote, told by 

Tauber as follows (P19): 

“He then told him verbatim: ‘Scheimetz, gib ihnen das Fressen, sie sollen di-

reckt nach Kattowitz fahren.’[150] This meant that Scheimetz had to hurry up 

and pour the ‘Cyklon’ into the chamber.” 

The anecdote was therefore a known Auschwitz rumor bandied about among 

inmates, but the imaginary Scheimetz was known only to those witnesses who 

stayed at Auschwitz or returned there after the arrival of the Soviets. 

This rumor-mill anecdote was also known to the well-known impostor Mi-

klós Nyiszli, who reported it in two almost-identical versions (see Mattogno 

2020b, pp. 137, 159, 216): 

“On one occasion I chanced to hear the SS doctor urging his assistant: ‘Gib 

schon das Fressen den Juden!’” (“Give the fodder to the Jews!”) 

“‘Gib schon schneller das Fressen den Juden!’” (“Make haste giving the Jews 

the fodder!”)  

4.2. The “Bunkers” of Birkenau: the Term 

Szlama Dragon is the witness par excellence regarding the “bunkers” of 

Birkenau for the period December 1942-March 1943. Nevertheless, it is an in-

controvertible fact that, at the time of his Soviet interrogation, he still did not 

know the alleged name of the “bunkers”: the official name of the two alleged 

gassing installations was, he insisted, “gazokamery,” “gas chambers”: 

“It turned out that they had all been deceived: they were not escorted to a 

rubber factory but taken to two gas chambers. 

I, who was part of one of the two groups, was taken to the gas chamber which 

was called Gas Chamber No. 2, the second group was taken to Gas Chamber 

No. 1.” (S3) 

“In the gas chamber named Gas Chamber No. 1, there were two rooms, in Gas 

Chamber No. 2, there were 4.” (S4) 

A little less than two-and-a-half months later, the witness had learned that 

these alleged installations were now to be called “bunkers,” and in the relevant 

interrogation, he always used that very term: 

 
150 “Scheimetz, give them the fodder; they should go directly to Kattowitz”. 
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“This chamber was called Bunker No. 2. Apart from it, at a distance of about 

half a kilometer, there was another chamber that was called Bunker No. 1.” 

(P3) 

The designations of “little red house” (“czerwony domek”) and “little white 

house” (“biały domek”) for Bunkers 1 and 2 had not yet been invented, so 

Dragon never used them. 

4.3. Dragon’s Labor Activities 

Dragon’s personal fate after his alleged assignment to the Sonderkommando 

make no sense from an orthodox point of view. He declared in his Soviet 

deposition: 

“After working one day in Gas Chamber No. 2, I became ill, so I was assigned 

to cleaning and other work in Barracks No. 2. I worked in the barracks until 

May 1943, and then I was assigned to the job of collecting bricks from the 

brick basements and brick half-basements that had been blown up by the Ger-

mans. I worked there until February 1944; at the same time, I worked in Gas 

Chamber No. 2, for about two months, a few days in Gas Chamber No. 1.” 

(S4) 

“In February 1944 I was sent to work in Crematorium No. 4.” (S6) 

Hence, he worked in “Bunker 1” only one day, the first day to be precise, on 

11 December 1942. Then he fell ill, but instead of being gassed or liquidated 

with the classic shot in the back of the neck – as the orthodoxy insists was the 

inevitable fate of those who became unable to work – he was sent to do small 

jobs in Barracks No. 2, where he remained for five months, until May 1943. 

Then he was assigned to the Demolition Squad until February 1944, but “at 

the same time” – that is, between May 1943 and February 1944 – he worked 

for about two months in “Gas Chamber No. 2” and for a few days in “Gas 

Chamber No. 1”. However, this is in contrast to the fact that “[a]fter the con-

struction of the crematorium called No. 2 in Brzezinka [i.e., from April 1943 

according to Tauber], the barracks in Bunker No. 2 were dismantled, and the 

pits were filled in” (P5), so there was no more work to be done. 

Dragon clarified in his Polish interrogation (P6): 

“In the fall of the same year [1943], I was again employed by the Sonderkom-

mando. In between my work at the bunkers [and his reassignment to the Son-

derkommando] I was employed in the Abbruchkommando [Demolition 

Squad].” 

According to this version, the witness was no longer assigned to the “bunkers” 

in the fall of 1943, but was working in a crematorium, and evidently “at the 

same time” worked in the Demolition Squad until February 1944! 



118 C. MATTOGNO ∙ SONDERKOMMANDO AUSCHWITZ II 

If one were to deduce anything sensible from this account, he went from 

“Bunker 1” to “Barrack No. 2” (which, in the Polish version, becomes Block 

13, then Block 11, of Camp Sector BIId; P6) to the Demolition Squad, and at 

the same time worked at the Sonderkommando (of Crematorium IV, if we be-

lieve his Soviet deposition). He therefore had a great deal of contact opportu-

nities with other inmates. But here, another contradiction arises: the block in 

which the Sonderkommando was housed 

“was enclosed and surrounded by a wall to isolate it from the other blocks. 

We were not allowed to communicate with the inmates in another block.” (P4) 

Nevertheless, Dragon was sent to work for a few months with the Demolition 

Squad, so that he could safely tell the other prisoners the “terrible secrets” of 

the “bunkers” and Crematorium IV! 

But in this regard the witness further contradicted himself, asserting in his 

Polish deposition that the crematorium in question was actually Crematorium 

V (P6): 

“I worked at Crematorium No. V. until May 1944, [when] we were assigned to 

work in the gardens, to split wood, to transport coke, because at that time the 

furnaces of Crematorium No. V were not yet in operation. This crematorium 

was not put into operation until May 1944, when transports of Hungarian 

Jews began to arrive.” 

Rudolf Höss, about this crematorium, wrote (Höss, p. 215): 

“[Crematorium] Number IV had to be repeatedly shut down, since after its 

fires had been burning for from four to six weeks, the ovens or the chimneys 

burned out.” 

But Dragon did not mean a reactivation of the crematorium after the necessary 

repairs – which he never mentions – but rather its initial commissioning. 

In contradiction to this, he stated (P9): 

“At the beginning of May 1944, the gassing and cremation of Hungarian Jew-

ish transports began in Crematorium V. The gassed bodies of some of the first 

transports were cremated in the furnaces of Crematorium IV, because the 

chimneys of Crematorium V were damaged at the time. Eventually, the Hun-

garian Jews were burned in pits dug for this purpose at the building of Crema-

torium No. V.” 

How long did the witness serve at the “bunkers”? In 1942, as seen earlier, on-

ly one day at “Bunker 2”; in 1943 (from the month of May onwards), never, as 

the orthodox narrative has it that these facilities were not in operation between 

late March 1943 and mid-May 1944 (or not even existing anymore – Bunker 

1), despite Dragon’s false claim to the contrary. And in 1944, he either 

worked at “Bunker 2” not at all, or maybe two days (see Section 4.8.). 

Therefore, it must be acknowledged that he had exceptional mnemonic and 

descriptive abilities, because he describes with extreme detail a supposed in-
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stallation that he claims to have seen for only one day (Bunker 2), and another 

that he had never seen (Bunker 1)! 

4.4. The “Bunkers” of Birkenau: Enormous Contradictions 

Regarding these “bunkers,” Dragon’s statements during the Soviet and the 

Polish interrogations are in stark contrast, and not only because of the nomen-

clature. 

To Captain Levin, the witness stated that “Gas Chambers No. 1 and No. 2 

were about 3 kilometers apart” (S4), yet to Jan Sehn he said that this distance 

was “about half a kilometer” (P3). He did not explain whether these distances 

were as the crow flies or by road. If one refers to the actual location of the two 

“bunkers” as claimed by the orthodoxy, they were about 700 meters apart as 

the crow flies, about 1,700 m along the longer road.151 But this has no rele-

vance, because Dragon did not provide any indication as to where the alleged 

“bunkers” actually were located, an inexplicable fact if he really knew their 

locations: the alleged “Bunker 1” was in fact a house presumably located 

about 25 meters from the western fence of Construction Sector III, in the area 

between the sewage treatment plant and the north-western corner of the camp, 

while “Bunker 2” was located about 250 meters west of the Zentralsauna. 

Dragon adds that “from Barracks No. 14, all those selected for the Sonder-

kommando /Special Kommando/ were transferred to Barracks No. 2, which 

was located about one kilometer away from the gas chamber” (S3), but since 

there were two alleged “gas chambers,” such a description makes little sense. 

On the other hand, he does not even explain which route the Sonderkommando 

took to leave the Camp Sector BIIf in order to reach this “gas chamber”. 

In the Soviet interrogation, Dragon stated that the “gas chambers had been 

converted from two houses, whose windows had been made airtight” (S4), but 

in the Polish interrogation he stated that “the windows were bricked up” (P2). 

According to him, the “Gas Chamber No. 1” had two rooms, which could 

contain 1,500-1,700 people on an area of about 80 square meters (S5) – be-

tween 19 and 21 people per square meter! Dragon claimed moreover: 

“In each of the rooms of Gas Chamber No. 1, there were two doors: through 

one door, the naked people were brought in, and through the other, the corps-

es were brought out. […] Next to the door through which people entered was a 

square opening measuring 40 x 40 cm, through which Zyklon, which contained 

hydrogen cyanide, was poured into the chamber from a box.” (S4) 

However, in the drawing of “Bunker 1” created by Engineer Nosal on Drag-

on’s instructions, there are only one door and two small windows in each 

room (see Document 9). 

 
151 Not considering the “forest” shortcut, which saved about 300 meters. 
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“Bunker 2” is said to have had a floor surface of 100 square meters, and 

was supposedly divided into four gas chambers (S5), which could allegedly 

contain a total of 2,000 people (S5). In the Polish interrogation Dragon speci-

fied the capacities of the single chambers: 1,200, 700, 400, 200-250 people 

(P3), so that the total capacity was no longer 2,000, but 2,500 to 2,550 victims 

– 25 people per square meter! 

This absurd figure, however, makes it possible to calculate the floor areas 

of the individual rooms, which turn out to be 48, 28, 16 and 8 square meters. 

If the width of the small house was about 8 meters, as Franciszek Piper 

claims,152 the last room was a narrow corridor 1 meter wide! 

Since that was a time of supposedly immense exterminations – 10,000 to 

12,000 victims, or some four gassings a day (S7) – this nonsensical four-part 

division of “Bunker 2,” which would only have created obstacles and difficul-

ties, refers to that stubborn attitude, both by witnesses and historians, whereby 

the nonsense described by the witnesses is blamed on the SS, as if they were a 

bunch of imbeciles. 

In front of Judge Sehn, the witness significantly revised the capacity of the 

alleged gas chambers: 

“The capacity of Bunkers No. 1 and 2 was about 4,000 people. Bunker No. 2 

could hold more than 2,000 persons in all of its gas chambers at the same 

time, Bunker No. 1 less than 2,000.” (P6) 

However, the capacity of “Bunker 1” in the Soviet interrogation was 1,500 to 

1,700 persons, that of “Bunker 2” in the Polish interrogation was 2,500 to 

2,550. 

To the Soviets, the witness stated (S4): 

“About 500 meters away from Gas Chamber No. 1 were two standard wooden 

barracks, and at a distance of 150 meters from Gas Chamber No. 2 were two 

more similar barracks.” 

In contrast to this, in the Polish interrogation he stated: 

“Two wooden shacks were located at a distance of about 30-40 meters from 

that little house [Bunker 2].” (P2) 

“In the vicinity of Bunker 1 was a small barn and 2 barracks.” (P3) 

Probably someone had pointed out to him that only a demented person would 

have placed the undressing shacks 500 meters (but also 150) from the alleged 

gas chambers, having then to escort and guard in the middle of the surround-

ing fields and forests very large groups of naked victims, in fact, some 1,500 

to 2,500 of them. 

 
152 Piper 2000, p. 139. According to Piper, the exterior measurements of the cottage were 8.34 m × 

17.07 m. The interior area, excluding the perimeter walls, was approximately 122 square meters. 
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4.5. The Cremation Pits at the “Bunkers” 

Dragon also became entangled in further contradictions about the cremation 

pits, beginning with their location. In the Soviet deposition he said: 

“500 meters away from Gas Chamber No. 1, there were four pits where the 

people were burned, […].” (S5) 

“At a distance of 150 meters from Chamber No. 2, there were 6 pits of the ex-

act same size as those [located] at Chamber No. 1.” (S6) 

To Judge Sehn, however, he recounted: 

“In the vicinity of Bunker 1 there was a small barn and 2 barracks. The pits 

were located far away […].” (P3) 

“Two wooden shacks were located at a distance of about 30-40 meters from 

that little house [Bunker 2]. On the other side there were 4 pits, […].” (P2) 

Since the expression “in the vicinity of Bunker 1” in relation to the two bar-

racks corresponds to 500 meters in the Soviet interrogation, it must be inferred 

that “far away” designated a distance even greater than 500 meters. 

In the Soviet interrogation, “Gas Chamber No. 1” was equipped with four 

cremation pits measuring 30-35m × 7-8 m × 2 m, with a capacity of 7,000-

8,000 bodies per day (S5). Gas Chamber No. 2, on the other hand, had six pits, 

with a capacity of at least 10,000 bodies per day (S6). Dragon goes on to ex-

plain that 

“In 24 hours, in all 10 pits, an average of no [less than] 17,000-18,000 per-

sons were burned, but on certain occasions the number of persons cremated in 

24 hours amounted to 27,000-28,000 persons, arriving by transport from vari-

ous countries and belonging to various nationalities, especially Jews.” (S6) 

These statements are nothing short of delusional. It should be remembered 

that Dragon refers to the period from the beginning of December 1942 to the 

beginning of March 1943. According to Czech’s Auschwitz Chronicle, the 

peak of extermination activity was reached in January 1943, with about 

45,000 killed during that month, an average of about 1,450 per day. For Drag-

on, however, the daily average of the exterminated was 17,000-18,000, with 

peaks of 27,000-28,000! This means that in the three months of activity of the 

“bunkers” (early December 1942 through early March 1943, the period cov-

ered by Dragon’s “eyewitness testimony”) an average of (17,000 to 18,000 

bodies/day × 30 days/month × 3 months =) about 1,530,000 to 1,620,000 Jews 

were killed and cremated outdoors, but the total number of Jews deported to 

Auschwitz amounted only to about 97,000.153 

In the Polish interrogation, Dragon adjusted the number and dimensions of 

the cremation pits: there were no longer six pits near “Bunker 2” but only 

 
153 Piper 1993, Table titled “Die Transporte mit Juden nach Auschwitz aus den einzelnen Ländern 

von 1940 bis 1945”. 
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four, and they no longer measured 30-35 m × 7-8 m × 2 m, but 30 m × 7 m × 

3 m (P2), but he did not dare to repeat the previous absurdities. For “Bunker 

1,” he did not even indicate the number of pits, nor did he mention their ca-

pacity. 

What is more, all his crazy claims about the pit’s capacities are rendered 

meaningless by this statement of his: 

“We emptied the ash pits generally about 48 hours after cremation.” (P4) 

This means that the pits were idle for two out of three days, so it makes no 

sense to talk about daily capacities. It should also be noted that the witness 

didn’t quite get the cock-and-bull story of human-fat recovery straight (see 

Mattogno 2021a, pp. 126-129), because he stated, rather puerilely: 

“The human fat came from the pits in which people were burned through spe-

cial channels that went to another small pit, where the fat dripped, which was 

collected by the SS themselves.” (S6) 

According to the common delusional testimonies on this, the task of scooping 

the boiling fat (and getting broiled in the process) obviously is said to have 

fallen to the inmates of the Sonderkommando. 

4.6. Extermination Technique of “Bunker 1” 

4.6.1. Tasks of the Sonderkommando Inmates 

The Sonderkommando of “Gas Chamber No. 2,” according to Dragon, was 

divided up as follows (S3): 

– 12 inmates (among them Dragon) removed the bodies from the gas cham-

bers 

– 10 inmates carried the corpses to the carts 

– 30 inmates loaded the corpses onto the carts 

– 20 inmates threw the corpses into the pits 

– 28 inmates carried wood to the pits 

– 2 inmates removed gold teeth, rings, etc. from the corpses 

– 2 inmates cut the hair of the corpses 

The total is 104 inmates, but “110-120 people were working at the clearing of 

Chamber No. 2 and the burning of the corpses” (S6). 

According to Dragon, 200 inmates were selected on 10 December 1942 for 

the Sonderkommando of the “bunkers” (S2), of which precisely 110-120 were 

assigned to “Gas Chamber No. 2,” so that 80-90 inmates remained for “Bun-

ker 1,” even less than the 104 mentioned above. 

Although he had only worked in “Bunker 2,” Dragon strangely described 

in more detail the removal and cremation of the corpses from “Bunker 1,” alt-

hough he did not indicate the division of duties in that case. In what follows, I 

base myself on that of “Gas Chamber No. 2”. 
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The four (or maybe six) pits were connected to the “bunker” by a narrow-

gauge railway on which five cars moved, each carrying 25-30 corpses. The 

transport (round trip) took about 20 minutes and in 24 hours 7,000-8,000 

corpses were cremated (S5). 

4.6.2. Corpse Removal from the Gas Chambers 

On this point Dragon states: 

“The removal of the corpses from the chamber, as I have already explained, 

was carried out in turn by 12 persons, every 15 minutes [they] removed them 

in [sets of] 6 persons.” (S5) 

“When we declared in spite of this lesson that we could not manage to work 

like this, he [Moll] divided us up in groups of two.” (P2) 

The 12 inmates were divided into two groups of six, who took turns working 

every 15 minutes, so that there were always six inmates working in the alleged 

gas chambers; since they worked in pairs, these six inmates transported three 

corpses at a time. How many transports of corpses were necessary to empty 

the alleged gas chamber? According to Dragon, the chamber contained 1,500-

1,700 people (S5; in the Polish statement “less than 2,000,” P3,6), but within 

“24 hours, 7,000-8,000 people were burned in the pits” of “Bunker 1” (S5), 

which corresponds to four gassings of 1,750-2,000 people each. 

Assuming the minimum figure of 1,750 per gassing batch, each pair of in-

mates would have to make (1,750 ÷ 3 =) 583 trips (of three corpses by six in-

mates). The time indicated by the witness is two to three hours (S5). On the 

basis of the maximum duration – 3 hours or 180 minutes – one transport 

would have taken (180 ÷ 583 =) 0.31 minutes, hence about 19 seconds, which 

also includes the time lost due to the 11 changes of personnel every 15 

minutes. 

Bunker 1, according to the plan drawn up by Engineer Nosal on the basis 

of Dragon’s statements, had two gas chambers each with one single door for 

both entry and exit, accessed via a staircase of 7-8 steps (visible on Nosal’s 

drawing; see Document 9). However, this does not correspond to Dragon’s 

description (S4): 

“In each of the rooms of Gas Chamber No. 1, there were two doors: through 

one door, the naked people were brought in, and through the other, the corps-

es were brought out.” 

The fact remains, however, that each room had only one door for removing 

the bodies, which could be passed through by only one pair of inmates at a 

time. Therefore, depending on the pace of work, the other two pairs had to 

queue up to pass through it in turn. Under such conditions, removing a corpse 

every 19 seconds is a blatant absurdity. 

That this is a purely fictitious story is also demonstrated by the fact that the 

shifts are completely incongruous with the structure of the “bunker”: since the 
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bunker had two rooms, the six detainees who alternated every 15 minutes 

could not work three to a room, because they worked in pairs; as a result, four 

worked in one room and two in the other – an inefficient and senseless organi-

zation of work. 

During the Soviet interrogation, Dragon declared that “clearing of the 

chamber lasted 2-3 hours” (S5), but in 1993, when asked by Gideon Greif how 

long it took to carry the corpses out of the house (Greif, p. 136), Dragon re-

lied: 

“We worked almost all day long.” 

4.6.3. Transporting the Corpses to the Cremation Pits 

When the work of clearing the chambers was finished, ten inmates transported 

the corpses piled up outside the gas chambers next to the carts, presumably al-

so in pairs, so each pair had to move (7,000 to 8,000 ÷ 5 =) 1,400 to 1,600 

corpses per day; it is not known how long that took. Then another 30 inmates 

loaded the corpses onto the five carts, 25-30 in each, and made the trip to the 

pits and back in about 20 minutes. Each transport thus comprised a maximum 

of (5 carts × 30 bodies/cart =) 150 corpses, and the transport of all the bodies 

took a total of (7,000 to 8,000 ÷ 150 =) 46 to 53 trips, or (46 to 53 trips × 20 

min =) 920-1,060 minutes, or 15.3 to 17.7 hours. 

How did the carts move? Were they human-powered, or was there a small 

locomotive? Dragon did not clarify this essential point; fortunately, he did so 

in his 1993 interview with Gideon Greif. On that occasion, he clearly stated 

that the carts were pushed by hand by the inmates: 

“Another group gathered up bodies and put them on trolleys that ran on a 

track. Others wheeled the trolleys to the edge of the pits.” (ibid., pp. 137f.) 

“We took the bodies from the hut to the pits in carts and threw them in…” 

(ibid., p. 136) 

A self- proclaimed colleague of Dragon, Eliezer Eisenschmidt, who arrived at 

Auschwitz in a different (Reg. No. 80765) and was also assigned to the Son-

derkommando, declared in an interview with Greif, also in 1993 (ibid., p. 

223): 

“For example, six men pushed the carts that carried the bodies, […]” 

Another self-proclaimed companion in misfortune of Dragon, who according 

to himself worked at the Sonderkommando of the “bunker,” Maurice Benrou-

bi, outlined the following picture (Pressac 1989, p. 162): 

“We marched 200 metres and stopped in a clearing. Two SS officers were 

there and gave orders to the SS men. Further on about one hundred Sonder-

kommando men were pushing platforms of 3m by 2m mounted on wheels 
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[…154] and on these platforms there were corpses lying one on top of the other. 

They put them in front of graves about 20m long, 3m wide and 2.50m deep.” 

Leaving aside further contradictions (starting with the dimensions of the pits, 

which for Dragon were 30-35 m × 7-8 m × 2 or 30 m × 7 m × 3 m), it is an-

other fact that Dragon, in his tall tale, forgot precisely the team that must have 

been assigned to pushing the carts, and also the team that would have been as-

signed to their unloading, which must have been more or less equal to the 

team assigned to their loading, i.e., 30 prisoners. 

The five carts each contained at least (25 bodies × 60 kg/body155 =) 1,500 

kg of bodies, a total of 7,500 for five carts, plus the weight of the five carts 

themselves – at least another 2,500 kg,156 for a total of 10,000 kg or ten metric 

tons. How many inmates would it have taken to push this load 150 meters? 

And how long would it have taken? Dragon childishly simplifies these issues, 

and this is another indication that his account is not about real events. 

4.6.4. Fuel Wood for Burning Corpses 

Dragon stated that “28 persons to carry wood to the pits to cremate the corps-

es” (S3), but does not explain either how much wood was needed for each pit, 

where it was taken from, or how it was transported there. 

For the open-air incineration of a corpse of about 60 kg, a minimum quan-

tity of 160 kg of dry wood is assumed157 (or about 300 kg, if green wood is 

used).158 Therefore, for the cremation of the claimed 7,000 to 8,000 daily gas-

sing victims, the wood consumption would have been 1,120,000 to 1,280,000 

kg of dry wood and 2,100,000 to 2,400,000 of green wood. It follows that 

each of the above 28 wood carriers would have had to bring to the pyres from 

a minimum of (1,120,000 ÷ 28 =) 40 metric tons of wood to a maximum of 

(2,400,000 ÷ 28 =) about 85.7 metric tons of wood every day. These figures 

are so enormous that they alone expose Dragon’s tale as completely made up. 

For example, if somehow each wood-carrying inmate had brought 100 kg of 

wood to the pits every five minutes (outward journey, loading of wood, 

transport to the pits, unloading), it would have taken at least (40,000 kg ÷ 100 

kg × 5 min =) 2,000 minutes, or over 33 hours per 24-hour day! 

 
154 Pressac’s comments omitted. 
155 Average weight of a corpse according to Pressac (1989, p. 475) and van Pelt (pp. 470, 472). 
156 The small mining carts intended to be moved by men or horses weighed no more than 2,000 kg 

when fully loaded; the medium ones had a gross weight of 3,200 kg, and the large ones about 
5,000, with a cart weight of 1,400 kg (Martelli, pp. 276, 280). From these data, based on the ratio 
wagon weight/gross weight, it can be deduced that the smallest wagon weighed about 500 kg and 
carried 1,500 kg. 

157 See Mattogno/Kues/Graf, pp. 1291f. 
158 Ibid., p. 1296. I assume a calorific value of 3,700 kcal/kg for dry wood and 1,900 kcal/kg for 

green wood. 
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4.7. Extermination Technique of “Bunker 2” 

According to Dragon’s Soviet deposition, the pits at “Gas Chamber No. 2” 

had a capacity of 10,000 victims per day. Here, the clearing of the four rooms 

took “no more than two hours” (S), because it was carried out through the 

entrance and exit doors, since “the narrow-gauge railway ran on both sides of 

Gas Chamber No. 2, next to the doors” (S6). However, in Engineer Nosal’s 

drawing of “Bunker 2,” the railroad runs past only the exit doors (named 

“W1-4”; see Document 10). 

I already noted earlier that Nosal’s drawings are also incorrect regarding 

the number of doors of the alleged gas chambers of “Bunker 1,” but Dragon 

made an explicit reference to this drawing (P3): 

“The chamber I described was accurately drawn on the basis of my statements 

by Engineer Nosal, from Oświęcim. This chamber was called Bunker No. 2.” 

The fact that the witness did not notice such gross errors is inexplicable. 

The removal of corpses was carried out by the twelve aforementioned in-

mates who worked alternately (every 15 minutes) in three pairs. This division 

is also inconclusive, because if there were ten doors for the extraction of 

corpses (the five exit doors plus the five entrance doors), it would have been 

rational and efficient to assign 20 inmates to “Bunker 2” working in 10 pairs, 

one for each door. 

The capacity of 10,000 victims per day corresponds to five fully loaded 

gassing batches of 2,000 people each. Removing the bodies of one gassing 

took no more than two hours, or 120 minutes. It follows that each pair of in-

mates had to remove (2,000 ÷ 3 =) 667 bodies within 120 minutes, hence one 

body in (120 ÷ 667 =) 0.20 minutes or 12 seconds (or (667 ÷ 120 =) 5.5 bodies 

per minute), including seven breaks for shift changes. 

After that, five pairs of inmates had to transport the 10,000 daily corpses to 

the carts, and another five pairs had to load them onto the carts. However, 

since the narrow-gauge railway passed in front of the exit doors of the gas 

chambers, the corpses would be piled up in the space between, as is clear from 

Engineer Nosal’s drawing mentioned earlier. In practice, the unit of ten in-

mates in charge of transporting the corpses to the carts would have been com-

pletely useless, as the carts are said to have stopped right in front of the doors. 

Only the unit of loaders of the carts would have been necessary. 

The six cremation pits were located 150 meters away from the “bunker.” A 

narrow-gauge railway with 7-8 carts ran from the one to the other (S5f.), 

which must be assumed to be the same as those of “Gas Chamber No. 1.” If 

there were eight carts, since the largest gas chamber had a floor area almost 

equal to that of the other three combined (48 versus 52 square meters), even 

the least-capable work organizer would have placed four wagons in front of 

Door W1, two in front of Door W2 and one each in front of Doors W3 and 



C. MATTOGNO ∙ SONDERKOMMANDO AUSCHWITZ II 127 

W4, and then put them together in a single convoy, once the loading was fin-

ished. 

These eight carts would have had a maximum load of (25 bodies/carts × 8 

carts =) 200 corpses at a time, equivalent to (200 bodies × 60 kg/body =) 

12,000 kg, plus another 4,000 kg for the carts, as explained earlier, for a total 

of 16 metric tons. The transport of 10,000 corpses therefore required (10,000 

÷ 200 =) 50 fully loaded trips of 150 meters, and as many empty return trips, 

pushing 16 metric tons on the outward trip and four tons on the return trip. 

As I noted earlier, Dragon forgot the unit who had to push the carts, and al-

so the one who had to unload them near the pits. 

How many inmates would have been needed to push these 16-ton trains 

(loaded) or 4-ton trains (empty)? And how long would the entire operation 

have taken? 

I noted already earlier that the breakdown of the work assigned to the in-

mates of the Sonderkommando shows 104 people, while the total group is said 

to have amounted to 110-120. It follows that for this job, undoubtedly the 

most-difficult and -strenuous, somewhere between 6 and 16 inmates remained 

available. According to the maximum figure, 16 inmates would have had to 

push eight carts weighing a total of 16 tons over a distance of 150 meters, 

which is equivalent to two metric tons for each pair of inmates. – A decidedly 

impossible feat. 

In his Polish deposition, the witness inexplicably reduced the number of 

“dentist” and “barber” inmates from two to one (P2). When considering the 

organization of labor, only a demented person would have planned to have on-

ly two barbers cut the hair off the bodies of the (10,000 × 40% =) 4,000 

gassed women, and only two dentists check the mouths of the (10,000 × 80% 

=) 8,000 adult corpses to locate and extract any gold teeth.159 

4.8. “Bunker 2” in 1944 

Dragon also made contradictory statements regarding the activity at “Bunker 

2” in 1944: 

“After the construction of the crematorium called No. 2 in Brzezinka, the bar-

racks at Bunker No. 2 were dismantled, and the pits were filled in. The bunker 

itself was maintained until the end, and after a very long pause, it was used 

again for the gassing of the Hungarian Jews. Then new barracks were built 

and [more] pits were dug. At that time, they worked in two shifts in this bun-

ker, meaning day and night. I myself worked there, I think, two days.” (P5) 

“However, since [more and] more Hungarian Jews were arriving by transport, 

Bunker No. 2 was put back into operation, and people were gassed and burned 

 
159 The percentages adopted are explained in Chap. 4.12.2. 
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there. I do not know how many people were burned every day in this bunker, 

because during the period in which the Hungarian Jews were cremated there, 

I was not working in Bunker No. 2.” (P9) 

“I calculate the number of those gassed in the two bunkers and four cremato-

ria at over 4 million. This was also the opinion of the other prisoners em-

ployed in the Sonderkommando.” (P10) 

In summary, the witness did not work in “Bunker 2” during the alleged gas-

sing of the Hungarian Jews, but at the same time worked there for maybe two 

days. He did not know the daily number of victims of this installation in 1944, 

but he could “calculate” the total number of victims including those of the two 

“bunkers” at 4 million! 

Dragon specified (P9): 

“Both the Sonderkommando working in Crematorium V and the Sonderkom-

mando working in Bunker No. 2 worked in two shifts: day and night. This work 

lasted for the months of May and June.” 

But the day before, he stated that this intensive work in two shifts had lasted 

not two, but three months (P7): 

“During the period when the Hungarian transports arrived, we worked at 

Crematorium V in two shifts. The day shift from 6:30 am to 6:30 pm, the night 

shift from 6:30 pm to 6:30 am the next day. This work lasted 3 months.” 

In further contradiction to this, he claimed in his Soviet deposition that the 

culmination of the simultaneous extermination in all crematoria and pits alleg-

edly took place “In May, June, July and August 1944,” hence for 4 months 

(S8). 

The fact that Dragon, in 1944, had never worked at “Bunker 2” (or had 

worked there maybe for two days) is no excuse for his confusion or ignorance 

in this regard, because, as I pointed out earlier, although he had never worked 

at all at “Bunker 1,” that didn’t stop him from describing it in great detail. 

4.9. Crematoria IV and V 

4.9.1. Dragon’s Activity at Crematoria IV and V 

At the end of May 1944, Dragon was transferred with the entire Sonderkom-

mando from Block 11 of Camp Sector BIId to Crematorium IV, where he was 

in charge of loading the muffles (“I, and together with me 4 other persons, 

carried /introduced/ the corpses into the cremation furnaces”; S6). 

In this regard, however, the witness made conflicting statements (P6): 

“I worked at Crematorium No. V. until May 1944, [when] we were assigned to 

work in the gardens, to split wood, to transport coke, because at that time the 

furnaces of Crematorium No. V were not yet in operation. This crematorium 
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was not put into operation until May 1944, when transports of Hungarian 

Jews began to arrive.” 

Hence, if he was transferred to Crematorium IV at the end of May 1944, how 

could he work at Crematorium V until May 1944? The witness also said that 

“[a]round July or August 1944, Crematorium No. 4 did not work [anymore], 

due to a failure of the chimneys” (S7f.), but then he forgot about it again, be-

cause shortly thereafter he declared (S8f.): 

“In May, June, July and August 1944, the cremation of corpses was carried 

out simultaneously in all crematoria and on the pyres in the pits, because eve-

ry day there was a great influx of people – 5-7 transports. In these months, all 

transports arrived from Hungary. The furnaces of the crematoria alone could 

not cremate the people gassed in the gas chambers.” 

For Tauber, on the other hand, Crematorium IV did not have any failures 

(P27): 

“Since it was felt that the pits were better suited for cremating corpses, the 

crematoria were closed down when cremations in the pits began. First, Crem-

atorium IV was shut down, I think in June 1944, then in October 1944, I think, 

Crematoria II and III.” 

4.9.2. Cremation Pits Nearby 

Regarding the cremation pits at Crematorium V, Dragon stated in his Polish 

deposition: 

“This work lasted 3 months. However, as the crematoria were not very pro-

ductive, pits were dug next to Crematorium V for the cremation of the gassed 

Hungarians. There were 3 larger and 2 smaller pits. The burning process in 

the pits at Crematorium V was the same as at Bunkers 1 and 2.” (P7) 

“Eventually, the Hungarian Jews were burned in pits dug for this purpose at 

the building of Crematorium No. V. Five pits were dug there, 25 meters long, 6 

meters wide and 3 meters deep. About 5,000 people were burned in the pits 

every day.” (P9) 

So, were the pits all the same size, or were they different? 

The four pits near “Bunker 1” measured 30-35 m in length, 7-8 m in width, 

were 2 m deep, and had a daily capacity of 7,000-8,000 bodies. Assuming the 

highest values, this results in pits of 35 m × 8 m × 2 m = 560 cubic meters 

with a capacity of 2,000 bodies per day each. 

The five pits at Crematorium 5 had a capacity of 1,000 bodies per day 

each, and a volume of (25 m × 6 m × 3 m =) 450 cubic meters, equivalent to 

80% of those at “Bunker 1”. Their capacity should therefore have been (2,000 

bodies/day × 0.8 =) 1,600 bodies per day, instead, incomprehensibly, it was 

1,000. 
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4.9.3. Number and Capacities/Dimensions of the Gas Chambers 

At the time of the Soviet interrogation, Dragon only knew of three gas cham-

bers in Crematoria IV and V (S12), but he told Judge Sehn (P6): 

“At first, there were 3 gas chambers, but later a fourth was installed. The first 

could hold 1,500, the second 800, the third 600, and the fourth 150 people.” 

Hence a total capacity of 3,050 persons. 

According to this building’s Construction Plan 2036 of 11 January 1943 

(Pressac 1989, p. 399), the rooms in question had the following dimensions: 

1. 12.35 m × 7.72 m = 95.3 m2 

2. 11.69 m × 8.40 m = 98.2 m2 

3. 11.69 m × 3.70 m = 43.2 m2 

Room 3 is then said to have been divided lengthwise into two unequal parts, 

the dimensions of which are unknown (Piper 2000, p. 162). 

Since the total area of the alleged gas chambers was about 236.7 m², this 

results in a victim density of about 13 persons per square meter (to be exact: 

12.88/m²). The following contradictory values can be derived from the 

claimed capacities given by Dragon for each of the chambers: 

 
Area 

Claimed 

Capacity 

Claimed 

Density 

Capacity 

at 13/m² 

Claimed 

% Capacity 
% Area 

Room 1 95.3 1,500 16 1,228 49.2 40.3 

Room 2 98.2 800 8 1,265 26.2 41.5 

Room 3 43.2 750 17 557 24.6 18.2 

Totals 236.7 3,050  3,050 100 100 

The division of the capacity of the gas chambers is clearly nonsensical: the re-

sulting density is about 13 people per square meter, but multiplying this value 

by the real area of the individual rooms, you get three different densities of 16, 

8 and 17 people per square meter. If one then multiplies Dragon’s density by 

the real floor area of the rooms, one obtains three results in open contrast with 

those given by him regarding capacity: 1,228, 1,265 and 557 persons. Finally, 

if one calculates the ratio between partial and total capacity, one obtains per-

centages corresponding to the floor areas of the individual rooms (e.g. 1,500 ÷ 

3,050 = 49.2%) which are different than those resulting from the ratio between 

the floor areas of the individual rooms and the total floor area (e.g. 95.3 m² ÷ 

236.7 m² = 40.2%). Therefore, we are not dealing with real data here, but with 

ill-conceived fabrications. 

This is also confirmed by the fact that the density of victims in the “bun-

kers” (of 80 m² and 100 m², respectively) was 19-21/m² for “Bunker 1” 

(1,500-1,700 persons) and 20/m² for “Bunker 2” (2,000 persons) according to 

Dragon’s Soviet deposition, but 20-25/m² (2,000 to 2,500-2,550 persons) ac-

cording to his Polish statement. 
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4.9.4. Impossible Gassing Technique 

In another study, I documented that the gassing technique allegedly used in 

Crematorium IV and V as described by Tauber, Dragon and also Jankowski is 

impossible, because both Tauber and Dragon mentioned the actual grates that 

protected the small windows allegedly used to introduce Zyklon B, which 

made it impossible to stick a Zyklon-B can through that opening in order to 

pour its contents into the gas chamber (see Mattogno 2021a, pp. 170-179). 

Oddly enough, here the two witnesses used almost the same words. Tauber 

(S6): 

“In order to pour the ‘Zyklon’ into the chamber, there were hatches with 

grilles in the walls at a height of approximately two meters, which could be 

closed hermetically with shutters.” 

Dragon (S12): 

“In order to pour the Zyklon, on the outer walls of the gas chambers, at a 

height of about 2 meters, were arranged hatches with grilles, which could be 

closed hermetically with covers.” 

Here I will refer to Jean-Claude Pressac’s assessment on the claimed gassing 

technique in Crematoria IV and V, which he expressed already in 1982 (1982, 

p. 125): 

“Industrially [= for mass extermination purposes], the course of operations is 

aberrant.” 

He attributed this aberration to the fact that Crematoria IV and V had not been 

conceived as criminal instruments, but had been “transformed to this end” 

(ibid., p. 126). This implies, however, that the SS technicians of the Central 

Construction Office must have been complete idiots, completely incapable of 

finding an efficient and rational solution to this alleged transformation, start-

ing with the basic and essential device: a mechanical ventilation system. In-

deed, both Tauber and Dragon agreed on its absence. Tauber (S7): 

“Furthermore, in the gas chambers of Crematoria Nos. 4 and 5, there was no 

ventilation [system], so the ventilation of the chambers was carried out by 

opening doors and small windows.” 

Dragon (S12): 

“Furthermore, in the gas chambers of Crematoria Nos. 4-5, there was no ven-

tilation [system], so the ventilation of the chambers was done by opening the 

doors and [window] openings.” 

Without these devices, the passive ventilation of the alleged gas chambers 

through the three doors and seven exterior windows would have required days 

(Mattogno 2019, pp. 154-156), making continuous gassings impossible. 

The aberration noted by Pressac was thus the inevitable fruit of the aber-

rant fantasies of these self-proclaimed eyewitnesses. 
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4.9.5. Cremation Capacity 

The cremation capacity of the 8-muffle furnace of Crematorium IV/V asserted 

by Dragon is in disagreement with that indicated by Tauber, who in this re-

gard stated: 

“In each crematorium, there was an 8-muffle furnace. 4-5 persons were intro-

duced into each muffle. The duration of cremation was 35 minutes. One fur-

nace cremated 1,200-1,500 people per day.” (S6) 

This corresponds on average to (8 muffles × 4.5 bodies/Muffle × 21 hrs × 60 

min/hr ÷ 35 min ≈) about 1,300 bodies per day. Dragon instead said: 

“These two crematoria had 4 furnaces on two sides. Three corpses were 

placed in each furnace.” (P6) “The cremation took 15-20 minutes.” (P7) 

This results in an average capacity of (8 muffles × 3 bodies/muffle × 21 hrs × 

60 min/hr ÷ 17.5 min ≈) approximately 1,730 bodies per day. 

According to Dragon, the four crematoria at Birkenau could cremate 

10,000-12,000 corpses per day (S7) – which is simple nonsense, arithmetically 

based on the equally insane starting figures of 3-5 corpses cremated in one 

muffle within 15-20 minutes (rather than one corpse per muffle per hour) – 

plus another 5,000 in the cremation pits at Crematorium V (P9). The total ca-

pacity of these facilities was therefore 15,000 to 17,000 bodies – sheer mad-

ness. 

4.9.6. Furnace Loading System 

In Soviet interrogation, Dragon stated (S6): 

“The corpses were brought into the furnace on iron stretchers which were 

placed on frames. On a stretcher, we put 3 and 2 corpses at a time. In each 

furnace [=muffle], 5 corpses were introduced. The corpses were put into the 

furnace  [=muffle] from the iron stretchers by means of special hooks, after 

which the stretchers were pulled out.” 

This means that two immediately consecutive loading procedures were carried 

out, one with three corpses, the other with two more. Based on the same dura-

tion of 15-20 minutes, the cremation capacity of Crematoria IV/V would have 

increased to about 3,300 corpses per day. 

In his Polish deposition, Dragon gave further explanations about the sys-

tem of introducing corpses into the muffles (P7): 

“We placed the corpses on the stretchers in this way: when the first one lay 

with its head forward, we placed the second one with its head back. In each 

furnace we loaded three corpses. When we loaded the third corpse, those [the 

two corpses] introduced earlier were already burning. I saw that the arms of 

these corpses were raised, then the legs were raised. Besides, we were pro-

ceeding very quickly, and I could not accurately observe the entire burning 

process. We had to hurry, because if the extremities of these already burning 

corpses rose strongly, we had difficulties getting the third corpse into the fur-
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nace [=muffle]. We used the stretchers in this way: two inmates lifted the 

stretcher, one by the end farther from the furnace, the other by the end that en-

tered the furnace first. After the stretcher was introduced, one of the inmates 

held the corpse in place with a long poker, we called it a hoe, forked at the 

end, and two other [inmates] pulled the stretcher out from underneath the 

corpse. After loading the furnace, we closed the door and loaded the next fur-

nace.” 

Here the witness spoke equally of two instantly successive loading proce-

dures, but the first load had only two bodies instead of three, while the second 

had only one instead of two. 

The technique of introducing the stretcher into the muffle described by 

Dragon is impractical, because according to him two inmates lifted the 

stretcher, one near the furnace (Inmate A) and the other at the stretcher’s end 

farther from the muffle (Inmate B). However, while there was a convenient 

handle for lifting and pushing the stretcher at its end, consisting of two dou-

ble-bent tubes, the two front ends of the tubes had to be placed directly on the 

two guide rollers, an operation impossible for a single person standing at a 

blazing-hot muffle of 800°C. As Tauber correctly explained, this could only 

be done by placing an iron rod or a wooden batten underneath the front of the 

stretcher, which was grasped at its ends by two inmates from both sides, who 

could then, at an adequate distance from the open muffle door, place the two 

free ends of the stretcher tubes on the rollers. 

The procedure described by Dragon was instead carried out with three in-

mates: Inmate A, after having placed – we do not know how – the stretcher on 

the rollers, remained idle and could have helped Inmate B to push the stretcher 

into the muffle; then a third Inmate C held the corpses in place with a poker, 

and the other two pulled the stretcher out of the muffle. Dragon does not ex-

plain why the team introducing the corpses was composed of five inmates. 

4.9.7. The Sonderkommando 

Regarding the Sonderkommando, Dragon’s statements present not-insignifi-

cant contradictions to those of Tauber. 

The Sonderkommando established on 10 December 1942 consisted of 200 

inmates in total (S2), of which 110-120 were assigned to “Bunker 2” (S6), the 

remaining 80-90 to “Bunker 1”. This number remained unchanged until 

March-April 1943, when the two “bunkers” ceased operation. It is true that 

Dragon states that the initial Sonderkommando “within a short period of time 

grew to 400” (P10), but he specified that “[i]n 1943, 200 Greeks […] were as-

signed to our Sonderkommando” (P11), which brought the total to 400 in-

mates. However, the first Jewish transport from Greece arrived at Auschwitz 

on 20 March 1943 (Czech 1990, p. 356). Tauber, on the other hand, states that 

“in mid-March 1943,” when the first gassing took place in Crematorium II, 

“the work was taken over by another shift of the Sonderkommando, which at 
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that time also operated the two bunkers [and] numbered about 400 inmates” 

(P17f.). But the Sonderkommando in question was Dragon’s, which consisted 

of 200 people, since any Greeks could have been added to this squad only on 

20 March at the earliest. 

According to Tauber, the Sonderkommando numbered 1,000 men in May 

1944, who were distributed as follows (S10): 

– Crematorium 2: 120 men, 60 men each shift 

– Crematorium 3: 120 men (60 men each shift) 

– Crematorium 4: 60 men 

– Crematorium 5: 300 men 

– “Separate Gas Chamber No. 2” (“Bunker 2”) and pyres next to it: 300 men 

It follows that, according to Dragon, for the extermination of 17,000-18,000 

people per day in the two “bunkers” in 1942/early 1943, 200 men of the Son-

derkommando were sufficient, but for Tauber, “Bunker 2” alone required 300, 

although Franciszek Piper claims that “only” 5,000 corpses were cremated per 

day in the purported pits of this “bunker” (Piper 1994, p. 173). 

Another relevant contradiction concerns the dating of the alleged gassing 

in Auschwitz of 200 men of the Sonderkommando. Tauber (S11): 

“In August 1944, the Germans exterminated 200 men in one fell swoop. They 

were all killed in the Auschwitz 1 Camp, in a disinfection chamber.” 

Dragon (P11): 

“In October 1944, 500 inmates were shot, specifically 400 in the courtyard of 

Crematorium No. IV, and 100 in the field next to Crematorium No. II. This 

same month, Moll selected about 200 inmates of the Sonderkommando, who 

were taken to Oświęcim and, as we were later informed by the inmates em-

ployed in Kanada [warehouse], were gassed in the chamber used for fumigat-

ing items in the ‘Kanada’ warehouse.” 

This contradiction is absolutely inexplicable, because here the pivotal event is 

the Sonderkommando revolt of 7 October 1944, according to which the two 

witnesses could have dated the alleged event easily in terms of “before” or 

“after”. 

Tauber told the Jewish Historical Commission other fairy tales: in the 

course of said revolt (which he dated to September 1944), 40 SS soldiers and 

800 Sonderkommando inmates were allegedly killed, and a crematorium “was 

blown up” – grossly false statements even from the orthodox perspective. 

Dragon also got entangled in other contradictions regarding the Sonder-

kommando’s quarters: 

“In September or August [sic] 1944 – I do not remember exactly – the man-

agement of the crematorium – I do not know how – learned about the prepara-

tion of the uprising, and transferred the entire Sonderkommando to Cremato-

rium No. 4, where they stayed for one month.” (S8) 
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“Gradowski was shot in October 1944 during the uprising. Back then, 500 in-

mates of the Sonderkommando, which at that time numbered 700 inmates, 

were shot. 100 of them slept in Crematorium No. II, another 100 in Cremato-

rium No. III, and 500 in Crematorium No. IV.” (P10) 

“At the end of May 1944, I was transferred together with the entire Sonder-

kommando from Block 11 of Sector BIId to Crematorium No. IV, where I 

stayed until October 1944. As I stated earlier, in October 1944, approximately 

700 inmates of the Sonderkommando were housed in this crematorium.” (P11) 

The entire Sonderkommando was therefore transferred to Crematorium IV in 

August-September, and at the same time at the end of May 1944, and the in-

mates housed there were 700 and at the same time 500. 

To these contradictions, Dragon adds in reference to the Sonderkommando 

revolt: 

“I hid under a pile of wood, and Tauber in the chimney ducts of Crematorium 

No. V.” (P12) 

However, that crematorium’s chimney duct had no access port, so no one 

could have entered it ever. This is a colossal nonsense that Tauber had the de-

cency not to repeat, but which Filip Müller later made his own (see Mattogno 

2021a, pp. 52-54). 

4.10. The Extermination of the Hungarian Jews and “Bunker 2” 

Dragon asserted (S7): 

“Gas Chamber No. 2 operated mainly when 6-7 transports of people arrived, 

then the corpses were cremated also on the pyres, and not just in the cremato-

ria.” 

During May, June, July and August 1944, “every day there was a great influx 

of people – 5-7 transports” of Hungarian Jews (S8f.), and in addition to the 

claimed cremation capacity of the crematoria and the pits near Crematorium V 

(15,000 to 17,000 bodies per day), we would have to add the capacity of the 

pits near “Bunker 2,” although Dragon does not state what their capacity was 

in 1944 (for 1942, he claimed a capacity of “at least 10,000 people” per day; 

S6). 

In 1944, 437,402 Jews were deported in 147 trains out of Hungary, so each 

transport contained on average 2,975 persons (NG-5615; T-1166), in round 

figures 3,000. But according to Dragon’s statements, in May, June, July and 

August 1944, an average of six transports of Hungarian Jews arrived at 

Auschwitz every day, meaning (6 trains × 3,000 inmates/train × 30 days/

month × 4 months =) 2,160,000 people! 

I have documented in a separate study that a maximum of 398,400 Hungar-

ian Jews were deported to Auschwitz; the most-likely figure, however, is 



136 C. MATTOGNO ∙ SONDERKOMMANDO AUSCHWITZ II 

around 321,000, since 107,000 registered inmates who transferred through the 

Birkenau Transit Camp constituted approximately 1/3 of the total (Mattogno 

2007). In the period of the most-intensive deportation (from 16 May to 7 June 

1944), an average of four transports per day departed from Hungary (the num-

ber that had been agreed upon at the transport conference at the beginning of 

May 1944; Braham, pp. 156f.), which amounts to some 12,600 persons per 

day.160 Hence, if we apply Dragon’s claim that “Bunker 2” was mainly used 

when 6-7 transports arrived (S7), it follows that it was basically never used. It 

should also be considered that, since on average a third of all deportees were 

fit for labor, 2/3 of these 12,600 arriving deportees, or 8,400, would have been 

slated for gassing, so that, from Dragon’s crazy perspective, the crematoria 

were more than sufficient to do the job even at the most-extreme peak of the 

deportation of the Hungarian Jews. Therefore, there was no need at all for the 

cremation pits at Crematorium V either. 

To these enormities the witness adds another (P9): 

“This work lasted for the months of May and June. Based on my observations, 

I calculate that approximately 300,000 Hungarian Jews were cremated in 

Crematorium No. V during these two months.” 

This means that the Hungarian Jews were allegedly exterminated in Cremato-

rium V alone, at a rate of (300,000 ÷ 60 =) approximately 5,000 per day, the 

equivalent of the claimed capacity of the cremation pits near Crematorium V, 

without any need of having to use the crematorium’s furnaces. Moreover, 

since this was by far the largest alleged extermination operation, it blatantly 

refutes the tall tale of 6-7 transports per day and 15,000-17,000 gassing vic-

tims/cremated bodies daily (without “Bunker 2”). If in fact these 300,000 

Hungarian Jews were gassed and cremated within two months in Crematorium 

V, which Jews were gassed and cremated in Crematoria II, III and IV (in the 

period June-July, because in July-August Crematorium V is said to have gone 

out of use) for the two – or three – or four months of maximum extermination 

with 15,000-17,000 victims per day? And if the SS could have done without 

even the furnaces of Crematorium V, how is it possible that the crematoria’s 

furnaces were unable to cope with the load, as the witness claimed in his So-

viet deposition (S9): 

“The furnaces of the crematoria alone could not cremate the people gassed in 

the gas chambers. At each crematorium, there were storerooms where the bod-

ies were put that could not be cremated on the gassing day.” 

In addition to this, Dragon mentions only one other alleged extermination in-

volving all four crematoria, which took place in 1943 and concerned 70,000 

 
160 The number of deportees was 289,357 in 92 trains, on average about 3,150 in each train. 
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Greek Jews. However, only 48,533 Greek Jews were deported to Auschwitz, 

of whom 11,147 were registered there.161 

4.11. Crematoria II and III 

4.11.1. One Single Gas Chamber or Two? 

Dragon claims to have worked in Crematoria IV and V, and also served in 

Crematorium II “at one of the furnaces for about 5-10 days” (S8), which he 

decisively denied in front of Judge Sehn (P10): 

“I did not participate in the gassing and cremation of people in Crematoria 

Nos. II and III.” 

His statements regarding these two facilities are at odds with Tauber’s claims 

on points that are certainly not insignificant, beginning with the division of the 

alleged gas chamber into two rooms. Tauber (P9): 

“At the end of 1943, the gas chamber was divided in two by a masonry wall, 

so that it was suitable for gassing smaller transports.” 

Dragon (S10): 

“In each of Crematoria Nos. 2 and 3, there was one gas chamber which was 

located in one of the underground rooms of the crematorium, and was about 

30 meters long.” 

4.11.2. Portable Coke Heaters 

Another stroke of witness creativity is Dragon’s idea of portable coke heaters 

allegedly used in the “gas chambers” (S11): 

“If necessary, the gas chambers were heated with transportable coke burn-

ers.” 

He does not explain the necessity or advisability of this heating, which is ob-

viously to be seen in the context of the evaporation of hydrogen cyanide from 

the Zyklon B’s gypsum pellets. The boiling point of hydrogen cyanide is 

known to be at about 26°C. The coke heaters therefore presumably served to 

promote this evaporation. However, the body of an adult emits 1.5 kcal of heat 

per hour and kg of body weight,162 hence 3,000163 bodies of an average weight 

of 60 kg would have produced (3,000 × 60 kg × 1.5 kcal/hr/kg =) 270,000 

kcal/hr, or 4,500 kcal/min. The heat of vaporization of hydrogen cyanide is 

0.2464 kcal/g at 0°C (Peters, p. 56), so the heat needed to evaporate the hy-

 
161 Czech 1970, Table No. 2 (between pp. 24 and 25). 
162 Neufert, p. 25. This book was part of the library of the Central Construction Office of Auschwitz. 

RGVA, 502-2-87. 
163 The number specifically stated by Tauber for the daily capacity (S6), which would be the chamber 

capacity if assuming one gassing per day. 
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drogen cyanide contained in four 1.5-kg cans of Zyklon B164 is (0.2464 kcal/g 

× 6,000 g =) about 1,500 kcal. In any case, the heat produced by the bodies of 

the victims allegedly crammed into these chambers would have made heating 

or preheating of the alleged gas chamber unnecessary, even in winter.165 

In this regard, Dragon stated in general (P5): 

“In the chamber, after the opening, it was very hot, and you could feel the gas; 

it was suffocating, and it was sweet in the mouth, pleasant.” 

Since Dragon had received a gas mask since his first day of service in “Bun-

ker 2” (“All 12 of us were fitted with [gas] masks and led to the door of the 

cottage”; P2), the reference to the taste of Zyklon B does not make sense and 

possibly relates to its odor. However, as Germar Rudolf points out, hydrogen 

cyanide has a very-faint odor, and only improperly does the specialist litera-

ture mention the odor of bitter almonds (Rudolf, p. 231), which in any case 

can hardly be described as “sweet” or “pleasant.” 

On the other hand, if the camp authorities had actually set up these heaters, 

they would have realized immediately that the carbon monoxide produced by 

these heaters would have exterminated all the victims in a time frame more or 

less equal to that attributed to Zyklon B,166 but without the need of using hy-

drogen cyanide. Lethal domestic accidents due to coke-heater emissions, at a 

time when all homes were heated primarily with wood or coal stoves and coke 

heaters (also called braziers), were in fact much more frequent than they are 

today. 

Tauber disagrees, by the way, that there were any heating devices used in 

the “gas chambers” (P3): 

“These corpses were frozen; we had to separate them from each other with 

axes.” 

4.12. Extermination at the Crematoria 

4.12.1. Cremation Capacity 

The cremation capacity of the Birkenau crematoria indicated by Dragon is in-

sane: 10,000-12,000 corpses per day. I have already explained earlier that the 

maximum capacity of these plants was 1,120 corpses per day (in 21 hours), at 

the rate of one body per muffle in one hour (a duration that would be reduced 

to just over 50 minutes for the possible presence of children’s bodies). On the 

other hand, the witness affirms that in each muffle five corpses were loaded 

 
164 I assume the introduction into the alleged gas chamber of four large cans of Zyklon B, each con-

taining 1.5 kg of hydrogen cyanide. 
165 I refer in particular to Pressac’s fanciful conjectures on the “hot-air-supply unit.” See Mattogno 

2019, pp. 104-113. 
166 A CO (carbon-monoxide) concentration of 1/1000% (0.001%) can cause severe and even lethal 

intoxication; one of 1/500% (0.002%) can cause death in four to five hours, one of 1/20% (0.05%) 
can be lethal within 15 minutes; Bour/Ledingham, p. 3. 
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together (S6), or only three (P6), which burned in 15-20 minutes (P7). From 

these data we get a minimum capacity of (3 corpses in 20 minutes in 46 muf-

fles =) 9,936 and a maximum of (5 corpses in 15 minutes in 46 muffles =) 

22,080. Considering instead three corpses in each muffle in 15 minutes, a ca-

pacity of 13,248 results. 

Regarding Crematoria IV and V, Dragon speaks explicitly of three corpses 

in each muffle in 15-20 minutes, which corresponds to 1,728 to 2,304 corpses 

per day, on average about 2,000, or 4,000 for both crematoria together. 

Thus, the capacity of Crematoria II/III must have been (10,000 to 12,000 – 

4,000 =) six to eight thousand corpses per day, or three to four thousand per 

crematorium. These figures are at odds with those resulting from his other da-

ta, though: between 9,936 to 22,080 for both facilities, or 4,968 to 11,040 for 

each. 

However, all these figures have one thing in common: they are technically 

absurd. 

4.12.2. The Distribution of Duties of the Sonderkommando Inmates 

The distribution of inmates working on various claimed tasks in Crematoria II 

and III indicated by Dragon is practically identical to that cited by Tauber, i.e., 

2 shifts of 60 inmates each made up as follows (S13f.): 

– 15 inmates assigned to the undressing room 

– 15 inmates to clear the chamber and transport the bodies to the freight ele-

vator 

– 2 inmates to load the freight elevator 

– 4 inmates as “barbers” 

– 2 inmates as “dentists” 

– 2 inmates to operate the furnaces’ gas generators 

– 2 inmates to operate the freight elevator 

– 2 inmates to unload the freight elevator 

– 2 inmates to transport the corpses to the furnaces 

– 10 inmates, divided into two groups of five, to load the furnace muffles 

– 4 inmates assisting the guard/overseer 

In the Soviet statement, Tauber stated that “[i]n the gassing hall” – Morgue 1 

of Crematoria II and III, which had an area of 210 m² – “4,000 people were 

gassed at a time” (S4) and that the average number of gassed people was 

3,000 per day (S6). The density of the victims was therefore about 19 and 14 

people per square meter, respectively. 

Dragon did not provide any figures, but in the Soviet deposition he stated 

that “Bunker 1” had a total area of 80 square meters, and that between 1,500 

and 1,700 people were crammed into this space (S5), which amounts to rough-

ly 19 to 22 people per square meter. In his Polish deposition, he mentioned 

“less than 2,000” persons (P3,6), which corresponds to a density of “less than” 
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25 persons per square meter. “Bunker 2” had a total area of 100 square meters 

and could accommodate 2,000 persons according to Dragon’s Soviet deposi-

tion (S5), yet up to 2,550 people according to his Polish deposition (P3). This 

also results in a density of 20-25 persons per square meter. To reach similar 

absurdly high densities in the alleged gas chambers of Crematoria II and III, a 

minimum load of approximately 4,000 persons in them would have to be as-

sumed indeed (thus reaching some 19 people per square meter in them). 

The density of 14 persons per square meter (a load of 3,000 persons in 

Morgue 1) is clearly already a borderline case and perhaps already beyond 

what would have been physically possible. But we will stick to Dragon’s 

script here in order to show other absurdities resulting from it. 

In general, as far as the breakdown of victims is concerned, one can con-

sider 20% children, 40% men and 40% women.167 This means that four bar-

bers had to cut the hair of 1,200 dead women, each barber 300 women, and 

that 2 dentists had to check the mouths of 2,400 adult corpses, 1,200 each, and 

extract any gold teeth present. If we assume an extremely tight average time 

of 15 seconds per inspection/extraction, the operation would have taken (15 

sec × 1,200 =) 18,888 seconds, or five hours. 

In addition, two inmates would have had to load 3,000 corpses onto the 

freight elevator and another two would have had to unload them upstairs. This 

means 1,500 corpses per inmate, for a total weight of (1,500 × 60 kg =) 90,000 

kg or 90 metric tons. What I noted earlier in relation to Tauber’s statements 

applies here as well. 

Finally, two inmates were to transport 3,000 corpses from the freight eleva-

tor to the furnaces, each of them 1,500 corpses. The method was very primi-

tive: the corpses were dragged across the floor of the furnace room by hooking 

their necks with the bent end of a walking cane or a strap wrapped around a 

wrist:168 1,500 drags with this ridiculous system! How long would it have tak-

en? The furnace room of Crematorium II/III was 30 meters long, and the five 

triple-muffle furnaces were arranged next to each other. From the exit of the 

elevator, the nearest furnace was just over a meter away, the furthest one 

about 25 meters. Thus, on average, each inmate had to drag a corpse 12.5 me-

ters, and then return to the freight elevator – 1,500 times in succession. If we 

assume an optimistic average speed of 1 meter per second, each drag (round 

 
167 For the children, I rely on Kubica, pp. 288f., who states that about 232,000 children were deported 

to Auschwitz, about 22,000 of whom were registered; given that the orthodoxy’s total Auschwitz 
dead toll currently stands at 1,100,000 (Piper 1993, p. 202), the number of children allegedly 
gassed (210,000) is about 20% of the total. As far as I know, no data on the number of men and 
women deported to Auschwitz exists. The percentages I give are taken from transports from 
France, Belgium and the Netherlands where list of the deportees’ names have been preserved 
(Klarsfeld; Klarsfeld/Steinberg; Het Nederlandse… 1948 & 1953. 

168 For the cane technique, see, e.g., Paisikovic, in: Mattogno 2021a, pp. 136, 145; for the strap tech-
nique, see, e.g., Müller, p. 117; Nyiszli, in: Mattogno 2020b, p. 41. 
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trip) would have taken 25 seconds, the entire operation (25 sec × 1,500 =) 

37,500 seconds or over ten hours. 

As noted earlier, Dragon’s claim makes no sense that only two teams of 

five inmates were assigned to loading the furnaces, because at the cremation 

pace claimed, they could have served only two furnaces (six muffles), and five 

teams would have been needed for the five furnaces in the crematorium. 

Nor does it make sense to assign only two inmates to operate the furnaces’ 

gas generators, because each furnace had two gas generators, which therefore 

totaled ten, and each gas generator had to be constantly supervised throughout 

the cremation process, loading the coke, increasing or reducing the flow of 

combustion air through the appropriate doors, and adjusting the smoke damper 

according to the combustion process. 

Regarding cremations in Crematoria II and III, Dragon says nothing. 

4.13. Salmen Gradowski and the Buried Manuscripts 

Both during the Soviet and the Polish interrogations, Dragon spoke extensive-

ly about Salmen Gradowski. In order to fully understand his statements, a 

brief introduction is necessary. Gradowski was an alleged member of the Son-

derkommando to whom are attributed three writings, compiled in 1944, which 

are said to have been found at the end of the war. According to the orthodox 

narrative, on 5 March 1945, the Soviets found in the area of Birkenau Crema-

torium II an aluminum canteen containing a notebook and a letter in Yiddish. 

It was taken to the Military-Medical Museum in Leningrad. Also in March 

1945, an anonymous Pole sold to Haim Wolnerman a manuscript in Yiddish 

that he claimed to have found in a tin can in the area of the Birkenau cremato-

ria. (Mattogno 2021, pp. 248, 250). 

In his Soviet deposition, Dragon asserted (S10): 

“Among the 500 Sonderkommando men shot was a Jew from the town of Lu-

na, Gradowski, who unbeknownst to the SS kept [a notebook with] a record of 

the transports with the people who arrived and were burned. 

In the last months before the Sonderkommando set fire to Crematorium No. 4, 

Gradowski, fearing that someone from the Sonderkommando would discover 

the writings [he had] always with him, began to hide the writings underground 

so that they would be preserved. To me personally, Gradowski handed over 

some of his writings, which he put inside a German canteen, to hide them, 

which I buried in the ground; I can point to this place. This was in October or 

September 1944. I also know where the grenades were buried that were made 

by the Sonderkommando groups that had prepared the uprising and the es-

cape. I can point to this place.” 

And here is the account he gave to Judge Sehn (P10): 
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“I calculate the number of those gassed in the two bunkers and four cremato-

ria at over 4 million. This was also the opinion of the other prisoners em-

ployed in the Sonderkommando. The Schreiber [scribe] of our commando, 

Sauman [Salmen] Gradowski, a native of Grodno, wrote some notes, in which, 

based on the information provided by the inmates working in all the cremato-

ria, he wrote down the number of persons gassed and burned in the individual 

crematoria and described what the prisoners of the Sonderkommando had 

gone through. Gradowski was shot in October 1944 during the uprising. Back 

then, 500 inmates of the Sonderkommando, which at that time numbered 700 

inmates, were shot. 100 of them slept in Crematorium No. II, another 100 in 

Crematorium No. III, and 500 in Crematorium No. IV. The diaries of this 

Gradowski, which were buried in the barbed-wire-fenced area of Crematori-

um II, I dug up [myself] and handed them over to the Soviet commission. They 

were a notebook and a letter addressed to the unknown finder. By order of the 

Soviet Commission, all the writings found, which had been written in Hebrew, 

were translated into Russian by the medical prisoner Dr. Gordon. The Soviet 

commission took these materials with them. I know that other documents and 

records were buried in the area belonging to Crematorium No. II, and that the 

pits with the ashes of the corpses of the persons cremated in this crematorium 

were covered with earth. One must look for these things in front of the crema-

tion furnaces. I cannot point to the exact place, because after the destruction 

of the crematorium, the situation there changed, the ground was leveled al-

ready during the time of the Germans, so I lost my orientation. I did not par-

ticipate in the gassing and cremation of people in Crematoria Nos. II and III.” 

Evidently, Dragon buried these writings himself, which he later dug up on the 

grounds of Crematorium II, but at the same time he assured: “I did not partici-

pate in the gassing and cremation of people in Crematoria Nos. II and III.” If, 

on the other hand, Gradowski himself buried the bottle in Dragon’s absence, 

how could Dragon specify the exact burial location and then dig it up without 

fail? All the more so since the ground around Crematorium II had been lev-

eled, and he had lost his “orientation.” 

Nevertheless, he himself, no one knows how, dug up the writings and 

handed them over to the Soviet Commission of Inquiry. The chronology is at 

least possible, because Dragon was questioned on 26 February 1945, and the 

discovery occurred on 5 March – so the witness could have pointed the place 

out to the Soviets, but the inconsistencies I pointed out earlier remain. 

His advice to look for other writings “in front of the cremation furnaces” 

does not make much sense, because then these writings would have been bur-

ied in the concrete floor of the furnace room. 

Dragon explicitly spoke of “a notebook and a letter,” the writings actually 

“found” on 5 March 1945, only in the Polish interrogation of 10-11 May, thus 

after the “discovery.” In the Soviet interrogation, he clearly mentioned only 

“[a notebook with] a record of the transports with the people who arrived and 
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were burned” (S10), which was never found, and thus can be considered a 

mere myth. This is confirmed by the fact that this alleged record of gassings 

and cremations up to September-October 1944, in Dragon’s perspective, 

should have listed the mythical 4 million victims! 

On the “finding” of these manuscripts, I add an additional element here 

that I had not considered in my specific treatment of the subject (Mattogno 

2021, pp. 243-289). 

A photograph from 1945 by an unknown author, but bearing at the bottom 

half of a stamp reading “Чрезвычайная го[сударственная комиссия]” 

(“Chrezvychaynaya go[sudarstvennaya Komissiya]”), the Extraordinary State 

Commission that investigated Auschwitz, shows on a table a destroyed water 

bottle along with a notebook and a sheet of paper, apparently in good condi-

tion. The accompanying caption in five languages says (Bogusławska-Świe-

bocka, p. 187; see Document 19): 

“Prisoner’s diary, written by Sonderkommando member Zalmen Gradowski, 

found in 1945 in the area of crematory II in Birkenau (Unknown author, 

1945)” 

It is not at all credible that an aluminum water bottle would have literally ex-

ploded in such a way by merely lying in the ground for just five months, nor 

that any sheets of paper it contained would have been preserved inside so 

well, if the bottle was that massively destroyed. 

Tauber was equally brazen on this issue (P27): 

“Individuals from the crematorium staff secretly wrote down the most dra-

matic figures and events concerning the gassed persons. These notes were bur-

ied in various locations near the crematoria. Some of these notes were dug up 

during the stay of the Soviet Commission, which took them away. However, the 

vast majority must still be hidden in the ground, and this material could be re-

covered. Among other things, there are buried photographs of people gassed 

in the gas chamber, as well as of a transport that arrived at the crematorium 

for gassing.” 

These alleged photographs were never found, despite the presence in Ausch-

witz from February to June 1945 of many self-proclaimed Sonderkommando 

“eyewitnesses” such as Tauber himself, Dragon, Mandelbaum, Jankowski and 

Nagraba, and one can thus be quite sure that this is just another myth. 

Other stories also belong to this fabulous anecdote. I point out only one 

which is particularly crude and requires no comment (Dragon, S7): 

“Almost all the Russians were burned, and in the last period, before the arri-

val of the Red Army and the liberation of the inmates of the Auschwitz Camp, 

mainly only Russian children were burned, who had been torn away from their 

parents; the adults instead were used for work in the camp.” 

This was evidently meant as a tear-jerker to ingratiate himself with his Soviet 

interrogators. 
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Conclusions 

There is no doubt that, as Pressac has shown, Tauber’s testimonies are indeed 

95% reliable from the architectural point of view, meaning with regard to the 

physical description of the crematoria and their equipment. However, Pres-

sac’s judgment that I quoted in the Introduction is doubly naive. First of all, 

the actual congruence of Tauber’s statements with the crematoria’s architec-

tural features and equipment is not at all “proof of the exceptional validity of 

his testimony” (Pressac 1989, p. 502), but simply its conditio sine qua non: 

the correct description of the crematoria in no way confirms as true what 

Tauber claims took place in them. Second, the correspondence of his testimo-

ny with the “historical material available now that was not available in May 

1945,” i.e., with the documentation seized by the Soviets, simply arises from 

on the fact that – as is clear from his testimony – Tauber was made aware of 

this documentation by the Soviet investigators; hence it was available to him 

in May 1945. In this regard, Tauber stated in his Polish testimony (P3): 

“I call muffles, according to the terminology accepted by the Soviet Commis-

sion, the retorts for the cremation of corpses.” 

In reality, the German term “Muffel,” polonized into “mufle,” was the usual 

and correct term for the cremation chambers, something that Tauber should 

have known well. Instead, he always uses the wrong term “retorty,” retorts. 

He polonized other German terms – Heizraum, Drehscheibe, Schreibstube, 

Totenmeldung, Goldgießer, Goldarbeiter – but strangely not the far more im-

portant ones (in his perspective) of “Gaskammer” and “Vergasungskeller.” In 

the Polish interrogation he explicitly equated the alleged gas chamber with 

Leichenkeller 1 (Morgue 1), with the clear intention of “explaining” in an or-

thodox sense the presence of this term on the crematoria’s plans (P7). 

Tauber was also able to observe the equipment and devices of the cremato-

ria and the elements of the furnaces stored in the Bauhof at the time. 
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On the contrary, it appears from the examination of Tauber’s testimonies 

that he tried to explain the documents he was shown by the Soviets, and these 

attempts constitute a not-insignificant part of his testimonies. I limit myself to 

the most-obvious cases: 

1) Tauber states that dummy showers were installed in the gas chamber 

(and benches and coat hangers in the undressing room) only in the fall of 1943 

“to disguise the undressing room and the gas chamber by presenting them as a 

bath and disinfection [room]” (P10f.). This assertion, which has no documen-

tary support, merely served to explain why the inventory attached to the hand-

over negotiation for Crematorium III of 24 June 1943 concerning the base-

ment (Kellergeschoss) shows “14 showers” (“14 Brausen”) for Morgue 1 (the 

alleged homicidal gas chamber),169 whereas in the corresponding inventory of 

Crematorium II (dated 31 March 1943) the showers do not appear at all.170 As 

I explained earlier, these showers were in fact part of the “Special Measures 

for the Improvement of Hygienic Facilities” implemented in the Birkenau 

Camp, which were ordered by Kammler at the beginning of May 1943, and 

for this very reason the showers could not appear in a document (the above-

mentioned inventory of Crematorium II) created already on 31 March. 

2) The story of the undressing barrack, which, as I have shown earlier, is a 

mere invention, served only to explain why a barracks appears in front of the 

northeast corner of Crematorium II on the Plan 2216 of the Birkenau Camp 

dated 20 March 1943. Tauber, however, does not clarify why the short-term 

construction of this barracks had become necessary, and Pressac, who consid-

ers it “proof” of Tauber’s reliability (Pressac 1989, p. 492), provides two con-

flicting and inconclusive explanations in this regard (see Mattogno 2004b, pp. 

285f.). In fact, as I have made clear earlier, this barracks had been ordered by 

the SS garrison physician on 21 January 1943, and had already been installed 

a month before the alleged inaugural gassing described by Tauber, which, by 

the way, thwarts Pressac’s attempts at explanation. 

3) Tauber stated that the three forced-draft devices “were later dismantled, 

and the ducts carrying the combustion gases from the cremation furnaces were 

connected directly to the chimney” (P11). This is true, and the related works, 

as I explained earlier, were carried out after Tauber had left Crematorium II 

(mid-April): so how could the witness have known these technical details 

since at the time he was in Crematorium IV and then never returned to Crema-

torium II? Evidently from the documents, as I learned them as well. 

4) Tauber’s statements about the strength of the Sonderkommando also de-

rive from the documents he was shown by the Soviets. These documents are 

very fragmentary and start from January 1944. On 1 January 1944, the 

strength of the crematorium staff (Krematoriumspersonal) was 383 inmates; 

 
169 RGVA, 502-2-54, illegible page number. 
170 RGVA, 502-2-54, p. 79. 
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on 31 January, it was 414; and on 15 February, it was 405 (Mattogno 2016a, 

p. 141); thus, Tauber claims that number, rounded down to 400, for the begin-

ning of his term there a year earlier (March 1943), and that this number re-

mained the same until exactly February 1944 (P23f.): 

“At first, when I was assigned to work in the Sonderkommando, it numbered 

about 400 inmates, and maintained this strength until January or February 

1944.” 

For the nine months in between, he does not provide any figures, only because 

there are no documents in this regard. 

Even more important is the fact that, until February 1945, Tauber and the 

Soviet Commission of Inquiry alike were unaware of the term “bunker” later 

affixed to the alleged provisional gas chambers at Birkenau. In fact, he simply 

calls them “separate gas chambers.” As I have documented in another study, 

this term, purportedly in common use among the SS and inmates, was created 

only at the beginning of Jan Sehn’s investigation (Mattogno 2016, pp. 77-79). 

From a historical perspective, Tauber’s statements are either false or erro-

neous, or they lack objective corroboration, such as: 

– the physical and thermo-technical follies on the loading of corpses into the 

muffles and on the cremation capacity of the furnaces, 

– the absurdity of the flames shooting out of the crematoria’s chimneys, 

– the alleged gassing of “French resistance fighters,” 

– the transports of French and Dutch Jews in March-April 1943, 

– the Greek transport allegedly arriving immediately after the transport from 

Krakow, the first said to have been gassed in Crematorium II, 

– the number of deportees in this transport, 

– the presence of Mengele at Auschwitz in March-April 1943, 

– the date of the Sonderkommando revolt, 

– the number of SS men allegedly killed during the revolt, 

– the presence of five “cremation pits” in the courtyard of Crematorium V in 

the summer of 1944, 

– the presence of a field railway in the vicinity of the “cremation pits,” 

– the presence of four or seven cremation pits in the entire Birkenau area in 

1944, 

– the transport of the crematoria equipment to Gross-Rosen, 

– the gassing of 200 Sonderkommando inmates in the disinfestation chamber 

of “Kanada” in Auschwitz, 

– the strength of the Sonderkommando in 1944, 

– its distribution among the individual crematoria, 

– the division of the presumed gas chamber of Crematorium II into two 

rooms, 
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– the retirement of Crematorium I in February or March 1943 (it was actual-

ly retired in July 1943). 

… not to mention the blatant lie about the number of camp victims (P27f.): 

“According to my assumptions, the total number of persons gassed in the 

Auschwitz crematoria during the period in which I served in these crematoria 

as a member of the Sonderkommando, is approximately 2 million. During my 

stay in Auschwitz, I had the opportunity to talk to various inmates who had 

worked in the crematoria and bunkers of Auschwitz before my arrival there. 

From them, I learned that by the time I started to work in the crematoria, ap-

proximately two million people had already been gassed in Bunkers Nos. I and 

II or in Crematorium No. I. In total, therefore, I calculate the total number of 

people gassed at Auschwitz at about 4 million.” 

In light of the critical examination I have set forth above, Robert van Pelt’s 

claim that “Tauber’s statement was extremely specific, it did not contain con-

tradictions, and it did not contain improbable allegations” and the attribution 

to it of the “the highest evidentiary value to it, not only because of its internal 

consistency,” characterize van Pelt as either a gullible fool or a deliberate de-

ceiver. 

This also applies to his laughable judgment that “Dragon was precise and 

reliable when he talked about what he had witnessed in person.” What the 

witness claimed to have “witnessed in person” is false and absurd, and his 

statements teem with enormous contradictions. 

The intentionally untrue character of the statements of Tauber and Dragon 

results from an incontrovertible fact: both of them fixed the number of the al-

leged victims of Auschwitz at four million – a mythical figure largely disa-

vowed by current orthodox Holocaust historiography, which has been reduced 

to 1,100,000 (Piper 1993, p. 202). It matters little whether this figure was in-

vented by the witnesses or by the Soviets. What matters is that the witnesses 

constructed their testimonies on the basis of the Four-Million Lie, i.e., their 

statements about the number of deportees to Auschwitz, the cremation capaci-

ty of the crematoria, and the gassing and burning capacity of the phantom 

“bunkers” of Birkenau aimed at delineating the picture of an immense mass 

extermination of precisely four million people. 

The collapse of the myth of four million Auschwitz victims necessarily in-

volves the invalidation of these testimonies, as they are based on falsehood 

and deception. In fact, one cannot claim that Tauber and Dragon had simply 

adopted a multiplier of 4 – as J.-C. Pressac (falsely) claimed regarding the 

ramblings of Myklós Nyiszli (Pressac 1989, p. 475) – so that it would be 

enough to divide all their figures by 4 to obtain the “truth”. On the one hand, 

this “multiplier” would still constitute a deliberate lie that completely discred-

its the trustworthiness of the witnesses. On the other hand, the figures are only 

one aspect of these testimonies’ mendacity, and have no relation to the alleged 
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events that are historically false or absurd, and of which Tauber and Dragon 

claimed to have been eyewitnesses. 

This means that Tauber and Dragon were deliberate impostors. 

In reference to Tauber, van Pelt asserted that the “negationists [=revisio-

nists] have not been able to discredit him as a witness.” However, the only 

thing that is actually certain is the fact that he has irreparably discredited him-

self as a historian, and this applies to all orthodox Holocaust “historians” who 

have taken seriously the ramblings of these two blatantly false witnesses. 
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Documents 

 
Document 1: Interrogation Protocol of H. Tauber dated 27-28 February 1945. 

Manuscript, first page. GARF, 7021-108-13, p. 13. 
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Document 1a: Interrogation Protocol of H. Tauber dated 27-28 February 1945. Man-

uscript, second page. GARF, 7021-108-13, p. 14. 
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Document 2: Interrogation Protocol of H. Tauber dated 27-28 February 1945. Type-

script. GARF, 7021-108-13, pp. 1-12. 
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Document 3: Interrogation Protocol of H. Tauber dated 27-28 February 1945. Type-

script, first page. GARF, 7021-108-13, p. 28. 
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Document 4: Interrogation Protocol of H. Tauber dated 24 May 1945. AGK, NTN 93 

(Höss Trial), Vol. 11, pp. 122-150. 
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Document 5: Interrogation Protocol of Szlama Dragon dated 26 February 1945. 

Manuscript, first page. GARF, 7021-108-19, p. 194. 
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Document 6: Interrogation Protocol of Szlama Dragon dated 26 February 1945. 

Typescript, first page. GARF, 7021-108-19, p. 180. 
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Document 7: Interrogation Protocol of Szlama Dragon dated 26 February 1945. 

Typescript. GARF, 7021-108-8, pp. 14-27. 
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Document 8: Interrogation Protocol of Szlama Dragon dated 10-11 May 1945. AGK, 

NTN 93, Höss Trial, Vol. 1, pp. 102-114. 
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Document 9: Interrogation Protocol of Szlama Dragon dated 10-11 May 1945. Ap-

pendix 1. Sketch of “Bunker” No. 1. AGK, NTN 93, Höss Trial, Vol. 1, p. 115. 
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Document 10: Interrogation Protocol of Szlama Dragon dated 10-11 May 1945. Ap-

pendix 2. Sketch of “Bunker” No. 2. AGK, NTN 93, Höss Trial, Vol. 1, p. 116. 
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Document 11: Interrogation Protocol of Szlama Dragon dated 10-11 May 1945. Ap-

pendix 3. Sketch of the area around “Bunker” No. 2. AGK, NTN 93, Höss Trial, Vol. 1, 
p. 117. 
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Document 12: Interrogation Protocol of Szlama Dragon dated 10-11 May 1945. Ap-

pendix 4. Sketch of Crematorium No. 4. AGK, NTN 93, Höss Trial, Vol. 1, p. 118. 
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Document 13: Temporary freight elevator of Crematori-

um II at Birkenau. Pressac 1989, p. 488. 

 

  
Document 14: Door found in 1945 in the 
area of the Crematorium V. APMO, Neg. 

No. 12683. 

Documents 15: The same door of Doc-
ument 14, stored in the furnace room of 
the crematorium at the Auschwitz Main 

Camp in 1991. © Carlo Mattogno. 
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Documents 16-17: Door of the disinfestation chamber of Block 1 at the Auschwitz 

Main Camp in 1991. © Carlo Mattogno. 
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Document 18: One of the grates that covered the ventilation openings in Morgue 1 of 
Crematoria II and III. Pressac 1989, p. 233. I have rotated the image from horizontal 
to vertical to give an idea of how the perforated sheet-metal column for the introduc-

tion of Zyklon B would have looked like, as it was described by F. Müller. 
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Document 19: “Prisoner’s diary, written by Sonderkommando member Zalmen 

Gradowski, found in 1945 in the area of Crematorium II in Birkenau (unknown author, 
1945)”; Bogusławska-Świebocka, p. 187. 
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Archive Abbreviations 

AGK: Archiwum Głównej Komisji Badania Zbrodni w Polsce, Archives 

of the Central Commission for the Investigation of Crimes in Po-

land, now Instytut Pamięci Narodowej, Institute of National Re-

membrance – Commission for the Prosecution of Crimes against 

the Polish Nation), Warsaw 

GARF: Gosudarstvenny Arkhiv Rossiyskoy Federatsii, State Archive of the 

Russian Federation, Moscow 

RGVA: Rossiysky Gosudarstvenny Voyenny Arkhiv, Russian State Military 

(War) Archive, Moscow 

YVA: Yad Vashem Archives, Jerusalem 
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HOLOCAUST HANDBOOKS HOLOCAUST HANDBOOKS 
TThis ambitious, growing series addresses various aspects of the “Holocaust” of the WWII era. 

Most of them are based on decades of research from archives all over the world. They are heav-
ily referenced. In contrast to most other works on this issue, the tomes of this series approach 

its topic with profound academic scrutiny and a critical attitude. Any Holocaust researcher ignoring 
this series will remain oblivious to some of the most important research in the field. These books 
are designed to both convince the common reader as well as academics. The following books have 
appeared so far, or are about to be released.

SECTION ONE: SECTION ONE: 
General Overviews of the Holocaust General Overviews of the Holocaust 
The First Holocaust. The Surprising Origin of The First Holocaust. The Surprising Origin of 
the Six-Million Figurethe Six-Million Figure. By Don Heddesheimer. 
This compact but substantive study documents 

propaganda spread prior to, 
during and after the FIRST 
World War that claimed East 
European Jewry was on the 
brink of annihilation. The 
magic number of suffering 
and dying Jews was 6 million 
back then as well. The book 
details how these Jewish fund-
raising operations in America 
raised vast sums in the name 
of feeding suffering Polish and 
Russian Jews but actually fun-

neled much of the money to Zionist and Com-
munist groups. 5th ed., 200 pages, b&w illustra-
tions, bibliography, index. (#6) 
Lectures on the Holocaust. Controversial Is-Lectures on the Holocaust. Controversial Is-
sues Cross Examinedsues Cross Examined. By Germar Rudolf. 
This book first explains why “the Holocaust” is 
an important topic, and that it is essential to 
keep an open mind about it. It then tells how 

many mainstream scholars 
expressed doubts and sub-
sequently fell from grace. 
Next, the physical traces 
and documents about the 
various claimed crime 
scenes and murder weapons 
are discussed. After that, 
the reliability of witness tes-
timony is examined. Finally, 
the author argues for a free 

exchange of ideas on this topic. This book gives 
the most-comprehensive and up-to-date over-
view of the critical research into the Holocaust. 
With its dialogue style, it is easy to read, and 
it can even be used as an encyclopedic compen-
dium. 4th ed., 597 pages, b&w illustrations, bib-
liography, index.(#15)
Breaking the Spell. The Holocaust, Myth & Breaking the Spell. The Holocaust, Myth & 
Reality.Reality. By Nicholas Kollerstrom. In 1941, 
British Intelligence analysts cracked the Ger-
man “Enigma” code. Hence, in 1942 and 1943, 
encrypted radio communications between Ger-
man concentration camps and the Berlin head-
quarters were decrypted. The intercepted data 

refutes the orthodox “Holocaust” narrative. It 
reveals that the Germans were desperate to re-
duce the death rate in their labor camps, which 
was caused by catastrophic typhus epidemics. 
Dr. Kollerstrom, a science 
historian, has taken these in-
tercepts and a wide array of 
mostly unchallenged corrobo-
rating evidence to show that 
“witness statements” sup-
porting the human gas cham-
ber narrative clearly clash 
with the available scientific 
data. Kollerstrom concludes 
that the history of the Nazi 
“Holocaust” has been written 
by the victors with ulterior motives. It is dis-
torted, exaggerated and largely wrong. With a 
foreword by Prof. Dr. James Fetzer. 6th ed., 285 
pages, b&w ill., bibl., index. (#31)
Debating the Holocaust. A New Look at Both Debating the Holocaust. A New Look at Both 
Sides.Sides. By Thomas Dalton. Mainstream histo-
rians insist that there cannot be, may not be, 
any debate about the Holocaust. But ignoring it 
does not make this controversy go away. Tradi-
tional scholars admit that there was neither a 
budget, a plan, nor an order for the Holocaust; 
that the key camps have all but vanished, and 
so have any human remains; that material and 
unequivocal documentary evidence is absent; 
and that there are serious 
problems with survivor testi-
monies. Dalton juxtaposes the 
traditional Holocaust narra-
tive with revisionist challeng-
es and then analyzes the main-
stream’s responses to them. 
He reveals the weaknesses 
of both sides, while declaring 
revisionism the winner of the 
current state of the debate. 

Pictured above are the first 50 volumes of scientific stud-
ies that comprise the series Holocaust Handbooks. More 

volumes and new editions are constantly in the works. Check 
www.HolocaustHandbooks.com for updates.
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4th ed., 342 pages, b&w illustrations, 
bibliography, index. (#32)
The Hoax of the Twentieth Century. The Hoax of the Twentieth Century. 
The Case against the Presumed Ex-The Case against the Presumed Ex-
termination of European Jewry.termination of European Jewry. By 
Arthur R. Butz. The first writer to 
analyze the entire Holocaust complex 
in a precise scientific manner. This 
book exhibits the overwhelming force 
of arguments accumulated by the mid-
1970s. Butz’s two main arguments 
are: 1. All major entities hostile to 
Germany must have known what was 
happening to the Jews under German 
authority. They acted during the war 
as if no mass slaughter was occurring. 
2. All the evidence adduced to prove 
any mass slaughter has a dual inter-
pretation, while only the innocuous 
one can be proven to be correct. This 
book continues to be a major histori-
cal reference work, frequently cited by 
prominent personalities. This edition 
has numerous supplements with new 
information gathered over the last 35 
years. 4th ed., 524 pages, b&w illus-
trations, bibliography, index. (#7)
Dissecting the Holocaust. The Grow-Dissecting the Holocaust. The Grow-
ing Critique of ‘Truth’ and ‘Memory.’ing Critique of ‘Truth’ and ‘Memory.’ 
Edited by Germar Rudolf. Dissecting 
the Holocaust applies state-of-the-
art scientific techniques and classic 
methods of detection to investigate 
the alleged murder of millions of Jews 
by Germans during World War II. In 
22 contributions—each of some 30 
pages—the 17 authors dissect gener-
ally accepted paradigms of the “Holo-
caust.” It reads as excitingly as a crime 
novel: so many lies, forgeries and de-
ceptions by politicians, historians and 
scientists are proven. This is the intel-
lectual adventure of the 21st Century. 
Be part of it! 3rd ed., 635 pages, b&w 
illustrations, bibliography, index. (#1)
The Dissolution of Eastern European The Dissolution of Eastern European 
Jewry. Jewry. By Walter N. Sanning. Six Mil-
lion Jews died in the Holocaust. San-
ning did not take that number at face 
value, but thoroughly explored Euro-
pean population developments and 
shifts mainly caused by emigration as 
well as deportations and evacuations 
conducted by both Nazis and the So-
viets, among other things. The book 
is based mainly on Jewish, Zionist 
and mainstream sources. It concludes 
that a sizeable share of the Jews found 
missing during local censuses after 
the Second World War, which were 
so far counted as “Holocaust victims,” 
had either emigrated (mainly to Israel 
or the U.S.) or had been deported by 
Stalin to Siberian labor camps. 3rd 
ed., foreword by A.R. Butz, epilogue by 
Germar Rudolf, and an update by the 
author containing new insights; 264 

pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography 
(#29).
Air-Photo Evidence: World-War-Two Air-Photo Evidence: World-War-Two 
Photos of Alleged Mass-Murder Sites Photos of Alleged Mass-Murder Sites 
Analyzed. Analyzed. By Germar Rudolf (editor). 
During World War Two both German 
and Allied reconnaissance aircraft 
took countless air photos of places of 
tactical and strategic interest in Eu-
rope. These photos are prime evidence 
for the investigation of the Holocaust. 
Air photos of locations like Auschwitz, 
Majdanek, Treblinka, Babi Yar etc. 
permit an insight into what did or did 
not happen there. The author has un-
earthed many pertinent photos and 
has thoroughly analyzed them. This 
book is full of air-photo reproductions 
and schematic drawings explaining 
them. According to the author, these 
images refute many of the atrocity 
claims made by witnesses in connec-
tion with events in the German sphere 
of influence. 6th edition; with a contri-
bution by Carlo Mattogno. 167 pages, 
b&w illustrations, bibliography, index 
(#27).
The Leuchter Reports: Critical Edi-The Leuchter Reports: Critical Edi-
tiontion. By Fred Leuchter, Robert Fauris-
son and Germar Rudolf. Between 1988 
and 1991, U.S. expert on execution 
technologies Fred Leuchter wrote four 
reports on whether the Third Reich 
operated homicidal gas chambers. The 
first on Auschwitz and Majdanek be-
came world-famous. Based on various 
arguments, Leuchter concluded that 
the locations investigated could never 
have been “utilized or seriously con-
sidered to function as execution gas 
chambers.” The second report deals 
with gas-chamber claims for the camps 
Dachau, Mauthausen and Hartheim, 
while the third reviews design criteria 
and operation procedures of execution 
gas chambers in the U.S. The fourth 
report reviews Pressac’s 1989 tome 
about Auschwitz. 4th ed., 252 pages, 
b&w illustrations. (#16)
Bungled: “The Destruction of the Eu-Bungled: “The Destruction of the Eu-
ropean Jews”. Raul Hilberg’s Failure ropean Jews”. Raul Hilberg’s Failure 
to Prove National-Socialist “Killing to Prove National-Socialist “Killing 
Centers.” Centers.” By Carlo Mattogno. Raul 
Hilberg’s magnum opus The Destruc-
tion of the European Jews is an ortho-
dox standard work on the Holocaust. 
But how does Hilberg support his 
thesis that Jews were murdered en 
masse? He rips documents out of their 
context, distorts their content, misin-
terprets their meaning, and ignores 
entire archives. He only refers to “use-
ful” witnesses, quotes fragments out 
of context, and conceals the fact that 
his witnesses are lying through their 
teeth. Lies and deceits permeate Hil-
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berg’s book, 302 pages, bibliography, 
index. (#3)
Jewish Emigration from the Third Jewish Emigration from the Third 
Reich.Reich. By Ingrid Weckert. Current 
historical writings about the Third 
Reich claim state it was difficult for 
Jews to flee from Nazi persecution. 
The truth is that Jewish emigration 
was welcomed by the German authori-
ties. Emigration was not some kind of 
wild flight, but rather a lawfully de-
termined and regulated matter. Weck-
ert’s booklet elucidates the emigration 
process in law and policy. She shows 
that German and Jewish authorities 
worked closely together. Jews inter-
ested in emigrating received detailed 
advice and offers of help from both 
sides. 2nd ed., 130 pages, index. (#12) 
Inside the Gas Chambers: The Exter-Inside the Gas Chambers: The Exter-
mination of Mainstream Holocaust mination of Mainstream Holocaust 
Historiography.Historiography. By Carlo Mattogno. 
Neither increased media propaganda 
or political pressure nor judicial per-
secution can stifle revisionism. Hence, 
in early 2011, the Holocaust Ortho-
doxy published a 400-page book (in 
German) claiming to refute “revision-
ist propaganda,” trying again to prove 
“once and for all” that there were hom-
icidal gas chambers at the camps of 
Dachau, Natzweiler, Sachsenhausen, 
Mauthausen, Ravensbrück, Neuen-
gamme, Stutthof… you name them. 
Mattogno shows with his detailed 
analysis of this work of propaganda 
that mainstream Holocaust hagiogra-
phy is beating around the bush rather 
than addressing revisionist research 
results. He exposes their myths, dis-
tortions and lies. 2nd ed., 280 pages, 
b&w illustrations, bibliography, index. 
(#25)

SECTION TWO: SECTION TWO: 
Specific non-Auschwitz StudiesSpecific non-Auschwitz Studies
The Dachau Gas Chamber.The Dachau Gas Chamber. By Carlo 
Mattogno. This study investigates 
whether the alleged homicidal gas 
chamber at the infamous Dachau 
Camp could have been operational. 
Could these gas chambers have ful-
filled their alleged function to kill peo-
ple as assumed by mainstream histori-
ans? Or does the evidence point to an 
entirely different purpose? This study 
reviews witness reports and finds that 
many claims are nonsense or techni-
cally impossible. As many layers of 
confounding misunderstandings and 
misrepresentations are peeled away, 
we discover the core of what the truth 
was concerning the existence of these 
gas chambers. 154 pages, b&w illus-
trations, bibliography, index. (#49)

Treblinka: Extermination Camp or Treblinka: Extermination Camp or 
Transit Camp?Transit Camp? By Carlo Mattogno and 
Jürgen Graf. It is alleged that at Treb-
linka in East Poland between 700,000 
and 3,000,000 persons were murdered 
in 1942 and 1943. The weapons used 
were said to have been stationary and/
or mobile gas chambers, fast-acting or 
slow-acting poison gas, unslaked lime, 
superheated steam, electricity, Diesel-
exhaust fumes etc. Holocaust histori-
ans alleged that bodies were piled as 
high as multi-storied buildings and 
burned without a trace, using little 
or no fuel at all. Graf and Mattogno 
have now analyzed the origins, logic 
and technical feasibility of the official 
version of Treblinka. On the basis of 
numerous documents they reveal Tre-
blinka’s true identity as a mere transit 
camp. 3rd ed., 384 pages, b&w illus-
trations, bibliography, index. (#8)
Belzec: Propaganda, Testimonies, Ar-Belzec: Propaganda, Testimonies, Ar-
cheological Research and History. cheological Research and History. By 
Carlo Mattogno. Witnesses report that 
between 600,000 and 3 million Jews 
were murdered in the Belzec Camp, 
located in Poland. Various murder 
weapons are claimed to have been used: 
Diesel-exhaust gas; unslaked lime in 
trains; high voltage; vacuum cham-
bers; etc. The corpses were incinerated 
on huge pyres without leaving a trace. 
For those who know the stories about 
Treblinka this sounds familiar. Thus, 
the author has restricted this study to 
the aspects which are new compared 
to Treblinka. In contrast to Treblin-
ka, forensic drillings and excavations 
were performed at Belzec, the results 
of which are critically reviewed. 142 
pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, 
index. (#9)
Sobibor: Holocaust Propaganda and Sobibor: Holocaust Propaganda and 
Reality.Reality. By Jürgen Graf, Thomas Kues 
and Carlo Mattogno. Between 25,000 
and 2 million Jews are said to have 
been killed in gas chambers in the 
Sobibór camp in Poland. The corpses 
were allegedly buried in mass graves 
and later incinerated on pyres. This 
book investigates these claims and 
shows that they are based on the se-
lective use of contradictory eyewitness 
testimony. Archeological surveys of 
the camp are analyzed that started in 
2000-2001 and carried on until 2018. 
The book also documents the general 
National-Socialist policy toward Jews, 
which never included a genocidal “fi-
nal solution.” In conclusion, Sobibór 
emerges not as a “pure extermination 
camp”, but as a transit camp from 
where Jews were deported to the oc-
cupied eastern territories. 2nd ed., 456 
pages, b&w illustrations, bibliography, 
index. (#19)
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The “Operation Reinhardt” Camps The “Operation Reinhardt” Camps 
Treblinka, Sobibór, Bełżec.Treblinka, Sobibór, Bełżec. By Carlo 
Mattogno. This study has its first fo-
cus on witness testimonies recorded 
during World War II and the im-
mediate post-war era, many of them 
discussed here for the first time, thus 
demonstrating how the myth of the 
“extermination camps” was created. 
The second part of this book brings us 
up to speed with the various archeo-
logical efforts made by mainstream 
scholars in their attempt to prove that 
the myth is true. The third part com-
pares the findings of the second part 
with what we ought to expect, and 
reveals the chasm between facts and 
myth. 402 pages, illustrations, bibliog-
raphy, index. (#28)
Chelmno: A Camp in History & Pro-Chelmno: A Camp in History & Pro-
paganda.paganda.  By Carlo Mattogno. At 
Chełmno, huge masses of Jewish pris-
oners are said to have been gassed in 
“gas vans” or shot (claims vary from 
10,000 to 1.3 million victims). This 
study covers the subject from every 
angle, undermining the orthodox 
claims about the camp with an over-
whelmingly effective body of evidence. 
Eyewitness statements, gas wagons 
as extermination weapons, forensics 
reports and excavations, German 
documents – all come under Mat-
togno’s scrutiny. Here are the uncen-
sored facts about Chełmno, not the 
propaganda. This is a complementary 
volume to the book on The Gas Vans 
(#26). 2nd ed., 188 pages, indexed, il-
lustrated, bibliography. (#23)
The Gas Vans: A Critical Investiga-The Gas Vans: A Critical Investiga-
tion.tion. By Santiago Alvarez and Pierre 
Marais. Did the Nazis use mobile gas 
chambers to exterminate 700,000 peo-
ple? Are witness statements believ-
able? Are documents genuine? Where 
are the murder weapons? Could they 
have operated as claimed? Where are 
the corpses? In order to get to the 
truth of the matter, Alvarez has scru-
tinized all known wartime documents 
and photos about this topic; he has 
analyzed a huge amount of witness 
statements as published in the litera-
ture and as presented in more than 
30 trials held over the decades in Ger-
many, Poland and Israel; and he has 
examined the claims made in the per-
tinent mainstream literature. The re-
sult of his research is mind-boggling. 
Note: This book and Mattogno’s book 
on Chelmno were edited in parallel to 
make sure they are consistent and not 
repetitive. 2nd ed., 412 pages, b&w il-
lustrations, bibliography, index. (#26)

The Einsatzgruppen in the Occupied The Einsatzgruppen in the Occupied 
Eastern Territories: Genesis, Mis-Eastern Territories: Genesis, Mis-
sions and Actions.sions and Actions. By C. Mattogno. 
Before invading the Soviet Union, 
the German authorities set up special 
units meant to secure the area behind 
the German front. Orthodox histo-
rians claim that these units called 
Einsatzgruppen primarily engaged 
in rounding up and mass-murdering 
Jews. This study sheds a critical light 
onto this topic by reviewing all the 
pertinent sources as well as mate-
rial traces. It reveals on the one hand 
that original war-time documents do 
not fully support the orthodox geno-
cidal narrative, and on the other that 
most post-“liberation” sources such as 
testimonies and forensic reports are 
steeped in Soviet atrocity propaganda 
and are thus utterly unreliable. In ad-
dition, material traces of the claimed 
massacres are rare due to an attitude 
of collusion by governments and Jew-
ish lobby groups. 2nd ed.., 2 vols., 864 
pp., b&w illustrations, bibliography, 
index. (#39)
Concentration Camp Majdanek. A Concentration Camp Majdanek. A 
Historical and Technical Study.Historical and Technical Study. By 
Carlo Mattogno and Jürgen Graf. At 
war’s end, the Soviets claimed that up 
to two million Jews were murdered 
at the Majdanek Camp in seven gas 
chambers. Over the decades, how-
ever, the Majdanek Museum reduced 
the death toll three times to currently 
78,000, and admitted that there were 
“only” two gas chambers. By exhaus-
tively researching primary sources, 
the authors expertly dissect and repu-
diate the myth of homicidal gas cham-
bers at that camp. They also critically 
investigated the legend of mass ex-
ecutions of Jews in tank trenches and 
prove it groundless. Again they have 
produced a standard work of methodi-
cal investigation which authentic his-
toriography cannot ignore. 3rd ed., 
358 pages, b&w illustrations, bibliog-
raphy, index. (#5)
The Neuengamme and Sachsenhau-The Neuengamme and Sachsenhau-
sen Gas Chambers.sen Gas Chambers. By Carlo Mat-
togno. The Neuengamme Camp near 
Hamburg, and the Sachsenhausen 
Camp north of Berlin allegedly had 
homicidal gas chambers for the mass 
gassing of inmates. The evaluation of 
many postwar interrogation protocols 
on this topic exposes inconsistencies, 
discrepancies and contradictions. 
British interrogating techniques are 
revealed as manipulative, threaten-
ing and mendacious. Finally, techni-
cal absurdities of gas-chambers and 
mass-gassing claims unmask these 
tales as a mere regurgitation of hear-
say stories from other camps, among 
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them foremost Auschwitz. 178 pages, 
b&w ill., bibliography, index. (#50)
Concentration Camp Stutthof and Its Concentration Camp Stutthof and Its 
Function in National Socialist Jewish Function in National Socialist Jewish 
Policy.Policy. By Carlo Mattogno and Jürgen 
Graf. Orthodox historians claim that 
the Stutthof Camp near Danzig, East 
Prussia, served as a “makeshift” ex-
termination camp in 1944, where in-
mates were killed in a gas chamber. 
Based mainly on archival resources, 
this study thoroughly debunks this 
view and shows that Stutthof was in 
fact a center for the organization of 
German forced labor toward the end of 
World War II. The claimed gas cham-
ber was a mere delousing facility. 4th 
ed., 170 pages, b&w illustrations, bib-
liography, index. (#4)

SECTION THREE:SECTION THREE:  
Auschwitz StudiesAuschwitz Studies
The Making of the Auschwitz Myth: The Making of the Auschwitz Myth: 
Auschwitz in British Intercepts, Pol-Auschwitz in British Intercepts, Pol-
ish Underground Reports and Post-ish Underground Reports and Post-
war Testimonies (1941-1947).war Testimonies (1941-1947). By 
Carlo Mattogno. Using messages sent 
by the Polish underground to Lon-
don, SS radio messages sent to and 
from Auschwitz that were intercepted 
and decrypted by the British, and a 
plethora of witness statements made 
during the war and in the immediate 
postwar period, the author shows how 
exactly the myth of mass murder in 
Auschwitz gas chambers was created, 
and how it was turned subsequently 
into “history” by intellectually corrupt 
scholars who cherry-picked claims 
that fit into their agenda and ignored 
or actively covered up literally thou-
sands of lies of “witnesses” to make 
their narrative look credible. 2nd edi-
tion, 514 pp., b&w illustrations, bibli-
ography, index. (#41)
The Real Case of Auschwitz: Robert The Real Case of Auschwitz: Robert 
van Pelt’s Evidence from the Irving van Pelt’s Evidence from the Irving 
Trial Critically Reviewed.Trial Critically Reviewed.  By Carlo 
Mattogno. Prof. Robert van Pelt, a 
mainstream expert on Auschwitz, be-
came famous when appearing as an 
expert during the London libel trial 
of David Irving against Deborah Lip-
stadt. From it resulted a book titled 
The Case for Auschwitz, in which 
van Pelt laid out his case for the ex-
istence of homicidal gas chambers at 
that camp. This book is a scholarly 
response to Prof. van Pelt—and Jean-
Claude Pressac, upon whose books 
van Pelt’s study is largely based. Mat-
togno lists all the evidence van Pelt 
adduces, and shows one by one that 
van Pelt misrepresented and misin-
terpreted every single one of them. 
This is a book of prime political and 

scholarly importance to those looking 
for the truth about Auschwitz. 3rd ed., 
692 pages, b&w illustrations, glossa-
ry, bibliography, index. (#22)
Auschwitz: Plain Facts: A Response Auschwitz: Plain Facts: A Response 
to Jean-Claude Pressac.to Jean-Claude Pressac. Edited by 
Germar Rudolf, with contributions 
by Serge Thion, Robert Faurisson 
and Carlo Mattogno. French phar-
macist Jean-Claude Pressac tried to 
refute revisionist findings with the 
“technical” method. For this he was 
praised by the mainstream, and they 
proclaimed victory over the “revision-
ists.” In his book, Pressac’s works and 
claims are shown to be unscientific 
in nature, as he never substantiates 
what he claims, and historically false, 
because he systematically misrepre-
sents, misinterprets and misunder-
stands German wartime documents. 
2nd ed., 226 pages, b&w illustrations, 
glossary bibliography, index. (#14)
Auschwitz: Technique and Operation Auschwitz: Technique and Operation 
of the Gas Chambers: An Introduction of the Gas Chambers: An Introduction 
and Update.and Update.  By Germar Rudolf. Pres-
sac’s 1989 oversize book of the same 
title was a trail blazer. Its many docu-
ment repros are valuable, but Pres-
sac’s annotations are now outdated. 
This book summarizes the most per-
tinent research results on Auschwitz 
gained during the past 30 years. 
With many references to Pressac’s 
epic tome, it serves as an update and 
correction to it, whether you own an 
original hard copy of it, read it online, 
borrow it from a library, purchase a 
reprint, or are just interested in such 
a summary in general. 144 pages, 
b&w illustrations, bibliography. (#42)
The Chemistry of Auschwitz: The The Chemistry of Auschwitz: The 
Technology and Toxicology of Zyklon Technology and Toxicology of Zyklon 
B and the Gas Chambers – A Crime-B and the Gas Chambers – A Crime-
Scene Investigation.Scene Investigation. By Germar Ru-
dolf. This study documents forensic 
research on Auschwitz, where mate-
rial traces reign supreme. Most of the 
claimed crime scenes – the claimed 
homicidal gas chambers – are still 
accessible to forensic examination 
to some degree. This book addresses 
questions such as: How were these gas 
chambers configured? How did they 
operate? In addition, the infamous 
Zyklon B is examined in detail. What 
exactly was it? How did it kill? Did it 
leave traces in masonry that can be 
found still today? Indeed, it should 
have, the author concludes, but sev-
eral sets of analyses show no trace of 
it. The author also discusses in depth 
similar forensic research conducted 
by other scholars. 4th ed., 454 pages, 
more than 120 color and over 100 b&w 
illustrations, bibliography, index. (#2)
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Auschwitz Lies: Legends, Lies and Auschwitz Lies: Legends, Lies and 
Prejudices on the Holocaust.Prejudices on the Holocaust. By Carlo 
Mattogno and Germar Rudolf. The fal-
lacious research and alleged “refuta
tion” of revisionist scholars by French 
biochemist G. Wellers (attacking 
Leuchter’s famous report, #16), Polish 
chemist Dr. J. Markiewicz and U.S. 
chemist Dr. Richard Green (taking on 
Rudolf’s chemical research), Dr. John 
Zimmerman (tackling Mattogno on 
cremation issues), Michael Shermer 
and Alex Grobman (trying to prove it 
all), as well as researchers Keren, Mc-
Carthy and Mazal (who turned cracks 
into architectural features), are ex-
posed for what they are: blatant and 
easily exposed political lies created to 
ostracize dissident historians. 4th ed., 
420 pages, b&w illustrations, index. 
(#18)
Auschwitz: The Central Construc-Auschwitz: The Central Construc-
tion Office.tion Office. By Carlo Mattogno. When 
Russian authorities granted access to 
their archives in the early 1990s, the 
files of the Auschwitz Central Con-
struction Office, stored in Moscow, 
attracted the attention of scholars 
researching the history of this camp. 
This important office was responsible 
for the planning and construction of 
the Auschwitz camp complex, includ-
ing the crematories which are said to 
have contained the “gas chambers.” 
This study sheds light into this hith-
erto hidden aspect of this camp’s his-
tory, but also provides a deep under-
standing of the organization, tasks, 
and procedures of this office. 2nd ed., 
188 pages, b&w illustrations, glos-
sary, index. (#13)
Garrison and Headquarters Orders Garrison and Headquarters Orders 
of the Auschwitz Camp.of the Auschwitz Camp. By Germar 
Rudolf and Ernst Böhm. A large num-
ber of the orders issued by the various 
commanders of the Auschwitz Camp 
have been preserved. They reveal 
the true nature of the camp with all 
its daily events. There is not a trace 
in them pointing at anything sinister 
going on. Quite to the contrary, many 
orders are in insurmountable contra-
diction to claims that prisoners were 
mass murdered, such as the children 
of SS men playing with inmates, SS 
men taking friends for a sight-seeing 
tour through the camp, or having a ro-
mantic stroll with their lovers around 
the camp grounds. This is a selection 
of the most pertinent of these orders 
together with comments putting them 
into their proper historical context. 
185 pages, b&w ill., bibl., index (#34)
Special Treatment in Auschwitz: Ori-Special Treatment in Auschwitz: Ori-
gin and Meaning of a Term.gin and Meaning of a Term. By Carlo 
Mattogno. When appearing in Ger-
man wartime documents, terms like 

“special treatment,” “special action,” 
and others have been interpreted as 
code words for mass murder. But that 
is not always true. This study focuses 
on documents about Auschwitz, show-
ing that, while “special” had many 
different meanings, not a single one 
meant “execution.” Hence the prac-
tice of deciphering an alleged “code 
language” by assigning homicidal 
meaning to harmless documents – a 
key component of mainstream histori-
ography – is untenable. 2nd ed., 166 
pages, b&w illustrations, bibliogra-
phy, index. (#10)
Healthcare at Auschwitz.Healthcare at Auschwitz. By Carlo 
Mattogno. In extension of the above 
study on Special Treatment in Ausch
witz, this study proves the extent to 
which the German authorities at 
Auschwitz tried to provide health care 
for the inmates. Part 1 of this book an-
alyzes the inmates’ living conditions 
and the various sanitary and medical 
measures implemented. It documents 
the vast construction efforts to build 
a huge inmate hospital insinde the 
Auschwity-Birkenau Camp. Part 2 
explores what happened to registered 
inmates who were “selected” or sub-
ject to “special treatment” while dis-
abled or sick. This study shows that 
a lot was tried to cure these inmates, 
especially under the aegis of Garri-
son Physician Dr. Wirths. Part 3 is 
dedicated to this very Dr. Wirths. The 
reality of this caring philanthropist 
refutes the current stereotype of SS 
officers. 398 pages, b&w illustrations, 
bibliography, index. (#33)
Debunking the Bunkers of Auschwitz: Debunking the Bunkers of Auschwitz: 
Black Propaganda vs. History.Black Propaganda vs. History. By 
Carlo Mattogno. The “bunkers” at 
Auschwitz-Birkenau, two former 
farmhouses just outside the camp’s 
perimeter, are claimed to have been 
the first homicidal gas chambers at 
Auschwitz specifically equipped for 
this purpose. They supposedly went 
into operation during the first half 
of 1942, with thousands of Jews sent 
straight from deportation trains to 
these “gas chambers.” However,  doc-
uments clearly show that all inmates 
sent to Auschwity during that time 
were properly admitted to the camp. 
No mass murder on arrival can have 
happened. With the help of other war-
time files as well as air photos taken 
by Allied reconnaissance aircraft in 
1944, this study shows that these 
homicidal “bunkers” never existed, 
how the rumors about them evolved 
as black propaganda created by re-
sistance groups in the camp, and how 
this propaganda was transformed into 
a false reality by “historians.” 2nd ed., 
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292 pages, b&w ill., bibliography, in-
dex. (#11)
Auschwitz: The First Gassing. Rumor Auschwitz: The First Gassing. Rumor 
and Reality.and Reality. By Carlo Mattogno. The 
first gassing in Auschwitz is claimed 
to have occurred on Sept. 3, 1941 in 
a basement. The accounts report-
ing it are the archetypes for all later 
gassing accounts. This study ana-
lyzes all available sources about this 
alleged event. It shows that these 
sources contradict each other about 
the event’s location, date, the kind of 
victims and their number, and many 
more aspects, which makes it impos-
sible to extract a consistent story. 
Original wartime documents inflict 
a final blow to this legend and prove 
without a shadow of a doubt that this 
legendary event never happened. 4th 
ed., 262 pages, b&w illustrations, bib-
liography, index. (#20)
Auschwitz: Crematorium I and the Auschwitz: Crematorium I and the 
Alleged Homicidal Gassings.Alleged Homicidal Gassings. By 
Carlo Mattogno. The morgue of Cre-
matorium I in Auschwitz is said to 
be the first homicidal gas chamber 
there. This study analyzes witness 
statements and hundreds of wartime 
documents to accurately write a his-
tory of that building. Where witnesses 
speak of gassings, they are either very 
vague or, if specific, contradict one an-
other and are refuted by documented 
and material facts. The author also 
exposes the fraudulent attempts of 
mainstream historians to convert 
the witnesses’ black propaganda into 
“truth” by means of selective quotes, 
omissions, and distortions. Mattogno 
proves that this building’s morgue 
was never a homicidal gas chamber, 
nor could it have worked as such. 2nd 
ed., 152 pages, b&w illustrations, bib-
liography, index. (#21)
Auschwitz: Open-Air Incinerations. Auschwitz: Open-Air Incinerations. By 
Carlo Mattogno. In 1944, 400,000 Hun-
garian Jews were deported to Ausch
witz and allegedly murdered in gas 
chambers. The camp crematoria were 
unable to cope with so many corpses. 
Therefore, every single day thousands 
of corpses are claimed to have been in-
cinerated on huge pyres lit in trenches. 
The sky was filled with thick smoke, if 
we believe witnesses. This book exam-
ines many testimonies regarding these 
incinerations and establishes whether 
these claims were even possible. Using 
air photos, physical evidence and war-
time documents, the author shows that 
these claims are fiction. A new Appen-
dix contains 3 papers on groundwater 
levels and cattle mass burnings. 2nd 
ed., 202 pages, b&w illustrations, bib-
liography, index. (#17)

The Cremation Furnaces of AuschThe Cremation Furnaces of Ausch
witz.witz.  By Carlo Mattogno & Franco 
Deana. An exhaustive study of the 
early history and technology of crema-
tion in general and of the cremation 
furnaces of Auschwitz in particular. 
On a vast base of technical literature, 
extant wartime documents and mate-
rial traces, the authors establish the 
nature and capacity of these cremation 
furnaces, showing that these devices 
were inferior makeshift versions, and 
that their capacity was lower than 
normal. The Auschwitz crematoria 
were not facilities of mass destruction, 
but installations barely managing to 
handle the victims among the inmates 
who died of various epidemics. 2nd 
ed., 3 vols., 1201 pages, b&w and color 
illustrations (vols 2 & 3), bibliogra-
phy, index, glossary. (#24)
Curated Lies: The Auschwitz Muse-Curated Lies: The Auschwitz Muse-
um’s Misrepresentations, Distortions um’s Misrepresentations, Distortions 
and Deceptions.and Deceptions.  By Carlo Mattogno. 
Revisionist research results have put 
the Polish Auschwitz Museum under 
enormous pressure to answer this 
challenge. They’ve answered. This 
book analyzes their answer. It first ex-
poses the many tricks and lies used by 
the museum to bamboozle millions of 
visitors every year regarding its most 
valued asset, the “gas chamber” in the 
Main Camp. Next, it reveals how the 
museum’s historians mislead and lie 
through their teeth about documents 
in their archives. A long string of 
completely innocuous documents is 
mistranslated and misrepresented 
to make it look like they prove the 
existence of homicidal gas chambers. 
2nd ed., 259 pages, b&w illustra-
tions, bibliography, index. (#38)
Deliveries of Coke, Wood and Zyk-Deliveries of Coke, Wood and Zyk-
lon B to Auschwitz: Neither Proof lon B to Auschwitz: Neither Proof 
Nor Trace for the Holocaust.Nor Trace for the Holocaust.  By Car-
lo Mattogno. Researchers from the 
Auschwitz Museum tried to prove 
the reality of mass extermination by 
pointing to documents about deliver-
ies of wood and coke as well as Zyk-
lon B to the Auschwitz Camp. If put 
into the actual historical and techni-
cal context, however, as is done by 
this study, these documents prove the 
exact opposite of what those orthodox 
researchers claim. This study exposes 
the mendacious tricks with which 
these museum officials once more de-
ceive the trusting public. 184 pages, 
b&w illust., bibl., index. (#40)
Mis-Chronicling Auschwitz. Danu-Mis-Chronicling Auschwitz. Danu-
ta Czech’s Flawed Methods, Lies ta Czech’s Flawed Methods, Lies 
and Deceptions in Her “Auschwitz and Deceptions in Her “Auschwitz 
Chronicle”.Chronicle”. By Carlo Mattogno. The 
Auschwitz Chronicle is a reference 
book for the history of the Auschwitz 
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Camp. It was published in 1990 by 
Danuta Czech, one of the Auschwitz 
Museum’s most prolific and impact-
ful historians. Analyzing this almost 
1,000-page long tome one entry at a 
time, Mattogno has compiled a long 
list of misrepresentations, outright 
lies and deceptions contained in it. 
They all aim at creating the oth-
erwise unsubstantiated claim that 
homicidal gas chambers and lethal 
injections were used at Auschwitz for 
mass-murdering inmates. This liter-
ary mega-fraud needs to be retired 
from the ranks of Auschwitz sources. 
324 pages, b&w illust., bibliography, 
index. (#47)
The Real Auschwitz Chronicle.The Real Auschwitz Chronicle. By 
Carlo Mattogno. Nagging is easy. We 
actually did a better job! That which 
is missing in Czech’s Chronicle is 
included here: day after day of the 
camp’s history, documents are pre-
sented showing that it could not have 
been an extermination camp: tens 
of thousands of sick and injured in-
mates were cared for medically with 
huge efforts, and the camp authori-
ties tried hard to improve the initial-
ly catastrophic hygienic conditions. 
Part Two contains data on trans-
ports, camp occupancy and mortality 
figures. For the first time, we find out 
what this camps’ real death toll was. 
2 vols., 906 pp., b&w illustrations 
(Vol. 2), bibliography, index. (#48)
Politics of Slave Labor: The Fate of Politics of Slave Labor: The Fate of 
the Jews Deported from Hungary the Jews Deported from Hungary 
and the Lodz Ghetto in 1944.and the Lodz Ghetto in 1944. By 
Carlo Mattogno. The deportation of 
the Hungarian Jews to Auschwitz in 
May-July 1944 is said to have been 
the pinnacle of this camp’s extermi-
nation frenzy, topped off in August 
of that year by the extermination of 
Jews deported from the Lodz Ghetto. 
This book gathers and explains all 
the evidence available on both events. 
In painstaking research, the author 
proves almost on a person-by-person 
level what the fate was of many of the 
Jews deported from Hungary or the 
Lodz Ghetto. He demonstrates that 
these Jews were deported to serve 
as slave laborers in the Third Reich’s 
collapsing war economy. There is no 
trace of any extermination of any of 
these Jews. 338 pp., b&w illust., bib-
liography, index. (#51)

SECTION FOUR:SECTION FOUR:  
Witness CritiqueWitness Critique
Elie Wiesel, Saint of the Holocaust: Elie Wiesel, Saint of the Holocaust: 
A Critical Biography.A Critical Biography. By Warren B. 
Routledge. This book analyzes sev-
eral of Wiesel’s texts, foremost his 

camp autobiography Night. The au-
thor proves that much of what Wiesel 
claims can never have happened. It 
shows how Zionist control has al-
lowed Wiesel and his fellow extrem-
ists to force leaders of many nations, 
the U.N. and even popes to genuflect 
before Wiesel as symbolic acts of sub-
ordination to World Jewry, while at 
the same time forcing school children 
to submit to Holocaust brainwashing. 
This study also shows how parallel to 
this abuse of power, critical reactions 
to it also increased: Holocaust revi-
sionism. While Catholics jumped on 
the Holocaust band wagon, the num-
ber of Jews rejecting certain aspect of 
the Holocaust narrative and its abuse 
grew as well. This first unauthorized 
biography of Wiesel exposes both his 
personal deceits and the whole myth 
of “the six million.” 3rd ed., 458 pages, 
b&w illustration, bibliography, index. 
(#30)
Auschwitz: Eyewitness Reports and Auschwitz: Eyewitness Reports and 
Perpetrator Confessions.Perpetrator Confessions. By Jür-
gen Graf. The traditional narrative 
of what transpired at the infamous 
Auschwitz camp during WWII rests 
almost exclusively on witness testi-
mony from former inmates as well as 
erstwhile camp officials. This study 
critically scrutinizes the 30 most im-
portant of these witness statements 
by checking them for internal coher-
ence, and by comparing them with 
one another as well as with other 
evidence such as wartime documents, 
air photos, forensic research results, 
and material traces. The result is 
devastating for the traditional nar-
rative. 372 pages, b&w illust., bibl., 
index. (#36)
Commandant of Auschwitz: Rudolf Commandant of Auschwitz: Rudolf 
Höss, His Torture and His Forced Höss, His Torture and His Forced 
Confessions.Confessions. By Carlo Mattogno & 
Rudolf Höss. From 1940 to 1943, Ru-
dolf Höss was the commandant of the 
infamous Auschwitz Camp. After the 
war, he was captured by the British. 
In the following 13 months until his 
execution, he made 85 depositions of 
various kinds in which he confessed 
his involvement in the “Holocaust.” 
This study first reveals how the Brit-
ish tortured him to extract various 
“confessions.” Next, all of Höss’s de-
positions are analyzed by checking 
his claims for internal consistency 
and comparing them with established 
historical facts. The results are eye-
opening… 2nd ed., 411 pages, b&w 
illust., bibliography, index. (#35)
An Auschwitz Doctor’s Eyewit-An Auschwitz Doctor’s Eyewit-
ness Account: The Tall Tales of Dr. ness Account: The Tall Tales of Dr. 
Mengele’s Assistant Analyzed.Mengele’s Assistant Analyzed. By 
Miklos Nyiszli & Carlo Mattogno. 
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Nyiszli, a Hungarian physician, 
ended up at Auschwitz in 1944 as Dr. 
Mengele’s assistant. After the war he 
wrote a book and several other writ-
ings describing what he claimed to 
have experienced. To this day some 
traditional historians take his ac-
counts seriously, while others reject 
them as grotesque lies and exaggera-
tions. This study presents and ana-
lyzes Nyiszli’s writings and skillfully 
separates truth from fabulous fabri-
cation. 2nd ed., 484 pages, b&w illus-
trations, bibliography, index. (#37)
Rudolf Reder versus Kurt Gerstein: Rudolf Reder versus Kurt Gerstein: 
Two False Testimonies on the Bełżec Two False Testimonies on the Bełżec 
Camp Analyzed.Camp Analyzed. By Carlo Mattogno. 
Only two witnesses have ever testi-
fied substantially about the alleged 
Belzec Extermination Camp: The 
survivor Rudolf Reder and the SS 
officer Kurt Gerstein. Gerstein’s 
testimonies have been a hotspot of 
revisionist critique for decades. It 
is now discredited even among or-
thodox historians. They use Reder’s 
testimony to fill the void, yet his 
testimonies are just as absurd. This 
study thoroughly scrutinizes Reder’s 
various statements, critically revisits 
Gerstein’s various depositions, and 
then compares these two testimonies 
which are at once similar in some 
respects, but incompatible in others. 
216 pages, b&w illust., bibliography, 
index. (#43)
Sonderkommando Auschwitz I: Nine Sonderkommando Auschwitz I: Nine 
Eyewitness Testimonies Analyzed. Eyewitness Testimonies Analyzed. 
By Carlo Mattogno. The 1979 book 
Auschwitz Inferno by alleged former 
Auschwitz “Sonderkommando” mem-
ber Filip Müller has a great influ-
ence on the perception of Auschwitz 
by the public and by historians. This 
book critically analyzes Müller’s var-
ious post-war statements, which are 
full of exaggerations, falsehoods and 
plagiarized text passages. Also scru-
tinized are the testimonies of eight 
other claimed former Sonderkom-
mando members: D. Paisikovic, 
S. Jankowski, H. Mandelbaum, L. 
Nagraba, J. Rosenblum, A. Pilo, D. 
Fliamenbaum and S. Karolinskij. 
304 pages, b&w illust., bibliography, 
index. (#44)

Sonderkommando Auschwitz II: The Sonderkommando Auschwitz II: The 
False Testimonies by Henryk Tauber False Testimonies by Henryk Tauber 
and Szlama Dragon.and Szlama Dragon.  By Carlo Mat-
togno. Auschwitz survivor and former 
member of the so-called “Sonderkom-
mando” Henryk Tauber is one of the 
most important witnesses about the 
alleged gas chambers inside the cre-
matoria at Auschwitz, because right 
at the war’s end, he made several ex-
tremely detailed depositions about it. 
The same is true for Szlama Dragon, 
only he claims to have worked at the 
so-called “bunkers” of Birkenau, two 
makeshift gas chambers just out-
side the camp perimeter. This study 
thoroughly scrutinizes these two key 
testimonies. 254 pages, b&w illust., 
bibliography, index. (#45)
Sonderkommando Auschwitz III: Sonderkommando Auschwitz III: 
They Wept Crocodile Tears. A Criti-They Wept Crocodile Tears. A Criti-
cal Analysis of Late Witness Tes-cal Analysis of Late Witness Tes-
timonies.timonies. By Carlo Mattogno. This 
book focuses on the critical analysis 
of witness testimonies on the alleged 
Auschwitz gas chambers recorded 
or published in the 1990s and early 
2000s, such as J. Sackar, A. Dragon, 
J. Gabai, S. Chasan, L. Cohen and S. 
Venezia, among others. 232 pages, 
b&w illust., bibliography, index. 
(#46)
Auschwitz Engineers in Moscow: The Auschwitz Engineers in Moscow: The 
Soviet Postwar Interrogations of the Soviet Postwar Interrogations of the 
Auschwitz Cremation-Furnace Engi-Auschwitz Cremation-Furnace Engi-
neers.neers. By Carlo Mattogno and Jür-
gen Graf. After the war, the Soviets 
arrested four leading engineers of the 
Topf Company. Among other things, 
they had planned and supervised the 
construction of the Auschwitz crema-
tion furnaces and the ventilation sys-
tems of the rooms said to have served 
as homicidal gas chambers. Between 
1946 and 1948, Soviet officials con-
ducted numerous interrogations 
with them. This work analyzes them 
by putting them into the context of 
the vast documentation on these 
and related facilities.  The appendix 
contains all translated interrogation 
protocols. 254 pages, b&w illust., bib-
liography, index. (#52)

For current prices and availability, and to learn more, go 
to www.HolocaustHandbooks.com – for example by simply 
scanning the QR code on the right.
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Three decades of unflagging archival 
and forensic research by the world’s 
most knowledgable, courageous and 
prodigious Holocaust scholars have 
finally coalesced into a reference 
book that makes all this knowledge 
readily accessible to everyone:

HOLOCAUST ENCYCLOPEDIA
uncensored and unconstrained

Available as paperback (b&w) or hardcover (color), 634 pages, 
8.5”×11”; as eBook (ePub or PDF) and eBook + audio (ePub + 
mp3); more than 350 illustrations in 579 entries; introduction, 

bibliography, index. Online at www.NukeBook.org
We all know the basics of “The Holo-
caust.” But what about the details? 
Websites and printed encyclopedias 
can help us there. Take the 4-volume 
encyclopedia by Israel’s Yad Vashem 
Center: The Encyclopedia of the Ho-
locaust (1990). For every significant 
crime scene, it presents a condensed 
narrative of Israel’s finest Holocaust 
scholars. However, it contains not one 
entry about witnesses and their sto-
ries, even though they are the founda-
tion of our knowledge. When a murder 
is committed, the murder weapon and 
the crime’s traces are of crucial impor-
tance. Yet Yad Vashem’s encyclopedia 
has no entries explaining scientific 
findings on these matters – not one.

This is where the present encyclope-
dia steps in. It not only summarizes 
and explains the many pieces that 
make up the larger Holocaust picture. 
It also reveals the evidence that con-
firms or contradicts certain notions. 
Nearly 300 entries present the es-
sence of important witness accounts, 
and they are subjected to source criti-
cism. This enables us to decide which 
witness claims are credible.

For all major crime scenes, the 
sometimes-conflicting claims are pre-
sented. We learn how our knowledge 
has changed over time, and what evi-
dence shores up the currently valid 

narrative of places such as Auschwitz, 
Belzec, Sobibór, Treblinka, Dachau 
and Bergen-Belsen and many more.

Other entries discuss tools and 
mechanisms allegedly used for the 
mass murders, and how the crimes’ 
traces were erased, if at all. A few 
entries discuss toxicological issues 
surrounding the various lethal gases 
claimed to have been used.

This encyclopedia has multiple en-
tries on some common claims about 
aspects of the Holocaust, including a 
list of “Who said it?” This way we can 
quickly find proof for these claims.

Finally, several entries address fac-
tors that have influenced the creation 
of the Holocaust narrative, and how 
we perceive it today. This includes 
entries on psychological warfare and 
wartime propaganda; on conditions 
prevailing during investigations and 
trials of alleged Holocaust perpetra-
tors; on censorship against historical 
dissidents; on the religious dimension 
of the Holocaust narrative; and on mo-
tives of all sides involved in creating 
and spreading their diverse Holocaust 
narratives.

In this important volume, now with 
579 entries, you will discover many 
astounding aspects of the Holocaust 
narrative that you did not even know 
exist.

www.NukeBook.org
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The Holocaust: An IntroductionThe Holocaust: An Introduction. By 
Thomas Dalton. The Holocaust was 
perhaps the greatest crime of the 20th 
Century. Six million Jews, we are 
told, died by gassing, shooting, and 
deprivation. But: Where did the six-
million figure come from? How, exact-
ly, did the gas chambers work? Why 
do we have so little physical evidence 
from major death camps? Why haven’t 
we found even a fraction of the six mil-
lion bodies, or their ashes? Why has 
there been so much media suppres-
sion and governmental censorship on 
this topic? In a sense, the Holocaust is 
the greatest murder mystery in histo-
ry. It is a topic of greatest importance 
for the present day. Let’s explore the 
evidence, and see where it leads. 128 
pp. pb, 6”×9”, ill., bibl., index.
Auschwitz: A Three-Quarter Century Auschwitz: A Three-Quarter Century 
of Propaganda: Origins, Development of Propaganda: Origins, Development 
and Decline of the “Gas Chamber” and Decline of the “Gas Chamber” 
Propaganda Lie.Propaganda Lie. By Carlo Mattogno. 
Wild rumors were circulating about 
Auschwitz during WWII: Germans 
testing war gases; mass murder in 
electrocution chambers, with gas 
showers or pneumatic hammers; liv-
ing people sent on conveyor belts into 
furnaces; grease and soap made of 
the victims. Nothing of it was true. 
When the Soviets captured Auschwitz 
in early 1945, they reported that 4 
million inmates were killed on elec-
trocution conveyor belts discharging 
their load directly into furnaces. That 
wasn’t true either. After the war, 
“witnesses” and “experts” added more 
claims: mass murder with gas bombs, 
gas chambers made of canvas; crema-
toria burning 400 million victims… 
Again, none of it was true. This book 
gives an overview of the many rumors 
and lies about Auschwitz today reject-
ed as untrue, and exposes the ridicu-
lous methods that turned some claims 
into “history,” although they are just 
as untrue. 125 pp. pb, 6”×9”, ill., bibl., 
index, b&w ill.
Auschwitz: A Judge Looks at the Evi-Auschwitz: A Judge Looks at the Evi-
dence.dence. By Wilhelm Stäglich. Ausch
witz is the epicenter of the Holocaust, 
where more people are said to have 
been murdered than anywhere else. 

The most important evidence for this 
claim was presented during two trials: 
the International Military Tribunal of 
1945/46, and the German Auschwitz 
Trial of 1963-1965. In this book, 
Wilhelm Stäglich, a former German 
judge, reveals the incredibly scandal-
ous way in which Allied victors and 
German courts bent and broke the law 
in order to come to politically foregone 
conclusions. Stäglich also exposes the 
superficial way in which historians 
are dealing with the many incongrui-
ties and discrepancies of the historical 
record. 3rd edition 2015, 422 pp. pb, 
6“×9“, b&w ill.
Hilberg’s Giant with Feet of Clay.Hilberg’s Giant with Feet of Clay. By 
Jürgen Graf. Raul Hilberg’s major 
work The Destruction of the European 
Jews is generally considered the stan-
dard work on the Holocaust. The criti-
cal reader might ask: what evidence 
does Hilberg provide to back his the-
sis that there was a German plan to 
exterminate Jews, to be carried out 
in the legendary gas chambers? And 
what evidence supports his estimate 
of 5.1 million Jewish victims? Jürgen 
Graf applies the methods of critical 
analysis to Hilberg’s evidence, and ex-
amines the results in the light of revi-
sionist historiography. The results of 
Graf’s critical analysis are devastat-
ing for Hilberg. Graf’s analysis is the 
first comprehensive and systematic 
examination of the leading spokes-
person for the orthodox version of the 
Jewish fate during the Third Reich. 
3rd edition 2022, 182 pp. pb, 6“×9“, 
b&w ill.
Exactitude: Exactitude: Festschrift for Prof. Dr. Festschrift for Prof. Dr. 
Robert Faurisson.Robert Faurisson. By R.H. Countess, 
C. Lindtner, G. Rudolf (eds.)  Fauris-
son probably deserves the title of the 
most-courageous intellectual of the 
20th and the early 21st Century. With 
bravery and steadfastness, he chal-
lenged the dark forces of historical 
and political fraud with his unrelent-
ing exposure of their lies and hoaxes 
surrounding the orthodox Holocaust 
narrative. This book describes and 
celebrates the man and his work dedi-
cated to accuracy and marked by in-
submission. 146 pp. pb, 6”×9”, b&w ill.
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Auschwitz – Forensically Examined. Auschwitz – Forensically Examined. 
By Cyrus Cox. Modern forensic crime-
scene investigations can reveal a lot 
about the Holocaust. There are many 
big tomes about this. But if you want 
it all in a nutshell, read this book-
let. It condenses the most-important 
findings of Auschwitz forensics into 
a quick and easy read. In the first 
section, the forensic investigations 
conducted so far are reviewed. In the 
second section, the most-important re-
sults of these studies are summarized. 
The main arguments focus on two top-
ics. The first centers around the poi-
son allegedly used at Auschwitz for 
mass murder: Zyklon B. Did it leave 
any traces in masonry where it was 
used? Can it be detected to this day? 
The second topic deals with mass cre-
mations. Did the crematoria of Ausch
witz have the claimed huge capacity? 
Do air photos taken during the war 
confirm witness statements on huge 
smoking pyres? This book gives the 
answers, together with many refer-
ences to source material and further 
reading. The third section reports on 
how the establishment has reacted to 
these research results. 2nd ed., 128 
pp. pb., b&w ill., bibl., index.
Ulysses’s LieUlysses’s Lie.. By Paul Rassiner. Ho-
locaust revisionism began with this 
book: Frenchman Rassinier, a pacifist 
and socialist, was sent first to Buchen-
wald Camp in 1944, then to Dora-Mit-
telbau. Here he reports from his own 
experience how the prisoners turned 
each other’s imprisonment into hell 
without being forced to do so. In the 
second part, Rassinier analyzes the 
books of former fellow prisoners, and 
shows how they lied and distorted in 
order to hide their complicity. First 
complete English edition, including 
Rassinier’s prologue, Albert Paraz’s 
preface, and press reviews. 270 pp, 
6”×9” pb, bibl, index.
The Second Babylonian Captivity: The Second Babylonian Captivity: 
The Fate of the Jews in Eastern Eu-The Fate of the Jews in Eastern Eu-
rope since 1941.rope since 1941. By Steffen Werner. 
“But if they were not murdered, where 
did the six million deported Jews end 
up?” This objection demands a well-
founded response. While researching 
an entirely different topic, Werner 
stumbled upon peculiar demographic 
data of Belorussia. Years of research 
subsequently revealed more evidence 
which eventually allowed him to 

propose: The Third Reich did indeed 
deport many of the Jews of Europe 
to Eastern Europe in order to settle 
them there “in the swamp.” This book 
shows what really happened to the 
Jews deported to the East by the Na-
tional Socialists, how they have fared 
since. It provides context for hitherto-
obscure historical events and obviates 
extreme claims such as genocide and 
gas chambers. With a preface by Ger-
mar Rudolf. 190 pp. pb, 6”×9”, b&w 
ill., bibl., index
Holocaust Skepticism: Holocaust Skepticism: 20 Questions 20 Questions 
and Answers about Holocaust Revi-and Answers about Holocaust Revi-
sionism. sionism. By Germar Rudolf. This 15-
page brochure introduces the novice 
to the concept of Holocaust revision-
ism, and answers 20 tough questions, 
among them: What does Holocaust 
revisionism claim? Why should I take 
Holocaust revisionism more seriously 
than the claim that the earth is flat? 
How about the testimonies by survi-
vors and confessions by perpetrators? 
What about the pictures of corpse 
piles in the camps? Why does it mat-
ter how many Jews were killed by the 
Nazis, since even 1,000 would have 
been too many? … Glossy full-color 
brochure. PDF file free of charge avail-
able at www.HolocaustHandbooks.
com, Option “Promotion”. This item 
is not copyright-protected. Hence, you 
can do with it whatever you want: 
download, post, email, print, multi-
ply, hand out, sell… 20 pp., stapled, 
8.5“×11“, full-color throughout.
Bungled: “Denying the Holocaust”Bungled: “Denying the Holocaust”  
How Deborah Lipstadt Botched Her How Deborah Lipstadt Botched Her 
Attempt to Demonstrate the Grow-Attempt to Demonstrate the Grow-
ing Assault on Truth and Memory.ing Assault on Truth and Memory. By 
Germar Rudolf. With her book Deny-
ing the Holocaust, Deborah Lipstadt 
tried to show the flawed methods 
and extremist motives of “Holocaust 
deniers.” This book demonstrates 
that Dr. Lipstadt clearly has neither 
understood the principles of science 
and scholarship, nor has she any clue 
about the historical topics she is writ-
ing about. She misquotes, mistrans-
lates, misrepresents, misinterprets, 
and makes a plethora of wild claims 
without backing them up with any-
thing. Rather than dealing thoroughly 
with factual arguments, Lipstadt’s 
book is full of ad hominem attacks 
on her opponents. It is an exercise 
in anti-intellectual pseudo-scientific 
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arguments, an exhibition of ideologi-
cal radicalism that rejects anything 
which contradicts its preset conclu-
sions. F for FAIL. 2nd ed., 224 pp. pb, 
6”×9”, bibl., index, b&w ill.
Bungled: “Denying History”. How Bungled: “Denying History”. How 
Michael Shermer anMichael Shermer and Alex Grobman d Alex Grobman 
Botched Their Attempt to Refute Botched Their Attempt to Refute 
Those Who Say the Holocaust Never Those Who Say the Holocaust Never 
Happened.Happened. By Carolus Magnus (C. 
Mattogno). Skeptic Magazine editor 
Michael Shermer and Alex Grobman 
from the Simon Wiesenthal Center 
wrote a book claiming to be “a thor-
ough and thoughtful answer to all the 
claims of the Holocaust deniers.” As 
this book shows, however, Shermer 
and Grobman completely ignored 
almost all the “claims” made in the 
more than 10,000 pages of more-re-
cent cutting-edge revisionist archival 
and forensic research. Furthermore, 
they piled up a heap of falsifications, 
contortions, omissions and fallacious 
interpretations of the evidence. Fi-
nally, what the authors claim to have 
demolished is not revisionism but a ri-
diculous parody of it. They ignored the 
known unreliability of their cherry-
picked selection of evidence, utilized 
unverified and incestuous sources, 
and obscured the massive body of 
research and all the evidence that 
dooms their project to failure. 162 pp. 
pb, 6”×9”, bibl., index, b&w ill.
Bungled: “Debunking Holocaust De-Bungled: “Debunking Holocaust De-
nial Theories”. How James and Lance nial Theories”. How James and Lance 
Morcan Botched Their Attempt to Af-Morcan Botched Their Attempt to Af-
firm the Historicity of the Nazi Geno-firm the Historicity of the Nazi Geno-
cidecide.. By Carolus Magnus. The novel-
ists and movie-makers James and 
Lance Morcan have produced a book 
“to end [Holocaust] denial once and for 
all” by disproving “the various argu-
ments Holocaust deniers use to try to 
discredit wartime records.” It’s a lie. 
First, the Morcans completely ignored 
the vast amount of recent scholarly 
studies published by revisionists; they 
don’t even mention them. Instead, 
they engage in shadowboxing, creat-
ing some imaginary, bogus “revision-
ist” scarecrow which they then tear to 
pieces. In addition, their knowledge 
even of their own side’s source mate-
rial is dismal, and the way they back 
up their misleading or false claims is 
pitifully inadequate. 144 pp. pb, 6”×9”, 
bibl., index, b&w ill.

Stalin’s War of Extermination 1941-Stalin’s War of Extermination 1941-
1945.1945. By Joachim Hoffmann. A Ger-
man government historian documents 
Stalin’s murderous war against the 
German army and the German people. 
Based on the author’s lifelong study of 
German and Russian military records, 
this book reveals the Red Army’s gris-
ly record of atrocities against soldiers 
and civilians, as ordered by Stalin. 
Since the 1920s, Stalin planned to in-
vade Western Europe to initiate the 
“World Revolution.” He prepared an 
attack which was unparalleled in his-
tory. The Germans noticed Stalin’s ag-
gressive intentions, but they underes-
timated the strength of the Red Army. 
What unfolded was the cruelest war 
in history. This book shows how Stalin 
and his Bolshevik henchman used un-
imaginable violence and atrocities to 
break any resistance in the Red Army 
and to force their unwilling soldiers to 
fight against the Germans. The book 
explains how Soviet propagandists 
incited their soldiers to unlimited ha-
tred against everything German, and 
he gives the reader a short but ex-
tremely unpleasant glimpse into what 
happened when these Soviet soldiers 
finally reached German soil in 1945: A 
gigantic wave of looting, arson, rape, 
torture, and mass murder… 428 pp. 
pb, 6“×9“, bibl., index, b&w ill.
Who Started World War II: Truth for Who Started World War II: Truth for 
a War-Torn World.a War-Torn World. By Udo Walendy. 
For seven decades, mainstream his-
torians have insisted that Germany 
was the main, if not the sole culprit 
for unleashing World War II in Eu-
rope. In the present book this myth 
is refuted. There is available to the 
public today a great number of docu-
ments on the foreign policies of the 
Great Powers before September 1939 
as well as a wealth of literature in the 
form of memoirs of the persons direct-
ly involved in the decisions that led 
to the outbreak of World War II. To-
gether, they made possible Walendy’s 
present mosaic-like reconstruction of 
the events before the outbreak of the 
war in 1939. This book has been pub-
lished only after an intensive study of 
sources, taking the greatest care to 
minimize speculation and inference. 
The present edition has been translat-
ed completely anew from the German 
original and has been slightly revised. 
500 pp. pb, 6”×9”, index, bibl., b&w ill.
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The Day Amazon Murdered Free The Day Amazon Murdered Free 
Speech. Speech. By Germar Rudolf. Amazon is 
the world’s biggest book retailer. They 
dominate the U.S. and several foreign 
markets. Pursuant to the 1998 decla-
ration of Amazon’s founder Jeff Bezos 
to offer “the good, the bad and the 
ugly,” customers once could buy every 
title that was in print and was legal to 
sell. However, in early 2017, a series 
of anonymous bomb threats against 
Jewish community centers occurred in 
the U.S., fueling a campaign by Jew-
ish groups to coax Amazon into ban-
ning revisionist writings. On March 
6, 2017, Amazon caved in and banned 
more than 100 books with dissenting 
viewpoints on the Holocaust. In April 
2017, an Israeli Jew was arrested for 
having placed the fake bomb threats. 
But Amazon kept its new censorship 
policy: They next culled any literature 
critical of Jews or Judaism; then they 
enforced these bans at all its subsidia
ries, such as AbeBooks and The Book 
Depository; then they banned books 
other pressure groups don’t like; fi-
nally, they bullied Ingram, who has a 
book-distribution monopoly in the US, 
to enforce the same rules by banning 
from the entire world-wide book mar-
ket all books Amazon doesn’t like… 
3rd ed., 158 pp. pb, 6”×9”, bibl., color 
illustrations throughout.
The First Zündel Trial: The Tran-The First Zündel Trial: The Tran-
script.script. In the early 1980s, Ernst Zün-
del, a German living in Toronto, was 
indicted for allegedly spreading “false 
news” by selling copies of Harwood’s 
brochure Did Six Million Really Die?, 
which challenged the accuracy of the 
orthodox Holocaust narrative. When 
the case went to court in 1985, so-
called Holocaust experts and “eyewit-
nesses” of the alleged homicidal gas 
chambers at Auschwitz were cross-ex-
amined for the first time in history by 
a competent and skeptical legal team. 
The results were absolutely devastat-
ing for the Holocaust orthodoxy. For 
decades, these mind-boggling trial 
transcripts were hidden from pub-
lic view. Now, for the first time, they 
have been published in print in this 
new book – unabridged and unedited. 
820 pp. pb, 8.5“×11“
The Holocaust on Trial: The Second The Holocaust on Trial: The Second 
Trial against Ernst Zündel 1988.Trial against Ernst Zündel 1988. By 
Ernst Zündel. In 1988, the appeal 
trial of Ernst Zündel for “knowingly 

spreading false news about the Holo-
caust” took place in Toronto. This book 
is introduced by a brief autobiographic 
summary of Zündel’s early life, and an 
overview of the evidence introduced 
during the First Zündel Trial. This is 
followed by a detailed summary of the 
testimonies of all the witnesses who 
testified during the Second Zündel 
Trial. This was the most-comprehen-
sive and -competent argument ever 
fought in a court of law over the Holo-
caust. The arguments presented have 
fueled revisionism like no other event 
before, in particular Fred Leuchter’s 
expert report on the gas chambers 
of Auschwitz and Majdanek, and the 
testimony of British historian David 
Irving. Critically annotated edition 
with a foreword by Germar Rudolf. 
410 pp. pb, 6“×9“, index.
The Second Zündel Trial: Excerpts The Second Zündel Trial: Excerpts 
from the Transcript.from the Transcript. By Barbara Ku-
laszka (ed.). In contrast to Ernst Zün-
del’s book The Holocaust on Trial (see 
earlier description), this book focuses 
entirely on the Second Zündel Trial by 
exclusively quoting, paraphrasing and 
summarizing the entire trial tran-
script… … 498 pp. pb, 8.5“×11“, bibl., 
index, b&w ill.
Resistance Is Obligatory!Resistance Is Obligatory! By Germar 
Rudolf. In 2005, Rudolf, dissident 
publisher of revisionist literature, 
was kidnapped by the U.S. govern-
ment and deported to Germany. There 
a a show trial was staged. Rudolf was 
not permitted to defend his histori-
cal opinions. Yet he defended himself 
anyway: Rudolf gave a 7-day speech-
proving that only the revisionists are 
scholarly in their approach, whereas 
the Holocaust orthodoxy is merely 
pseudo-scientific. He then explained 
why it is everyone’s obligation to re-
sist, without violence, a government 
which throws peaceful dissidents 
into dungeons. When Rudolf tried to 
publish his defence speech as a book, 
the public prosecutor initiated a new 
criminal investigation against him. 
After his probation time ended in 
2011, he dared publish this speech 
anyway… 2nd ed. 2016, 378 pp. pb, 
6“×9“, b&w ill.
Hunting Germar Rudolf: Essays on a Hunting Germar Rudolf: Essays on a 
Modern-Day Witch Hunt.Modern-Day Witch Hunt. By Germar 
Rudolf. German-born revisionist ac-
tivist, author and publisher Germar 
Rudolf describes which events made 
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him convert from a Holocaust believer 
to a Holocaust skeptic, quickly rising 
to a leading personality within the 
revisionist movement. This in turn 
unleashed a tsunami of persecution 
against him: lost his job, denied his 
PhD exam, destruction of his family, 
driven into exile, slandered by the 
mass media, literally hunted, caught, 
put on a show trial where filing mo-
tions to introduce evidence is illegal 
under the threat of further prosecu-
tion, and finally locked up in prison 
for years for nothing else than his 
peaceful yet controversial scholarly 
writings. In several essays, Rudolf 
takes the reader on a journey through 
an absurd world of government and 
societal persecution which most of us 
could never even fathom actually ex-
ists in a “Western democracy”… 304 
pp. pb, 6“×9“, bibl., index, b&w ill.
Love: The Pursuit of HappinessLove: The Pursuit of Happiness.. By 
Germar Rudolf. Rudolf’s autobiog-
raphy on the sensual and emotional 
aspects of his life: love, affection, ro-
mance and erotica, as well as the lack 
of it. It tells about his human relation-
ships with parents, siblings, friends 
and girlfriends, wives and children – 
and with a little puppy called Daisy; 
about his trials and tribulations as 
a lover and husband, and most im-
portantly as a father of five children. 
This book might assist many readers 
to understand themselves and to help 
resolve or avoid relationship conflicts. 
It is an account filled with both humil-
ity and humor. Ca. 230 pp. pb, 6”×9” 
(to appear in late 2024)
The Book of the Shulchan Aruch. The Book of the Shulchan Aruch. 
By Erich Bischoff. Most people have 
heard of the Talmud-that compendi-
um of Jewish laws. The Talmud, how-
ever, is vast and largely inscrutable. 
Fortunately, back in the mid-1500s, a 
Jewish rabbi created a condensed ver-
sion of it: the Shulchan Aruch. A fair 
number of passages in it discuss non-
Jews. The laws of Judaism hold Gen-
tiles in very low regard; they can be 
cheated, lied to, abused, even killed, if 
it serves Jewish interests. Bischoff, an 
expert in Jewish religious law, wrote 
a summary and analysis of this book. 
He shows us many dark corners of the 
Jewish religion. 152 pp. pb, 6”x9”.
Hitler’s Revolution: Ideology, Social Hitler’s Revolution: Ideology, Social 
Programs, Foreign Affairs.Programs, Foreign Affairs. By Rich-
ard Tedor. Defying all boycotts, Adolf 

Hitler transformed Germany from a 
bankrupt state to the powerhouse of 
Europe within just four years, thus 
becoming Germany’s most popular 
leader ever. How was this possible? 
This study tears apart the dense web 
of calumny surrounding this contro-
versial figure. It draws on nearly 200 
published German sources, many 
from the Nazi era, as well as docu-
ments from British, U.S., and Soviet 
archives that describe not only what 
Hitler did but, more importantly, why 
he did it. These sourcs also reveal the 
true war objectives of the democracies 
– a taboo subject for orthodox histo-
rians – and the resulting world war 
against Germany. This book is aimed 
at anyone who feels that something is 
missing from conventional accounts. 
2nd ed., 309 pp. pb, 6”×9”, index, bibl.
Hitler on the Jews.Hitler on the Jews. By Thomas Dalton. 
That Adolf Hitler spoke out against 
the Jews is beyond obvious. But of the 
thousands of books and articles writ-
ten on Hitler, virtually none quotes 
Hitler’s exact words on the Jews. The 
reason for this is clear: Those in po-
sitions of influence have incentives to 
present a simplistic picture of Hitler 
as a blood-thirsty tyrant. However, 
Hitler’s take on the Jews is far more 
complex and sophisticated. In this 
book, for the first time, you can make 
up your own mind by reading nearly 
every idea that Hitler put forth about 
the Jews, in considerable detail and in 
full context. This is the first book ever 
to compile his remarks on the Jews. 
As you will discover, Hitler’s analysis 
of the Jews, though hostile, is erudite, 
detailed, and – surprise, surprise – 
largely aligns with events of recent 
decades. There are many lessons here 
for the modern-day world to learn. 200 
pp. pb, 6”×9”, index, bibl.
Goebbels on the Jews.Goebbels on the Jews. By Thomas 
Dalton. From the age of 26 until his 
death in 1945, Joseph Goebbels kept a 
near-daily diary. It gives us a detailed 
look at the attitudes of one of the 
highest-ranking men in Nazi Germa-
ny. Goebbels shared Hitler’s dislike of 
the Jews, and likewise wanted them 
removed from the Reich. Ultimately, 
Goebbels and others sought to remove 
the Jews completely from Europe—
perhaps to the island of Madagascar. 
This would be the “final solution” to 
the Jewish Question. Nowhere in the 

https://ARMREG.co.uk
https://armreg.co.uk/?s=Love+Pursuit+Happiness
https://armreg.co.uk/product/book-shulchan-aruch/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitler-on-the-jews/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/goebbels-on-the-jews-the-complete-diary-entries-1923-to-1945/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitler-on-the-jews/
https://armreg.co.uk/?s=Love+Pursuit+Happiness
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hunting-germar-rudolf-essays-on-a-modern-day-witch-hunt/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/book-shulchan-aruch/
https://armreg.co.uk/product/hitlers-revolution-ideology-social-programs-foreign-affairs/


diary does Goebbels discuss any Hitler 
order to kill the Jews, nor is there any 
reference to extermination camps, gas 
chambers, or any methods of system-
atic mass-murder. Goebbels acknowl-
edges that Jews did indeed die by the 
thousands; but the range and scope 
of killings evidently fall far short of 
the claimed figure of 6 million. This 
book contains, for the first time, every 
significant diary entry relating to the 
Jews or Jewish policy. Also included 
are partial or full transcripts of 10 
major essays by Goebbels on the Jews. 
274 pp. pb, 6”×9”, index, bibl.
The Jewish Hand in the World Wars.The Jewish Hand in the World Wars. 
By Thomas Dalton. For many centu-
ries, Jews have had a negative repu-
tation in many countries. The reasons 
given are plentiful, but less-well-
known is their involvement in war. 
When we examine the causal factors 
for wars, and look at their primary 
beneficiaries, we repeatedly find a 
Jewish presence. Throughout history, 
Jews have played an exceptionally 
active role in promoting and inciting 
wars. With their long-notorious influ-
ence in government, we find recurrent 
instances of Jews promoting hard-line 
stances, being uncompromising, and 
actively inciting people to hatred. Jew-
ish misanthropy, rooted in Old Testa-
ment mandates, and combined with a 
ruthless materialism, has led them, 
time and again, to instigate warfare 
if it served their larger interests. This 
fact explains much about the present-
day world. In this book, Thomas Dal-
ton examines in detail the Jewish 
hand in the two world wars. Along the 
way, he dissects Jewish motives and 
Jewish strategies for maximizing gain 
amidst warfare, reaching back centu-
ries. 2nd ed., 231 pp. pb, 6”×9”, index, 
bibl.
Eternal Strangers: Critical Views of Eternal Strangers: Critical Views of 
Jews and Judaism through the Ages.Jews and Judaism through the Ages. 
By Thomas Dalton. It is common 

knowledge that Jews have been dis-
liked for centuries. But why? Our best 
hope for understanding this recurrent 
‘anti-Semitism’ is to study the history: 
to look at the actual words written by 
prominent critics of the Jews, in con-
text, and with an eye to any common 
patterns that might emerge. Such a 
study reveals strikingly consistent 
observations: Jews are seen in very 
negative, yet always similar terms. 
The persistence of such comments is 
remarkable and strongly suggests 
that the cause for such animosity re-
sides in the Jews themselves—in their 
attitudes, their values, their ethnic 
traits and their beliefs.. This book 
addresses the modern-day “Jewish 
problem” in all its depth—something 
which is arguably at the root of many 
of the world’s social, political and eco-
nomic problems. 186 pp. pb, 6”×9”, in-
dex, bibl.
Streicher, Rosenberg, and the Jews: Streicher, Rosenberg, and the Jews: 
The Nuremberg Transcripts.The Nuremberg Transcripts. By 
Thomas Dalton. Who, apart from Hit-
ler, contrived the Nazi view on the 
Jews? And what were these master 
ideologues thinking? During the post-
war International Military Tribunal 
at Nuremberg, the most-interesting 
men on trial regarding this question 
were two with a special connection to 
the “Jewish Question”: Alfred Rosen-
berg and Julius Streicher. The cases 
against them, and their personal tes-
timonies, examined for the first time 
nearly all major aspects of the Holo-
caust story: the “extermination” the-
sis, the gas chambers, the gas vans, 
the shootings in the East, and the “6 
million.” The truth of the Holocaust 
has been badly distorted for decades 
by the powers that be. Here we have 
the rare opportunity to hear firsthand 
from two prominent figures in Nazi 
Germany. Their voices, and their ver-
batim transcripts from the IMT, lend 
some much-needed clarity to the situ-
ation. 330 pp. pb, 6”×9”, index, bibl.
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